

MPLAB[®] X IDE User's Guide

Notice to Customers



Important:

All documentation becomes dated, and this manual is no exception. Microchip tools and documentation are constantly evolving to meet customer needs, so some actual dialogs and/or tool descriptions may differ from those in this document. Please refer to our website (www.microchip.com) to obtain the latest documentation available.

Documents are identified with a "DS" number. This number is located on the bottom of each page, in front of the page number. The numbering convention for the DS number is "DSXXXXA", where "XXXXX" is the document number and "A" is the alphabetic revision level of the document.

For the most up-to-date information on development tools, see the MPLAB[®] IDE online help. Select the Help menu, and then Help Content to open a list of available online help files.



Table of Contents

Not	ice to C	Customers	1
1.	What	is MPLAB X IDE?	7
	1.1.	An Overview of Embedded Systems	7
	1.2.	The Development Cycle	19
	1.3.	Project Manager	19
	1.4.	Language Tools	20
	1.5.	Target Debugging	21
	1.6.	Device Programming	22
	1.7.	Components of MPLAB X IDE	. 22
	1.8.	MPLAB X IDE Help	. 23
	1.9.	Other MPLAB X IDE Documentation	23
	1.10.	Microchip Website	24
	1.11.	Microchip Store	. 24
	1.12.	Programming Center	24
	1.13.	MPLAB X IDE Updates	. 25
	1.14.	Working Outside the IDE	25
2	Before	A You Begin	26
۷.	2 1	Poview Installation Poquiroments	. 20
	2.1.		20
	2.2. 2.2	Install the LISP Device Drivers (for Hardware Teels)	20
	2.3.	Connect to a Target (for Hardware Tools)	20
	2.4. 2.5	Install the Language Tools	. 29
	2.5.	Launch the IDE and View the Deskton	
	2.0.	Shon the MDLAR V Store	30
	2.1.	Shop the Multiple Instances of the IDE	 20
	2.0.	Launch Multiple Instances of the IDE	
	2.9.	Launch using Startup Parameters	. 33
	2.10.		
3.	Tutori	al	. 35
	3.1.	Installing and Setting Up the Software	. 35
	3.2.	Connecting the Hardware	35
	3.3.	Downloading the Example Code	36
	3.4.	Opening the Example Project in MPLAB X IDE	. 36
	3.5.	Setting Project Properties	38
	3.6.	Running the Code	. 39
	3.7.	Debugging the Code	. 40
	3.8.	Setting Breakpoints	. 40
	3.9.	Stepping Through Code	. 42
	3.10.	Viewing Variable Values	. 43
	3.11.	Watching Symbol Values Change	. 44
	3.12.	Viewing I/O Registers	45
	3.13.	Viewing Device Memory (including Configuration Bits)	46
	3.14.	Programming a Device	47
4.	Basic	Tasks	. 49

	4.1.	Create a New Project	. 49
	4.2.	View Changes to Desktop	. 59
	4.3.	Open Project Properties	.60
	4.4.	View or Make Changes to Project Properties	61
	4.5.	Set Up or Change Debugger/Programmer Tool Options	62
	4.6.	Set Up or Change Language Tool Options	63
	4.7.	Set Language Tool Locations	.64
	4.8.	Set Other Tool Options	.66
	4.9.	Add Files to a Project	. 67
	4.10.	Set Build Properties	75
	4.11.	Build a Project	. 79
	4.12.	Run Code	. 79
	4.13.	Debug Code	. 80
	4.14.	Control Program Execution with Breakpoints	82
	4.15.	Step Through Code	. 87
	4.16.	Watch Symbol Values Change	. 87
	4.17.	Watch Local Variable Values Change	. 89
	4.18.	View or Change Device Memory	.89
	4.19.	Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window	.91
	4.20.	Program a Device	94
5.	Additio	onal Tasks	. 96
	51	Work with Device Packs	96
	5.2	Open an Existing MPLAB X IDE Project	99
	5.3	Import an Existing MPI AB IDE v8 Project	100
	5.4	Prebuilt Projects	103
	5.5.	Loadable Projects, Files and Symbols	104
	5.6	Loadable Projects and Files: Bootloaders	108
	5.7.	Library Projects.	109
	5.8.	Import Atmel Studio 7 or Atmel START Project	110
	5.9.	Other Embedded Projects	118
	5.10.	Sample Projects	118
	5.11.	Work with Other Types of Files	119
	5.12.	Modify or Create Code Templates	119
	5.13.	Switch Hardware or Language Tool	121
	5.14.	Modify Project Folders and Encoding	122
	5.15.	Use the Stopwatch	126
	5.16.	View the Disassembly Window	127
	5.17.	View the Call Stack	128
	5.18.	View the Call Graph	128
	5.19.	View the Dashboard Display	129
	5.20.	View Registers for the Project (I/O View)	131
	5.21.	Improve Your Code	133
	5.22.	Control Source Code using Local History	133
	5.23.	Control Source Code using a Revision Control System	134
	5.24.	Collaborate on Code Development and Error Tracking	137
	5.25.	Compare MPLAB XC Compiler Free vs. PRO Licenses	138
	5.26.	Add Plugin Tools	138

6.	Advar	nced Tasks & Concepts	144
	6.1.	Speed Up MPLAB X IDE	.144
	6.2.	Speed Up Build Times	.145
	6.3.	Work with Multiple Projects	. 145
	6.4.	Work with Multiple Configurations	. 146
	6.5.	Create Dual Core Projects	152
	6.6.	Create User Makefile Projects	.155
	6.7.	Use Linked Resources for Source File Folders	.164
	6.8.	Work with Third-Party Hardware Tools	. 164
	6.9.	Use Code Coverage	.164
	6.10.	Log Data	.164
	6.11.	Package an MPLAB X IDE Project	.166
	6.12.	Hardware Tool Connections and Debugging	.166
	6.13.	Use IDE Scripting	. 168
	6.14.	Checksums	.169
	6.15.	Configurations	. 170
7	Editor		171
7.			
	7.1.	Editor Usage	.171
	7.2.	Editor Options	.173
	7.3.	Hyperlinks in Code	. 175
	7.4.	Editor Red Bangs	. 175
	7.5.		. 175
	7.6.	C Code Refactoring	.178
	7.7.	C/C++ Code Error Directive	179
8.	Projec	t Files and Folders	181
	8.1.	Projects Window View	. 181
	8.2.	Files Window View	. 182
	8.3.	Classes Window View	. 183
	8.4.	Favorites Window View	. 184
	8.5.	Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions	.184
	8.6.	Path, File and Folder Project Recommendations	.185
	8.7.	Viewing User Configuration Data	. 185
	8.8.	Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project – Relative Paths	. 185
	8.9.	Moving, Copying or Renaming a Project	.186
	8.10.	Deleting a Project	. 186
9	Troub	leshooting	187
0.	0.1	USB Driver Installation Issues	187
	0.1.	Onerating System Issues	187
	0.∠. Q 3	NetReans Platform Issues	187
	9.9. Q /I		188
	9.4. Q 5		100
	9.J. Q.A	Forums	102
	3.0.		. 190
10.	Deskt	op Reference	194
	10.1.	Menus	.194

	10.2. Toolbars	205
	10.3. Status Bar	212
	10.4. Grayed Out or Missing Items and Buttons	212
11	MPLAB X IDE Windows Behavior	214
	11.1 MPI AB X IDE Windows Management	21/
	11.2 Banked Data Memory and Values Displayed in Windows	
12.	MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs	216
	12.1. Action Items Window	216
	12.2. Breakpoints Window	217
	12.3. New Breakpoint Dialog	218
	12.4. Call Stack Window	223
	12.5. Customize Toolbars Window	224
	12.6. Dashboard Window	225
	12.7. Disassembly Window	225
	12.8. I/O View Window	
	12.9. Memory Windows - 8- and 16-Bit Devices	
	12.10. Memory Windows - 32-Bit Devices	249
	12.11. Memory Windows Associated Dialogs	
	12.12. Message Center	267
	12.13. Output Window	
	12.14. Project Properties Window	269
	12.15. Projects Window	270
	12.16. Tools Options Window, Embedded	274
	12.17. Tools Options Window, Plugins	
	12.18. Trace Window	
	12.19. Watches Window	282
	12.20. Wizards	
13.	NetBeans Windows and Dialogs	
	13.1 NetBeans Specific Windows and Window Menus	286
	13.2 NetBeans Specific Dialogs	286
		200
14.	Configuration Settings Summary	
	14.1. AVR GCC Toolchain	
	14.2. Arm GCC Toolchain	
	14.3. XC Toolchains	289
	14.4. MPASM Toolchain	289
	14.5. HI-TECH [®] PICC [™] Toolchain	290
	14.6. HI-TECH [®] PICC-18 [™] Toolchain	291
	14.7. C18 Toolchain	
	14.8. ASM30 Toolchain	292
	14.9. C30 Toolchain	
	14.10. C32 Toolchain	
15	Glossary	295
10.		
The	Microchip Website	313

Product Change Notification Service	.313
Customer Support	313
Microchip Devices Code Protection Feature	.313
Legal Notice	313
Trademarks	314
Quality Management System	314
Worldwide Sales and Service	.315

1. What is MPLAB X IDE?

MPLAB® X IDE IS A SOFTWARE PROGRAM THAT IS USED TO DEVELOP APPLICATIONS FOR MICROCHIP MICROCONTROLLERS AND DIGITAL SIGNAL CONTROLLERS.

This development tool is called an Integrated Development Environment, or IDE, because it provides a single integrated "environment" to develop code for embedded microcontrollers. MPLAB X IDE incorporates powerful tools to help you discover, configure, develop, debug and qualify your embedded designs. MPLAB X IDE works seamlessly with the MPLAB development ecosystem of software and tools, many of which are completely free.

1.1 An Overview of Embedded Systems

An embedded system is typically a design that uses the power of a small microcontroller, like the Microchip PIC[®] or AVR[®] microcontroller (MCU). These microcontrollers combine a microprocessor unit (like the CPU in a personal computer) with some additional circuits called peripherals, plus some additional circuits, on the same chip to make a small control module requiring few other external devices. This single device can then be embedded into other electronic and mechanical devices for low-cost digital control.

1.1.1 Differences Between an Embedded Controller and a Personal Computer

The main difference between an embedded controller and a personal computer is that the embedded controller is dedicated to one specific task or set of tasks. A personal computer is designed to run many different types of programs and to connect to many different external devices. An embedded controller has a single program and, as a result, can be made cheaply to include just enough computing power and hardware to perform that dedicated task.

A personal computer has a relatively expensive generalized central processing unit (CPU) at its heart with many other external devices (memory, disk drives, video controllers, network interface circuits, etc.). An embedded system has a low-cost MCU for its intelligence, has many peripheral circuits on the same chip, and has relatively few external devices.

Often, an embedded system is an invisible part, or sub-module of another product, such as a cordless drill, refrigerator or garage door opener. The controller in these products does a tiny portion of the function of the whole device. The controller adds low-cost intelligence to some of the critical sub-systems in these devices.

An example of an embedded system is a smoke detector. Its function is to evaluate signals from a sensor and sound an alarm if the signals indicate the presence of smoke. A small program in the smoke detector either runs in an infinite loop, sampling the signal from the smoke sensor, or lies dormant in a low-power "Sleep" mode, being awakened by a signal from the sensor. The program then sounds the alarm. The program would possibly have a few other functions, such as a user test function, and a low battery alert.

While a personal computer with a sensor and audio output could be programmed to do the same function, it would not be a cost-effective solution (nor would it run on a nine-volt battery, unattended for years). Embedded designs use inexpensive microcontrollers to put intelligence into the everyday things in our environment, such as smoke detectors, cameras, cell phones, appliances, automobiles, smart cards and security systems.

1.1.2 Components of a Microcontroller

The microcontroller (MCU) has on-chip program memory (Figure 1-1 or Figure 1-2) for the firmware, or coded instructions, to run a program (Figure 1-3 or Figure 1-4). A Program Counter (PC) is used to address program memory, including Reset and interrupt addresses. A hardware stack is used with call and return instructions in code, so it works with, but is not part of, program memory. Device data sheets describe the details of program memory operation, vectors and the stack.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide What is MPLAB X IDE?



Figure 1-1. PIC[®] MCU Data Sheet - Program Memory and Stack

Figure 1-2. AVR[®] MCU Data Sheet - Program Memory



What is MPLAB X IDE?

RRF	Rotate Right f through Carry
Syntax:	[label] RRF f,d
Operands:	0 ≤ f ≤ 127 d ∈ [0,1]
Operation:	See description below
Status Affected:	С
Description:	The contents of register 'f' are rotated one bit to the right through the Carry flag. If 'd' is '0', the result is placed in the W register. If 'd' is '1', the result is placed back in register 'f'.
	C Register f

Figure 1-3. PIC[®] MCU Data Sheet – Instruction Set (Excerpt)

Figure 1-4. AVR® MCU Instruction Set (Excerpt)

ROR – Rotate Right through Carry

Description:

Shifts all bits in Rd one place to the right. The C Flag is shifted into bit 7 of Rd. Bit 0 is shifted into the C Flag. This operation, combined with ASR, effectively divides multi-byte signed values by two. Combined with LSR it effectively divides multibyte unsigned values by two. The Carry Flag can be used to round the result.

Operation:



Status Register (SREG) and Boolean Formula:

1	т	н	s	V	Ν	z	С
-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0

- S: N ⊕ V, For signed tests.
- V: N ⊕ C (For N and C after the shift)
- N: R7 Set if MSB of the result is set; cleared otherwise.
- Z: R7• R6 •R5• R4• R3 •R2• R1• R0 Set if the result is \$00; cleared otherwise.
- C: Rd0

Set if, before the shift, the LSB of Rd was set; cleared otherwise.

R (Result) equals Rd after the operation.

```
Example:
```

```
lsr r19
                                ; Divide r19:r18 by two
              ror r18
                                ; r19:r18 is an unsigned two-byte integer
                                ; Branch if carry cleared
              brcc zeroencl
              asr r17
                                ; Divide r17:r16 by two
              ror r16
                                ; r17:r16 is a signed two-byte integer
              brcc zeroenc2
                                ; Branch if carry cleared
              ...
   zeroencl: nop
                                 ; Branch destination (do nothing)
              . . .
   zeroencl: nop
                                 ; Branch destination (do nothing)
Words: 1 (2 bytes)
Cycles: 1
```

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide What is MPLAB X IDE?

The microcontroller also has data, or File Register, memory. This memory consists of Special Function Registers (SFRs) and General Purpose Registers (GPRs). SFRs are registers used by the CPU and peripheral functions for controlling the desired operation of the device. GPRs are for storage of variables that the program will need for computation or temporary storage. Some microcontrollers have additional data EEPROM memory. As with program memory, device data sheets describe the details of data memory use and operation.

Bank 0	File Address	Bank 1	File Address	Bank 2	File Address	Bank 3	File Address
Indirect addr. (1)	00h	Indirect addr. ⁽¹⁾	80h	Indirect addr. (1)	100h	Indirect addr. ⁽¹⁾	180h
TMR0	01h	OPTION_REG	81h	TMR0	101h	OPTION_REG	181h
PCL	02h	PCL	82h	PCL	102h	PCL	182h
STATUS	03h	STATUS	83h	STATUS	103h	STATUS	183h
FSR	04h	FSR	84h	FSR	104h	FSR	184h
PORTA	05h	TRISA	85h	PORTA	105h	TRISA	185h
PORTB	06h	TRISB	86h	PORTB	106h	TRISB	186h
PORTC	07h	TRISC	87h	PORTC	107h	TRISC	187h
	08h		88h		108h		188h
	09h		89h		109h		189h
PCLATH	0Ah	PCLATH	8Ah	PCLATH	10Ah	PCLATH	18Ah
INTCON	0Bh	INTCON	8Bh	INTCON	10Bh	INTCON	18Bh
PIR1	0Ch	PIE1	8Ch	EEDAT	10Ch	EECON1	18Ch
PIR2	0Dh	PIE2	8Dh	EEADR	10Dh	EECON2 ⁽¹⁾	18Dh
TMR1L	0Eh	PCON	8Eh	EEDATH	10Eh		18Eh
TMR1H	0Fh	OSCCON	8Fh	EEADRH	10Fh		18Fh
T1CON	10h	OSCTUNE	90h		110h		190h
TMR2	11h		91h		111h		191h
T2CON	12h	PR2	92h		112h		192h
SSPBUF	13h	SSPADD ⁽²⁾	93h		113h		193h
SSPCON	14h	SSPSTAT	94h		114h		194h
CCPR1L	15h	WPUA	95h	WPUB	115h		195h
CCPR1H	16h	IOCA	96h	IOCB	116h		196h
CCP1CON	17h	WDTCON	97h		117h		197h
RCSTA	18h	TXSTA	98h	VRCON	118h		198h
TXREG	19h	SPBRG	99h	CM1CON0	119h		199h
RCREG	1Ah	SPBRGH	9Ah	CM2CON0	11Ah		19Ah
	1Bh	BAUDCTL	9Bh	CM2CON1	11Bh		19Bh
PWM1CON	1Ch		9Ch		11Ch		19Ch
ECCPAS	1Dh		9Dh		11Dh	PSTRCON	19Dh

Table 1-1. PIC[®] MCU Data Sheet – File Registers Example

What is MPLAB X IDE?

continue	ed						
Bank 0	File Address	Bank 1	File Address	Bank 2	File Address	Bank 3	File Address
ADRESH	1Eh	ADRESL	9Eh	ANSEL	11Eh	SRCON	19Eh
ADCON0	1Fh	ADCON1	9Fh	ANSELH	11Fh		19Fh
General	20h	General	A0h	General	120h		1A0h
Purpose Register 96 Bytes		Purpose Register 80 Bytes	EFh	Purpose Register 80 Bytes	16Fh	-	
		accesses	F0h	accesses	170h	accesses	1F0h
	7Fh	70h-7Fh	FFh	70h-7Fh	17Fh	70h-7Fh	1FFh

Empty table cells: Unimplemented data memory locations, read as '0'. **Note 1**: Not a physical register.

Note 2: Address 93h also accesses the SSP Mask (SSPMSK) register under certain conditions.

Figure 1-5. AVR[®] MCU Data Sheet – SRAM Data Memory and Stack

Memory Configuration A



In addition to memory, the microcontroller has a number of peripheral device circuits on the same chip. Some peripheral devices are called input/output (I/O) ports. I/O ports are pins on the microcontroller that can be used as outputs and driven high or low to send signals, blink lights, drive speakers – just about anything that can be sent through a wire. Often these pins are bidirectional and can also be configured as inputs, allowing the program to respond to an external switch, a sensor, or to communicate with some external device.

What is MPLAB X IDE?



Figure 1-6. PIC[®] MCU Data Sheet – Block Diagram (Excerpt)

What is MPLAB X IDE?





To design such a system, choose which peripherals are necessary for the application.

The following is a list of common peripherals:

- Analog-to-Digital Converters (ADCs) allow microcontrollers to connect to sensors and receive changing voltage levels.
- Serial communication peripherals that allow streaming communications over a few wires to another microcontroller, to a local network, or to the Internet.
- Peripherals on the PIC MCU called "timers" accurately measure signal events and generate and capture communications signals, produce precise waveforms, even automatically reset the microcontroller if it gets "hung" or lost due to a power glitch or hardware malfunction.

• Other peripherals detect when the external power is dipping to dangerous levels, so that the microcontroller can store critical information and safely shut down before power is completely lost.

The peripherals, and the amount of memory an application needs to run a program, largely determine which PIC MCU to use. Other factors could include the power consumed by the microcontroller and its "form factor," i.e., the size and characteristics of the physical package that must reside on the target design.





Figure 1-9. Example AVR[®] MCU Device Package



A microcontroller becomes active when power is applied and an oscillator begins generating a clocking signal. Depending on the microcontroller, there may be several internal and external oscillator operational modes.

Figure 1-10. PIC[®] MCU Data Sheet – Timing Diagram (Excerpt)







1.1.3 Implementing an Embedded System Design with MPLAB X IDE

A development system for embedded controllers is a system of programs running on a computer that help to write, edit, debug and program code – which is the intelligence of embedded systems applications – into a microcontroller. MPLAB X IDE is such a system, it contains all the components needed to design and deploy embedded systems applications.

The typical tasks for developing an embedded controller application are:

- 1. Create the high level design. From the features and performance desired, decide which MCU is best suited to the application, then design the associated hardware circuitry. After determining which peripherals and pins control the hardware, write the firmware the software that will control the hardware aspects of the embedded application. A language tool such as an assembler, which is directly translatable into machine code, or a compiler that allows a more natural language for creating programs, should be used to write and edit code. Assemblers and compilers help make the code understandable, allowing function labels to identify code routines with variables that have names associated with their use, and with constructs that help organize the code in a maintainable structure.
- 2. Compile, assemble and link the software using the assembler and/or compiler and linker to convert your code into "ones and zeros" machine code for the MCUs. This machine code will eventually become the firmware (the code programmed into the microcontroller).
- 3. Test your code. Usually a complex program does not work exactly the way imagined, and "bugs" need to be removed from the design to get proper results. The debugger allows you to see the "ones and zeros" execute, related to the source code you wrote, with the symbols and function names from your program. Debugging allows you to experiment with your code to see the value of variables at various points in the program, and to do "what if" checks, changing variable values and stepping through routines.
- 4. "Burn" the code into a microcontroller and verify that it executes correctly in the finished application.

Of course, each of these steps can be quite complex. The important thing is to concentrate on the details of your own design, while relying upon MPLAB X IDE and its components to get through each step without continuously encountering new learning curves.

Step 1 is driven by the designer, although MPLAB X IDE can help in modeling circuits and code so that crucial design decisions can be made.

MPLAB X IDE really helps with steps 2 through 4. Its Programmer's Editor helps write correct code with the language tools of choice. The editor is aware of the assembler and compiler programming constructs and automatically "color-keys" the source code to help ensure it is syntactically correct. The Project Manager enables you to organize the various files used in your application: source files, processor description header files and library files. When the code is built, you can control how rigorously code will be optimized for size or speed by the compiler and where individual variables and program data will be programmed into the device. You can also specify a "memory model" in order to make the best use of the microcontroller's memory for your application. If the language tools run into errors when building the application, the offending line is shown and can be double clicked to go to the corresponding source file for immediate editing. After editing, you will rebuild and try your application again. Often this write-compile-fix loop is done many times for complex code as the sub-sections are written and tested. MPLAB X IDE goes through this loop with maximum speed, allowing you to get on to the next step.

When the code builds with no errors, it needs to be tested. MPLAB X IDE has components called "debuggers" and free software simulators for all MCUs to help test the code. Even if the hardware is not yet finished, you can begin testing the code with the simulator, a software program that simulates the execution of the microcontroller. The simulator can accept a simulated input (stimulus), in order to model how the firmware responds to external signals. The simulator can measure code execution time, single step through code to watch variables and peripherals, and trace the code to generate a detailed record of how the program ran.

When the hardware is in a prototype stage, a hardware debugger, such as an in-circuit emulator or an in-circuit debugger, can be used. These debug tools run the code in real time on your actual application by using special circuitry built into many devices with Flash program memory. They can "see into" the target microcontroller's program and data memory, and stop and start program execution, allowing you to test the code with the microcontroller in place on the application.

After the application is running correctly, you can program a microcontroller with one of Microchip's devices or development programmers. These programmers verify that the finished code is programmed correctly into the device.

MPLAB X IDE supports most PIC MCUs, all dsPIC DSCs, and a growing number of AVR and SAM MCUs.

1.2 The Development Cycle

The process for writing an application is often described as a development cycle, since it is rare that all the steps from design to implementation can be done flawlessly the first time. More often code is written, tested and then modified to produce an application that performs correctly.

The Integrated Development Environment allows the embedded systems design engineer to progress through this cycle without the distraction of switching among an array of tools. By using MPLAB X IDE, all the functions are integrated, allowing the engineer to concentrate on completing the application without the interruption of separate tools and different modes of operation.

Figure 1-12. The Design Cycle



MPLAB X IDE is a "wrapper" that coordinates all the tools from a single graphical user interface, usually automatically. For instance, once code is written, it can be converted to executable instructions and downloaded into a microcontroller to see how it works. In this process multiple tools are needed: an editor to write the code, a project manager to organize files and settings, a compiler or assembler to convert the source code to machine code and some sort of hardware or software that either connects to a target microcontroller or simulates the operation of a microcontroller.

1.3 Project Manager

The project manager organizes the files to be edited and other associated files so they can be sent to the language tools for assembly or compilation, and ultimately to a linker.

The linker has the task of placing the object code fragments from the assembler, compiler and libraries into the proper memory areas of the embedded controller, and ensure that the modules function with each other (or are "linked").

This entire operation from assembly and compilation through the link process is called a project "build." Properties specified for the language tools can be invoked differently for each file, if desired, and a build process integrates all of the language tools' operations.

Figure 1-13. MPLAB[®] X IDE Project Manager



The source files are text files that are written conforming to the rules of the assembler or compiler. The assembler and compiler convert them into intermediate modules of machine code and placeholders for references to functions and data storage.

The linker resolves these placeholders and combines all the modules into a file of executable machine code. The linker also produces a debug file which allows MPLAB X IDE to relate the executing machine codes back to the source files.

A text editor is used to write the code. It recognizes the constructs in the text and uses color coding to identify various elements, such as instruction mnemonics, C language constructs and comments. The editor supports operations commonly used in writing source code. After the code is written, the editor works with the other tools to display code execution in the debugger. Breakpoints (which stop or "break" the execution of code) can be set in the editor and the values of variables can be inspected by hovering the mouse pointer over the variable name. Names of variables can be dragged from source text windows and then dropped into a Watches window where their changing values can be watched after each breakpoint or during code execution.

1.4 Language Tools

Language tools are programs such as cross-assemblers and cross-compilers. Most people are familiar with some of the language tools that run on a computer, e.g., Visual Basic or C compilers.

When using language tools for embedded systems, a "cross-assembler" or "cross-compiler" is used. These tools differ from typical compilers in that they run on a computer, but they produce code to run on another microprocessor (or microcontroller).

Language tools also produce a debug file that MPLAB X IDE uses to correlate the machine instructions and memory locations with the source code. This bit of integration allows the MPLAB X IDE editor to set breakpoints, allows Watches windows to view variable contents, and lets you single step through the source code, while watching the application execute.

Embedded system language tools also differ somewhat from compilers that run and execute on a computer because they must be very space conscious. The smaller the code produced, the better, because that provides the smallest possible memory usage for the target, which reduces cost. This means that techniques to optimize and enhance the code, using machine-specific knowledge, are desirable.

The size of programs for computers typically extends into the megabytes for moderately complex programs. The size of simple embedded systems programs may be as small as a thousand bytes or less. A medium size embedded system might need 32K or 64K of code for relatively complex functions. Some embedded systems use megabytes of storage for large tables, user text messages or data logging.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide What is MPLAB X IDE?



Figure 1-14. A Compiler Converts Source Code Into Machine Instructions

1.5 Target Debugging

In an integrated development environment (IDE), the execution of the code is tested on a debugger. The debugger can be a software program that simulates the operation of the microcontroller for testing, or it can be a hardware instrument to analyze the program as it executes in the application.

The IDE and Debugging

Debugging usually becomes urgent near the end of the project design cycle. As deadlines loom, getting the application to function as originally designed is the last step before going into deployment of the product and often has the most influence on producing delays in getting a product out. That's where an integrated development environment is most important. Doing fine "tweaks" to the code, recompiling, downloading and testing all require time. Using all tools within a single environment will reduce the time around the "cycle." These last steps, where critical bugs are worked out, are a test for the embedded systems designer. The right tool can save time. With MPLAB X IDE, many tools can be selected, but they all will have a similar interface and the learning curve from simulator to low-cost in-circuit debugger to powerful in-circuit emulator is small.

Software Debuggers

Simulators are built into MPLAB X IDE so a program can be tested without any additional hardware. A simulator is a software debugger, and the debugger functions for the simulator are almost identical to the hardware debuggers, allowing a new tool to be learned with ease. Usually a simulator runs somewhat slower than an actual microcontroller since the CPU in the computer is being used to simulate the operations of the microcontroller.

Hardware Debuggers

There are two types of hardware that can be used with MPLAB X IDE: programmers and hardware debuggers. A programmer simply burns the machine code from the PC into the internal memory of the target microcontroller. The microcontroller can then be plugged into the application and, hopefully, it will run as designed.

Usually, however, the code does not function exactly as anticipated, and the engineer is tasked with reviewing the code and its operation in the application to determine how to modify the original source code to make it execute as desired. This process is called debugging. As noted previously, the simulator can be used to test how the code will operate, but once a microcontroller is programmed with the firmware, many things outside the scope of the simulator come into play. Using just a programmer, the code could be changed, reprogrammed into the microcontroller and plugged into the target for retest, but this could be a long, laborious cycle if the code is complex, and it is difficult to understand exactly what is going wrong in the hardware.

This is where a hardware debugger is useful. Hardware debuggers can be in-circuit emulators or in-circuit debuggers, which use microcontrollers that have special built-in debugging features. A hardware debugger, like a simulator, allows the engineer to inspect variables at various points in the code, and single step to follow instructions as the hardware interacts with its specialized circuitry.

1.6 Device Programming

After the application has been debugged and is running in the development environment, it needs to be tested on its own. A device can be programmed with an in-circuit emulator, an in-circuit debugger, a development programmer, or a device programmer. MPLAB X IDE can be set to the programmer function, and the part can be "burned". The target application can now be observed in its nearly final state. Engineering prototype programmers allow quick prototypes to be made and evaluated. Some applications can be programmed after the device is soldered on the target PC board. Using In-Circuit Serial Programming[™] (ICSP[™]) programming capability, the firmware can be programmed into the application at the time of manufacture, allowing updated revisions to be programmed into an embedded application later in its life cycle. Devices that support in-circuit debugging can even be plugged back into an in-circuit debugger after manufacturing for quality tests and development of next generation firmware.

Production programming can be accomplished using a production programmer and the MPLAB IPE, which is installed with MPLAB X IDE.

1.7 Components of MPLAB X IDE

MPLAB X IDE includes:

- a full-featured programmer's text editor that also serves as a window into the debugger.
- a project manager (visible as the Projects window) that provides integration and communication between the IDE and the language tools.
- a number of assembler/linker suites for the development of firmware for your project's device.
- a debugger engine that provides breakpoints, single stepping, Watches windows and all the features of a modern debugger. The debugger works in conjunction with debug tools, both software and hardware.
- a software simulator for all PIC and dsPIC devices as well as many AVR and SAM devices. The simulator is
 actually composed of several device-specific simulator executables. MPLAB X IDE decides which one to use
 based on your project's device.

Optional components can be acquired or purchased to work with the MPLAB X IDE.

Compiler Language Tools

MPLAB XC C compilers from Microchip provide fully integrated, optimized code for MCUs. Along with communitybased compilers and third-party compilers, they are invoked by the MPLAB X IDE project manager to compile code that is automatically loaded into the target debugger for instant testing and verification.

Programming Environments/Frameworks

The MPLAB Code Configurator (MCC) is a free, graphical programming environment that generates seamless, easyto-understand C code to be inserted into your project. Just install the MCC plugin into MPLAB X IDE by selecting <u>Tools>Plugins>Available Plugins</u>.

MPLAB[®] Harmony is a framework of system services, device drivers, and other libraries that are built upon a base of portable peripheral libraries to provide flexible, portable, and consistent software "building blocks" that you can use to develop your embedded PIC32 applications. The MPLAB Harmony Configurator (MHC), a time-saving hardware configuration utility for MPLAB Harmony, is available as a plugin under <u>Tools>Plugins>Available Plugins</u>.

Programmers

Production programmers, such as the MPLAB ICD 4 in-circuit debugger, are capable of the programming code into target devices in a production environment. Programmers may be used with MPLAB X IDE or MPLAB IPE to control programming of both code and data, as well as the Configuration bits to set the various operating modes of the target microcontrollers or digital signal controllers.

In-Circuit Debuggers and Emulators

In-circuit debuggers and emulators can be used to debug application code on target devices. By using some of the on-chip resources, these tools can download code into a target microcontroller inserted in the application, set breakpoints, single step and monitor registers and variables. Emulators include additional debug features, such as trace.

Plugin Tools

© 2019 Microchip Technology Inc.

Several plugins are available to add to the capabilities for MPLAB X IDE. For example, the MPLAB Data Visualizer provides a mechanism to graphically view application output in real-time.

1.8 MPLAB X IDE Help

MPLAB X IDE is built upon the NetBeans platform. Therefore, many of the NetBeans functions are now MPLAB X IDE functions. For more on NetBeans Help topics, see:

https://docs.oracle.com/cd/E50453_01/doc.80/e50452/toc.htm

Help Contents

Please refer to all help files for a complete understanding of MPLAB X IDE behavior. To launch help, select <u>Help>Help Contents</u>. This merges all help files into one, so it may take a little more time to open.

Tool Help Contents

You can also view individual help files for selected tools under <u>Help>Tool Help Contents</u>. Launching an individual help file will be faster and provide a smaller search of topics.

Developer Help

Microchip Developer Help is a good place to look for tips on advanced features:

http://microchipdeveloper.com/

Enter text in the box next to "How do I?" to look up topics in Developer Help.

Figure 1-15. Microchip Developer Help



1.9 Other MPLAB X IDE Documentation

In addition to help, links to other documentation, videos, forums, and wikis are featured on the Start Page.



Figure 1-16. MPLAB X IDE Start Page

1.10 Microchip Website

Microchip Technology provides online support of Development Tools via our website at:

http://www.microchip.com/development-tools/

1.11 Microchip Store

Starting with MPLAB X IDE v3.xx, you may access the Microchip store for development tools software and hardware products via the IDE.

	Store Icon
--	------------

- MPLAB X Store tab next to the Start tab is this tab, which provides links to products.
- Help>MPLAB X Store under the Help menu is a link to open the MPLAB X Store tab.
- MPLAB X Store Toolbar Icon an icon on the MPLAB X Store toolbar opens the MPLAB X Store tab.

1.12 Programming Center

Add code to your device or order free samples pre-programmed using the Microchip Programming Center. Click the icon to go to the microchipDIRECT site where you can order this value-added service.



Programming Center Icon

1.13 MPLAB X IDE Updates

MPLAB X IDE is an evolving program with thousands of users. Microchip Technology is continually designing new microcontrollers with new features. Many new MPLAB X IDE features come from customer requests and from internal usage. Continued new designs and the release of new microcontrollers ensure that MPLAB X IDE will continue to evolve.

MPLAB X IDE is scheduled for a version update approximately every few months to add new device support and new features.

For projects that are midway through development when a new version of MPLAB X IDE is released, it is considered "best practice" to not update to the new release unless there is a compelling reason to do so, such as a bug fix on a bug that inhibits the current efforts. The start of a new project is the best time to update to a new release.

Each new release of the MPLAB X IDE software has new features implemented, so the printed documentation will inevitably "lag" behind the online help. The online help is the best source for any questions about MPLAB X IDE.

To be notified of updates to MPLAB X IDE and its components, subscribe to the Development Tools section of myMICROCHIP Personalized Notification Service on:

http://www.microchip.com/pcn

1.14 Working Outside the IDE

MPLAB X IDE is designed to help you write, debug and release applications for embedded systems. However, your company may have requirements that make code development outside the IDE necessary.

To find out how you can build your code outside MPLAB X IDE, see:

http://microchipdeveloper.com/mplabx:work-outside

2. Before You Begin

AS YOU PREPARE TO USE MPLAB X IDE, DO THE FOLLOWING:

- Review the installation requirements in the readme/release notes
- Install MPLAB X IDE (and the JRE)
- Install USB drivers for hardware tools
- Connect to a target
- Install language tools (assemblers and/or compilers)
- Launch the IDE
- Shop the Microchip Store

Additionally, learn how to launch multiple instances of the IDE, multiple versions of the IDE, and use startup parameters.

2.1 Review Installation Requirements

Installation requirements, as well as other installation issues, are specified in the "Readme for MPLAB X IDE." Find a link to this HTML file on the desktop under <u>Learn & Discover>Getting Started>Users Guide & Release Notes</u>.

2.2 Install JRE and MPLAB X IDE

When you install MPLAB X IDE (based on the NetBeans platform), Java Runtime Environment (JRE) 8 is installed. This JRE is used solely with MPLAB X IDE and is not registered on your computer for general use.

For Windows XP, JRE 7 will need to be installed. The MPLAB X IDE installer will search for JRE 7 on your system and if **not** found it will recommend sites for download.

Mac OS X 10.8 (Mountain Lion) was the first version to support JRE8. Therefore Mac OS X 10.8 or greater is required for MPLAB X IDE.

2.3 Install the USB Device Drivers (for Hardware Tools)

The MPLAB X IDE installer contains a preinstaller that will place USB device drivers for supported hardware tools onto your system. After MPLAB X IDE installation, when a hardware tool is plugged into the computer, the operating system (OS) should associate the driver with the tool (i.e., finish the driver installation). However, additional steps may be needed for correct association, for some OSs and tools.

USB Driver Installation for macOS[®] or Linux[®] OS

If you are planning to install MPLAB X IDE on a Mac or Linux computer, no additional steps are needed.

USB Driver Installation for Windows[®] OS

If you are planning to install MPLAB X IDE on a personal computer that uses the Windows operating system, follow the instructions below.

Note: The USB hardware tool drivers for MPLAB IDE v8 are not the same as those for MPLAB X IDE.

The table below shows which tools are affected and which are not.

Instructions apply to these tools	You do not need to do anything for these tools
MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator	PICkit 2 or PICkit 3 in-circuit debugger
MPLAB ICD 3, MPLAB ICD 4, or MPLAB PICkit 4 in- circuit debugger	Other MPLAB Starter Kits
MPLAB PM3 device programmer	

.....continued

Instructions apply to these tools

You do not need to do anything for these tools

PIC32 Starter Kit

Complete the instructions in the following sections to determine your installation method.

2.3.1 Before You Install MPLAB X IDE

Be aware that if your Windows OS version of WinUSB drivers is older than the IDE preinstaller version, the system drivers will be replaced. If you want to keep your version of WinUSB drivers, rename these files before installing MPLAB X IDE.

The WinUSB driver files are located at the following locations:

32-bit OS

C:\Windows\system32\WinUSB.dll (32-bit)

C:\Windows\system32\drivers\WinUSB.sys (64-bit)

64-bit OS

C:\Windows\SysWOW64\WinUSB.dll (32-bit)

C:\Windows\system32\WinUSB.dll (64-bit)

C:\Windows\system32\drivers\WinUSB.sys (64-bit)

2.3.2 If MPLAB IDE v8.xx is NOT Installed on Your System

You do not need to do anything; the USB drivers will be preinstalled when MPLAB X IDE is installed. Once you plug your tool into a computer USB port, a "New Hardware Found" notification should appear. Then, either the install will proceed automatically or you will have to follow a wizard and choose to "Automatically select driver." However, if either procedure fails to install the drivers (associate the preinstalled driver with your tool), you will need to install/ associate the drivers manually. For instructions and driver locations, see 2.3.3.4 If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers.

2.3.3 If MPLAB IDE v8.xx is Installed on Your System

If MPLAB IDE v8.xx or earlier is already installed on your computer, you may need to run the MPLAB Device Driver Switcher to switch from MPLAB IDE v8 drivers to MPLAB X IDE drivers.

To determine which drivers are associated with the your tool:

- 1. Plug your desired tool into the USB connector on your personal computer.
- 2. Open the computer's Device Manager window.
 - 2.1. For MPLAB IDE v8.xx, the driver should be under "Custom USB Device>Microchip Custom USB Device."
 - 2.2. For MPLAB X IDE, the driver should be under "Microchip Tools>Microchip WinUSB Device."
- 3. If you have an MPLAB IDE v8.xx driver, you will need to use the Switcher to switch to the MPLAB X IDE drivers.

To switch to MPLAB X IDE preinstalled drivers:

- 1. If You Have Windows XP 64, Manually Switch
- 2. If You Have Windows 7 or 8, Use Administrator Mode
- 3. Switch USB Device Drivers (for Hardware Tools)

If the Switcher fails to switch the drivers, see:

- 1. If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers
- 2. Tool Communication Issues

2.3.3.1 If You Have Windows XP 64, Manually Switch

Note: Microsoft Windows XP Professional SP3 is no longer supported. However, MPLAB X IDE may continue to function on this operating system.

If you are using Windows XP 64-bit OS on your computer, you will not be able to use the MPLAB Device Drive Switcher to switch from MPLAB IDE v8 drivers to MPLAB X IDE drivers; you will have to switch the drivers manually. See 2.3.3.4 If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers.

2.3.3.2 If You Have Windows 7 or 8, Use Administrator Mode

To run the MPLAB Device Driver Switcher, you must be in Administrator mode.

To run the Switcher utility as administrator, right click on the executable and select 'Run as Administrator.' Executable locations are specified below:

- 32-bit OS: C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher\32Bit\MPDDSwitch.exe
- 64-bit OS: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher\64Bit \MPDDSwitch64.exe

It is recommended that you use the Switcher GUI utility first to switch the drivers. If this is problematic, you may switch the drivers using command-line applications.

To run the command-line application – mchpdds32.exe or mchpdds64.exe – as administrator, first open the command prompt as administrator: <u>Start>All Programs>Accessories>Command Prompt</u>, right click and select 'Run as Administrator'. This will open up the Administrator: Command Prompt. After this, the instructions provided in the ReadMe32.txt or ReadMe64.txt file may be followed to complete the driver switching.

2.3.3.3 Switch USB Device Drivers (for Hardware Tools)

The MPLAB Device Driver Switcher is a GUI application that enables you to switch between MPLAB IDE v8 device drivers and MPLAB X IDE device drivers. Click on the desktop icon to launch the Switcher utility.

Figure 2-1. MPLAB Driver Switcher Icon



Tool Group and Ac	ion:	Group Dr	river Selection	to be Applied:		
Real ICE : No Ch ICD3 : No Ch PM3 : No Ch PIC32 SK : No Ch	ange ange ange ange	MPLAB 8 C	MPLAB X	Do Not Change	Apply Changes	Close
PDDSwitch64, v1.04	.03					
Make sure that the to IPDDSwitch64, v1.04 lug in ONLY the tools	.03 you want switch	ed. All other to	ols should be	unplugged.		
vake sure that the tr IPDDSwitch64, v1.04 lug in ONLY the tools	.03 you want switch	ed. All other to	ols should be	unplugged.		

Figure 2-2. Switcher Utility

Switcher Operation

To switch USB device drivers:

 Click to select the connected tool for which you wish to switch drivers under "Tool Group and Action." Note: If the tool(s) are not connected when Switcher is run, the driver(s) will not be installed or switched for those particular tools.

- 2. Click the radio button for either "MPLAB 8" or "MPLAB X."
- 3. Click the **Apply Changes** button. Switcher progress will be shown in the large text window. This may take some time.
- 4. Once the program/batch completes, view the name(s) of the driver(s) in the Device Manager window. For MPLAB X IE, the driver(s) should be under "Microchip Tools>Microchip WinUSB Device." For MPLAB IDE v8.xx, the driver(s) should be under "Custom USB Device>Microchip Custom USB Device."

Switcher Troubleshooting

- 1. If the GUI fails to switch the drivers, check the paths to the driver files by clicking the **Advanced** button. Run the Switcher again.
- 2. If the GUI still fails to switch the drivers, you will need to switch the drivers manually. For instructions and driver locations, see 2.3.3.4 If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers.

Switcher Executable Location

You can find the Switcher executable file in the MPLAB X IDE install folder, Switcher subfolder, kept in the following location (by default):

- 32-bit OS: C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher
- 64-bit OS: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher

where vx, xx is the MPLAB X IDE version.

2.3.3.4 If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers

If you need to switch or associate the USB device drivers manually:

- 1. Open the Device Manager (under Control Panel). Look under "Microchip Tools" for your tool or, if you cannot find it there, under "Other Devices" for "Unknown Device."
- 2. Right click on your tool name or "Unknown Device" and select "Update Driver Software."
- In the Update Driver Software dialog, select "Browse my computer for driver software." Note: DO NOT select "Search automatically for updated driver software." This will associate a Windows default driver with your tool, which will probably not work. If you accidentally select this, back out or exit and repeat these steps to switch to the correct driver.
- 4. Locate the correct device driver for your system. For MPLAB X IDE, the default locations for the device drivers are:

```
C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher\32Bit\
winusb\x86\MCHPWinUSBDevice.inf
```

or

```
C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\Switcher\64Bit\
winusb\amd64\MCHPWinUSBDevice.inf
```

where vx, xx is the version number of MPLAB X IDE.

5. If a Windows Security dialog pops up, select "Install this driver software anyway" to proceed to switch to the selected drivers.

2.3.3.5 Tool Communication Issues

- 1. If you are using a docking station or hub and have issues after plugging in the tool, you may need to plug the tool directly into a USB port on your computer.
- 2. If you need to switch to a device driver manually, you will need to point to the INF file in the 32Bit or 64Bit folder. For details, see 2.3.3.4 If You Need to Manually Switch the Drivers.

2.4 Connect to a Target (for Hardware Tools)

For in-circuit debuggers and emulators, refer to the following to determine how to connect your hardware tool to a target:

- the Development Tools Design Advisory
- the Header Specification (if you are using a header)

• your tool documentation

For dedicated programmers, refer to your tool documentation for connection information.

If you are using a Microchip demonstration board, evaluation kit or reference design as your target, please refer to the accompanying documentation for set up information.

2.5 Install the Language Tools

When you install MPLAB X IDE, the following language tools are installed: MPASM toolchain.

In addition, the following C compiler toolchains (compiler, assembler, linker, etc.) can be used with MPLAB X IDE. To select a compiler toolchain, consider which device you wish to use and then choose a toolchain that supports that device.

- MPLAB XC C Compilers
- AVR and Arm C Compilers
- AVRASM2 installed with Atmel Studio

MPLAB XC compilers can be licensed as Free or PRO (full-featured, code-optimized) compilers. To install and license these compilers, view the document *Installing and Licensing MPLAB XC C Compilers* (DS50002059). MPLAB X IDE includes the option to license your installed compiler and roam in and out for network licenses. See *Tools>Licenses*.

AVR and Arm GNU C compilers (GCCs) are always free. Follow the installer screens to install on you computer.

Note: Ensure these compilers are installed where MPLAB X IDE can search for them, e.g., where MPLAB XC C compilers are installed under C:\Program Files\Microchip. Otherwise you will have to specify in MPLAB X IDE where to find them (see 4.7 Set Language Tool Locations).

2.6 Launch the IDE and View the Desktop

Double click on the MPLAB X IDE icon to launch the program.

Figure 2-3. MPLAB X IDE Icon



MPLAB X IDE is built upon the NetBeans platform. If you are familiar with the NetBeans IDE, then the MPLAB X IDE desktop will look familiar. However, the tabs listed below are specific to MPLAB X IDE.

- Start Page
- MPLAB X Store

On the Start Page, there are 3 tabs with links. If you don't want the Start Page displayed on start-up, uncheck "Show on Startup" beneath any tab.

Before You Begin



Figure 2-4. MPLAB X IDE Desktop

2.7 Shop the MPLAB X Store

Figure 2-5. MPLAB X Store

Click on the MPLAB X Store tab to purchase tools from the Microchip store. The tab is formatted to showcase some of the latest items for sale pertaining to MPLAB X IDE. You can also browse categories to find other items.

This tab may be accessed directly from the Help menu or from a toolbar icon.

5			
MPLAB X IDE v5.25			
File Edit View Navigate Source Refactor Production Debug Team To	ools Window Help		
🕾 🔚 🖶 🍤 🍼 🏧 PC: 0x0 dc n ov z c		Help Contents Tool Help Contents	,
Proj 🕸 Files 🖃 Start Page 🛛 🛒 MPLAB X Store 🕺		Online Docs and Support	L
S 5 << >>		Keyboard Shortcuts Card	
	(T	MPLAB X Store)-
		Start Page	
	Products	About	n

Additional features are coming. A microchipDirect login is planned from the Start Page, My MPLAB IDE. You will then be able to:

- See alerts on software (like HPA expiring)
- · Access to your mySoftware account, where you can register and download licenses and renew HPA

2.8 Launch Multiple Instances of the IDE

Some set up is required before using hardware tools (MPLAB PICkit 4, etc.) with an instance of MPLAB X IDE. After any hardware tool setup, an instance of the IDE may be invoked from its own directory.

2.8.1 Setting Up Hardware Tools to Work with Multiple Instances

By default, you can work with up to five (5) instances of the IDE. If you want to have more instances, you will need to modify the "mchpdefport" file manually.

Use and Format of "mchpdefport" File

The "mchpdefport" file provides the information necessary for tool hot-plug use to both the IDE and to the low-level USB library (DLL, so, or dylib file). The format for this file is as follows:

The first line indicates the host name on which the IDE is running.

The other lines represent port or socket numbers through which the low-level library communicates with the upperlevel IDE. Each instance of the IDE will be assigned to a different port or socket. All communications between the instances of the IDE should be hidden from the user.

For up to five (5) instances of MPLAB X IDE, you do not need to alter this file. If you want more than five instances, you can edit the file to add more port or socket numbers.

Location of the "mchpdefport" File

Within a default installation of the IDE, the "mchpdefport" file can be found in the following place, depending on the operating system:

OS	Location
Windows (64-bit)	C:\Windows\system32 and
	C:\Windows\SysWOW64
	Note: Both occurrences of "mchpdefport" must be modified.
	Note: If you are on a 64-bit system and use a 32-bit editor to edit "mchpdefport" in C: \Windows\system32, you will actually be modifying the "mchpdefport" file in SysWOW64. You must use a 64-bit editor to edit the file in system32.
Windows (32-bit)	C:\Windows\system32
Linux	/etc/.mplab_ide
Mac (OS X)	/etc/.mplab_ide

2.8.2 Invoking Instances of the IDE

MPLAB X IDE requires that each instance has its own user directory. Therefore, preferences that are set or plugins that are added to one instance will not be reflected in another instance.

In order to invoke multiple instances, launch the IDE with the --userdir option and specify a directory.

Window OS

Create a shortcut with the --userdir option. For example, on Windows 7 OS:

1. Right click on the desktop and select <u>New>Shortcut</u>.

Before You Begin

- 2. Browse to the installed (default) MPLAB X IDE executable: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\mplab_platform\ bin\mplab_ide.exe where vx.xx is the MPLAB X IDE version.
- 3. At the end of that line, type the location of the user directory. You can either place your directory under the default location for this type of MPLAB X IDE information: --userdir "C:\Users\MyFiles\AppData\Roaming\.mplab_ide\ dev\anydir" or you can place it where ever you like: --userdir anydir
- 4. Click OK.

Linux OS

The installed version, initiated without any parameters (clicking on the desktop icon), will run with a user directory of \$ (HOME) /.mplab_ide. To change the user directory, run the <code>\$InstallationDir/mplab_platform/bin/mplab_ide</code> shell script, passing the argument --userid anydir. For example, to run MPLAB X IDE in two different instances:

```
$ /opt/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/mplab_platform/bin/mplab_ide --userdir ~/.anydir1 &
$ /opt/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/mplab_platform/bin/mplab_ide --userdir ~/.anydir2 &
```

where vx.xx is the MPLAB X IDE version.

You can create desktop icons that have the user ID embedded, too.

Mac OS

Open a Shell window and type the command line listed below to execute your installation of MPLAB X IDE in an alternate user directory. You can either place your directory under the default location for this type of MPLAB X IDE information:

```
$/bin/sh /Applications/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/mplab_ide.app/Contents/
Resources/mplab_platform/bin/mplab_ide --userdir "${HOME}/Library/
Application Support/mplab_ide/dev/anydir"
```

or you can place it wherever you like:

```
$/bin/sh /Applications/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/mplab_ide.app/Contents/
Resources/mplab_platform/bin/mplab_ide --userdir anydir
```

2.9 Launch Multiple Versions of the IDE

Before the release of MPLAB X IDE v3.00, you could have different versions of the IDE on your PC by installing to different directories. Beginning with MPLAB X IDE v3.00, this is done by default, for example:

C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v3.00

You can launch and run different versions at the same time. Each version has its own user directory.

You can launch a version of MPLAB X IDE and a version of MPLAB IDE (v8 or earlier) on the same PC, but keep in mind of the USB hardware driver limitations mentioned in "Install the USB Device Drivers (for Hardware Tools)."

2.10 Launch using Startup Parameters

Many command-line options are from the NetBeans platform. See:

http://wiki.netbeans.org/FaqStartupParameters

In addition, a list of MPLAB[®] X IDE options may be found by using the --help option. For example, on a 64-bit Windows[®] 7 system:

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide Before You Begin

>C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\mplab_platform\bin\mplab_ide --help

3. Tutorial

THIS TUTORIAL PROVIDES A GUIDED EXAMPLE FOR WORKING WITH AN MPLAB X IDE PROJECT.

The example project will display potentiometer values on four LEDs. After downloading and opening the project in MPLAB X IDE, how to set/change project properties and run the project is explained. Debug features such as setting breakpoints, stepping through code, viewing variable values, and viewing/changing register and memory values are demonstrated.

3.1 Installing and Setting Up the Software

Download and install the software listed below. Refer to section 2. Before You Begin for installation details.

- Install MPLAB X IDE. Download the free IDE at http://www.microchip.com/mplabx.
- Install MPLAB XC8 C compiler. Download a free MPLAB XC compiler at http://www.microchip.com/xc.

Launch MPLAB X IDE. Ensure that the compiler is shown in the IDE window <u>*Tools>Options>Embedded>Build Tools.*</u> If not, click the **Add** button to find the compiler install location manually.

(
S Options		X
😤 🗗 🔬 🗄 1	🛋 🚴 🔚 🙄 😰	Q Filter (Ctrl+F)
General Editor Fonts & Colors Keymap Emb	edded Team Appearance Plugins Miscellaneous	
Generic Settings Project Options Build Too	s Managed Tools Suppressible Messages Diagnostics Other	
Toolchain: NC32 (v2.15) [C:\Program Files (> XC32 (v2.15) [C:\Program Files (> XC32 (v1.44) [C:\Program Files (> Type	:: XC8	
XC32 (v2.05) [C:\Program Files ()	Directory: C: Program Files (x86) Microchin xc8 v2.05 bin	
XC8 (v2.05) [C:\Program Files (xt		
XC8 (v1.45) [C:\Program Files (xt +	mpiler: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc8\v2.05\bin\xc8-cc.exe	
∢ III ► Asse	mbler: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc8\v2.05\bin\xc8-cc.exe	
Add Make	2 Command: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v5.15\gnuBins\GnuV	Vin32\bin\make.exe
Add Custom Compiler		
Remove Default		
		Scan for Build Tools
•	m	•
Export Import	OK Apply	Cancel Help

3.2 Connecting the Hardware

The Curiosity High Pin Count (HPC) Development Board (DM164136) with a PIC16F18875 will be used. Refer to the following product pages for more information:

- DM164136
- PIC16F18875

For a supported USB cable, plug the mini USB connector into the evaluation board and plug the USB connector into your computer. Drivers will install automatically.

Tutorial



3.3 Downloading the Example Code

Go to MPLAB Xpress Code Examples.

Then complete the following selections:

- Under Tags, select the "#Getting Started" check box.
- Under **Board**, select the "Curiosity HPC Board" check box.
- Under Title, click on "CuriosityHPC-Basics."

MPLAB Xpress Code Examples

and the second se	
the second s	

Title	Author	Like	Watch	Import	Tags	Board	Device
×		×	×	×	Ξ	Θ	×
Search	0	From	From	From	I #Getting Started	Curiosity Board	Search
	2 🗆	То	То	То		Curiosity HPC Board	
CuriosityHPC-Basics		0	0	282	#Getting Started, ADCC,	Curiosity HPC B	PIC16F18875

On the "CuriosityHPC-Basics" page, you will find links to information on the board and device. Click **Download** to download the example project. Unzip the contents.







3.4 Opening the Example Project in MPLAB X IDE

In MPLAB X IDE, click the "Open Project" icon *Line*. Scroll through the list, select the "CuriosityHPC-Basics" project and click **Open Project**.
View the Projects and Files Windows

The Projects window displays the project tree with files grouped by category. For more information on these categories, see 8.1 Projects Window View.

Click on the Files window to see a file manager view of project files. See 8.2 Files Window View.

If you double click on a file name in either window, the related file will open in an Editor window. To close the tab, click on the "x" next to the file name.

Right click on the project name in the Projects window to view the pop-up (context) menu. You can do the same on the project's subfolders and window background.

Figure 3-1. Projects and Files Windows



View the Dashboard and Navigator Windows

The Dashboard window shows details about the project. For more information, see 12.6 Dashboard Window.

The Navigator window provides a compact view of the file that is currently selected and simplifies navigation between different parts of the file.



3.5 Setting Project Properties

In the Projects window, right click on the project name to drop down a menu. Select "Properties."

Review the Project Properties window. Click **OK** to save any changes.

Categories	The project is set to use the "free" version of the compiler. If you have a licensed version, you may select "pro."
Device	Verify this matches the device on the board.
Packs	The pack version shown in the figure is for MPLAB X IDE v5.20.
Hardware	Curiosity should be selected as a Starter Kit with PKOB (the built-in debugger).
Compiler Toolchain	The tutorial project was created using MPLAB XC8 v1.37. You can change to the latest compiler version (as in the figure) or you can download the original project version from: Downloads Archive



Figure 3-3. Project Properties Window

3.6 Running the Code

Click on the Run Project icon to run your program. Run progress will be visible in the Output window (see

figure). Alternately, use the "Hold in Reset" button 💴 to toggle between device Reset and running.

Figure 3-4. Output Window - Code Running



Turn the potentiometer on the board to see the LEDs light up representing pot values.

Tutorial



3.7 Debugging the Code

For this tutorial, the code used has been tested and runs successfully. However, your own code may need to be debugged as you develop your application.

Click on the "Debug Project" icon to begin a debug session. Debug progress will be visible in the Output window (see figure.)

To halt your application code	Pause
To run your code again	Continue
To end execution of your code	Finish Debugger Session

For more on debugging C/C++ code projects, see also NetBeans Help:

Debugging C/C++ Projects Tutorial

Figure 3-5. Ouptut Window - Code Running in Debug Mode

Output %	
Starter Kit on Board 🕺 CuriosityHPC-Hello (Build, Load,) 🛞 Debugger Console 😣	
larget Halted	*
Device Erased	
Programming	
The following memory area(s) will be programmed:	
program memory: start address = 0x0, end address = 0x7ff	
configuration memory	
Programming/Verify complete	
	Ξ
Running	
	-
CuriosityHPC-Hello (Build, Load,) 82:1	INS

3.8 Setting Breakpoints

When debugging code, it can be useful to suspend execution at a specific location in code so that variable values can be examined. To do this, use breakpoints.

For more information on breakpoints, see also NetBeans Help:

```
Debugging C/C++ Projects Tutorial>Creating Breakpoints
```

3.8.1 Set Breakpoint

If your code is running, end execution by clicking the "Finish Debugger Session" icon

In the Projects window, under "Source Files," double click on the file main.c to open it in an Editor window. Set a breakpoint on the line in the figure by clicking in the left margin of the line.

Figure 3-6. Breakpoint Set in Code



3.8.2 Halt at Breakpoint

Click the "Debug Project" icon to execute the program again. The program will halt at the breakpoint. Hover over the pot value variable to see its current value.

Tutorial

Figure 3-7. Program Execution Halted at Breakpoint

Start Pa	age 🕺 🛒 MPLAB X Store 🕺 🖭 main.c 🛸	
Source]History 📲 📴 💀 💀 📲 🗣 🤜 🖓 😓 🖓 😓 🎧 🖓 😓 😒 🗐 💷 🔛 🥚 💷 🏙 🚅 🐯	*
71	while (1)	
72	{	
73	// Add yolAddress = 0x/8, pot_value = 0x0006	
	<pre>uint16_t ppt_value = ADCC_GetSingleConversion(POT);</pre>	
75	<pre>pot_value = pot_value >> 6;</pre>	
76		
77	<pre>pot_value ^= S1_GetValue() ? 0x00 : 0x08;</pre>	
78	<pre>pot_value ^= S2_GetValue() ? 0x00 : 0x01;</pre>	
79		
80	<pre>if(pot_value & 0x01) { LED2_SetHigh(); } else {LED2_SetLow();}</pre>	_
81	<pre>if(pot_value & 0x02) { LED3_SetHigh(); } else {LED3_SetLow();}</pre>	
82	<pre>if(pot_value & 0x04) { LED4_SetHigh(); } else {LED4_SetLow();}</pre>	
83	<pre>if(pot_value & 0x08){ LED5_SetHigh(); } else {LED5_SetLow();}</pre>	
84		
85	}	
86	- }	=
87 -	/**	
88	End of File	
89	- */	-
		P.

3.8.3 Troubleshooting

If you see a bulb warning icon Ment to lines of code in the editor, you may need to set the path for include files. See:

Set The Include Directory Path

Note: For MPLAB XC8 v2.xx, both AVR and PIC MCUs are supported, so the compiler install directory structure has changed.

3.9 Stepping Through Code

Use Step Into to move through the code from the breakpoint halt. Stepping allows you to examine changes in variable values or determine if the program flow is correct.



Step Over – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the entire function and stops.



Step Into – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the program up to the function's first statement and stops.



Step Out – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the functions and returns control to the caller.



Run to Cursor – Runs the current project to the cursor's location in the file and stops program execution.

Figure 3-8. Code During Step

```
71
         while (1)
72
          ł
              // Add your application code
73
uint16 t pot value = ADCC GetSingleConversion(POT);
75
              pot_value = pot_value >> 6;
76
⇔
              pot value ^= S1_GetValue() ? 0x00 : 0x08;
              pot value ^= S2 GetValue() ? 0x00 : 0x01;
78
79
80
              if(pot_value & 0x01){ LED2_SetHigh(); } else {LED2_SetLow();}
              if(pot value & 0x02){ LED3 SetHigh(); } else {LED3 SetLow();}
81
              if(pot_value & 0x04){ LED4 SetHigh(); } else {LED4 SetLow();}
82
              if(pot value & 0x08) { LED5 SetHigh(); } else {LED5 SetLow();}
83
84
85
86
  -
87
88
      End of File
89
```

3.10 Viewing Variable Values

You can view the changing values of variables in the Variables window. To open, select *Window>Debugging>Variables*. For more information on this window, see 4.17 Watch Local Variable Values Change.

Click the "Debug Project" icon . The code will execute and stop at the breakpoint. pot_value information will be shown in the Variables window.

Figure 3-9. Variables Window - First Breakpoint Halt

Varia	ables ⁸⁸ Output				-
	Name	Туре	Address	Value	
\bigcirc	Enter new watch>)) (
		unsigned short) 0x78	0x0007	
	Curi	osityHPC-Hello (Build, Load,)	debugger halted	74:1	INS

Turn the pot on the board so the value will change. Click the "Continue" icon <u>Sec</u>. The code will execute and stop at the breakpoint again. View the Variables window to see that the value has changed (red text).

Figure 3-10. Variables Window - Second Breakpoint Halt

Varia	ables 🕺 Output				
	Name	Туре	Address	Value	
R	Enter new watch>				^
÷		unsigned short	0x78	0x000A	
~					
	Ouris site i PC		debugger helted		-
	CuriosityHPC	-Hello (Bulld, Load,)	debugger halted	74:1	INS

. The program should halt on this line.

3.11 Watching Symbol Values Change

Watch the values of global symbols or SFRs change in the Watches window. Determining if these values are as expected during program execution will help you to debug your code.

3.11.1 Edit the Code

Click the "Finish Debugger Session" icon

Currently pot_value is a local symbol. To make it a global symbol, declare it before main ().

```
#include "mcc_generated_files/mcc.h"
uint16_t pot_value;
/* Main application
 */
void main(void)
```

Then remove uint16 t from the line that contains the first usage of this symbol.

wh	ile (1)
ł	// Add your application code
	<pre>pot_value = ADCC_GetSingleConversion(POT);</pre>

Place a breakpoint at this line and again click the "Debug Project" icon

3.11.2 Create a New Watch

To create a new watch:

- 1. Select *Debug>New Watch*. The New Watch dialog will open.
- 2. Enter a Watch expression, in this case pot_value, and then click **OK**. The Watches window will now appear on the desktop with the symbol.

Figure 3-11. New Watch Symbol

🔀 New Watch	×
Enter or Select Watch Expression:	
pot_value	
Global Symbols	SFR's
end_of_initialization main	^
pot_value	
reset_vec	
start_initialization	-
OK Cancel	Help

3.11.3 View Value Changes in Watches Window

Click the "Debug Project" icon . The code will execute and stop at the breakpoint. pot_value information will be shown in the Watches window.

Tutorial

Figure	-igure 3-12. Watches Window - First Breakpoint Halt								
Watch	hes 🕷 Variables 🛛 Output	ut			=				
\bigcirc	Name	Туре	Address	Value	X				
9	V 💎 pot_value	unsigned short	0x78	0x0006	🔺				
	Enter new watch>								
<u>a</u>									
۲									
					-				
	CuriosityHPC-Hell	o (Build, Load,)	debugger halted		76:1 INS				

Turn the pot on the board so the value will change. Click the "Continue" icon . The code will execute and stop at the breakpoint again. View the Watches window to see that the value has changed.

Figure 3-13. Watches Window - Second Breakpoint Halt

Watch	nes %	Variables	Output					
\bigcirc	Name			Гуре	Address	Value		
9	V (🕞 pot_value	U	insigned short	 0x78	 0x000A		🔺
	<	Enter new watch	h>					
9								
		Our in either U			debugger baltad	 I		
		CuriosityH	PC-Hello (B	ulid, Load,)	debugger halted		76:1	INS

For more on this window, see 12.19 Watches Window.

3.12 Viewing I/O Registers

The I/O View window provides a graphical view of the I/O memory map of the device associated with the active project. This debug tool will display the actual register content when debugging, allowing verification of peripheral configurations. It can also be used to modify the content of a register without having to recompile.

Open the I/O View window by selecting <u>Window>Debugging>IO View</u>. In the Peripheral (upper) part of the window, click on "Analog-to-Digital Converter." The registers associated with this peripheral will be shown in the Register (lower) part.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide Tutorial

Wat	ches	IO View 8	Variables	Output	Program M	emory			
7	Icon	Peripher	al						
\$	A	Analog-te	o-Digital Con	verter					
		Brown-O	ut Reset						
	<u>_</u>	Capture/	Compare/PV	/M 1					
_	m	Capture/	Compare/PV	/M 2					
		Capture/	Compare/PV	/M 3					
X		Capture/	Compare/PV	/M 4					
園		Capture/	Compare/PV	/M 5					
_	ÀŦ.								_
	Icon	Na	ame		Address	Value	Decimal	Bits	
	<u></u>	An	alog-to-Digita	l Converte	er				
	÷	🔦 AD	ACQ		0x09D	0x00	0	76543210	
	÷	🔦 AD	CAP		0x09B	0x00	0	43210	
	÷	🔦 AD	CON0		0x093	0x84	132	76 432 0	
	÷	🔦 AD	CON1		0x094	0x00	0	765 0	
	÷	🔦 AD	CON2		0x095	0x00	0	76543210	
		🔦 AD	CON3		0x096	0x00	0	6543210	
	<u>.</u>	🔦 AD	PRE		0x09C	0x00	0	76543210	
		🔦 AD	RESH		0x08D	0x00	0	76543210	
		🔦 AD	RESL		0x08C	0x00	0	76543210	
		MO AN	SELA		0xF38	0xFF	255	76543210	
		MO AN	SELB		0xF43	0xCF	207	7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	
	<u> </u>	MO AN	SELC		0xF4E	0xDF	223	7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	
					0xE59	0xFF	255	76543210	
		I/O AN	SELD		011100				
	÷	I/O AN	SELD SELE		0xF64	0x07	7		
		VO AN VO AN	SELD SELE RCON		0xF64 0x90C	0x07 0x40	7 64	2 1 0 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	
		No AN	SELD SELE RCON E1		0xF64 0x90C 0x717	0x07 0x40 0x00	7 64 0	2 1 0 7 6 5 4 7 6 1 0	

Figure 3-14. IO View Window

Since the ADC is used to convert potentiometer signals into digital signals for LED display, some values will change if

you turn the pot. Turn the pot and then click the "Continue" icon

You may also change register values directly by clicking on them.

±	ADRESL	0x08C	0x58	88	765432
⊕ … <mark>₩O</mark>	ANSELA	0xF38	0xFF	255	765 450
±1/O	ANSELB	0xF43	0xCF	207	7 6 5 ADRESL
⊕ <mark>₩O</mark>	ANSELC	0xF4E	0xDF	223	7 6 5 4 Bit:4

For more information on this window, see the following sections:

- 5.20 View Registers for the Project (I/O View)
- 12.8 I/O View Window

3.13 Viewing Device Memory (including Configuration Bits)

MPLAB X IDE has flexible, abstracted memory windows that provide a customizable view of differing types of device memory. Select <u>Window>Target Memory Views</u> to see a list of device-specific memory windows.

For example, to view the Flash memory:

- 1. Select <u>Window>Target Memory Views>Program Memory</u>.
- 2. The Program Memory window will open showing the last halt location.

Watches		Vari	ables	Οι	Itput	Pro	ogra	m M	emory 🛛	
Q		Line	Addres	8	Opcode	e	Lab	el	DisAssy	
		1975	07B6		0008				RETURN	
		1976	07B7		3187	п	nair	1	MOVLP 0x7	
1		1977	07B8		274E				CALL 0x74E	_
♣		1978	07B9		3187				MOVLP 0x7	_
	⇔	1979	07BA		3000				MOVLW 0x0	
		1980	07BB		3187				MOVLP 0x7	
		1981	07BC		2757				CALL 0x757	_
		1982	07BD		3187				MOVLP 0x7	_
		1983	07BE		0871				MOVF 0x71, W	
		1984	07BF		00F9				MOVWF 0x79	
Memory		Program	Memory			Form	nat (Code	•	•

Figure 3-15. Memory Window Content at Breakpoint Halt

To set Memory window options, right click in the Memory window to pop up a menu with various options such as display options, fill memory, table import/export, and output to file. The content of the menu depends on the window. See 12. MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs.

To refresh Flash Memory window:

- 1. Halt your program (Finish Debugger Session).
- 2. Click on the "Read Device Memory" icon

3.14 Programming a Device

After your code is debugged, you can program it onto a target device.

First, check the programming options in the Project Properties window. For this tutorial, no options need to be changed.

Tutorial

 Starter Kit (PKOB) Loading Libraries Building XC8 Global Options XC8 Compiler XC8 Linker 	Program Memory Range(s)(hex) Preserve Program Memory Preserve Program Memory Range(s)(hex) Option Description	0-fff	
Manage Configurations			

Finally, program the device by clicking the "Make and Program" icon

Note: Not all programming functions are in the MPLAB X IDE. For additional programming support, see the MPLAB IPE included with the MPLAB X IDE installation.

4. Basic Tasks

The following steps show how to work with projects in MPLAB® X IDE.

Table 4-1. Working with Basic Tasks

1 Preliminaries	 Before You Begin, install MPLAB X IDE, set up any hardware tools (install USB drivers and properly connect to your target) and install language tools for your selected device. Launch MPLAB X IDE to begin.
2	 Create a New Project by using the New Project wizard. Then View Changes in Desktop Panes.
Create and Build a Project	 Open Project Properties to View or Make Changes to Project Properties, Set Up or Change Debugger/Programmer Tool Options and Set Up or Change Language Tool Options.
	3. Set Language Tool Locations and Set Other Tool Options in the Tools Options dialog.
	4. Create a New File to add to your project or Add Existing Files to a Project. Enter or edit your application code to the File window.
	5. Discover other features for Editor Usage.
	6. Add and Set Up Library and Object Files.
	7. Set File and Folder Properties to keep or exclude individual files or entire folders from the build.
	8. Set Build Properties for your project. Here you may select the project configuration type, pre- and post-build steps, using the checksum as the user ID, and loading an alternative hex file on build.
	9. Build a Project.
	1. Run Code to execute your code.
Execute Code	2. Debug Code to execute your code in a debug session.
4	 Control Program Execution with Breakpoints. Set breakpoints in-line or via the Breakpoint window.
Debug Code	2. Step Through Code as the program executes.
	3. Watch Symbol Values Change in the Watches and Variables windows.
	4. View or Change Device Memory. Memory types are dependent on the device selected. Additionally, see Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.
5	1. Program a Device using simple toolbar buttons.
Program a Device	

4.1 Create a New Project

A *Project* is a group of source files and associated information about how to compile and link the source files and run the resulting program. The IDE stores project information in a project folder that includes a makefile and metadata files. Your source directories do not need to be physically located in the project folder, though it is recommended for project portability.

In the IDE, you always work inside a project even if your program is contained in a single source file. Each project must have a makefile so the IDE can build the project. A project's makefile can be generated by the IDE or you can use a makefile that was previously created outside the IDE.

Projects with IDE-generated makefiles are called **Managed Projects** and come in several varieties. When you create a project in MPLAB X IDE using the New Project Wizard, you will be able to choose from available types of project.

Basic Tasks

Projects that use makefiles, created outside the IDE, are called **User Makefile Projects**. For more information on creating this type of makefile, see Creating Makefiles Outside of MPLAB[®] X IDE.

You work with projects through the IDE's 12.15 Projects Window.

You can change a Standalone (Application) project to a Library project by changing the Configuration Type. For details, see 4.10.1 Change Project Configuration Type.

4.1.1 MPLAB X IDE v5 New Project Format

The new project format in v5.00 and greater supports packs which contain versioned device information. Packs can be found under:

<MPLAB X IDE install directory>\v5.xx\packs

Managing Projects

Projects created in or updated to v5.00 or greater are not backward compatible to v4.xx.

When you open a project created prior to v5.00, a message displays, announcing that it will upgrade the project to the current project version.

- If you choose **Yes**, the project will be upgraded to the current version and the project can no longer be opened with the earlier version of the IDE.
- If you choose **No**, you cannot save any modifications to the project in v5.00 or greater. You must make any changes in v4.xx.

If you upgraded a project to v5.xx but need to revert a project back to v4.xx, install the plugin in MPLAB X IDE found under <u>Tools>Plugins>Available Plugins>Save As v4.xx Project</u>. Once that plugin is installed, you can save your project in the older version by selecting <u>Tools>Embedded>Save as MPLAB X v4.xx Project</u>.

About Device Packs

Previously (v4.20 and earlier versions), supported device (*PIC) files that were built into each MPLAB X IDE version. You could not update the devices supported in this version; you had to wait until the next MPLAB X IDE version for device support.

Now (v5.00 and latest versions), the device files are grouped into versioned device family packs. Although each MPLAB X IDE version comes with device packs, you may upgrade the device pack version to include new devices, new device feature support, or device bug fix support.

For more information on device packs, see:

5.1 Work with Device Packs

4.1.2 Launch New Project Wizard

New Projects can be launched in several ways.

File Edit View Navigate Source Refactor P. Image: Source Refa	<i>File>New Project</i> (or Ctrl+Shift+N)
File Edit View Navigate Source Refact Image: Source Refact Image: Start Page Start Page	New Project icon (on the File toolbar)
PROJECTS Open Sample Create New Import Legacy Import Prebuilt 	Start Page, Learn & Discover or My MPLAB X IDE tab, "Projects," > "Create New"

4.1.3 Step 1: Choose Project

Choose a project category. In most cases you will choose a project type from "Microchip Embedded":

The following options are available to choose for a project category:

- Standalone Project Create a new C and/or assembly code project. This type of project is shown in this section.
- Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project Convert your existing MPLAB IDE v8 project into an MPLAB X IDE project.
 For details see 5.3 Import an Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project.
- Prebuilt (Hex, Loadable Image) Project Load an existing project image into MPLAB X IDE. For details, see 5.4 Prebuilt Projects.
- User Makefile Project Create a project that makes use of an external makefile. For details, see 6.6 Create User Makefile Projects.
- Library Project Create a new C and/or assembly code project that will build into a library, instead of an executable hex file. For details, see 5.7 Library Projects.
- Import START MPLAB Project and Import Atmel Studio Project Import these Atmel projects. For details, see 5.8 Import Atmel Studio 7 or Atmel START Project.

Other options are also available:

- 5.9 Other Embedded Projects projects from other vendors.
- 5.10 Sample Projects includes ready-to-use projects for different device families and project templates for different device families.

After you have made your selections, click Next> to move to the next dialog.

Figure 4-1. Project Wizard – Choose Project

🔀 New Project		×		
Steps	Choose Project			
1. Choose Project 2	Q, Filter:			
	Categories:	Projects:		
	Microchip Embedded	Standalone Project		
	Other Embedded	Prebuilt (Hex, Loadable Image) Project		
		User Makefile Project		
		Library Project		
		Import START MPLAB Project		

	Description:			
	Creates a new standalone application pro	ject. It uses an IDE-generated makefile to build your		
	project.			
	< Back	Next > Finish Cancel Help		

4.1.4 Step 2: Select Device

Select the device you will be using in your application from the "Device" drop-down list. To narrow your selection list, chose a "Family" first.

For LF devices, be aware that you will need to set up your physical device to be powered by a lower voltage than "F" type devices, typically 3.3 V instead of 5.0 V. If a higher voltage will damage your device, MPLAB X IDE will display a Warning dialog to remind you.

Click Next>.

Figure 4-2.	Project	Wizard -	Select	Device
-------------	---------	----------	--------	--------

🔀 New Project	
Steps	Select Device
 Choose Project Select Device Select Header Select Tool (Optional) Select Plugin Board Select Compiler Select Project Name and Folder 	Family: id-Range 8-bit MCUs (PIC10/12/16/MCP) ↓ Device: <u>PIC16F1939</u> ↓
MPLAB X IDE	
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

4.1.5 Step 3: Select Header

Select a header for your project device. If one is not available, MPLAB X IDE will not show this step. If one is available, consult the Developer Help topics below for more information:

- Processor Extension Paks and Debug Headers
- Emulation Extension Paks and Emulation Headers

Click Next> when done.

Note: You can select a header later (if one is available) using the Project Properties window.

Figure 4-3. Project Wizard – Select Header

😢 New Project	
Steps	Select Header
 Choose Project Select Device Select Header Select Tool (Optional) Select Plugin Board Select Compiler Select Project Name and Folder 	* OPTIONAL: Please select an associated debug header if present Supported Debug Header: None A debug header is a device mad AC244035 AC244055 extras pins and in some cases extra occoragent copuomocat.
MPLAB X IDE	
	<back next=""> Finish Cancel Help</back>

4.1.6 Step 4: Select Tool

Select debug the tool.

For information on the colored circles next to tool names, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

For hardware tools, you will notice that a serial number (SN) is specified below any tool that is connected to your computer. This allows you to select from several connected hardware tools.

Select your tool and then click Next>.

Figure 4-4. Project Wizard – Select Tool

🗴 New Project	
Steps	Select Tool (Optional)
 Choose Project Select Device 	Hardware Tools • Atmel-ICE • O ICD 3 • O ICD 4 • O PICkit 4 • SIN BUR 1833773347 • O PICkit3 • O PM3 • O Real ICE • Simulator • O Snap • Atternate Tools • EDBG • JTAGICE3 • mEDBG • o PICkit2 • Tools
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

© 2019 Microchip Technology Inc.

4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support

Project tool support for the project device is signified by the colored circles (lights) in front of the tool name.

Light	Color Support	
٩	Green	Full (Implemented and fully tested)
0	Yellow Beta (Implemented but not fully tested)	
۵	Red	None

If you cannot see the colors, mouse over a light to pop up text about support.



For hardware tools that can be used as either a debugger or a programmer, there are two lights next to the tool name, where the first (left-most) light signifies Debugger Support and the second light signifies Programmer Support.

Also for hardware tools, you will notice that a serial number (SN) is specified below any tool that is connected to your computer. This allows you to select from several connected hardware tools.



If you are using a third-party hardware tool, ensure you have properly installed that tool if you do not see it listed here. For more information, see 6.8 Work with Third-Party Hardware Tools.

4.1.7 Step 5: Select Plugin Board

Select the MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator plugin board. If the emulator is not chosen as your debug tool, MPLAB X IDE will not show this step.

A plugin board is a circuit board that is inserted into the emulator's driver board slot to provide or add debug functionality.

Table 4-2. Emulator Plugin Boards

Supported Plugin Board	Board Description		
None	Standard Communications driver board		
None	High-Speed Communications driver board		
JTAG Driver Board	JTAG Adapter board		
Power Monitor Board	Power Monitor board (also inserts into logic probe connector)		

Select your tool and then click Next>.

Figure 4-5. Project Wizard – Select Plugin

🔀 New Project	
Steps	Select Plugin Board
 Choose Project Select Device Select Header Select Tool (Optional) Select Plugin Board Select Project Name and Folder 	* OPTIONAL: Please select an associated plugin board if present Supported Plugin Board: None TAG Driver Board A plug in board is a daughtepower Monitor debugging and/or programming reasures.
MPLAB X IDE	
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

4.1.8 Step 6: Select Compiler

Select the language tool, either a C compiler or an assembler. Selectable language tools are show as:

ToolAbbreviation (ToolVersion) [ToolExecutablePath]

For information on the colored circles (lights) next to tool names, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

If you do not see your language tool listed or you do not see any support, ensure you have installed the tool. See 2.5 Install the Language Tools.

Note: For AVR GNU and Arm GNU toolchains, ensure the compilers are installed where MPLAB X IDE can search for them, e.g., for Windows OS, under C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip. Otherwise you will have to enter the path. See 4.7 Set Language Tool Locations.

If your tool is listed under Build Tools but you do not see support, then your project device may not be supported by your tool or tool version. Consider selecting or installing another language tool that supports the device. Alternately, you can also use "Download Latest" to download and install the latest version of an MPLAB XC compiler, which may support your device.

Select your tool and then click Next>.



Figure 4-6. Project Wizard – Select Compiler (or Other Language Tool)

4.1.8.1 Supported Language Tools

The following tables show current and legacy MPLAB X IDE support for language tools. Current Language Tools provide new device support. Legacy tools do not.

 Table 4-3. Microchip Language Tools – Current

Toolchain	Full Name	Device Support		
XC8	MPLAB XC8 C Compiler for PIC MCUs	8-bit PIC [®] MCUs		
	MPLAB XC8 C Compiler for AVR MCUs	8-bit AVR [®] MCUs		
XC16	MPLAB XC16 C Compiler 16-bit PIC MCUs, dsPIC® D			
XC32	MPLAB XC32 C/C++ Compiler for PIC32M MCUs 32-bit PIC32M M			
	MPLAB XC32 C/C++ Compiler for PIC32C/SAM MCUs	32-bit PIC32C and SAM MCUs		
Arm [®] GNU	Arm GNU C Compiler	32-bit Arm MCUs		
AVR GNU	AVR GNU C Compiler 8- and 32-bit AVR MCUs			
MPASM	MPASM Assembler, MPLINK Object Linker and Utilities	8-bit PIC MCUs		

Table 4-4. Microchip Language Tools – Legacy

Toolchain	Full Name			
8-Bit PIC MCU Language Tools				
C18*	MPLAB C Compiler for PIC18 MCUs			
HI-TECH PICC	HI-TECH C Compiler for PIC10/12/16 MCUs			
HI-TECH PICC18	HI-TECH C Compiler for PIC18 MCUs			
16-Bit PIC MCU, dsPIC DSC Language Tools				
ASM30**	MPLAB Assembler, Object Linker and Utilities for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC DSCs			

Basic Tasks

continued					
Toolchain	Full Name				
C30	MPLAB C Compiler for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC DSCs				
C24	MPLAB C Compiler for PIC24 MCUs (subset of C30)				
dsPIC	MPLAB C Compiler for dsPIC DSCs (subset of C30)				
HI-TECH DSPICC	HI-TECH C Compiler for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC DSCs				
32-Bit PIC MCU Language Tools					
C32	MPLAB C Compiler for PIC32 MCUs				
HI-TECH PICC32	HI-TECH C Compiler for PIC32 MCUs				
* Most compilers come with an assembler linker and utilities. But MPLAB C18 is supported by the MPASM					

* Most compilers come with an assembler, linker, and utilities. But MPLAB C18 is supported by the MPASM toolchain.

** No longer included with MPLAB X IDE as of v1.30. Please use the assembler that comes with one of the 16-bit compilers.

For more on each language tool, consult the language tool documentation.

For third-party language toolchains (CCS, etc.), see the "Readme for Third Party Tools.htm" file on the Start Page, "Release Notes and Support Documentation."

4.1.8.2 Download Latest MPLAB XC Compilers

Click the "Download Latest" link to download the latest version of an MPLAB XC C compiler. Also for some operating systems, it will install the compiler and update the compiler selection tree.

The "Download Latest" link may be found in the New Project wizard under Step 6. "Select Compiler," Compiler Toolchains>XCn, where n = 8, 16 or 32.

Note: If there is no internet connection, this link will not be displayed.

Once a project has been created, the link will be available in the Project Properties window.

Figure 4-7. Download Latest

Compiler Toolchain:
Compiler Toolchains
○ C32 (v2.02) [C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLAB C32 Suite\bin]
HI-TECH PICC32
Ė··XC32 [Download Latest]
Line XC32 (v1.42) [C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc32\v1.42\bin]

After the "Download Latest" link has been clicked:

- 1. A message dialog displays, telling you what will happen. You will be able to stop the download and installation at this time.
- 2. If you already have the latest compiler installed, a message dialog asks if you would like to continue.
- 3. You will be asked to select the destination of the compiler installer.
- 4. When downloading, there will be a progress window indicating how much of the download is left.
- 5. Windows and Mac OS systems: Immediately after the installer is downloaded, it begins installing the compiler. After the compiler is installed, MPLAB X IDE attempts to add the compiler to the selection tree. If it can't be added, you will be notified that you need to manually add the compiler to MPLAB X IDE (4.7 Set Language Tool Locations).
- 6. Linux OS systems: You must manually install the downloaded compiler. Once added, MPLAB X IDE should recognize it. If not, you will need to manually add the compiler to MPLAB X IDE (4.7 Set Language Tool Locations).

4.1.9 Step 7: Select Project Name and Folder

Select the project name, location and other project features.

Enter the project name. The name will be appended with .x by convention. See the "Project Folder" text box.

Browse to a folder location. You can create a new project folder if you need one. By default, projects will be placed in:

- Windows 7 and newer C:\Users\UserName\MPLABXProjects
- Linux /home/UserName/MPLABXProjects
- Mac /Users/UserName/MPLABXProjects

Table 4-5. Other Features

Set as main project	Specify this project as your main project		
Use project location as project folder	Create the project in the same folder as the project location. This is useful if you are importing an MPLAB IDE v8 project and want to maintain the same folder for your MPLAB X IDE project (as when you want the build to be the same).		
	MPLAB X IDE uses a folder to store project information whereas MPLAB IDE v8 uses a .mcp file. Therefore you can only have one MPLAB X IDE project share a folder with an MPLAB IDE v8 project (.mcp file).		
Encoding	Select the encoding for the project. The default is ISO-8859-1 (Latin 1) character set. This selection will specify the code syntax coloring, which can be edited under <i>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</i> for macOS), Fonts and Colors button, Syntax tab.		

When you are done, click **Finish** to complete new project creation.

Note: You can change a Standalone (Application) project to a Library project by changing the Configuration Type. For details, see 4.10.1 Change Project Configuration Type.

🔀 New Project			×
Steps	Select Project Name	and Folder	
1. Choose Project 2. Select Device 3. Select Header	Project Name:	MyNewProject]
 Select Tool (Optional) Select Plugin Board Select Compiles 	Project Location:	C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects	Browse
7. Select Project Name and Folder	Project Folder: C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MyNewProject.X		
	Overwrite existing	project.	
	Also delete source	s.	
	Set as main project		
	Use project location as the project folder		
	Encoding: [ISC	▶-8859-1	
		< Back Next > Finish	Cancel Help

Figure 4-8. Project Wizard – Select Project Name and Folder

4.2 View Changes to Desktop

The MPLAB X IDE desktop is divided into four **panes**. When you have created your project, several **windows** will open in these panes.

Desktop Panes

- File pane displays file-related information.
 - The Projects window displays the project tree with files grouped by category.
 - The Files window displays the project files according to the folder organization on your computer.
 - The Classes window displays any classes and their functions, variables and constants in the code. Double click on an item to see its declaration.
- Navigator pane displays information on items in the File pane.
 - The Dashboard window displays information about the selected project.
 - The Navigator windows displays information on the symbols and variables in the project file selected.
- Editor pane for viewing and editing project files. The Start Page and MPLAB X Store are also visible here.
- Task pane displays task output from building, debugging, or running an application.

Basic Tasks



Figure 4-9. MPLAB X IDE Desktop - Panes

Desktop Windows

Although panes are useful for describing sections of the IDE interface, windows may be moved from one pane to another. So panes do not always represent the window content. Therefore, only windows are discussed in most documentation.

To move around between windows on the desktop:

- · Click on a window to make it in focus.
- While in one window, you can change focus to any other open window by pressing in holding <Ctrl> and then pressing <Tab>. Select the window you want from a pop-up list.

Figure 4-10. Switch Window Focus

e	main.c			Ē	Projects
•	adcc.c	[Source] 🕨	History	8	Navigator
e	pin_manager.c				_using_potentiometer - Dashboard
	Start Page			2	Classes
1	MPLAB X Store				Breakpoints
5	Output			P	Files
C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\LED_brightness_control_using_potentiometer.X\mcc_generated_files\adcc.c					

4.3 Open Project Properties

Once a project has been created, you can view or change the project properties in the Project Properties window. Access this window by performing one of the following actions.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide Basic Tasks

1. Right click on the project name in the Projects window and select "Properties."

Projects % Files	Classes		
Head	New	•	
🗈 💼 Linke	Add Existing Item		
E Gourd	Add Existing Items from Folders		
Eloadi	New Logical Folder		
	Descention		
	Properties		

2. Click on the project name in the Projects window and then select *File>Project Properties*.

File	Edit	View	Navigate	Source	Refactor	Production
۴	New	Proje	ct		Ctrl+Sh	ift+N
2	New	File			Ctrl+N	
2	Оре	n Proj	ect		Ctrl+Sh	ift+O
	Оре	n Rece	ent Project			Þ
	Impo	ort				×
	Clos	e Proj	ect (MyPro	ject)		
	Clos	e Othe	er Projects			
	Clos	e All P	rojects			
	Оре	n File				
	Оре	n Rece	ent File			×
	Proje	ect Gro	oups			
	Proje	ect Pro	perties (N	lyProject		

3. Click on the project name, in the Projects window, then click on the "Set Project Configuration" drop down menu to select "Customize."

MPLAB X IDE v5.20 - MyProject : default	
File Edit View Navigate Source Refactor Production Deb	ıg
🕆 🞦 😫 🍤 🍼 🔤 default	•
Projects % Files Classes	

4. Click on the "Project Properties" icon on the Dashboard window.

MyN	ewProject - Dashboard 🚿	Navigator			
MyNewProject Project Type: Application - Configuration: default					
69	Coll Project Properties				
÷		no code loaded			
	🖻 👕 Packs				

4.4 View or Make Changes to Project Properties

Click the "Conf: [default]" category to reveal the general project configuration, such as the project device, related debug/programmer tool, and language tool.

Categories	The project configuration is set as "default" when created. You can create different configurations
	by clicking the Manage Configurations button. See 6.4 Work with Multiple Configurations.

Basic Tasks

Device	This should be the device simulated or the device on the board. Care should be taken when changing the device, especially to one from a different family, as the pack, hardware tool and compiler will need to be updated.
Packs	This is the device family pack (DFP) version for the selected device. The latest version of MPLAB X IDE will contain the latest DFP version. However, you may change to a different version, if available. See 5.1 Work with Device Packs.
Hardware	A supported hardware debug tool (or Simulator) should be selected. See 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.
Compiler Toolchain	A supported language tool (usually compiler) should be selected. See 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support. To get the latest version of an MPLAB XC C compiler, click the "Download Latest" link. See 4.1.8.2 Download Latest MPLAB XC Compilers.

Figure 4-11. Project Properties Window - Default Configuration



4.5 Set Up or Change Debugger/Programmer Tool Options

Set options for your tools in the Project Properties window.

Click on your hardware tool or simulator (beneath Conf:[default]) to see related setup options. For more on what these options mean, see your tool documentation.

	-					
Project Properties - MyNewProject				×		
Categories:	Options for PICkit 4					
File Inclusion/Exclusion	Option categories:	Memories to Program - Memories to Program		Reset		
···· PICkit 4	Auto select memorie Debug Options A	Allow PICkit 4 to Select Memories 🔹 🔺				
···· Loading	Configuration Memor Program Options		✓			
···· · Libraries	EEPROM	Freeze Peripherais Power	√			
General Control Contro Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Co	ID	Firmware				
XC8 Compiler	Program Memory			=		
Time W XC8 Linker	Program Memory Range(s)(hex)		0-3fff			
	Preserve Program M	emory				
	Preserve Program M	emory Range(s)(hex)				
	Preserve EEPROM M	lemory				
	Preserve EEPROM R	ange(s)(hex)	0-ff	+		
	Option Description					
Manage Configurations			av Cauch Archa Ushda I			
				neip		

Figure 4-12. Example Tool Setup Page

4.6 Set Up or Change Language Tool Options

Click on your language tool to see related setup options in the Project Properties window. For more on what these options mean, see your language tool documentation.

Basic Tasks

🔀 Project Properties - MyNewProject				×
Categories:	Options for xc8-cc	(v2.05)		
File Inclusion/Exclusion Conf: [default]	Option categories:	Preprocessing and messages	•	Reset
···· · · PICkit 4	Define macros	Optimizations		
···· Loading	Undefine macros			
Libraries	Preprocess assemb	ly files		
XC8 Global Options	Include directories			
O XC8 Compiler	Verbose			,
i 🍳 XC8 Linker	Warning level		-3	
	Use CCI syntax			
	Generate the ASM	isting file		
	Additional options:			
	Option Description	Generated Command Line		
Manage Configurations				
			OK Cancel Apply	Unlock Help

Figure 4-13. Language Tool Setup Page

IDE Options vs. Command Line Options

Options entered into the IDE may differ in format from those entered on the command line. Click on an option name to see more information on that option in the "Option Description" tab. Also, after entering or selecting option data, click the "Generated Command Line" tab to view its contents and ensure the command line code generated by the option is what you expected.

Global Options

Set global options that apply to all language tools in the language toolsuite. Also use the "User Comments" tab to enter information about why certain options were selected.

4.7 Set Language Tool Locations

To see which language tools are available to MPLAB X IDE, and to view or change their paths, use the following instructions:

- For macOS Access the build tools from: <u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences>Embedded>Build Tools</u> from the main menu bar.
- For Other OS Access the build tools from: <u>Tools>Options>Embedded>Build Tools</u>.

The window should automatically populate with all installed toolchains. See also 12.16.3 Build Options Tab.

Basic Tasks

Igure 4-14. Language 1001 (compile) Locations
S Options
Image: Constrained of the constrained o
Generic Settings Project Options Build Tools Managed Tools Suppressible Messages Diagnostics Other
Toolchain: XC16 (v1.35) [C:\Program Files () XC16 (v1.34) [C:\Program Files () XC32 (v2.15) [C:\Program Files () XC32 (v2.05) [C:\Program Files () XC32 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC32 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC33 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC33 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC34 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC5 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC5 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC4 (v2.00) [C:\Program Files () XC5 (v2.00) [
Remove Default
Scan for Build Tools
Export Import Cancel Help

Figure 4-14. Language Tool (Compiler) Locations

4.7.1 Add or Change a Toolchain

If you do not see your tool listed under "Toolchain," try the following features:

- Scan for Build Tools scan the environment path and list the language tools installed on the computer.
- Add manually add the tool to the list by entering the path to the directory containing the tool executable(s), i.e., base directory. Typically, this is the bin subdirectory in the tool installation directory.

If you have more than one version of a compiler available, select one from the list.

To change the path of a tool, enter the new path or browse for it.

4.7.2 Remove a Toolchain

To remove an existing toolchain:

- 1. Click to select the toolchain from the list.
- 2. Click the Remove button.

This will NOT uninstall the compiler from your computer; it will only remove MPLAB X IDE awareness of this compiler. To add the toolchain back, see Section 4.7.1 "Add or Change a Toolchain."

If you want to uninstall a compiler from your computer, remove the reference to the compiler in MPLAB X IDE first, as specified above. Then uninstall the compiler. If you uninstall the compiler first and then start MPLAB X IDE, the toolchain paths will appear in red. To remove the reference to this uninstalled compiler, follow the steps above.

4.7.3 About Toolchain Paths

MPLAB X IDE searches for toolchains under default installation paths and the PATH environment variable. An example default path for MPLAB XC16 under a Windows 64-bit operating system is:

C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc16\vx.xx\bin

When you install a compiler, you have the choice to determine the location. You can either:

install at the default location

OR

• install at a different location and add the location to the PATH

If you are installing at a location different from the default, you should add that location to the PATH.

If you do not choose to have the installer add a new location to the PATH, you can point MPLAB X IDE to the compiler location in Tools>Options, Embedded button, Build Tools tab.

Finally, you can manually add the new location to the PATH variable.

If the toolchain is known to MPLAB X IDE, but the path cannot be found, the path will appear in red text.

4.8 Set Other Tool Options

In addition to the build paths, you may set up other Embedded options. Select from the tabs in the Options window, Embedded category. See 12.16 Tools Options Window, Embedded.

Basic Tasks

eral Editor Fonts & Colors Keymap Embedded Team Appearance Plugins Mise	Cellaneous
Projects Folder: C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects	
Open source file and locate line in editor when debugger halts	Enabled 🗸
Clear tool output window on new session (debug, program, upload)	
Halt build on first failure	
Maintain active connection to hardware tool	
Read Device Memory To File: Export only memory used	
Silent build	
Enable alternate watch list views during debug sessions	
Disable auto refresh for call stack view during debug sessions.	
On mouse-over structure and array expressions during a debug session, evaluate	V
Show unresolvable variable names in watch window during debug session.	
Enable Gathering of Compiler symbols	
On mouse-over source lines in editor, evaluate break point status.	SHIFT+Mouse 🗸
Hold-off period before memory view synchronization: Give priority to debug event	1 Second 🗸
Debug Reset @ (Following reset action during paused debug session)	Main
Debug startup (Following debug project action)	Run 👻
Default Charset	ISO-8859-1 👻
Export Import	

4.9 Add Files to a Project

Once you have created a new project, you will need to add files to it to create your application. You can create new, empty files in which to write your code or you can import or reference existing files. The editor can be used to create or update any file contents, making use of language-tool specific color-coding and other features.

File Link Order

The order in which you add files to the project will determine their link order. If you have imported a project from MPLAB IDE v8, the order will be determined by the .mcp file. A new file added to the project will be linked last. If you remove a file and then re-add it, it moves to the end of the link list.

Library and Object File Linking

You can reference library and object files to be used by the linker.

Exclude Files from the Build

You can set file or folder level options to exclude files from the build.

4.9.1 Launch New File Wizard

To create a new, empty file to add code to your project, you can use the New File wizard. The wizard can be launched in several ways.

MPLAB X DE V5.20 MyNewProject (ideal) Re For View Nonight Source Refersion Protection De New Figure Data New Figure Data New Figure Data	<u>File>New File</u> (or Ctrl+N)
MPLAB X IDE v5.20 - My File Edit View Navigate	New File icon (on the File toolbar)
	Right click on a project folder (e.g., "Source Files") in the Projects/Files window and select <u>New>Other</u> .

4.9.2 Create a New File

Create a new file by following the steps in the New File wizard.

Step 1. Choose File Type

Choose the file category by expanding "Microchip Embedded" to find an appropriate selection. Then select a file type. Click **Next>**.

Figure 4-15	File Wizard -	Choose	Category	and /	Type
-------------	---------------	--------	----------	-------	------

🔀 New File	
Steps	Choose File Type
1. Choose File Type 2	Project: MyNewProject
	Categories: Eile Types:
	Categories: File Types: Imain.c avr-main.c Imain.c main.c Imain.c pic_8b_asm_func.asm Imain.c pic_8b_asm_func.asm
	Description:
	A source file with a very simple main function for PIC10/12/16/18 MCUs.
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

Step 2. Name and Location

Name the file and place it in the project folder. Click Finish.

Basic Tasks

🔀 Ne	w main.c		
Step	15	Name and L	ocation
1. 2.	Choose File Type Name and Location	File Name:	main ▼ Set this Extension as Default
		Project: Folder:	MyNewProject Browse
		Created File:	C: \Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MyNewProject.X\main.c
			< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help

Figure 4-16. File Wizard – Choose Associated Project

An Editor tab will appear with the file's name. Enter your file content under this tab. The text in the file will have syntax color based on its file type.



4.9.3 Add Existing Files to a Project

Existing files can be added to a project by doing one of the following:

- Right click on the project in the Project/File window and select "Add Existing Item." Once added, you can drag and drop the file into a folder if you wish.
- Right click on a folder (e.g., "Source Files") in the Project/File window and select "Add Existing Item."



4.9.3.1 Add Files in the Project Folder

When adding a file that is located under the main project folder, you can choose whether to add it as:

- Auto let MPLAB X IDE decide how best to locate the file
- Relative specify the file location relative to the project (the most portable project)
- Absolute specify the file location by an absolute path
- · Copy copy the specified file to the project folder

Once you select a path mode, MPLAB X IDE will remember this setting. To change it, see "File Path Mode" under in 12.16.2 Project Options Tab.

The file will appear in the Projects window. An Editor tab with the file's name will appear also.

🔀 Select Item	
Look in:	📔 MyNewProject.X 🔹 🖻 📸
Recent Items	 build debug dist nbproject adc.c Makefile
My Documents	Store path as: Auto Relative Absolute Copy
Network	File name: adc.c Select Files of type: All Files Cancel

4.9.3.2 Add Files Outside the Project Folder

When adding a source file that is not in the project folder, add the file (store the path) as "Relative." This creates an external folder (ext) so the project can find the file when it is building.

Basic Tasks

To make use of navigation features such as the //TODO action item and file context menus, you must tell the project where the files are located. To do this:

- 1. In the Projects window, right click on the project name and select "Properties."
- 2. Under "Categories," click "General."
- 3. Next to "Source Folders," click Add.
- 4. Browse to the path of the external file(s) you have added to the project. Click the Select button.
- 5. Click Apply or OK. Then rebuild the project.

When you import an MPLAB IDE v8 project, the source files are a not in the project folder. Use <u>File>Import>MPLAB</u> <u>IDE v8 Project</u> to automatically import the files.

Figure 4-17. Specify External File Path



4.9.4 Edit Code in Files

To create new code or change existing code, use the NetBeans editor. For more information about the editor, see the NetBeans Help topic:

https://netbeans.org/features/java/editor.html

Also see MPLAB X IDE-related information about this editor:

7. Editor

4.9.5 Add and Set Up Library and Object Files

You can reference library files to be used by the linker in the following locations:

- the Libraries folder in the Projects window
- the Project Properties window

Additional library file set up can be done in the language tool librarian.

4.9.5.1 Libraries Folder

In the Projects window, right click on the Libraries folder to see these options:

Add Library Project

Make a project that produces a library as its output required for your project, i.e., establish a dependency. For more on this, see the NetBeans Help topic:

https://netbeans.org/kb/73/java/project-setup.html#projects-dependencies.

- Add Library/Object File
- Add an existing library file or pre-built (object) file to the project.
- Properties
 Open the project's Properties window to select additional options.

4.9.5.2 **Project Properties Window: Libraries Category**

Open the Project Properties window and click on the "Libraries" category. Any files added to the Libraries folder in the Projects window will be visible here. You may add additional files and manage these files using the buttons on the right.

The order of files in the library list determines link order, which is important when the libraries included in the project reference each other. Libraries referencing objects from a secondary library should be placed higher in the link order list. An incorrect link order may result in an "undefined reference to" error during linking. For details on link order, see language tool documentation.

Project Properties - MyProject				X
Categories:	Librarian			
General General General General General General	Item	Configuration	Build	Add Library Project
En O <u>Conf: [default]</u>	MyPIC32Lib (dist/default/production/MyPIC32Lib.a)	default	×	Add Library/Object File
				Add Built-in Library
···· · Building				Duplicate
E. O XC32 (Global Options)				Remove
• xc32-gcc				Up
• xc32-g++				Down
vc32-ar				
Manage Configurations				
]
		OK Cano	el Ap	Unlock Help

Figure 4-18. Manage Library/Object Files and Set Up Link Order

4.9.5.3 Project Properties Window: Librarian Category

Open the Project Properties window and click on the librarian/archiver under your language tool category. Consult your language tool documentation to determine the executable name of your librarian.

In the left pane, click on the name of the linker. Then, in the right pane, select the option "Libraries." Choose library options from this list.
Basic Tasks

😰 Project Properties - MyProject		×
Categories: General File Inclusion/Exclusion Conf: [default] Conf: [d	Options for xc32-ar (v1.40) Option categories: Seneral Break line into multiple lines Additional options: Option Description Generated Command Line	Reset
Manage Configurations		
Planage Coll light autoris		
	OK Cancel Apply U	nlock Help

Figure 4-19. Set Up Libraries Options in the Librarian

4.9.6 Set File and Folder Properties

A project file can be built differently from other files in the project using the File Properties dialog. Access this dialog by right clicking on the file name in the Projects window and selecting "Properties." Select to exclude the file from the project build or override the project build options with the ones selected here. To override build options, check the checkbox and then click "Apply" to see selection options appear under "Categories."

Figure 4-20. File Properties

File Properties - PIC24ExplDemo.c		23
File Properties - PIC24ExpIDemo.c Categories: Categorie	File Configuration Device: PIC24FJ128GA010 Tool: Real ICE Compiler: XC16 Refer to File Inclusion/Exclusion node to exclude the file from build. Override build options Reset overriding options This configuration inherits its device, tool, and compiler from a project configuration. None of these parameters may change. You may, however, use 'Override build options' checkbox to change the way this file builds. You may 'override' the build options of the project configuration.	
Manage Configurations	Please note that 'Exclude from Build' checkbox feature is deprecated. Please refer to File Inclusion/Exclusion node on the left to exclude the file from configurations.	
	OK Cancel Apply Unlock He	ip

An entire (virtual) folder can be excluded from the build process by right clicking on the folder name in the Projects window and selecting "Properties." Select to exclude folders or individual files from the build. Selecting a folder that is above other folders will select the entire contents of that folder. You can deselect files or other folders as you wish.

Basic Tasks

Figure 4-21. Folder Properties

4.10 Set Build Properties

Before building the project, you may want to set up additional build properties in the Project Properties window, Building category.

🔀 Project Properties - MyProject X Categories: Configuration type: application General File Inclusion/Exclusion Pre and post step oplibrary commands are run from the project directory (ProjectDir macro below) 🗄 🔍 🖉 Conf: [default] Execute this line before build Real ICE Loading O Libraries Value Macro Building Insert Macro XC32 (Global Options) "C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MvProject.X ProjectDir = ◎ xc32-as ConfName default 0 xc32-acc "dist\default\\${IMAGE_TYPE}\MyProject.X.\${IMAGE_TYPE}.\${OU = ImagePath xc32-g++ 4 Execute this line after build Macro Value . Insert Macro ProjectDir "C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MyProject.X' = ConfName default ImagePath "dist\default\\${IMAGE TYPE}\MyProject.X.\${IMAGE TYPE}.\${OU < [: Options affecting hex file: Insert unprotected checksum in user ID memory Normalize hex file Manage Configurations.. OK Cancel Apply Unlock Help

Figure 4-22. Make Options Build Properties

4.10.1 Change Project Configuration Type

As of MPLAB X IDE v2.15, when you create a Standalone or Library project in the New Project wizard, you are creating a project with either a configuration type "application" or "library" respectively. This means you can switch the configuration type of your existing project if you wish, with the caveats specified in the following sections.

Prebuilt and User Makefile projects are unaffected by this feature (i.e., they may not be changed to a different type of project once created).

Switch from a Standalone to a Library Project

When switching project configuration type from "application" to "library," it is your responsibility to remove main(). Also, any loadables in the "application" project will not be built/linked once the configuration type is "library." For more on loadables, see 5.5 Loadable Projects, Files and Symbols.

If the toolchain (i.e., XC8) does not support libraries, then the combo box will be disabled and you cannot switch the configuration to "library."

Switch from a Library to a Standalone Project

When switching project configuration type from "library" to "application," it is your responsibility to add main ().

4.10.2 Execute this line before/after the build

Type in a command to be executed at the very beginning or at the very end of the build process. These commands are inserted into the nbproject/Makefile-\$CONF.mk file and allow you to customize the build process. If you need to refer to some of the project-related items (like the image name) in the script or program you are calling, use the supplied macros.

You can type the macros yourself or click **Insert Macro** to copy the macro name into the current position in the edit box. Commands are run in the make process with the current directory being set to the MPLAB X IDE project directory. The project directory is defined as the project that contains the nbproject folder

Table 4-6. Macros

Name*	Function		
Device	device for the currently-selected project configuration		
ProjectDir	location of the project files on the PC		
ConfName	name of the currently-selected project configuration		
ImagePath	path to the build image		
ImageDir	directory containing the build image		
ImageName	name of the build image		
IsDebug	"true" for Debug mode; "false" otherwise		
* Additional macros may be available, depending on which compiler is used			

Additional macros may be available, depending on which compiler is used.

Example: Execute a Process Only During Debug

On the window shown below, click the "IsDebug" macro to select it, then click Insert Macro to insert it into a script.

Figure 4-23. Build Properties – Pre/Post Build

Execute this line becho \${IsDebug}	oefore build		
	Macro	Value	
Insert Macro	ConfName	default	
	ImagePath	dist/default/\${IMAGE_TYPE}/Explorer16dsPIC33F_1.\${IMAGE_	
	ImageDir	dist/default/\${IMAGE_TYPE}	
	ImageName	<pre>Explorer16dsPIC33F_1.\${IMAGE_TYPE}.\${OUTPUT_SUFFIX}</pre>	=
	IsDebug	"true" for a Debug run, "false" otherwise	
	•		Ĺ
Execute this line a	after build		
testme \${IsDebug}			

Malua Check the value of \$1 (Linux or Mac OS) or \$1 (Windows OS) in the script being run.

14 - ----

Bash Code Example

```
#!/bin/bash
echo is $1
if [ "$1" == "true" ]; then
echo We are in debug
else
echo We are in production
fi
```

Batch Code Example

```
@echo off
if "%1" == "true" goto debug
:production
@echo We are in production
goto end
:debug
@echo We are in debug
:end
```

Basic Tasks

4.10.3 Insert unprotected checksum in user ID memory

If it is supported by the device (not grayed out), click the check box to use the checksum number that was generated by the build as the user ID.

For the PIC32 family of devices, the checksum is dependent on the USER ID. Therefore, this feature is not supported under PIC32 devices.

4.10.4 Normalize hex file

A hex file is normalized when line addresses are in incremental order and data is buffered to be one size (16 bytes), where possible.

For example, the following lines (records) are from the file myfile.hex, output from the MPLAB XC16 C compiler/ linker:

:0801f800361e0000361e000057 :020000040000fa :10020800361e0000361e0000361e0000361e000096

When this file is normalized, the file data looks like this:

:10022800361E0000361E0000361E0000361E000076 :10023800361E0000361E0000361E0000361E000066 :10024800361E0000361E0000361E0000361E000056

which is of the format:

:bbaaaarrdd...ddcc

where:

:	Start record
bb	Byte count
aaaa	Address
rr	Record type
dd	Data
сс	Checksum

In MPLAB X IDE, the application Hexmate is used to normalize Intel hex files. When the "Normalize hex file" option is checked, the following is called after a build:

hexmate myfile.hex -omyfile.hex

Essentially Hexmate unpacks the entire hex file and arranges the data at the addresses specified by the hex file. It then repackages the resulting memory image into a new hex file. In the resulting file, all the data is in ascending order and contiguous. If there is a gap in the addresses, then there will also be a gap in the output file (there is no filling of unused addresses).

For more information on using Hexmate, see the "*MPLAB XC8 C Compiler User's Guide*" (DS50002053) in the docs folder of the installed MPLAB XC8 C compiler. Although Hexmate is described in the MPLAB XC8 documentation, it can be used with any compiler.

A normalized hex file is useful for programming code (such as a bootloader) over a serial connection, as the variation of record bytes is minimized.

4.11 Build a Project

For MPLAB X IDE, it is not necessary to build the project first and then run or debug. Building is part of the run and debug processes. For initial development or major changes, however, you may want to make sure that the project builds before attempting to run or debug.

To build a project:

- In the Projects window, right click on the project name and select "Build." You may also select "Clean and Build" to remove intermediary files before building.
- Click on the "Build Project" or "Clean and Build Project" toolbar icon.

Build progress will be visible in the Output window.

Available build functions are:

Table 4-7. Build Options on Toolbar Buttons

Button Icon	Function	Description
m.	Build Project	Make all the files in the project.
	Build for Debugging	Make all the files in the project and add a debug executive to the built image.
	Build with PRO Comparison	If you use an MPLAB XC C compiler in free mode, you can build in PRO mode as well and see a comparison output of differences, if any exist. See 5.25 Compare MPLAB XC Compiler Free vs. PRO Licenses.
1	Clean and Build	Remove previous build files and make all the files in the project.
	Clean and Build for Debugging	Remove previous build files and make all the files in the project. Add a debug executive to the built image.
	Clean and Build with PRO Comparison	Remove previous build files and then Build with PRO Comparison.

To view errors in the Output window:

- 1. Right click in the Output window and select "Filter."
- 2. In the Filter dialog, check "Match Case" and enter ": error" to show only errors in the Output window that stopped the build.
- 3. Toggle the filter on and off using <Ctrl>+<G>.

See you language tool documentation for a discussion of errors.

To view checksum information:

Open the Dashboard window (see 5.19 View the Dashboard Display) to see the checksum after a build.

4.12 Run Code

After the code builds successfully, you can run the application.

How Run Works

- A build is done, if the make process determines that it is necessary.
- For in-circuit debuggers/emulators and programmers, the target device is automatically programmed with the image (without the debug executive) and the device is released to run, i.e., no breakpoints or other debug features are enabled.

Basic Tasks

Note: To hold a device in Reset after programming, click the "Hold in Reset" icon instead of "Run Project".

For simulators, the application executes, without debugging capability.

Run progress is visible in the Output window.

Running Your Application Code

- 1. In the Projects window, select your project or make it the main project (right click on the project and select "Set as Main Project").
- 2. Run your program by either:
 - Clicking on the "Run Program" icor
 - Clicking on the "Make and Program Device" icon

Run progress is visible in the Output window.

4.12.1 Run Considerations

When running your program, consider that MPLAB X IDE operation connects to the hardware tool at runtime (Run or Debug). Consequently, settings made in MPLAB X IDE are passed to the tool only at runtime. Settings changed during a halt are updated only when runtime is initiated again.

To always be connected to the hardware tool (like MPLAB IDE v8), see Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences for macOS), Embedded button, Generic Settings tab, "Maintain active connection to hardware tool" checkbox.

See also 4.20 Program a Device.

4.13 Debug Code

2.

If your code does not run successfully, you should debug it.

How Debug Works

When you click the "Debug Project" toolbar icon the following occurs:

- A build is done, if the make process determines that it is necessary.
- For in-circuit debuggers/emulators, the target device or header is automatically programmed with the image (including the debug executive) and a debug session is started.
- · For simulators, a debug session is started.

Debug progress is visible in the Output window.

Debugging Your Application Code

To debug your application code:

- In the Projects window, select your project or make it the main project (right click on the project and select "Set 1. as Main Project").
- 3 or "Step Into" icon to begin debugging. Click on the "Debug Project" icon

To halt your application code:

Click on the "Pause" icon to halt your program execution.

To run your code again:

Click on the "Continue" icon with to start your program execution again.

To end execution of your code:

Click on the "Finish Debugger Session" icon 🛄 to end your program execution.

To launch the debugger:

If your code is built for debugging and you simply want to launch the debug tool, you can do so by selecting the down arrow next to the "Debug Project" icon and select "Launch Debugger."

Table 4-8. Debug lcons

lcon	Function	Related Menu Item
-	Debug Project	Debug>Debug Project
	Step Into	Debug>Step Into
	Pause	Debug>Pause
\bigcirc	Continue	Debug>Continue
	Finish Debug Session	Debug>Finish Debugger Session

4.13.1 Debug Macros Generated

MPLAB X IDE generates debug macros for use with Microchip language tools. Macros passed to Microchip compilers and assemblers are shown in the table below.

Table 4-9. Microchip Tools Debug Macros

Macro Name	Assoc. Tool	Function
DEBUG	All	specifies that this is a debug build
MPLAB_REAL_ICE MPLAB_ICD3 MPLAB_PK3 MPLAB_PICKIT2	XC8	specifies the hardware debug tool in use The format isMPLAB_xxx, where xxx represents the hardware tool specifier.
MPLAB_DEBUGGER_REAL_ICE MPLAB_DEBUGGER_ICD3 MPLAB_DEBUGGER_PK3 MPLAB_DEBUGGER_PICKIT2	XC16, XC32, MPASM	specifies the hardware debug tool in use The format isMPLAB_DEBUGGER_xxx, where xxx represents the hardware tool specifier.
MPLAB_DEBUGGER_PIC32MXSK	XC32	specifies the starter kit in use

You can use these macros in your own code. For example:

```
#ifdef __DEBUG
fprintf(stderr,"This is a debugging message\n");
#endif
```

4.13.2 Debug Considerations

When debugging your code, consider the following issues:

- You need to be in a debug session (debug mode) to activate many debugging features for example, to view variable values in the watch or memory windows.
- MPLAB X IDE operation is always connected to the hardware tool. To connect only at runtime, see <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Embedded** button, **Generic Settings** tab, and uncheck "Maintain active connection to hardware tool." When unchecked, settings made in MPLAB X IDE will be passed to the tool only at runtime. Settings changed during a halt are updated only when runtime is initiated again.
- For some applications you may need to break down the debug steps for independent execution. To do this, use the steps under <u>Debug>Discrete Debugger Operation</u>.
- Disable compiler optimizations when debugging or use a 'debug' optimization if available for your compiler. In the Project Properties window, select the language tool executable under "Categories." Then select "Optimizations" from "Options categories" and choose the lowest level, i.e., "0" if available.

4.14 Control Program Execution with Breakpoints

When debugging code, it can be useful to suspend execution at a specific location in code so that variable values can be examined. To do this, use breakpoints.

For more on breakpoints, see the NetBeans Help topic:

https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/cnd/debugging.html#breakpoints

Figure 4-24. Breakpoint and Breakpoints Window



Related Links

12.2 Breakpoints Window

12.3 New Breakpoint Dialog

4.14.1 Set or Clear a Simple Line Breakpoint

To set or clear a breakpoint on a line, do one of the following:

- Click the left margin of the line in the Source Editor (see figure)
- · Click in the line and then press Ctrl+F8
- Select <u>Debug>Toggle Line Breakpoint</u>

Figure 4-25. Click to Enable/Disable Breakpoint



4.14.2 Set Breakpoints with the Breakpoint Dialog

To open the New Breakpoint dialog, complete the following steps:

- 1. Click on the "Create New Breakpoint" icon in the upper left of the Breakpoints window.
- 2. Select *Debug>New Breakpoint*. Choose a breakpoint type and set up options.

Table 4-10. Breakpoint Types

Selection	Description
Line	Break on a line of code in an Editor window.
Data	Break on Reads/Writes to an address in data (RAM) memory. This includes SFR and symbol locations.
Address	Break on the execution of an address in program (Flash) memory.
Event	Break on a specific event, such as a reset, sleep/wake, watchdog timer time-out, etc.
Function	Break on entry into a specified function.

For options available for each breakpoint type, see 12.3 New Breakpoint Dialog.

4.14.3 Set or Clear Breakpoints in the Breakpoints Window

To view and toggle the breakpoint in the Breakpoints window, complete the following steps:

- 1. Toggle the breakpoint by checking/unchecking the checkbox.
- 2. Select <u>Window>Debugging>Breakpoints</u>.

4.14.4 Set a Breakpoint Sequence (Device Dependent)

A breakpoint sequence is a list of breakpoints that execute, but do not halt, until the last breakpoint is executed. Sequenced breakpoints can be useful when there is more than one execution path leading to a certain instruction and you only want to exercise one specific path.

To create a Breakpoint Sequence, complete the following steps:

- 1. Right click on an existing breakpoint or shift click to select a group of existing breakpoints and right click on the group.
- 2. From the pop-up menu, go to "Complex Breakpoint" and select "Add a New Sequence."
- 3. Enter a name for your sequence in the dialog box and click OK.
- 4. The breakpoint(s) will appear under the new sequence.
- 5. To add additional existing breakpoints to the sequence, right click on the breakpoint and select <u>Complex</u> <u>Breakpoint>Add to Name</u>, where Name is the name of the sequence.
- 6. To add new breakpoints to the sequence, right click on the sequence and select "New Breakpoint."

To select the Sequence Order, complete the following steps:

- 1. Expand on a sequence to see all items.
- 2. Right click on an item and select <u>Complex Breakpoints>Move Up or Complex Breakpoints>Move Down</u>. Sequence execution of breakpoints is bottom-up; the last breakpoint in the sequence occurs first.

To Remove a Sequence or Breakpoint, either:

• Right click on the item and select "Disable" to temporarily remove the item.

• Right click on the item and select "Delete" to permanently remove the item.

Figure 4-26. Breakpoint Sequence Example

bles	Call Stack	Breakpoints 8	
Name			
- 🗸 S	Sequence New	Sequence	
V	[0] Line C: \U	sers\c08227\MPL/	ABXProjects\explorer16_demo\
V	[1] Line C: \U	sers\c08227\MPL/	ABXProjects\explorer16_demo\
V	[2] Line C: \U	sers\c08227\MPL/	ABXProjects\explorer16_demo\
V	[3] Line C: \U	sers\c08227\MPL/	ABXProjects\explorer16_demo\
	Ibles Name - V S V I V I	Call Stack Name Image: Sequence New Image: Sequence New </th <th>bles Call Stack Breakpoints # Name Image: Sequence NewSequence Image: Sequence Image: Sequence Image: NewSequence Image: NewSequence Image: Sequence <</th>	bles Call Stack Breakpoints # Name Image: Sequence NewSequence Image: Sequence Image: Sequence Image: NewSequence Image: NewSequence Image: Sequence <

4.14.5 Set a Breakpoint Tuple (Device Dependent)

For MPLAB X IDE, a tuple represents an ANDed list of breakpoints. ANDed breakpoints can be useful when a variable is modified in more than one location and you need to break only when that variable is modified in one particular location.

Only two breakpoints can be ANDed and these must consist of one program memory breakpoint and one data memory breakpoint. Breakpoint 1 AND breakpoint 2 must occur at the same time before a program halt.

To Create a Breakpoint Tuple:

- 1. Click on the "Create New Breakpoint" icon 🔛 in the upper left of the Breakpoints window to open the New Breakpoint dialog.
- 2. Create an address breakpoint. Click **OK** to add it to the Breakpoints window.
- 3. Repeat steps 1 and 2 to create a data breakpoint.
- 4. Right click on one breakpoint and select <u>Complex Breakpoint>Add to New Tuple</u>.
- 5. Enter a name for your tuple in the dialog box and click **OK**.
- 6. The breakpoint will appear under the new tuple.
- 7. Right click on the other breakpoint and select <u>Complex Breakpoint>Move to Name</u>, where Name is the name of the tuple.

To Remove a Tuple or Breakpoint, do one of the following:

- Right click on the item and select "Disable" to temporarily remove the item.
- Right click on the item and select "Delete" to permanently remove the item.

Figure 4-27. Breakpoint Tuple Example

Varia	bles	Call Stack	Breakpoints %	Program Memory	
6	Name				
	Image: Second Seco				
	1	Address 0x1	66C - Project: expl	orer16_demo_pic24fj128g	
	V	Data Memory	y AD1CON1 @ 0x32	20 Read - Project: explore	

4.14.6 See Breakpoint Address(es)

To see the address of a breakpoint before and during a debug session, complete the following steps:

- 1. Under <u>*Tools>Options*</u>, **Embedded** button, **Generic Settings** tab, select an action for "On mouseover source lines in editor, evaluate break point status."
- 2. Set a line breakpoint.
- 3. Click the Debug Project icon to debug your code.

4. Place the cursor between a breakpoint icon and the beginning of source code, and perform the action of step 1 to see the mouseover.

Single Breakpoint Address

In many cases, you will see a single address. Open a program/execution memory window (*Window>Target Memory Views*) to see the memory address and instructions at that location.

Figure 4-28. See Breakpoint Address



Multiple Breakpoint Addresses

In some cases, you will see multiple possible breakpoint locations. A possible cause for this could be higher compiler optimizations (-Os). Previous to MPLAB X IDE v5.20, only the first address was shown. Now all addresses are.

Open a program/execution memory window (*Window>Target Memory Views*) to see each memory address and instructions at that location. If your breakpoint is not working, you can select other locations in the memory window. When the breakpoint hits, it will still show at the same line number in code.

Figure 4-29. See Multiple Breakpoint Addresses

22			while (1)									
36			{										
37													_
38			Possib	e break po	oint at	line: 39,	multiple	execut	able addı	resses	:0x158,0>	15A, 0x16	2
			b=0	;b++;									
40			b=1	0;									
41			b++	;									
42			b=2	0;									
43			b++	;									
44			b=3	0;									
45			b++	;									
46			b++	;									
47			a+=	b+userR	ow[b	%8];							
48			b++										
				,									
49			}	,									
49 50	L ,	}	}	,									
49 50 51	}	}	}	,									
49 50 51 52	۲	} at	} tribute	, ((l	.ong_	call,	secti	.on (" .	data")))	int ra	m_foobar	· (void) {
49 50 51 52 Var	ہے۔ riables	} at	} tribute Output	, ((l Watches	ong_	call, Breakpoi	secti nts E	.on (" <mark>.</mark> xecutio	data") n Memory)) (©	int ra	m _foobar ation Bits	· (void) { IO View
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	} at	<pre>} tribute Output Addres</pre>	' ((l Watches	ong_	call, Breakpoi	secti nts E	.on (" . xecutio	<mark>data")</mark> n Memory)) ⁄⊗[int ra Configura	m _foobar ation Bits	(void) {
49 50 51 52 Var	Ţiables	} at	<pre> tribute Output Addres 0000_0:</pre>	, ((l Watches s Opco L56	ong_ i f ode 4798	call, Breakpoin	secti nts E DisAn BLX F	on (" . xecutio	<mark>data")</mark> n Memory)) γ⊗	int ra Configura	m _foobar ation Bits	(void) {
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	Line	Viribute Output Addres 0000_000 0000_000	, ((l Watches s Opco L56 L58	ong_ ode 4798 4B15	call, Breakpoin Label	Sections DisAs BLX F LDR F	.on(". xecutio ssy .3 .3, [PC	data") n Memory C, #84])) ⁄ ⊗	int ra Configura	m_foobar ation Bits	(void) { IO View
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	at 5 Line 0 0	Viribute Output Addres 0000_01 0000_02	((l Watches s Opco 156 158	ong_ ide 4798 4B15 2200	call, Breakpoin Label	secti nts E DisAs BLX F LDR F MOVS	.on(". xecutio asy 3 3, [PC R2, #0	data") n Memory 2, #84])) γ⊗	int ra Configura	m _foobar ation Bits	void) { IO View
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	at Line 0 0 0	<pre></pre>	((l Watches s Opco L56 L58 L52 L5C	ong_ >de 4798 4815 2200 601A	call, Breakpoin Label	SECTI Ints E DisAn BLX F LDR F MOVS STR F	.on(". xecutio ssy 3 3, [PC R2, #(2, [R3	data") n Memory 2, #84])) γ ⊗ [int ra Configura	m_foobar ation Bits	Void) {
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	at	<pre></pre>	((l Watches s Opco L56 L58 L52 L5C L5E	ong_ ode 4798 4B15 2200 601A 681A	Call, Breakpoin	Sections sections DisAn BLX F LDR F MOVS STR F LDR F	.on(". xecutio ssy 3 3, [PC R2, #0 2, [R3 2, [R3	data") n Memory 2, #84] 3] 3])) y 🖾 🛛	int ra Configura	m _foobar ation Bits	· (void) { IO View
49 50 51 52 Var	riables	<pre>}at Line 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</pre>	<pre></pre>	<pre>/ ((l</pre>	ong_ ode 4798 4B15 2200 601A 681A 4F14	Call, Breakpoin	SECTI DisAr BLX F LDR F MOVS STR F LDR F LDR F	.on(". xecutio 33, [PO R2, #0 2, [R3 2, [R3 2, [R3 7, [PO	<pre>data") n Memory c, #84] 3 3 3 c, #80]</pre>)) y 🖾 🛛	int ra Configura	m _foobar ation Bits	· (void) { IO View

4.14.7 Hardware Breakpoint Usage

If you must be halted at a line of code to:

- · switch from a software breakpoint to a hardware breakpoint
- · set a hardware breakpoint

Be aware that debugging will cause a halt on the same line of code. Debug again to continue program execution or perform a single step to execute the code on the breakpoint line.

4.14.8 **Dual Partition Devices and Breakpoints**

Due to the nature of debugging, dual partition device breakpoints must be set in the active partition once the debugger has halted there. So starting in partition 1, you cannot set breakpoints in partition 2. You need to run up to the switch, switch to partition 2, and then set breakpoints that will reside in partition 2.

4.14.9 Breakpoint Applications

To determine the timing between breakpoints use the stopwatch (see 5.15 Use the Stopwatch).

To determine breakpoint resources open the Dashboard window (see 5.19 View the Dashboard Display) to see the number of available and used breakpoints and whether software breakpoints are supported.

4.14.10 Compiler Optimizations and Breakpoints

Compiler optimizations can change how a program is executed. This can affect memory address mapping of breakpoints, a produce multiple address possibilities. When debugging code, it is recommended that you use the lowest level optimizations to avoid breakpoint issues.

Project Properties - Explorer16_PIC24FJ128GA0	010			
Categories:	Options for xc16-gcc (v1.35)			
File Indusion/Exclusion Conf: [default]	Option categories: Optimizations	Reset		
···· · · Simulator	Optimization level	٥ 🗸		
···· • Loading	Do not override 'inline'			
	Unroll loops			
⇒	Omit frame pointer			
····· XC16 (Global Options)	Unlimited procedural abstraction			
····· • xc16-as	Procedural abstraction level			
····· · · xc16-ld	Align arrays			
© xc16-ar				
	Additional options:			
	Option Description Generated Command Line			
	 - 0 - Do not optimize. The compiler's goal is to reduce debugging produce the expected results. - 1 - Optimize. Optimizing compilation takes somewhy large function. The compiler tries to reduce code size. - 2 - Optimize even more. The compiler performs near involve a space-speed trade-off. 	te the cost of compilation and to make at longer, and a lot more host memory for a e and execution time. arly all supported optimizations that do not		
Manage Configurations				
	ОК	Cancel Apply Unlock Help		

Figure 4-30. Lowest Optimization Level Example

4.14.11 Breakpoint Resource Usage

Hardware debuggers (e.g., in-circuit debug tools) support a limited number of breakpoints. The number of breakpoints available is dependent on the device selected. To see the number of breakpoints available and keep track of the number you have used, see the Dashboard window (5.19 View the Dashboard Display).

The following MPLAB X IDE features use breakpoints to accomplish their functions.

G	Step Over
	Step Out

	Run to Cursor
	Reset to Main

If you attempt to use one of these features when no breakpoints are available, a dialog will be displayed telling you that all resources are used.

4.14.12 Breakpoint Awareness

Using tool tips and icons, breakpoint information is presented in and out of a debug session:

- When out of a debug session and no build has occurred if you try to set a breakpoint, a mouse tool tip displays with a blue torn icon stating no debug information is available.
- When out of a debug session and a build has occurred if a line has been optimized out, a breakpoint can either be possible or not possible.
- When in a debug session the tool tip shows whether a breakpoint can be set or not.

The option to show a tool tip can be disabled if you do not want it (Tools>Options, Embedded, "Generic Settings").

4.14.13 Broken Breakpoint Icon

There are occasions when the breakpoint icon will appear broken (\blacksquare):

- When out of a debug session and no build has occurred, if you try to set a breakpoint a mouse tool tip will occur with a torn icon stating no debug information is available.
- When in a debug session, source files may not be able to be found due to path, file or folder naming restrictions (see Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions).

4.15 Step Through Code

Use one of the stepping functions on the Debug menu and Debug toolbar to move through code either from the beginning of code or after a breakpoint halt. Examine changes in variable values (see next section) or determine if the program flow is correct.

There are several ways to step through code:

Step Over – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the entire function and stops.

Step Into – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the program up to the function's first statement and stops.



Step Out – Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the functions and returns control to the caller.

Run to Cursor – Runs the current project to the cursor's location in the file and stops program execution.

In addition to the Editor window, you can single-step through code in the Disassembly window (5.16 View the Disassembly Window) and program memory in a Memory window.

4.16 Watch Symbol Values Change

Watch the values of symbols that you have selected change in the Watches window. Knowing whether these values are set as expected during program execution will help you to debug your code.

The following symbols may be added to a Watches window:

- Global symbols visible after a build
- SFRs special function registers (device dependent)
- Absolute addresses

In general, you must Pause from debugging to be able to see updated values. However, some tools allow runtime updates (you can see the values change as your program is running). Check your tool documentation to see if it supports this feature.

For all devices except PIC32 MCUs, symbols used in a runtime watch must be sized to match the device memory. That is, you need 8-bit symbols when using an 8-bit device.

For C-language enumerated types, you may enter either the enum label (text) or integer value in the window. For labels, be aware that they are case sensitive.

Figure 4-31. Watches Window – Program Pause

: Wa	atches 🛛 🗟 🕷 🕻 Variables		Call Stack	Breakpoints	Output		Tasks	
۲	Name	Туре		Address		Value		
9		SFR		0x1F886010		0x000004FE		🔺
	Enter new watch>]				
\$								

To view the Watches window do one of the following:

- Select <u>Window>Debugging>Watches</u> to open the window.
- If the window is already open, click the Watches tab in the Output window.

To create a new watch directly:

You can add a symbol directly to the Watches window by doing one of the following:

- Double click in the name column and type in a global symbol, SFR, or absolute address (0x300).
- Right click on a global symbol or SFR in the Editor window and select "New Watch."
- Select the global symbol or SFR in the Editor window and drag-and-drop it into the Watches window.

To create a new watch using the New Watch dialog:

You can add a symbol or SFR to the Watches window by doing one of the following:

- Right click in the Watches window and select "New Watch" or select <u>Debug>New Watch</u>. Click the selection buttons to see either Global Symbols or SFRs. Click on a name from the list and then click **OK**.
- Select the symbol or SFR name in the Editor window and then select "New Watch" from the right click menu. The name will be populated in the window. Click **OK**.

To create a new runtime watch:

Before you add a runtime watch to the Watches window, you need to set up the clock:

- 1. Right click on the project name and select "Properties."
- 2. Click on the debug tool name (e.g., PICkit 4), and select the "Clock" option category.
- 3. Set the runtime instruction speed.

To add a global symbol or SFR as a runtime watch, follow the instructions under To create a new watch using the New Watch dialog:, except select "New Runtime Watch" instead of "New Watch."

For all devices except PIC32 MCUs, symbols used in a runtime watch must be sized to match the device memory. That is, you need 8-bit symbols when using an 8-bit device.

To view symbol changes:

- 1. Debug and then Pause your program.
- 2. Click the Watches tab to make the window active.
- 3. For watch symbols, continue the debug session and Pause to see changing values. For runtime watch symbols, continue Debug and watch the values change as the program executes.

Basic Tasks

You must be in a debug session to see the values of symbols - global symbols, SFRs, arrays, register bitfields, etc.

Note: You cannot view the value of macros in this way. Use the Macro Expansion Window by right clicking on the macro in the editor during debug.

To change the radix of a watch symbol:

Right click in the line of the symbol and select "Display Value As."

To perform other tasks:

For more on watches, see 12.19 Watches Window.

4.17 Watch Local Variable Values Change

Watch the values of local variables change in the Variables window. Determining if these values are as expected during program execution will help you to debug your code.

In general, you must Pause from debugging to be able to see updated values. However, some tools allow runtime updates. Check your tool documentation to see if it supports this feature.

Figure 4-32. Variables Window – Program Pause

Watches	Variables	₩ 1	Call Stack	Breakpoints	Output		Tasks	
Name		Туре		Address		Value		
D BORTA		SFR		0x1F886010		0x000004FE		
🐑 🗋 <enter< td=""><td>new watch></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></enter<>	new watch>							
E PORTA		SFR		0x1F886010		0x000004FE		
🗉 🧼 bitmap		char[30]	1	0xA0000200		"916169110110	Q//0//09	
🔶 i		int		0xA0007FD0		0x00000000		

To view the Variables window do one of the following:

- Select Window>Debugging>Variables to open the window.
- Click the Variables tab in the Output window if the window is already open.

To view variable changes:

- 1. Debug and then Pause your program.
- 2. Click the "Variables" tab to view the window and see the local variable value.

To change the radix of a variable:

Right click in the line of the variable and select "Display Value As."

4.18 View or Change Device Memory

MPLAB X IDE has flexible, abstracted memory windows that provide a more customized view of the different types of device memory during debug. You must Pause from debugging to be able to see updated values in this window.

View Device Memory

- 1. Click a window in a pane to make the pane active. The memory window will open in this pane.
- 2. Select a memory view from <u>Window>Target Memory Views</u>. The available choices are shown in the following tables. Not all memory types are available for all devices.

Table 4-11. Memory Views – 8- and 16-Bit Devices

Туре	Description
Program Memory	all program memory (ROM) on the device
File Registers	all file register (RAM) memory on the device

Basic Tasks

continued							
Туре	Description						
SFRs	all Special Function Registers (SFRs)						
Peripherals	all SFRs by Peripheral						
Configuration Bits	all Configuration registers						
EE Data Memory	all EE Data memory on the device						
User OTP Memory	User OTP memory						
User ID Memory	User ID memory						

Table 4-12. Memory Views – 32-Bit Devices

Туре	Description
Execution Memory	all Flash memory on the device
Data Memory	all RAM memory on the device
Peripherals	all Special Function Registers (SFRs)
Configuration Bits	all Configuration registers
CPU Memory	all CPU memory
User ID Memory	User ID memory

3. When a Memory window is open, you may change your view by selecting a different memory in the Memory drop-down box. Or, you can change the format of the current memory display in the Format drop-down box. The format choices depend on the type of memory chosen and the device.

Figure 4-33. Memory and Memory Format Selection

Memo	pry Program Memory 🗸	Format	Code 👻	
	Program Memory		Hex	
	File Registers		Code	_
	SFRs			
	Configuration Bits			
	User OTP Memory			

- 4. After Debug and then Pause, the window will populate with the memory chosen.
- 5. Close the window by clicking the "x" on that window's tab.

Figure 4-34. Memory Window Content

Exe	cuti	on Mei	mory	₿ %	Wate	hes		Output
Q		Line	Address	Орсо	de	Label	DisAssy	
-		8265	9D00	3403	8030		ORI V1, ZEI	RO, -32720
		8266	9D00	AC43	0600		SW V1, 153	6 (VO)
-		8267	9D00	AFCO	0000		SW ZERO, 0	(S8)
₩.		8268	9D00	0B40	005E		J 0x9D0001	78
-		8269	9D00	0000	0000		NOP	
	⇔	8270	9D00	3C02	A000		LUI V0, -24	4576
		8271	9D00	2443	0200		ADDIU V1, V	70, 512
		8272	9D00	8FC2	0000		LW V0, 0(S	B)
		8273	9D00	0062	1021		ADDU VO, V	1, VO
		8274	9D00	8042	0000		LB V0, 0(V	0)
		8275	9D00	0040	1821		ADDU V1, V), ZERO

Change Device Memory

You must Debug your code to change memory values. You cannot change memory when code is running.

Note: The data will change only during Debug. Your application code is not changed.

Use the following information to change memory values:

- Change a value in the Memory window by clicking in the appropriate column and selecting or entering new data. For some windows, the text will be red to show a change.
- The Fill memory feature is found on the context (right click) menu of most Memory windows.
- For program memory, you must rebuild to see the changes. Use <u>Debug>Discrete Debugger Operation</u> to program the target and launch the debugger with the changed data.

Set Memory Window Options with the Context Menu

Right clicking in the Memory window will pop up a context menu with various options such as display options, fill memory, table import/export and output to file. The content of the menu depends on the window. See 12. MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs.

Refresh Selected Memory Windows

For Memory windows showing program, EEPROM, user ID, or configuration bits memory, you can refresh the view by doing the following:

- 1. If you are debugging, halt your program unless your tool and device support Debug Reads (see below).
- 2. Click on the icon named "Read Device Memory"

Debug Reads

For most devices, you must halt your program (Finish Debugger Session) before you can read device memory. For some devices, you can read while in debug mode (Debug Read). You will know that this is available as the "Read Device Memory" icon will not be grayed out when you are debugging.

Currently, only MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator and MPLAB ICD 3 support Debug Reads.

Debug Reads are done at target oscillator speeds so if the target is running very slow, a read may take a long time. You can force a fast ICSP read by finishing the debug session and then doing a read since ICSP reads will always be done when not in a debug session.

4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window

Select "Configuration Bits" from <u>Window>Target Memory Views</u> to open the Configuration Bits window. For details on using memory windows, see 4.18 View or Change Device Memory.

The Configuration Bits window can aid you in developing your Configuration bit settings. However, you must set Configuration bits in code for production.

4.19.1 Working with the Configuration Bits Window

You can temporarily change Configuration bits during a debug session in the Configuration Bits window (see 4.18 View or Change Device Memory.) Once you have the settings you want, you have several options to preserve these settings as discussed in the following sections.

You cannot edit the Configuration bits if you are not in a debug session. Also, if you rebuild, all changes in the Configuration Bits window will be lost.

For a summary of Configuration bits settings for different devices, see 14. Configuration Settings Summary.

Note: For AVR or SAM devices, red text in this window indicates that an action is needed. Hover your mouse over to see pop up text for instructions.

Edit Configuration Settings

Editing values in this window is always active, unlike other memory windows where you must be in debug mode. However, if you rebuild, all changes in the Configuration Bits window will be lost. Default values of the editable fields will occur on initial entry to Configuration Bits view and also on Reset to Defaults menu action. When configuration bits are expressed in source code, the value of all editable fields will be initialized to the value assigned in source code. This occurs following the build action and after a successful load.

When you change a default value in the configuration window, you are reminded that this is a temporary change that will not be permanent until programmed into the target device.

Figure 4-35. Pending Change

Output		Configura	3					
Ō		Address	Name	Value	Field			
	Δ	8007	CONFIG1	FFE6	FOSC			
-	Δ				WDTE			
	Δ				PWRTE			
					MCLRE			
	F	Pending Change must be programmed						
					CDD			

You can change values as follows:

- Selection Box Values: Selection box values are available in the "Option" or "Setting" column. Simply click on the column value for the field that you want and select from the list to change.
- Manual Entry Values: Manual entry values may be available in the "Option" or "Setting" column. The "Option" text will state that there is a user selectable range, e.g., "User range: 0x0 0x3F." The "Setting" text will state that a value needs to be entered, e.g., "Enter Hexadecimal value."

Once you click on either the "Option" or "Setting" text for the field you want, the corresponding "Value" column will become editable. The value entered will be validated against absolute (raw) values, so there is no need to be concerned about the actual position with regard to where an edited field value will be applied. Attempts to '0' pad entered values to approximate actual mask position will be filtered and corrected to an absolute value to the extent possible.

Generate Source Code to Output

Click on the button Generate Source Code to Output on the bottom of the Configuration Bits window (first figure below). This will generate Configuration Bit Settings in the Output window that you can then copy into your code (second figure below).

A 8007 C	CONFIGI				caredotA	second
	CONTE AGA	FFE4	FOSC	INTOSC	Oscillator Selection	INTOSC oscillator: I/O function on CLKI
			WDTE	OFF -	Watchdog Timer Enable	WDT disabled
			PWRTE	OFF	Power-up Timer Enable	PWRT disabled
			MCLRE	ON	MCLR Pin Function Select	MCLR/VPP pin function is MCLR
			CP	OFF	Flash Program Memory Code Protection	Program memory code protection is disab
			CPD	OFF	Data Memory Code Protection	Data memory code protection is disabled
			BOREN	ON	Brown-out Reset Enable	Brown-out Reset enabled
			CLKOUTEN	OFF	Clock Out Enable	CLKOUT function is disabled. I/O or osc
			IESO	ON	Internal/External Switchover	Internal/External Switchover mode is en
			FCMEN	ON	Fail-Safe Clock Monitor Enable	Fail-Safe Clock Monitor is enabled
8008 0	CONFIG2	FFFF	WRT	OFF	Flash Memory Self-Write Protection	Write protection off
			VCAPEN	OFF	Voltage Regulator Capacitor Enable	All VCAP pin functionality is disabled
			PLLEN	ON	PLL Enable	4x PLL enabled
			STVREN	ON	Stack Overflow/Underflow Reset Enable	Stack Overflow or Underflow will cause
			BORV	LO	Brown-out Reset Voltage Selection	Brown-out Reset Voltage (Vbor), low tri
			LVP	ON	Low-Voltage Programming Enable	Low-voltage programming enabled

Eiguro 4 26	Configuration	Rite Window	Gonorato	Sourco	Codo in (Jutout
Figure 4-30.	Configuration	DILS WITHOW -	Generale	Source	Code III C	Julpul

Basic Tasks

Figure 4-37. Output Window - Generated Source Code

Output - Config Bits Se	ource 18	Configuration B	ts	
// PIC16F1939 C	onfigurat	ion Bit Sett	ings	*
// 'C' source 1	ine confi	.g statements		
// CONFIG1				
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	FOSC = IN	TOSC // C	scillator Selection (INTOSC oscillator: I/O function on CLKIN pin)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	WDTE = OF	F // V	atchdog Timer Enable (WDT disabled)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	PWRTE = O	FF // 1	ower-up Timer Enable (PWRT disabled)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	MCLRE = 0	DN // b	CLR Pin Function Select (MCLR/VPP pin function is MCLR)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	CP = OFF	1/ 1	lash Program Memory Code Protection (Program memory code protection is disabled)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	CPD = OFF	r // I	ata Memory Code Protection (Data memory code protection is disabled)	
<pre>\$pragma config</pre>	BOREN = O	ON // E	rown-out Reset Enable (Brown-out Reset enabled)	
<pre>\$pragma config</pre>	CLKOUTEN	- OFF // 0	lock Out Enable (CLKOUT function is disabled. I/O or oscillator function on the CLKOUT pin)	
<pre>\$pragma config</pre>	IESO = ON	1/ 1	nternal/External Switchover (Internal/External Switchover mode is enabled)	=
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	FCMEN = 0	N // B	ail-Safe Clock Monitor Enable (Fail-Safe Clock Monitor is enabled)	
// CONFIG2				
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	WRT = OFF	// 1	lash Memory Self-Write Protection (Write protection off)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	VCAPEN =	OFF // 1	oltage Regulator Capacitor Enable (All VCAP pin functionality is disabled)	
<pre>#pragma config</pre>	PLLEN = O	N // I	LL Enable (4x FLL enabled)	
<pre>\$pragma config</pre>	STVREN =	ON // 5	tack Overflow/Underflow Reset Enable (Stack Overflow or Underflow will cause a Reset)	
#pragma config	BORV = LO) // E	rown-out Reset Voltage Selection (Brown-out Reset Voltage (Vbor), low trip point selected.)	
<pre>\$pragma config</pre>	LVP = ON	// 1	ow-Voltage Programming Enable (Low-voltage programming enabled)	
// #pragma conf	ig stater	ments should	precede project file includes.	
// Use project	enums ins	tead of #def	ine for ON and OFF.	
<pre>#include <xc.h></xc.h></pre>	-			

Insert Source Code in Editor

You can select to "Insert Source Code In Editor" from the Configuration Bits window context menu or side bar "clipboard" icon (first figure below). Open or create a main project file in the editor, place the cursor where you want the configuration bits settings to go, then click on the icon (second figure below).

Figure 4-38. Configuration Bits Window - Insert Source Code in Editor

tput - Config Bits Source		Configu	iration Bits	24				
Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category		Setting	
A 8007	A 8007 CONFIG1		FOSC	INTOSC	Oscillator Selection		INTOSC oscillator: I/O function on CLKIN	
A		and a second second	WDTE	OFF .	Watchdog Timer Enable		WDT disabled	
			PWRTE	OFF	Fower-up Timer Enable		PWRT disabled	
-			MCLRE	ON	MCLR Pin Function Select		MCLR/VPP pin function is MCLR	
			CP	OFF	Flash Program Memory Code Protection		Program memory code protection is disab	
			CPD	OFF	Data Memory Code Protectio	n	Data memory code protection is disabled	
1	de la Fallence	1	BOREN	ON	Brown out Reset Enable		Brown-out Reset enabled	
nsert Source Co	de in Editor		CLKOUTEN	OFF	Generate Source Code to Output		CLKOUT function is disabled. I/O or osci	
-		1	IESO	ON	1	22	Internal/External Switchover mode is ena	
			FCMEN	ON	Insert Source Code in Editor	able	Fail-Safe Clock Monitor is enabled	
8008	CONFIG2	FFFF	WRT	OFF	Reset to Defaults	ptection	Write protection off	
	VCAP	VCAPEN	OFF	Enable MultiLine Rows	Enable	All VCAP pin functionality is disabled		
			PLLEN	ON			4x PLL enabled	
			STVREN	ON	Output To File	eset Enable	Stack Overflow or Underflow will cause a	
			BORV	LO	Print	ection	Brown-out Reset Voltage (Vbor), low trip	
			LVP	ON	Adjust Table Columns	able	Low-voltage programming enabled	
				C				
4				1				

Basic Tasks

Figure 4-39. Editor Window - Generated Source Code

```
Start Page 🛛 🐏 test_main.c 🖇
                                                                                                                                                          4 . . .
Source History 🔯 🐘 + 🖏 + 🔍 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖶 📪 🔗 🈓 🖄 🖄 ڬ \varTheta 👘 🕍 🚅 🚱
                                                                                                                                                                   RR.
                                                                                                                                                                  .
  6
  7
     I // PIC16F1939 Configuration Bit Settings
 8
     // 'C' source line config statements
// CONFIG1
 9
10
        #pragma config FOSC = INTOSC // Oscillator Selection (INTOSC oscillator: I/O function on CLKIN pin)
 11
        #pragma config WDTE = OFF // Watchdog Timer Enable (WDT disabled)
#pragma config PWRTE = OFF // Power-up Timer Enable (PWRT disabled)
12

      #pragma config PWRTE = OFF
      // Power-up Timer Enable (PWRT disabled)

      #pragma config MCLRE = ON
      // MCLR Pin Function Select (MCLR/VPP pin function is MCLR)

      #pragma config CP = OFF
      // Flash Program Memory Code Protection (Program memory code protection is disabled)

      #pragma config CPD = OFF
      // Data Memory Code Protection (Data memory code protection is disabled)

      #pragma config BOREN = ON
      // Brown-out Reset Enable (Brown-out Reset enabled)

13
14
15
 16
17
18
        #pragma config CLKOUTEN = OFF // Clock Out Enable (CLKOUT function is disabled. I/O or oscillator function
        #pragma config IESO = ON // Internal/External Switchover (Internal/External Switchover mode is enabl
#pragma config FCMEN = ON // Fail-Safe Clock Monitor Enable (Fail-Safe Clock Monitor is enabled)
 19
20
21
22
        // CONFIG2
        #pragma config WRT = OFF
23
                                                    // Flash Memory Self-Write Protection (Write protection off)
        #pragma config VCAPEN = OFF // Voltage Regulator Capacitor Enable (All VCAP pin functionality is disabl
24
        #pragma config PLLEN = ON
#pragma config STVREN = ON
                                                  // PLL Enable (4x PLL enabled)
25
26
                                                     // Stack Overflow/Underflow Reset Enable (Stack Overflow or Underflow will
        #pragma config BORV = LO
                                                   // Brown-out Reset Voltage Selection (Brown-out Reset Voltage (Vbor), low t
27
        #pragma config LVP = ON
                                                   // Low-Voltage Programming Enable (Low-voltage programming enabled)
28
29
30 📮 // #pragma config statements should precede project file includes.
      // Use project enums instead of #define for ON and OFF.
31
 32
     [] #include <xc.h>
33
34
```

Program Device for Debugging

Click on the IDE toolbar icon "Program device for debugging" to program the current values of the Configuration Bits window into a device. See 4.20 Program a Device.

4.19.2 Setting Configuration Bits in Assembly Projects

For MPLAB XC assembly projects, you can still use the Configuration Bits window. (This does not apply to MPASM or MPLAB ASM30 projects.) Add a simple C file to your project to contain the generated #pragma config macros. Then you will not have to hand-enter assembly config words.

There are no differences between the assembly config words and #pragma config; they both write a single program word and result in the same program size. However, the #pragma config syntax is more flexible and allows for improved validation, formatting, and descriptive comments.

4.20 Program a Device

Once your code is debugged, you can program it onto a target device.

Set Project Programming Properties

Set up programming options in the Project Properties window:

- 1. Right click on the project name in the Projects window and select "Properties."
- 2. Under "Categories," click on the hardware tool you will use to program your code, e.g., PM3.
- 3. Review the settings under the "Memories to Program" options category. If you wish to use a Preserve Memory option, ensure that your code is not code protected. Code is preserved when the programmer reads the section it needs to save, performs a bulk erase of the device, reprograms the device and then rewrites the area that is preserved with what was saved.
- 4. Review the settings under the "Program Options" category.
- 5. Depending on your hardware tool, there may be other programming option categories. Review each one to ensure the settings are correct for your project.

6. When using RTDM with DMCI, Motor Control applications etc., you will need to check the checkbox "Load symbols when programming or building for production (slows process)" under the "Loading" category.

For more information about programming options, please consult your hardware tool documentation.

After the programming options are set up as you desire, you may proceed to program the device.

Perform Programming

To program your target device with debugged code, click the toolbar button Make and Program Device Project.

Other programming-related functions are shown in the Table 4-9. The first function is activated by clicking on the button. For other functions, click on the down arrow next to the button icon.

Button Icon	Function	Details
.	Make and Program Device	The project is built (if necessary) and the device is programmed. The program will immediately begin execution on completion of programming.
	Program Device for Debugging	The device is programmed from a debug image. The program will immediately begin execution on completion of programming.
	Program Device for Production	The device is programmed from a production image. The program will immediately begin execution on completion of programming.
	Programmer to Go PICkit 3	Use the Programmer to Go feature of PICkit 3.
	Read Device Memory	Transfer what is in target memory to MPLAB X IDE.
	Read Device Memory to File	Transfer what is in target memory to the specified file.
	Read EE/Flash Data Memory to a File	Transfer what is in target data memory to the specified file.
	Hold In Reset	Toggle the device between Reset and Run.

 Table 4-13. Programming Functions on Toolbar Buttons

Program Using the MPLAB Integrated Production Environment

Not all programming functions are in the MPLAB X IDE. For additional programming support, see the MPLAB IPE included with the MPLAB X IDE installation.

	Desktop Icon for MPLAB IPE
MPLAB IPE	
vx.xx	

5. Additional Tasks

The following steps show how to perform more tasks in MPLAB X IDE.

Table 5-1. Performing Additional Tasks

Uvork with Projects	 Learn how to Work with Device Packs in your project. Choose how to Open an Existing MPLAB X IDE Project. Import an Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project into MPLAB X IDE. Open a prebuilt image (Hex, ELF or COF) using the Prebuilt Projects import wizard. Use Loadable Projects, Files and Symbols to combine or replace project hex files. A common application is using loadables for combining bootloaders and application code, as in Loadable Projects and Files: Bootloaders. Create Library Projects to build their output as a library. Open an existing Studio or Start project by using the Import Atmel Studio 7 or Atmel START Project wizard. Create projects from Other Embedded Projects or Sample Projects. Work with Other Types of Files, not just Microchip compiler-supported file types. Also Modify or Create Code Templates to change the default file templates that you use in your project. Switch Hardware or Language Tool used in your project. Modify Project Folders and Encoding of an existing project.
2 Debug Code	 Use the Stopwatch to determine the timing between breakpoints. View the Disassembly Window to see disassembled code. To navigate function calls, View the Call Stack or View the Call Graph. View the Dashboard Display to see project information such as breakpoint resources, checksums and memory usage. View Registers for the Project (I/O View) during design and debug.
3 Manage Code	 Improve your Code* by using refactoring and profiling tools. Control Source Code using Local History by using built-in file history. Or Control Source Code using a Revision Control System. Collaborate on Code Development and Error Tracking* by using a team server and an issue tracking system. Compare MPLAB XC Compiler Free vs. PRO Licenses to determine what optimizations work best for your application.
4 Add Functionality	1. Add Plugin Tools to aid code development.

* To see this feature, refer to the **Start Page**, **My MPLAB X IDE** tab, "Extend MPLAB" section, "Selecting Simple or Full-Featured Menus" topic.

5.1 Work with Device Packs

MPLAB X IDE requires specific information about supported devices in order to simulate or emulate these devices. This information is found in device (.PIC) files and includes data on device power requirements, programming methods, architecture, etc.

As of MPLAB X IDE v5.00, the device files are grouped into versioned device family packs (DFPs). Although each MPLAB X IDE version comes with device packs, you may upgrade the device pack version to include new devices, new device feature support, or device bug fix support.

Additional Tasks

For example, to find the device family pack (DFP) containing the PIC16F19197 device file on a Windows OS computer:

```
C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v5.00\packs\Microchip\PIC16F1xxxx_DFP
\1.0.38\edc\PIC16F19197.PIC
```

where:

- Installation Location: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX
- Version: \v5.00
- Folder Containing Packs: \packs
- Device Family Pack: \Microchip\PIC16F1xxxx_DFP
- Pack version: \1.0.38
- Folder containing Device Files: \edc
- Device File: \PIC16F19197.PIC

For more information, refer to Developer Help:

Device Packs in Projects

Device Pack Frequently Asked Questions

5.1.1 Install Packs during MPLAB X IDE Install

When installing MPLAB X IDE (as of MPLAB X IDE v5.20), you may now "Choose Microchip device support you want installed." This will install the packs related to the device architecture(s) chosen. Installing only what you need saves disk space and speeds installation.

This is also called a distributed installer.

U Setup	
Select Applications	
Choose which applications you want to install:	
MPLAB X IDE (Integrated Development Environment)	
MPLAB IPE (Integrated Programming Environment)	
Choose Microchip device support you want installed: 8 bit MCUs (B) 16 bit MCUs (B) 32 bit MCUs (B) Other MCUs (SERIALEE, HCSxxxx) (B) Help Improve MPLAB X Products I consent to allow the collection of anonymous information about my usage of MPLAB products to assist in understanding our users requirements and the prioritization of future improvements. 	n better
Microchip will NOT collect: User names and passwords Paths, filenames. or project names - Fragments of user's source code	
The MPLAB team really appreciates your participation in helping improve our products!	
InstallBuilder Kenter Kente	Cancel

Information on installing MPLAB X IDE may be found in the MPLAB X IDE Readme.

5.1.2 Install Packs after MPLAB X IDE Install

Select *Tools>Packs* to open a list of versioned packs that you can install via the MPLAB Pack Manager.

Additional Tasks

When first opened, the list is filtered for packs known to be compatible with the current IDE release. Click on the IDE release button to disable this feature and see all pack versions. See below for an example.

MPLAB X IDE 5.25	Pack list filtered
MPLAB X IDE 5.25	All Pack versions shown

Figure 5-1. MPLAB Pack Manager

Start Page R MPLAB X Store R Pack R	ort for MPLAB X IDE			2791 devices supj	C b V D
Check for Updates				MPLA8 X IDE 5.25	Search
▼ ATautomotive_DFP	Device Name A	Family	Core	Datasheet	Product Page
2.0.6 - Added isexecutable attribute to SRAM in ATtin 🔒 Installed to System	ATA5272	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
2.0.2 - Succeeds Atmel.ATautomotive_DFP 1.2.118. Install	ATA5505	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
▼ ATmega_DFP	ATA5700M322	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheat	Product Page
20.12 - Added missing registers and corrceted event 🔒 Installed to System 20.2 - Succeeds Atmel.ATmega_DFP 1.3.300. Install	ATA5702M322	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
▼ ATtiny_DFP	ATA5781	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
2.0.10 - Added missing TCB1 PORTMUX for tiny3217/ 🔒 Installed to System	ATA5782	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
2.0.2 - Corrected TC2 instance in ATtiny441. Corrected defines for A Install	ATA5783	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
▼ CEC_DFP	ATA5787	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datashaat	Product Page
10.58 - Added isexecutable attribute. 🔒 Installed to System 10.56 - Initial release. Install	ATA5790	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
▼ CMSIS	ATA5790N	ATautomotive	AVR8	Datasheet	Product Page
5.4.0 - System packs location: C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v2019-06-17\g	acks - User packs location:	C:\Users\c08227\.mch	p_packs - Remote pack	s repository: https://packs	.download.microchip.com/

5.1.3 Switch Installed Packs

For a project open in MPLAB X IDE, right click on the project name in the Projects window and select "Properties" to open the Project Properties window. View the Packs list to see available packs for the project device.

🔀 Project Properties - test	
Categories: General File Inclusion/Exclusion Conf: [free]	Configuration Family: All Families
O Simulator O Loading O Libraries	Supported Debug Header:
Building SC8 Global Options VC8 Compiler VC8 Linker	Packs: Packs Packs ATmega_DFP
Conf: pro Simulator O Simulator O Loading	i

Packs shown as gray are not included in that version of MPLAB X IDE. To install the pack, see 5.1.2 Install Packs after MPLAB X IDE Install. Turn off the filter to see all versions and then install the version(s) you want.

Note: If you switch devices in the Project Properties to a device that does not have a device pack installed, you **will not** be prompted. You must install manually via the MPLAB Pack Manager.

5.1.4 Packs on the Web

To find and download pack versions from the web, go to:

https://packs.download.microchip.com/

Click on the name of a pack to see pack information, such as supported devices and pack version history.

Figure 5-2. Microchip Packs Repository

K-MP Series Device Support (1.0.46)
dsPIC33CK128MP203 dsPIC33CK128MP205 dsPIC33CK128MP206 dsPIC33CK128MP208 dsPIC33CK128MP502 dsPIC33CK128MP503 dsPIC33CK128MP506 dsPIC33CK128MP506 dsPIC33CK256MP205 dsPIC33CK256MP206 dsPIC33CK256MP502 dsPIC33CK256MP505 dsPIC33CK256MP506 dsPIC33CK256MP508 dsPIC33CK226MP506 dsPIC33CK32MP503 dsPIC33CK256MP505 dsPIC33CK32MP505 dsPIC33CK32MP505 dsPIC33CK32MP505 dsPIC33CK32MP506 dsPIC33CK64MP208 dsPIC33CK64MP503 dsPIC33CK64MP502 dsPIC33CK64MP508 dsPIC33CK64MP508 dsPIC33CK64MP508 dsPIC33CK64MP508 dsPIC33CK64MP508
Description
Excluded REFOTRIML and added REFOTRIMH where needed.
Initial release.

5.2 Open an Existing MPLAB X IDE Project

Once you have an existing project, either one that you created or a downloaded example, there are a several ways to open this project.

Open from IDE Menus

Select File>Open Project or File>Open Recent Project.

Open by Icon

Click on the Open Project icon.



Open by Drag-and-Drop of Project Folder

Select a project folder in your file manager window. Drag and drop the folder into the **Editor Pane** (see 4.2 View Changes to Desktop). The project will open in the Projects window.

Figure 5-3. Drag and Drop Folder



Figure 5-4. Opened Project



Open by Drag-and-Drop of Folder containing Projects

To open a folder containing projects, select the folder in your file manager window. Drag and drop the folder into the **Editor Pane** (see previous step). A window with the name of the folder on the tab will open in the **File Pane**. The folder and related projects will be shown in this window. To open a project in this folder, right click on the project name and select "Open Project of Folder." The project will open in the Projects window.

Figure 5-5. Opened Folder containing Projects



5.3 Import an Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project

Use the New Project wizard to import an MPLAB IDE v8 project into an MPLAB X IDE project with the following considerations:

MPLAB IDE v8 workspace settings not transferred

Settings that were saved in a workspace in MPLAB IDE v8 (such as tool settings) will not be transferred to the new MPLAB X IDE project. Refer to the MPLAB IDE v8 help for what is stored in a workspace (<u>MPLAB IDE</u> <u>Reference>Operational Reference>Saved Information</u>).

Project settings, such as compiler, linker, and assembler options, will be transferred to the new MPLAB X IDE project.

MPLAB IDE v8 project possible file changes

An MPLAB IDE v8 project using the "MPLAB C Compiler for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC DSCs" (aka MPLAB C30) and a COFF debug file format may have changes.

- The MPLAB X IDE project will be converted to the ELF/DWARF debug file format unless the project uses COFF libraries, in which case the project format will continue to be COFF.
- MPLAB IDE v8 is case insensitive to file extensions such as .c and .C. However, MPLAB X IDE is case sensitive and associates .c to C code files and .C to C++ code files. Therefore, if you import an MPLAB IDE v8 project with C code specified as .C, MPLAB X IDE will rename the .C files to .c to avoid incorrect compiler behavior.

MPLAB IDE v8 project possible build changes

An MPLAB IDE v8 project imported into MPLAB X IDE may not build the same as the original project.

• Do not use __FILE__, assert(), __TIME__, or __DATE__ in your project code or the build (and checksum) will be different.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide Additional Tasks

 An MPLAB IDE v8 project that uses logical subfolders will not have the same checksum when imported into MPLAB X IDE. To build with the same checksum, move the files in the logical subfolders into the main logical folder (i.e., Source Files, Header Files, etc.) and then import into MPLAB X IDE.

To remove a logical subfolder under Source Files:

- Drag to files under Source Files.
- Select the folder and hit <Delete>.
- Alternately, you can right click on the folder and select "Remove from Project" to remove the folder from the project. But it exists on the PC, it will not be deleted.

Figure 5-6. Move Files and Delete Subfolder



5.3.1 Open the Import MPLAB IDE v8 Project Wizard

There are two ways to open the wizard, described below.

Import Legacy Project Option

To open the Import Legacy Project wizard, do one of the following:

- On the Start Page, click on the Learn & Discover or My MPLAB X IDE tab, "Projects" section, "Import Legacy" link.
- Select <u>File>Import>MPLAB IDE v8 Project</u>.

New Project Option

To open the New Project wizard, do one of the following:

- On the Start Page, click on the Learn & Discover or My MPLAB X IDE tab, "Projects" section, "Create New" link.
- Select <u>File>New Project</u> (or Ctrl+Shift+N).



A wizard will launch to guide you through new project set up.

Step 1. Choose Project: select the "Microchip Embedded" category and choose from the project type "Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project." Click **Next**.

5.3.2 Use the Import MPLAB IDE v8 Project Wizard

Follow the steps below to import your MPLAB IDE v8 project. The steps are numbered according to the "Import Legacy Project" Option (see 5.3.1 Open the Import MPLAB IDE v8 Project Wizard.)

Click **Next** to move to the next step.

Step 1. Locate MPLAB IDE v8 Project *.mcp File. Enter or browse to the legacy project.

Step 2. Select Device. Select the device you will be using in your application from the "Device" drop-down list. To narrow your selection list, choose a Family first.

Step 3. Select Header. This step will appear if a header is available for your selected device. To determine if a header is required for debug or if your device has on-board debug circuitry, consult one of the documents below. Then choose whether or not to use a header.

- Processor Extension Pak and Debug Header Specification
- Emulation Extension Pak and Emulation Header User's Guide

Step 4. Select Tool. Select the development tool you will be using to develop your application from the list. To determine support for your device, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

Step 5. Select Plugin Board. Select a plugin board, if using one.

Step 6. Select Compiler. Select the language tool (compiler) you will be using to develop your application from the list. To determine support for your device, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

Step 7. Select Project Name and Folder. It is recommended that you do not change the default name and location to preserve maintainability of both projects. See example in the figure below.

File Locations:

The new project will not copy the source files into its folder, but instead will reference the location of the files in the v8 folder.

To create an independent MPLAB X IDE project, create a new project and copy the MPLAB IDE v8 source files to it.

Main Project:

Check the checkbox to make this project the main project on import.

Project Location:

The MPLAB X IDE project location is not in the MPLAB IDE v8 project folder, so this should be unchecked.

File Formatting:

"ISO-8859-1" is the default character encoding used when importing a project from MPLAB IDE v8.

You should select the encoding that matches the one that is used in the imported project. For example, if the MPLAB IDE v8 format is "950 (ANSI/OEM – Traditional Chinese Big5)", then select "Big5" from the drop-down list.

Step 8. Summary. Review the summary before clicking **Finish**. If anything is incorrect, use the **Back** button to go back and change it.

The legacy project will open in the Projects window

Additional Tasks

Figure 5-7. Step 7 Dialog Example

🔀 In	nport Legacy Project			×				
Ste	ps	Select Project Name and Folder						
 Locate MPLAB IDE v8 Project *.mcp File Select Device Select Header Select Tool (Optional) Select Plugin Board Select Compiler Select Project Name and Folder 		Project Name: Project Location: Project Folder:	example Browse C: \Users\c08227\Projects32\DMCI\example Browse D: \Users\c08227\Projects32\DMCI\example\example.X Browse					
8.	Summary	 Overwrite existing p Also delete sources. Set as main project Use project location 	as the project folder					
		Encoding: ISO-8	3859-1					
			Sack Next > Finish Cancel	Help				

5.4 Prebuilt Projects

Create a project from a prebuilt loadable image (Hex, ELF or COF files) by using the Import Image File wizard.

Note: To program a prebuilt image into a device, you will click the **Make and Program Device** icon even though it will only program the device (no make).



There are two ways to open this wizard: the Start Page and the New Project options.

Import Prebuilt Project Option

To open the "Import Image File" wizard, do one of the following:

- On the Start Page, click on the Learn & Discover or My MPLAB X IDE tab, "Projects" section, "Import Prebuilt" link.
- Select <u>File>Import>Hex/ELF (Prebuilt) File</u>.

New Project Option

For ways to open the New Project wizard, see 4.1.2 Launch New Project Wizard.

The wizard will launch to guide you through new project set up.

- Step 1. Choose Project: select the "Microchip Embedded" category and choose from the project type "Prebuilt (Hex, Loadable Image) Project." Click Next.
- The "Import Image File" wizard opens.

Import Image File Wizard

Follow the steps below to import your image file. The steps are numbered according to the "Import Prebuilt Project" option.

Click **Next** to move to the next step.

Step 1. Import Image File. Select the name and location of your image file. You may browse to a location.

Step 2. Select Device. Select the device you will be using in your application from the "Device" drop-down list. To narrow your selection list, choose a "Family" first.

Step 3. Select Header. This step will appear if a header is available for your selected device. To determine if a header is required for debug or if your device has on-board debug circuitry, consult one of the documents below. Then choose whether or not to use a header.

- Processor Extension Pak and Debug Header Specification
- Emulation Extension Pak and Emulation Header User's Guide

Step 4. Select Tool. Select the development tool you will be using to develop your application from the list. To determine support for your device, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

Step 5. Select Project Name and Folder. Select a name and location for your new project. You may browse to a location. Click **Finish** when done.

The new project will open in the Projects window.

For information on exporting a project as hex, see the "Project Menu" in 12.15 Projects Window.

5.5 Loadable Projects, Files and Symbols

Use loadable projects and files to combine projects, combine hex files, combine projects and hex files or replace the project hex file. The Hexmate application is used to merge project or loaded hex files into one file. For more information on using this application, see the "*MPLAB XC8 C Compiler User's Guide*" (DS50002053) in the docs folder of the installed MPLAB XC8 C compiler. See also Section "HEXMATE Conflict Report Address Error" in 9.5 Errors.

Use loadable symbols to load debug symbols during a production build or program, as when using RTDM with DMCI, Motor Control applications, etc.

Loadable projects or files are useful for creating combined bootloader and application code. See 5.6 Loadable Projects and Files: Bootloaders.

The combinations of current projects and loadables are listed below.

Table 5-2.	Loadable	Combinations
------------	----------	--------------

Current Project	Loadable	Caveat				
Standalone,	Standalone	None				
	Hex file	None				
Library	ELF or COF file	Can debug, but not build. An error will be displayed in the Output window.				
Prebuilt (Hex)	Hex file	No auto checking for overlapping memory areas.				
	ELF or COF file	Can debug, but not build.				
Prebuilt (ELF or COF)	Hex file	Build button will be disabled.				
	ELF or COF file					

The options are listed below.

Table 5-3. Loadable Options

Add Loadable Project(s)	Load one or more existing projects into your current project. When you build your current project, all projects will be built and the hex files will be combined into one. All debug files will be combined as well (ELF or COF).
Add Loadable File(s)	Load one or more existing hex files into your current project. When you build your current project, the hex file will be combined with the other hex files into one file. Note: You will no longer be able to debug the project that contains hex file(s). Use Loadable Projects for debugging.
Add Alternate File	Load an alternate hex file to be used. This options provides a post-build step where you may copy or move your project hex file to another location, use a tool such as HEXMATE to merge your file with another hex file, and then load the file back into the IDE.

5.5.1 Projects Window – Loadables Setup

Right Click on the "Loadables" folder in the Projects window (see figure) and select an option:

- Add Loadable Project select to add an existing project to your current project. Repeat to add additional projects.
- Add Loadable Files select to add an existing hex file to your current project. Repeat to add additional hex files.
- Properties Open the Project Properties window for Loading. See 5.5.2 Project Properties Window Loading Setup.

Build your current project to build all projects and combine hex files into one. Any debug files will also be combined.

Figure 5-8. PROJECTS WINDOW – LOADABLES FOLDER



5.5.2 **Project Properties Window – Loading Setup**

Open the Project Properties window (*File>Project Properties*) and click on "Loading."

- Combining the Current Project with Other Projects
- Combining the Current Project Hex File with Other Hex Files
- Loading an Alternative Hex File
- Loading Debug Symbols During Program/Build

Additional Tasks

Project Properties - MyProject Categories: General File Indusion/Exclusion General PM3 Loading Loading	Load symbols when programming or building for production (slows process) Load this .hex file instead of dist/default/production/MyProject.X.production.hex or dist/default/production/MyProject.X.production.unified.hex (merged with extra loadables) Extra loadables:						
Libraries	Item	Configuration	Include		Add Loadable Project		
Building A XC22 (Clobal Options)	Bootloader (dist/default/production/Bootloade	default			Add Loadabla Eila		
er vc32 (Global Options)	UART.X (dist/default/production/UART.X.prod	default			Add Loadable File		
• xc32 us					Duplicate		
• xc32-g++					Remove		
• xc32-ar					Up		
					Down		
Manage Configurations				-			
		ОК	Cancel	Apply	Unlock Help		

Figure 5-9. Project Properties - Loading

Combining the Current Project with Other Projects

- 1. Click Add Loadable Project. The Add Loadable Project dialog will appear.
- 2. Browse to a project and select it.
- 3. Under "Configurations" select a build configuration to use for this project. If you have not added different configurations to this project, you will only see "default."
- 4. Under "Store path as" select how to store information about the path to the loadable project. Choose from:
 - 4.1. Auto allow MPLAB IDE to determine whether the loadable project path should be relative or absolute based upon the its location.
 If the main project directory contains the loadable project, the reference is a relative path. Otherwise, the reference is an absolute path.
 - 4.2. Relative reference the loadable project with a relative (to the main project) path. This is the preferred way to add paths.
 - 4.3. Absolute reference the loadable project with an absolute path. There are cases when this mode is useful, but these paths often require correction when a project is moved from one system to another.
- 5. Click **Add** to close the dialog.
- 6. In the Project Properties window, ensure the "Include" checkbox is checked if you want to build this project when you build the current project.
- 7. If you have added more than one project, the order shown here will determine the order in which the hex files will be added to the current project's hex file. Use **Up** and **Down** to change the order.
- 8. Click **Apply** or **OK** to accept the changes.

The next time you build the current project, the projects listed here will also be built (if "Include" is checked) and their hex files will be combined with the current project's hex file to create a single output hex file. Any debug files will also be combined.

🔀 Add Loadable	Project					X
Ca	Look in: 🚺 N	1PLABXProjects		•	D 🖻	
Recent Items	PIC32T	est215.X P_Debug.X		^	Project Name: UART	
Desktop	Project Test_1 Out Control Contro Control Control Control	Group 6F 16 19.X Suiltins.X			Configurations: default (dist/default/production/UA	
My Documents		JG_EE JG_EE JG_EE JG_EE				Store path as: O Auto Relative
Computer		_16F1719.X _16F1719_MCC.X _16F1829.X	:	=		O Absolute
		_16F 1939_MCC.X shLED.X	ABXProjects\UA	T.	x	Add
Network	Files of type:	Project Folder		u x 1 i	▲	Cancel

Figure 5-10. Add Loadable Project

Combining the Current Project Hex File with Other Hex Files

- 1. Click Add Loadable File. The Add Loadable File dialog will appear.
- 2. Browse to a hex file and select it.
- 3. Under "Store path as" select how to store information about the path to the loadable file. Choose from the following options:
 - Auto Allow MPLAB IDE to determine whether the loadable file path should be relative or absolute 3.1. based upon the its location. If the main project directory contains the loadable file, the reference is a relative path. Otherwise, the reference is an absolute path.
 - 3.2. Relative – Reference the loadable file with a relative (to the main project) path. This is the preferred way to add paths.
 - Absolute Reference the loadable file with an absolute path. 3.3. There are cases when this mode is useful, but these paths often require correction when a project is moved from one system to another.
- Click Add to close the dialog. 4.
- 5. In the Project Properties window, if you have added more than one file, the order shown here will determine the order in which the hex files will be added to the current project's hex file. Use Up and Down to change the order.
- Click Apply or OK to accept the changes. 6.

The next time you build the current project, the hex files listed here will be combined with the current project's hex file (CurrentProject.X.Production.hex) to create a single output hex file. (CurrentProject.X.unified.hex) in the same folder as the current project hex file.

Loading an Alternative Hex File

- Click to check "Load this .hex file instead of ..." 1.
- 2. Click the ellipses (...) button to open the Add Loadable File dialog. For details on adding the hex file using this dialog, see the previous topic.

The next time you build the current project, the alternative hex file will load on build complete.

Loading Debug Symbols During Program/Build

The checkbox to "Load symbols when programming or building for production (slows process)" allows you to load debug symbols when programming, as when using RTDM with DMCI, Motor Control applications etc. Otherwise the checkbox should be left unchecked to speed up programming and building (default).

Figure 5-11. Add Loadable File

X Add Loadable File							
Look in:	production	I	•	ø	• 🔝 👏		
Recent Items	UART.X.p	roduction.hex					
Desktop							
My Documents							
Computer						Store path as: Auto Relative	
Network	File name: Files of type:	UART.X.production.hex HEX files (.hex)			•	 Absolute Add Cancel 	

5.5.3 The Preferred Method to Use Loadables

The recommended way to use loadables is:

- 1. Select the project that sets the device configuration bits and initialization as the main project (right click and select "Set as Main Project"). The loadable should not have device configuration settings as this will conflict with the main project.
- 2. Add the other projects as loadables to this main project. If the project being loaded has more than one project configuration, be sure to specify that when loading.

Specifying the project containing the loadables as the main project ensures that a change in any loadable will be picked up by the build when the Build button is clicked.

5.6 Loadable Projects and Files: Bootloaders

To combine a bootloader with application code:

- 1. Create one project for your application and one project for your bootloader.
- 2. Load the bootloader project or hex file into the application project. See 5.5.1 Projects Window Loadables Setup or 5.5.2 Project Properties Window Loading Setup for how to do this.

The next time you build your application project, the resulting hex file will be a combined bootloader/application hex file. Any debug files will also be combined.
For build errors, see 5.5.3 The Preferred Method to Use Loadables or the sections below.

MPLAB C Compiler for PIC18 MCUs (MPLAB C18)

This compiler provides application start-up code (c018x.o) that begins at the reset vector (address 0) for use in initializing the software stack, optionally initializing the idata section, and jumping to main(). If this start-up code is left in an application, there will always be a conflict with the bootloader code reset and you will get a linker error message about a data conflict.

A resolution would be to edit the start-up code to begin at an address other than 0.

MPLAB XC8 – PIC18 MCU Example

The following Microchip webinar details how to combine a bootloader with application code for a PIC18 MCU using MPLAB XC8 and MPLAB X IDE: Linking PIC18 Bootloaders and Applications

MPLAB XC16 Bootloader Example

See the "MPLAB XC16 C Compiler User's Guide" (DS50002071) or Help file for an example bootloader.

MPLAB XC32 Bootloader Example

See the "PIC32 Bootloader Application Note" (DS01388) on the Microchip website.

5.7 Library Projects

Create a project that will generate a library file (*.lib or *.a depending on which compiler you use) instead of a hex file (see text in red). This project will not be able to run on its own as it will not have a main () function. The resulting library will be used in another project that has its own main () function.

Figure 5-12. Library Project Example

Outp	ut - MyPIC32Lib (Build) 🕺	-
	make -f nbproject/Makefile-default.mk SUBPROJECTS= .build-conf	*
	make[1]: Entering directory 'C:/Users/c08227.MCHP-MAIN/MPLABXProjects/MyPIC32Lib'	
w	<pre>make -f nbproject/Makefile-default.mk dist/default/production/MyPIC32Lib.a</pre>	
	make[2]: Entering directory 'C:/Users/c08227.MCHP-MAIN/MPLABXProjects/MyPIC32Lib'	
	"C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc32\v1.31\bin\xc32-gcc.exe" -g -x c -c -mprocessor=32MX360F512L -MMD -M	<u> </u>
	"C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc32\v1.31\bin\xc32-ar.exe" r dist/default/production/MyPIC32Lib.a build	1/ E
	C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc32\v1.31\bin\xc32-ar.exe: creating dist/default/production/MyPIC32Lib.a	
	make[2]: Leaving directory 'C:/Users/c08227.MCHP-MAIN/MPLABXProjects/MyPIC32Lib'	
	<pre>make[1]: Leaving directory 'C:/Users/c08227.MCHP-MAIN/MPLABXProjects/MyPIC32Lib'</pre>	
	BUILD SUCCESSFUL (total time: 3s)	-
	✓ []	-

For ways to open the New Project wizard, see 4.1.2 Launch New Project Wizard.

The wizard will launch to guide you through new project set up. Click Next to move to the next step.

Step 1. Choose Project. Select the "Microchip Embedded" category and choose from the project type "Library Project."

Step 2. Select Device. Select the device you will be using in your application from the "Device" drop-down list. To narrow your selection list, chose a Family first.

Step 3. Select Header. This step will appear if a header is available for your selected device. To determine if a header is required for debug or if your device has on-board debug circuitry, consult either:

- · Processor Extension Paks and Debug Headers
- Emulation Extension Paks and Emulation Headers

Step 4. Select Tool. Select the development tool you will be using to develop your application from the list. To determine support for your device, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

Step 5. Select Compiler. Select the language tool (compiler) you will be using to develop your application from the list. To determine support for your device, see 4.1.6.1 Project Tool Support.

Step 6. Select Project Name and Folder. Select a name and location for your new project. You may browse to a location. Click **Finish** when done.

The new project will open in the Projects window.

You can change your Library project to a Standalone (Application) project if you wish. For details, see 4.10.1 Change Project Configuration Type.

5.8 Import Atmel Studio 7 or Atmel START Project

Use the New Project or Import wizard to import either an Atmel Studio 7 Project or an Atmel START export file for MPLAB X IDE.

There are two ways to open the wizard, described below.

Import Project Option

To open the Import Atmel Studio or START Project wizard, select either:

- File>Import>Atmel Studio Project
- File>Import>START MPLAB Project

New Project Option

To open the New Project wizard, do one of the following:

- On the Start Page, click on the Learn & Discover or My MPLAB X IDE tab, "Projects" section, "Create New" link.
- Select *File>New Project* (or Ctrl+Shift+N).
- Click on the "New Project" icon on the toolbar.

A wizard will launch to guide you through new project set up.

Step 1. Choose Project: select the "Microchip Embedded" category and choose from the project type either "Import Atmel Studio Project" or "Import Atmel START MPLAB Project." Click **Next**.

5.8.1 Import Atmel Project - Locate Project File

Step 1 or 2. Locate Atmel Studio or START Project File

Enter or browse to the requested file. For example, on Windows 7 OS, project files may be found under:

C:\Users\Admin\Documents\Atmel Studio\7.0\

For Atmel Studio, find the *.cproj or *.cppproj project file. For Atmel START, find the *.atzip project file.

🗴 Import Studio Project		
Steps 1. Locate Studio *.cproj File 2. Select Device 3. Select Tool	Locate Studio *.cproj File	
 Select Compiler Select Device Support Select Project Name and Folder Summary 		
MPLAB X IDE	Project Filename: MPLE2/MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2/MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2.cproj Browse	
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help	

Figure 5-13. Import Atmel Studio Project

5.8.2 Import Atmel Project - Select Device

Step 2 or 3. Select Device

This window will be populated with the device information from the imported project.

🔀 Import Studio Project			—X —
Steps	Select Device		
Locate Studio *.cproj File Select Device Select Tool Select Compiler	Family:	8-bit AVR MCUs (XMega/Mega/Tiny)	Ŧ
 Select Device Support Select Project Name and Folder Summary 	Device:	ATmega324PB	Ŧ
MPLAB X IDE			
		< Back Next >	Finish Cancel Help

Figure 5-14. Import Atmel Project - Select Device

5.8.3 Import Atmel Project - Select Tool Step 3 or 4. Select Tool

This window will be populated with the debug tool from the Atmel project, if it is available in MPLAB X IDE. You may select a different tool from the list, but you may want to keep the original project tool until after import to ensure your project is working correctly. Then you can select a different tool for your project if you want.

The level of tool support for the selected device will be displayed next to the tool name.

For more on this display, see "Basic Tasks>Create New Project."

😢 Import Studio Project		×
Steps	Select Tool (Optional)	
 Locate Studio Project File 	Hardware Tools • ICD 3 • ICD 4 • PICkit 4 • PICkit 3 • PKoB4 • PM3 • Real ICE • Simulator • Snap • Alternate Tools • Ucconip Starter Kits • Other Tools • Uccensed Debugger	
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel He	alp

Figure 5-15. Import Atmel Project - Select Tool

5.8.4 Import Atmel Project - Select Compiler Step 4 or 5. Select Compiler

This window will be populated with the compiler from the Atmel project, if it is available in MPLAB X IDE. You may select a different compiler from the list, but you may want to keep the original project compiler until after import to ensure your project is working correctly. Then you can select a different compiler for your project if you want.

The level of tool support for the selected device will be displayed next to the tool name.

If you do not see a compatible compiler listed, click **Cancel** and follow the directions under "Basic Tasks>Create New Project."



😰 Import Studio Project				
Steps 1. Locate Studio *.cproj File 2. Select Device 3. Select Tool 4. Select Compiler 5. Select Device Support 6. Select Project Name and Folder 7. Summary	Select Compiler Compiler Toolchains -AVR 			
	<►			
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help			

5.8.5 Import Atmel Project - Select Device Support Step 5 or 6. Select Device Support

As of MPLAB X IDE v5.00, devices are supported in versioned device packs. If the device pack version is not supported in MPLAB X IDE:

1. For "Override Default Device Support" checked, you can download the pack support by clicking on the help icon (question mark) and following the instructions. When you download the pack, it will install in Atmel Studio (see figure).

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

😰 Import Studio Project	
Steps	Select Device Support
 Locate Studio *,cproj File Select Device Select Tool Select Compiler Select Device Support Select Project Name and Folder Summary 	Device Support information ATmega_DFP (1.2.209) used in Studio project is not available in MPLAB X. Click on the help icon to get more information about the pack paths.
MPLAB X IDE	Device Support Path To Browse Browse Download AT mega_DFP Series Device Support (1.2.209) from http://packs.download.atmel.com and unzip the pack and provide the pdsc path of the pack as an input.
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help



🍑 Pack Manager	23
ATmega_DFP - 1.2.209 (Atmel)	
Corrected reset pin configurations and changed PORTMUX signal names for ATmega4809, ATmega4808, ATmega3209 and ATmega3208. Corrected TWI0 pins on mega324PB.	м т
Installation Path: C:\Program Files (x86)\Atmel\Studio\7.0\Packs	
ATMEL PACK FOR ATMEL STUDIO 7 END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT	*
IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND	-
By clicking "Install", you agree with Install Cancel Cancel]

2. For "Override Default Device Support" checked, you can look in the Atmel Studio pack directory for the correct version. For example:

C:\Program Files (x86)\Atmel\Studio\7.0\packs\atmel\ATmega_DFP\1.2.209

For "Override Default Device Support" unchecked, you can use the MPLAB X IDE device pack version (the 3. latest) in the project. For example, the MPLAB X IDE project packs would be located under:

Figure 5-17. Import Atmel Project - Select Device Support

C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v5.xx\packs\Atmel\ATmega DFP

5.8.6 Import Atmel Project - Select Project Name and Folder Step 6 or 7. Select Project Name and Folder

It is recommended that you do not change the default name and location to preserve maintainability of both projects.

Project Files Location:

For Atmel Start, source files will be copied into the MPLAB X IDE project.

For Atmel Studio, the new project will not copy the source files into its folder, but instead will reference the location of the files in the Atmel project folder.

To create an independent MPLAB X IDE project, create a new project and copy the source files to it.

Main Project:

Check "Set as main project" to make this project the main project on import.

Project Location:

For Atmel Studio, it is not recommended to check "Use project location as the project folder," but to keep the MPLAB X IDE project with the Atmel project. For Windows OS systems, if the Atmel project path is too long (see warning below), change the path of this project first before importing into MPLAB X IDE.

File Formatting/Encoding:

You should select the encoding that matches the one that is used in the imported project. For example, if the format is "950 (ANSI/OEM – Traditional Chinese Big5)," then select "Big5" from the drop-down list.

Path Length (Window OS):

If the path to your project is too long, you may need to shorten it to avoid issues during build.

Figure 5-19. Import Atmel Project – Select Project Name and Folder

🔀 Import Studio Project		×	
Steps	Select Project Name a	nd Folder	
1. Locate Studio *.cproj File			
2. Select Device 3. Select Tool	Project Name:	MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2	
 Select Compiler Select Device Support 	Project Location:	xamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2 Browse	
6. Select Project Name and Folder	Project Folder:	IPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2.X	
7. Summary			
	Overwrite existing	project.	
Also delete sources.			
	📝 Set as main project		
	Use project location as the project folder		
	ADLAR'		
TDE	Encoding: ISO-	8859-1	
~			
	Project name and folder path length are nearing the Windows limit. This may cause issues during build or pro Try shortening the project name or path.		
		< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help	

5.8.7 Import Atmel Project - Summary

Step 7 or 8. Summary

Review the summary before clicking Finish. If anything is incorrect, use the Back button to go back and change it.

When the project is being imported, observe any warnings or other messages in the Output window. You may need to make changes so your new project will build.

Figure 5-20. Import Atmel Project – Summary

🔀 Import Studio Project				
Steps	Summary			
 Locate Studio *.cproj File Select Device Select Tool Select Compiler Select Device Support Select Project Name and Folder Summary 	Project Name MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2 Project Directory C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\M			
	Project Location			
	C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2			
	Target Device			
	ATmega324PB			
	Project Source			
MPLAB X IDE	C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2\sr C:\Atmel_Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExamples\MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Studio_7\ImportExample3\Stu			
	<pre>< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help</pre>			

The new project will open in the Projects window.

Note: The source files from the original Atmel project are linked, as opposed to copied. So modifications to the source files in either the Atmel or MPLAB X IDE projects will be noticed in both.

Projects % Files Classes . MEGA_LED_EXAMPLE2 Header Files 🖨 🔚 Important Files 🖶 Makefile Linker Files 🖶 📠 Source Files ⊡…/____ src 🗄 👘 ASF 📲 asf.h 🗄 💼 config 🐏 mega led example.c Libraries Loadables

Figure 5-21. Import Atmel Project – Projects Window

5.9 Other Embedded Projects

MPLAB X IDE can create a project from selected, other embedded projects.

- 1. Select File>New Project.
- 2. Click on "Other Embedded" under "Categories" and select from a list of available embedded projects.
- 3. Continue to create an MPLAB X IDE project.

This feature imports your existing files into an MPLAB X IDE project. Conversion of other embedded project settings or code is not yet available.

For information on how to work with MPLAB X IDE, see:

- Tutorial
- Basic Tasks

For information on available compilers, see:

https://www.microchip.com/mplab/compilers

5.10 Sample Projects

Create a sample project to help you learn about Microchip devices, tools and MPLAB X IDE.

- 1. Select *File>New Project*.
- 2. Click on "Samples>Microchip Embedded" under "Categories" and select from a list of available embedded projects (that blink demo board lights) or template projects. Read the Description for more information.

Part numbers for demo boards are as follows:

- Explorer 16 Demo Board: DM240001
- PICDEM 2 Plus: DM163022-1

5.11 Work with Other Types of Files

When selecting <u>*File>New File*</u>, you are presented with many types of files. Using Microchip compiler files has been explored previously. However, there are other types of files you can select depending on your project language tool or need to create a specific file.

Table 5-4. File Types

Category	File Type
Microchip Embedded	Files for language tools that are supported in MPLAB X IDE Select your compiler folder to see the available file types.
С	Generic C files
C++	Generic C++ files
Assembler	Generic assembly files
Shell Scripts	Shell script files: Bash, C, Korn, etc.
Makefiles	Makefile files
XML	XML files
Other	Other types of files, such as HTML, JavaScript, etc. If you do not see the type of file you want listed here, select "Empty File." In the next window, name the file with the desired extension.

5.12 Modify or Create Code Templates

When you create a file to add to your project (4.9.2 Create a New File), a template is used for the new file. To change this template, select <u>Tools>Templates</u> and then "Open in Editor" to edit a template. You may also use "Add" or "Duplicate" in this dialog to create new templates.

"New Folder" can be used to create a new folder to hold templates. Be aware that MPLAB X IDE filters out all but Microchip Embedded, Shell Scripts, Makefiles and Other, so files or folders should be created under those folders.

Figure 5-22. Template Manager



You may set template options by selection <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Editor** button, **Code Templates** tab (as shown below).

An option of note for C code is the "fcom" option. In an Editor window, type "fcom" and then press "Tab" to insert the following text into the source code:

```
// <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="${comment}">
${selection}${cursor}// </editor-fold>
```

This option allows you to hide/view sections of code.

In the **Code Template** tab, selecting "fcom" will display "\${comment}" in the "Expanded Text" section. Hover over this text to see the full text.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

Options			Q Filter (Ctrl+F)		
General Editor Fonts 8	Colors Keymap Embedded Team Appearance I	Miscellaneous			
General Folding Form	matting Code Completion Code Templates Hints	Highlighting Macros On Save Spellchecker			
Language: C Templates:	•				
Abbreviation	Expanded Text	Description	New		
er	#error		A Remove		
fcom	// <editor-fold (\${idx}="</td" defaultstate="collapsed" desc="\${c.</td><td></td><td>- Center C</td></tr><tr><td>fl</td><td>float</td><td></td><td></td></tr><tr><td>fori</td><td>int \${IDX newVarName default=" i"};for=""><td>. Creates for-loop that iterates through an array of</td><td></td></editor-fold>	. Creates for-loop that iterates through an array of			
func	/**************************************	Function with documentation.			
ifd	#ifdef				
ife	if (\${EXP default="exp"}) { \${selection}\${cursor}	if (exp) { } else { }	v		
Expanded Text De	scription		_		
\${comment}					
1// seditor	-fold defaultstate="collapsed" d	esc="\${comment}">			
2 Steelection	n){{curson}//	esc- o(commerc) >			
2 9150100	m/s(cursor/// <td></td> <td></td>				
4					
Expand Template on: Tab On Template Expansion: Reformat Text					
Export	iport	OK Apply C	Cancel Help		

Figure 5-23. Template Options

5.13 Switch Hardware or Language Tool

When attempting to Run or Debug a project that has a debug tool selected, that is not the one currently connected, a dialog displays, allowing you to select another hardware tool for the project.

Figure 5-24. Switch Hardware Tool Dialog



You may also plug in two or more hardware tools and switch between them in the Project Properties window (see 4.3 Open Project Properties).

To switch between different versions of compiler toolchains (language tools), use the Project Properties window.

5.14 Modify Project Folders and Encoding

When you created your project, you specified the project folder and encoding. Once the project is created, you may add or ignore project folders and change the project encoding using the "General" category in the Project Properties window.

🗴 Project Properties - MyProject		×
Categories:	Project Location: C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MyProject.X	
General	Source Folders:	
 File Indusion/Exclusion Conf: [default] Real ICE Loading Libraries Building XC32 (Global Options) xc32-as xc32-gcc xc32-gt+ xc32-d xc32-ar 	Ignored Folders Pattern: ^(nbproject build test)\$ (See also IDE level file filter in Options->Miscellaneous->Files)	Add Remove Up Down Default
	Macro:	Browse
Manage Configurations	Encoding: ISO-8859-1	Help

Figure 5-25. Project Properties – General

Project Location

View the current project location. See 8.9 Moving, Copying or Renaming a Project to change the project location.

Source Folders

Add folders for MPLAB X IDE to search when looking for project files.

Note: Adding files outside the project folder may make the project less portable.

Ignored Folders Pattern

Ignore folders in the project folder according to the regular expression pattern specified.

Example: Exclude folder src5

To exclude the src5 folder and its contents from the project, enter the following regular expression in the "Ignored Folders Pattern" text box:

^(src5|nbproject|build|test)\$

View the Projects window to see no src5 folder. View the Files window to see it does exist, but has been excluded.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks



When the project is built, ensure that there is no mention of the src5 folder or scr5.c file contained in the Build tab of the Output Window.

Macro

Enter a path to source files to be used in the "Add Existing Items" selection dialog to link to those specified source files.

Example: MPLAB Harmony Files

Select a path to MPLAB Harmony source files.

S Project Properties - MyProject		×
Categories:	Project Location: C:\Users\c08227\MPLABXProjects\MvProject.X	
general General	Source Folders:	
File Inclusion/Exclusion		Add
🖻 ·· 🔍 <u>Conf: [default]</u>		Auu
···· · Real ICE	R	emove
···· Loading		
···· Libraries		Up
···· Building	•	Down
	Ignored Folders Pattern:	
↓ vc32-as	^(nbproject build test)\$	Default
0 xc32-gcc	(See also IDE level file filter in Options->Miscellaneous->Files)	
• xc32 ar		
VICJ2-BI		
	Macro: C: \microchip\harmony\v1_09	wse
Manage Configurations	Encoding: ISO-8859-1	
	OK Cancel Apply Unlock	Help

Figure 5-27. Enter Path to be Used for Macro

Go to the Projects window, right click on the "Source Files" folder and select one of the options for "Add Existing Items." In the dialog is an option to choose files from the Macro. Hover over "Relative to Macro" to see macro value.

Figure 5-28. Choose to Select Files from Macro

😵 Select Item			
Look in:	WyProject.X 👻	🗈 📸 🎫	
Recent Items	build bui		
Desktop	Makefile		
My Documents		Store path as: Auto Relative	
Computer		Absolute Relative to Macro Columnation Columnation	microchin/harmony/v1_00
	File name:	Select	nierocnip/namony/vi_os
Network	Files of type: All Files	✓ Cancel	

Encoding

Change the project encoding. This selection will specify the code syntax coloring, which can be edited under <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Fonts and Colors** button, **Syntax** tab.

5.15 Use the Stopwatch

Use the stopwatch to determine the timing between two breakpoints.

To use the Stopwatch:

- 1. Add a breakpoint where you want to start the stopwatch.
- 2. Add another breakpoint where you want to stop the stopwatch.
- 3. Select <u>*Window>Debugging>Stopwatch*</u>. Click on the **Properties** icon on the left of the window and select the start and stop breakpoints.
- 4. Debug the program again to get the stopwatch timing result.

Figure 5-29. Stopwatch Setup

🗴 Set Stopwatch Properties 🧮
Start Condition Select a current breakpoint or trigger condition to start the stopwatch
Line C:\Users\User\MPLABXProjects\explorer16_demo\pic24fj128ga010_pim.x\main.c:80
Start condition will cause the target device to halt
Stop Condition Select a current breakpoint or trigger condition to stop the stopwatch Line C:\Users\User\MPLABXProjects\explorer16_demo\pic24fj128ga010_pim.x\main.c:106
Stop condition will cause the target device to halt
OK Cancel Help

Figure 5-30. Stopwatch Window with Content

: Stop	watch	₿ %	Watches	Variables	Breakpoints	Output	Tasks
** 100 100 100	Target h Target h	alted. Sto alted. Sto	ppwatch cyde count = 0 ppwatch cyde count = 550	3			
	Cycle cou	int = 550	3				

The stopwatch has the following icons on the left side of the window:

Table 5-5. Stopwatch lcons

lcon	Icon Text	Description
K	Properties	Set stopwatch properties. Select one current breakpoint or trigger to start the stopwatch and one to stop the stopwatch.
Ö	Reset Stopwatch on Run	Reset the stopwatch time to zero at the start of a run.
	Clear History	Clear the stopwatch window.

	continued		
lcon	Icon Text	Description	
٢	Clear Stopwatch	(Simulator Only) Reset the stopwatch after you reset the device.	

5.16 View the Disassembly Window

View disassembled code in this window. Select <u>Window>Debugging>Output>Disassembly Listing File</u> to open the window. You must Pause (halt) in a debug session (Debug>Debug Project) to see the window contents.

This information may also be found in the listing file produced by the linker. Open this file by selecting <u>File>Open File</u> and browsing for the ProjectName.lst file.

A quick way to view the entire disassembly file is to right click in the Disassembly window and select "Disassembly Listing File."

Note: The Disassembly window will disassemble each instruction, but has no history of banking associated with the instruction. Therefore, SFR names displayed in the window will be for Bank 0.

Figure 5-31. Disassembly Windows with Variable Mouseover

Start Pag	ge 🕺 🎬 MPLAB X Store 🗱 怪 main.c 📽 🔮 adcc.c 📽 📷 Disassembly(ADCC_GetSingleConversion) 🕺	
Asm Sou	irce History 📴 💀 = 💀 = 🔍 🔁 🞝 🖶 🦳 🍄 😓 🏷 🗐 😂 🥥 🗐	Ð
1	!adc_result_t ADCC_GetSingleConversion(adcc_channel_t channel, uint8_t acquisitionDelay) ^ _
2	0x761: MOVWF channel	
3	! {	
4	! // select the A/D channel	-#-
5	! ADPCH = channel;	
6	0x762: MOVF chainel, W	
7	0×763 : MOVLB $0 \times \overline{Address = 0 \times 74}$, channel = pot == (0 \times 04)	E
8	0x764: MOVWF AD Address = 0x0 (CONST), channel.pot = 0x04	
9	<pre>! //Set the Address = 0x0 (CONST), channel.channel_VSS = 0x3C</pre>	
10	PADACQ = ac Address = 0x0 (CONST), channel.channel_Temp = 0x3D	
11	0x765: MOVF 0xF Address = 0x0 (CONSI), channel.channel.DACI = 0x3E	
12	0x766: MOVWF AD Address = 000 (CONST), channel_rvk = 0x3r	
13	// Turn on one and	
14	! ADCONObits.ADON = 1;	
15	0x767: BSF ADCON0, 0x7	
16	1	
17	! //Disable the continuous mode.	
18	! ADCONObits.ADCONT = 0;	
19	0x768: BCF ADCON0, 0x6	
20	! // Start the conversion	
21	! ADCONObits.ADGO = 1;	
22	0x769: BSF ADCONO, 0x0	
23	<pre>// Wait for the conversion to finish</pre>	
24	! while (ADCONObits.ADGO)	
25		-
26	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•

 Table 5-6. Disassembly Window Context Menu

Menu Item(s)	Description
Step Instruction, Step Over, Run to Cursor	See 4.15 Step Through Code.
Cut, Copy, Paste	Cut, copy, or paste selected text in the window.
Select in Projects	Opens Projects window and selects the document containing selection.

continued	
Menu Item(s)	Description
Disassembly Listing File	See the contents of the disassembly listing file.

5.17 View the Call Stack

For 16- and 32-bit devices, a software Call Stack window is available to view CALLs and GOTOs in executing C code. This window is not applicable for assembly code (it is recommended that code optimization be turned off when using the call stack).

The Call Stack window displays functions and their arguments listed in the order in which they were called in the executing program.

To view the call stack:

- 1. Debug and then Pause your program.
- 2. Select <u>Window>Debugging>Call Stack</u>. A Call Stack window will open. See also 12.4 Call Stack Window.

For more on the call stack, see the NetBeans video:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=iS8OOUPmTUc

5.18 View the Call Graph

The Call Graph window displays a tree view of either the functions called from a selected function, or the functions that call that function.

To view the call graph:

• Right click on a function and select "Show Call Graph" from the drop-down menu.

Figure 5-32. Call Graph of Main Function



5.19 View the Dashboard Display

Select *Window>Dashboard* to display project information.

Figure 5-33. Dashboard Display



The project displayed will either be:

- The active project in the Projects window, if no main project is selected. Click on a project in the Projects window to make it active.
- The main project. Right click a project in the Projects window and select "Set as Main Project."
- No other project, active or inactive, will be displayed.

5.19.1 Dashboard Groups

Dashboard window project information is grouped into specific sections.

Table 5-7. Dashboard Groups (Continued)

Group	Definition and Content
<mark>ខ្</mark> ទៃ Project Name	 name of the active/main project project type (application or library) and the project configuration (default or user-defined)
Device	 project device any status flags generated during Run or Debug checksum of what is loaded into device memory. You must build to see this. Refer to 6.14 Checksums.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

continu	ed
Group	Definition and Content
👕 Packs	Packs containing versioned device information PIC file and other files, depending on device.
Compiler Toolchain	 project toolchain name (e.g., XC8), the tool version number in () and the path to the executable files in []. image type (Production or Debug) and toolchain optimization level, which corresponds to license type. For more on optimizations, see your language tool documentation. information on the compiler license*: license type: Workstation or Network license mode: FREE, STD or PRO licenses available: the number of licenses available licenses available: the number of licenses available Expire – days until HPA ends Expire – days until the license expires Press for status – See status in Output window * You must have at least MPLAB XC8 v1.34, MPLAB XC16 v1.25, or MPLAB XC23 v1.40 for this to be visible. For more on compiler licenses, see: https://www.microchip.com/mplab/compilers
Memory	 usage symbols disabled. Click on message to enable Load Symbols. In the Project Properties window, Loading category, check "Load symbols when programming or building for production (slows process)". type of memory (Data or Project) and the amount available on the device. Memory Used should be a guide to the amount of memory remaining. The compilers output a Memory Summary that details usage for Program Space, Configuration Bits, ID location, and EEPROM (if on the device). The sum of these memory spaces, allowing for word sizes, should agree with the Dashboard Program Used. The Map file should be examined when your device has smaller amounts of memory.
Sebug Tool	 Hardware Debug Tools debug tool name and serial number debug tool connection. By default, the tool connection is active at all times. To change this, go to <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), Embedded button, Generic Settings tab, "Maintain active connection to hardware tool". click the Refresh Debug Tool Status button to see hardware debug tool firmware versions and current voltage levels. Simulator debug tool name, i.e., Simulator. Click for Simulated Peripherals to see a list of supported device peripherals.

continue	d
Group	Definition and Content
₩ Debug Resources	Hardware Breakpoints The number of breakpoints currently being used and the number of breakpoints free for the project device.
	Software Breakpoints
	Whether software breakpoints supported on the project device.
	Debug Tool Accessories
	Which, if any, debug tool accessories are used in this project, such as debug headers.

5.19.2 Dashboard Icons

Icons on the left side of the Dashboard window provide access to functions.

Table 5-8. Sidebar Icons

lcon	Function
93 79	Project Properties Displays the Project Properties window.
62	Refresh Debug Tool Status Click this to see hardware debug tool details.
	Toggle Software Breakpoint – Enabled/Disabled Click to alternately enable or disable software breakpoints.
	The state of this feature is shown in the icon:
	Red center: DisabledGreen center: Enabled
	 Black center: Not supported – when you have exceeded the number of break points available for your device or tool.
	Open Device Data sheets Get a device data sheet from the Microchip web site:
	https://www.microchip.com/
	Click to either open a saved, local data sheet or open a browser to go to the Microchip web site to search for a data sheet.
0	Compiler Help Click to open the Master Index (if available) for documents in the docs folder of the compiler installation directory.

5.20 View Registers for the Project (I/O View)

Use the I/O View window (<u>Window>Debugging>IO View</u>) to see an overview of registers of the target device for the current project. It serves as a quick reference during design and is capable of displaying register values when the project is in debug mode.

The I/O View is a split pane view with peripherals in top pane and registers of the selected peripheral in bottom pane.

- The top pane can show registers with named editing values in combo, like Config combo.
- · The bottom pane shows register words with custom bit control for editing and changed colored bits.

For more on this window, see 12.8 I/O View Window.

Edit During Debug Pause

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

When debug mode has been paused, you can edit values in the window.

Figure 5-34. I/O View for Debug Pause

IO Vi	ew 🕺	Variab	les (Call Stack	Break	kpoints	Output							
														_
$\mathbf{\gamma}$	Icon	Periph	eral											
~		Port A	1											
		Port B												
	1/0	Port C												
	1/0	Port D												
	···· 1/O	Port E												_
<u></u>	1	- · · ·												
\mathbf{X}														-
-	Icon		Name	Address	Value	Decimal	Bits							
			Port D											
		1/0	TRISD	0x02D2	0xFFFF	65535	1514131211	10 9 8	7 6 5	4 3 2	1 0			
		<mark>I/O</mark>	TRISD1	5	1	1	15							
		···· <mark>·/O</mark>	TRISD14	1	1	1	14							
		<mark>1/O</mark>	TRISD13	3	1	1	13							
		<mark>I/O</mark>	TRISD12	2	1	1	12							
		···· <mark>I/O</mark>	TRISD1:	1	1	1	11							
			TRISD10)	1	1		ш						
			TRISD9		1	1		9						
			TRISD8		1	1		8						
			TRISD7		1	1								
			TRISD6		1	1			•					
			TRISDS		1	1				4				
		1/0	TRISD4		1	1				<u> </u>				
		10	TRISD3		1	1				2				
		10	TRISD1		1	1					1			
		1/0	TRISDO		1	1								
	.	1/0	PORTD	0x02D4	0x0000	0	1514131211	10 9 8	765	4 3 2	10			
		1/0	LATD	0x02D6	0x0000	0	1514131211	10 9 8	765	4 3 2	10			
		Ð	ODCD	0x06D2	0x0000	0	1514131211	10 9 8	765	4 3 2	10			
	٠ 📃													•
			pic246	1280301051	0v4 (Build	Load		debuager	halted		_	3	11.1	TNIC

To change a bit, simply click it, and the value will be toggled. Each bit in the register is displayed in a separate column. Bits which are set will have a dark color by default, while cleared bits will have no color (default white).

Any value can be changed by clicking the value field and writing a new value.

Some values and bits cannot be modified as they are read-only and some bits may be write-only. See the documentation for each device for more information. When a bit or value is set, it is immediately read back from the device, ensuring that the I/O View only displays actual values from the device. If a new value is set, but the I/O view does not update as expected, the register might be write-only or simply not accessible.

Change Colors

When a register has changed since last time it was displayed, it will indicate so with a red colored value and bits in the display. If a bit has been set since last time, it will be solid red. If it has been cleared it will simply have a red border. This feature can be toggled on or off in the toolbar.

Figure 5-35. I/O View - Toggle Highlighting of Modified Bits

Name	Address	Value	Bits
VO PIND	0x29	0x00	00000000
VO DDRD	0x2A	0xFF	
PORTD	0x2B	0x00	0000000
	Toggle	Highlig	ghting
Name	Toggle	Highlig Value	ghting Bits
Name	Toggle Address 0x29	Highlig Value 0xFF	ghting Bits
Name VO PIND VO DDRD	Toggle Address 0x29 0x2A	Highlig Value OxFF OxFF	ghting Bits

5.21 Improve Your Code

Improve your code by using code refactoring and/or profiling.

Refactoring code is a method of making code simpler without changing its functionality. Currently you can do the following with C code:

- · Find function usages throughout files
- Rename functions and parameters throughout files

For more information, see 7.6 C Code Refactoring.

Profiling code is an examination of CPU Usage, Memory Usage, and Thread Usage tools, all observed while the program is running. The profiling tools run automatically whenever you run your C project.

If you are looking for features found in NetBeans IDE menus (but not normally used or visible in MPLAB X IDE), go to <u>Tools>Plugins>Installed>MPLAB Hidden Menu Filter</u>, select this item, and click "Deactivate."

5.22 Control Source Code using Local History

MPLAB X IDE has a built-in local file history feature, a benefit of the NetBeans platform. This feature provides built-in versioning support for local projects and files that is similar to conventional version control systems. Available tools include a local DIFF and file restoration.

To see local history for a file, either:

- Click on the **History** button on an Editor window
- right click on the file in the Projects or Files window and select History>Show History

Any past changes to the file should be listed there.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

ingule 5-50. Local mistory in Eartor window				
Start Page 🗱 🛒 MPLAB X Store 🗱 🖭 main.c 🕺				
Source History 🕂 🛧 Compare mode: Diff to Current	•			B
Mar 28, 2019 10:43:02 AM				
Delete from History				
Delete from History				
Show only rows where 🕨				
Graphical Textual				
main.c (Mar 28, 2019 10:43:02 AM)		1/4		Current File
<pre>uint8_t acquisitionDelay = 0;</pre>	78	⊧⊗	78	<pre>uint8_t acquisitionDelay = 0;</pre>
	79		79	
<pre>adc_result_t dutyValue = ADCC_GetSi</pre>	80		80	<pre>adc_result_t dutyValue = ADCC_G</pre>
	81		81	
<pre>PWM6_LoadDutyValue(dutyValue); //lo</pre>	82		82	<pre>PWM6_LoadDutyValue(dutyValue);</pre>
	83		83	
//printf("\nThe ADC result is: %dC	84		84	//printf("\nThe ADC result is:
	85		85	
EUSART Write((dutyValue & 0x03FC)>>	≥ 86		86	//EUSART Write((dutyValue & OxC
	87		87	E=
//Data stream protocol - view 3 gra	88		88	//Data stream protocol - view 3
	× 89		89	FUCIDE Noite (0.02)
LUSARI Write (UXU3);	90		90	LUSARI_WIICe(UXU3);
	91		91	4

Figure 5-36. Local History in Editor Window

Table 5-9. Local History Context Menu

Menu Item	Description
Revert from History	To revert to a previous version. The Revert to dialog opens with any previous versions of the document. Select one and click OK to revert to that version.
Delete from History	To delete changed from history. To revert items deleted from history, right click on the file in the Projects or Files window and select <u><i>History</i>>Revert Deleted</u> .
Show only rows where	Right click under the Date column to select date filtering (Date == or Date < >). Right click under the Message column to select message filtering (Message == or Message < >).

5.23 Control Source Code using a Revision Control System

When developing a complex application that consists of many files, especially as part of a team, controlling source code changes becomes a necessity. MPLAB X IDE provides a built-in method of source file versioning and supports external revision (source or version) control programs.

Several revision control systems (RCSs) may be used with MPLAB X IDE. Once set up, revision control actions can be accessed through a context menu.

Currently supported source/version control systems are Git, Subversion and Mercurial. Other systems may be supported through plugins (e.g., CVS).

When using a revision control system for your MPLAB X IDE projects:

- 1. Try to keep all project files within the project. Files outside the project will also need to be included in the repository so the project can find them.
- 2. In MPLAB X IDE, commit only the files from the project. This is important as inclusion of unwanted files can prevent the project from compiling on other machines. See "Saving Project Files."

- 3. Resolved any conflicts when checking in using the Merge Conflicts Resolver window. See "Resolving Conflicts in Revision Controlled Files."
- 4. Check read-only files in per "Building a Project with Read-Only Files."

To set up source/version control:

- 1. Team menu select a version control program from the submenus and set up that version control program (see the figure below).
- 2. <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), Team, Versioning set up version control options.
- 3. <u>*Window>Versioning*</u> open version control windows.

Figure 5-37. Version Control Options

S Options	X
Image: Constant C	Q Filter (Ctrl+F)
Tasks Action Items Versioning	
Versioning Systems: Git History Mercurial Subversion Oisconnected Repositories Versioning System Git Disconnected Folders Remove Add	
Export Import OK Apply Can	icel Help

Working with Git

Follow these links for more on Git:

- Git Website: http://git-scm.com
- Wikipedia: Git: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Git
- Git Tutorial: https://git-scm.com/docs/gittutorial
- Using Git Support in NetBeans IDE: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/ide/git.html

Working with Subversion

Follow these links for more on Subversion:

- Apache[™] Subversion[®] Website: http://subversion.apache.org/
- Wikipedia: Apache[™] Subversion[®]: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Apache_Subversion
- Version Control with Subversion[®]: http://svnbook.red-bean.com/

Using Subversion Support in NetBeans IDE: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/ide/subversion.html

Working with Mercurial

Follow these links for more on Mercurial:

- Mercurial Website: http://mercurial.selenic.com/
- Wikipedia: Mercurial: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Mercurial
- Hginit: Mercurial tutorial: http://hginit.com/
- Using Mercurial Support in NetBeans IDE: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/ide/mercurial.html

Working with CVS

To use CVS with MPALB X IDE, you must install the CVS plugin. See 5.26 Add Plugin Tools.

- CVS Concurrent Versions System: http://www.nongnu.org/cvs/
- Wikipedia: Concurrent Versions System: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Concurrent_Versions_System
- Source Forge: What is CVS?: http://sourceforge.net/apps/trac/sourceforge/wiki/CVS
- Using CVS Support in NetBeans IDE: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/ide/cvs.html

Working with Other Revision Control Systems

Other revision control systems may be added as plugins. See 5.26 Add Plugin Tools.

5.23.1 Saving Project Files

There are project files that need to be saved into a repository.

The following table lists project files that either need or do not need to be committed to a version control repository.

Table 5-10. Project Files Saved to Repository

Directory or File(s)	Commit?
Project directory	
Makefile	✓
Source files	✓
build directory	×
dist directory	×
nbproject directory	
configurations.xml	✓
project.properties	✓
project.xml	✓
Makefile-*	×
Package-*	×
private directory	×

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide

Additional Tasks

.....continued

Directory or File(s)

Commit?

Green Check: required to generate the project image

Red X: these directories/files are regenerated and therefore do not need to be saved

See "Files Window View" for more on the project structure.

5.23.2 Resolving Conflicts in Revision Controlled Files

Inevitably, conflicts will arise between a file you are trying to check in and the same file in the revision system repository that others have modified.

To understand how these issues can be resolved, see the example below.

Example: Conflict in configurations.xml

To resolve conflicts on the file configurations.xml:

- 1. Conflicts will be announced in:
 - 1.1. warning dialogs
 - 1.2. the output window
- 2. Click on the Files tab in the Projects window. Expand the nbproject folder. Find the file named configurations.xml. It should be in red font, signifying conflicts.
- 3. Right click on configurations.xml and select <u>RCS>Resolve Conflicts</u>, where RCS is your revision control system. This opens the Merge Conflicts Resolver window.
- 4. The Merge Conflicts Resolver window allows you to fix conflicts.
- 5. After fixing the errors, close the project. If the right click context menu for the project does not work, close the project using *File>Close Project*.
- 6. Reopen the project. The conflicts should be resolved.

5.23.3 Building a Project with Read-Only Files

To build a project where files have been checked into a repository and some may then be read only:

- 1. Commit the minimum number of files to source control. This is explained in 5.23.1 Saving Project Files.
- 2. Make the files nbproject/configurations.xml and nbproject/project.xml writeable.

5.24 Collaborate on Code Development and Error Tracking

Collaborate on code development with your group using a team server supported inside MPLAB X IDE. Use the "Team" menu to log into your account, create or open your project, share your project, get resources, send a chat message or show your contact list. Collaborate on tracking bugs by using issue tracking systems

Supporting menu items include:

- <u>Window>Services</u> The Services window is the main entry point to your runtime resources. It shows a logical view of important runtime resources such as the servers, databases, and web services that are registered with the IDE. Search for "Services Window" under <u>Help>Help Contents</u> for more details.
- <u>Team>Find Task</u> In the "Find Tasks" window, select a project task, select criteria, and click Search.
- <u>Team>Report Task</u> in the "Report a New Task" window, select the new project task, specify the issue details, and click Submit.

For more on team projects and issue tracking, see the NetBeans Help topic:

https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/ide/team-servers.html

To find out more about these tools, see the following:

- Git http://git-scm.com
- Mercurial http://mercurial.selenic.com/
- Subversion http://subversion.apache.org/

5.25 Compare MPLAB XC Compiler Free vs. PRO Licenses

When you download an MPLAB XC C compiler from the Microchip website, the compiler executes as a PRO license for 60 days and then reverts to a Free license. You can purchase the PRO license if you want to continue to use the most optimizations.

Figure 5-38. Optimization Levels per License



To determine if you need to buy a PRO license, you can run a comparison tool for your application in MPLAB X IDE. On the Run toolbar, you can select to either "Build with PRO comparison" or "Clean and Build with PRO comparison." An example output is below.

Note: If your code it too large to build in Free mode, the comparison will not work. However, for the MPLAB XC8 compiler, you can use the --MAXIPIC option and try again.

These options build the project normally, in whatever optimization is selected, but also create a non-working PRO build and then compare the two results. You still get the original build as the output. Any parts of the PRO build are removed.

Figure 5-39. PRO Comparison

Out	out 🕷 Git Repository Browser												
Configuration Loading Error Trace/Profiling Internet Connection PICDEM2PlusPIC18F45							IC18F4520	1 (Clean, C	Compare)	88			
	<pre>make -f nbproject/Makefile-NewConfiguration.mk SUBPROJECTS= .build-conf</pre>												
	<pre>make[1]: Entering directory 'C:/Users/C07720/MPLABXProjects/PICDEM2PlusPIC18F4520_1.X'</pre>												
	make -f nbproject/Make	file-Nev	Config	jura	tion.m	nk d	list/New	Confi	gurat	ion/prod	uction/P	ICDEM2 P	lus
	<pre>make[2]: Entering directory 'C:/Users/C07720/MPLAEXProjects/PICDEM2PlusPIC18F4520_1.X'</pre>												
	"C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc8\v2.00\bin\xc8-cc.exe" -mcpu=16F1939 -c -fshort-doub]												
	"C:\Program Files (x86)	\Microch	ip\xc8	3\v2	.00\Ъ:	in\x	c8-cc.e	exe"	-mepu	=16F1939	-W1,-Ma	p=dist/	Nev
	Memory Summary:												
	Program space	used	27h	(39)	of	4000h	words	(0.2%)			
	Data space	used	5h	(5)	of	400h	bytes	(0.5%)			
	EEPROM space	used	Oh	(0)	of	100h	bytes	(0.0%)			
	Data stack space	used	0h	(0)	of	3F0h	bytes	(0.0%)			
	Configuration bits	used	Oh	(0)	of	2h	words	(0.0%)			
	ID Location space	used	0h	(0)	of	4h	bytes	(0.0%)			
	You have compiled in FR	EE mode											
	Using PRO optimizations	, memory	use v	roul	d be:					- 1			
	Program space	used	23h	(35)	of	4000h	words	(0.2%)			
	Data space	used	5h	(5)	of	400h	bytes	(0.5%)			
	make[2]: Leaving direct	ory 'C:/	Users/	C07	720/M	PLAE	XProje	cts/PI	CDEM2	PlusPIC1	BF4520_1	.X'	
	make[1]: Leaving direct	ory 'C:/	Users/	C07	720/M	PLAE	XProje	cts/PI	CDEM2	PlusPIC1	BF4520_1	-X'	
	COMPARE SUCCESSFUL (tot	al time:	16s)										

5.26 Add Plugin Tools

MPLAB X IDE plugin tools, like DMCI, are available from either the Plugin Manager in the IDE or the Embedded Code Source web site.

Viewing Installed Plugins

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide Additional Tasks

MPLAB X IDE comes with a number of plugins installed. Although ungrayed items may be deactivated or uninstalled, this is not recommended unless the category is listed as optional.

To view installed plugins, select *Tools>Plugins* and click on the **Installed** tab.

Figure 5-40. Installed Microchip Plugin Tools

pdates	Available Plugins (28) Downlo	aded Installed (41) S	ettings	_	
					Search:
Select	Name	Category	Active		MDI AR Hidden Menu Filter
	toolchainC32	MPLAB IDE	õ		
	toolchainC30	MPLAB IDE	0		Version: 1.0
	toolchainASM30	MPLAB IDE	0		Source: MPLAB X IDE v3.25.rc2
	MessageCenter	MPLAB IDE			
	toolchainC18	MPLAB IDE	0		Plugin Description
	MPLAB Home	MPLAB IDE	0		
	toolchainHI-TECH	MPLAB IDE	0		Hides Netbeans platform menu items and options which are typically not applicable to
	toolchainCommon	MPLAB IDE	0		MPLAB X IDE.
	toolchainXC16	MPLAB IDE	0		
	toolchainXC32	MPLAB IDE	0		
	toolchainMPASMWIN	MPLAB IDE	0		
	toolchainGeneric	MPLAB IDE	0		
	toolchainXC8	MPLAB IDE	0		
\checkmark	MPLAB Hidden Menu Filter	MPLAB IDE (Option	al) 📀		
	Notifications	Notifications	0	-	
	RCP Platform	RCP Platform		-	
	Maintenance	Uncategorized	0		
	Embedded Utilities	Uncategorized	0		
	Product Release Prompt	Uncategorized	0		
	toolchainLicense	Uncategorized			
	CSS Preprocessors	Web	0	Ŧ	
Activ	ate Deactivate U	ninstall 1 plugin selec	cted		

Add Plugins from the Plugin Manager

To view and install available plugins:

- 1. In MPLAB X IDE, select *Tools>Plugins* and click on the **Available Plugins** tab.
- 2. Select your plugin by checking its check box and then click Install (see figure below).
- Follow the on-screen instructions to download and install your plugin.
 Note: Some plugins may be dependent on the modules in other plugins for their functionality to be implemented. The Plugins Manager warns you when this is the case.
- 4. Once installed, the plugin will be listed under the Installed tab, where it can be deactivated, reactivated or uninstalled.
- 5. Look for your tool under Tools>Embedded. If you do not see it, you may need to close and re-open MPLAB X IDE.

Click the Help button to read more about installing plugins.

Figure 5-41. Available Mlicrochip Plugin Tools

Ched	k for Newest				Search:					
Install	Name	Category	Source		MDI AB® Code Configurator					
	Power Monitor	MPLAB Plugin	6 0							
	RTOS Viewer (FreeRTOS)	MPLAB Plugin	ŵŵ		A Community Contributed Plugin					
	Bootloader	MPLAB Plugin	60							
	ECAN Bit Rate Calculator	MPLAB Plugin	ติติ		Version: 2.25.2					
	PCLint	MPLAB Plugin	6 6		Author: Microchip Technology Inc.					
	DMCI	MPLAB Plugin	ติติ		Date: 6/18/15					
V	MPLAB® Code Configurator	MPLAB Plugin	ซิซิ				Source: Microchip Plugins			
	chipKIT Sketch Importer	MPLAB Plugin	ሰ ଳି		Homepage: http://www.microchip.com/mcc					
	Plugin Update Services	MPLAB Plugin	କ୍ରିକ	=	=					
	MPLABX KeeLog Plugin	MPLAB Plugin	କ୍ରିକ		Plugin Description					
	App Launcher	MPLAB Plugin	କିଳି		The MDI AD & Code Conferences (MCC) encounter another and the state of C and					
	MemoryStarterkit	MPLAB Plugin	ଜ ିଳି		The MPLAB(8) Code Configurator (MCC) generates seamless easy to understand C code					
	Code Profiling (Trial Version)	MPLAB Plugin	କ୍ରିକ		peripherals across a select list of devices. It's integrated into MPLAB X (IDE) to provide					
	dsPICWorks	MPLAB Plugin	66		a very powerful and extremely easy to use development platform.					
	Digital Compensator Design Tool Pl	. MPLAB Plugin	କିକି							
	MPLAB® Harmony Configurator	MPLAB Plugin	~~							
	dsPIC Filter Designer	MPLAB Plugin	6		System requirements					
	SEGGER JLink Probe	MPLAB Plugin	ሰ ሙ		MPLAB X: v2.35 or v3.00					
	ELFViewer	MPLAB Plugin	କିଳି		XC8: v1.34					
	Path Tools	Netbeans Plugin	ሰ ଳି		 XC16: v1.24 					
	Special copy/paste	Netbeans Plugin	କିଳି	Ŧ	-					

Add Plugins from Embedded Code Source

To view, download and install available plugins:

- 1. Go to the Embedded Code Source web site: http://www.embeddedcodesource.com/codedeveloper/microchip-technology
- 2. Select a plugin and follow the instructions on the web site to download to a folder on your computer.
- 3. Extract the .nbm file from the downloaded ZIP file.
- 4. In MPLAB X IDE, select *Tools>Plugins* and click on the **Downloaded** tab.
- 5. Click Add Plugins. Find, select, and open the .nbm file.

🔀 Plugins						× ×
Updates Available Plugins (28)	Downloaded Installe	ed (41) Setting	gs			
Add Plugins	Add Plugins				E	
Install Name	Look in:	Microchip)	- 🤌 📂 🛄 -		
	Recent Items	com-mic	crochip-mcc-3.00-beta-3.nbm crochip-mplab-modules-mcc-2.25.1.nbm			
	Desktop					
	My Documents					
	Computer					
Install	Network	File name: Files of type:	com-microchip-mcc-3.00-beta-3.nbm Plugin distribution files (*.nbm)	•	Open Cancel	
						Close Help

Figure 5-42. Downloaded Microchip Plugin Tools

6. Click Install to install the plugin. Ensure that the check box next to the plugin name is checked. Figure 5-43. Install Downloaded Microchip Plugin Tools

S Plugins	
Updates Available Plugins (28) Downloaded (1) Installed (41) Settings	
Add Plugins	Search:
Install Name MPLAB® Code Configurator	MPLAB® Code Configurator
▲ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Gommunity Contributed Plugin
	Version: 29 Author: Microchip Technology Inc Date: 10/20/15 Source: com-microchip-mcc-3.00-beta-3.nbm Homepage: http://www.microchip.com/mcc
	Plugin Description
	The MPLAB® Code Configurator (MCC) generates seamless easy to understand C code that's inserted into your project. It enables, configures and utilizes a rich set of peripherals across a select list of devices. It's integrated into MPLAB X (IDE) to provide a very powerful and extremely easy to use development platform.
	System requirements
	MPLAB X: v3.10 XC8: v1.35 XC16: v1.25
Install 1 plugin selected	
	Close Help

Follow the on-screen instructions to download and install your plugin.
 Note: Some plugins may be dependent on modules in other plugins in order for the functionality to be implemented. The Plugins Manager warns you when this is the case.

- 8. Once installed, the plugin will be listed under the Installed tab, where it can be deactivated, reactivated or uninstalled.
- 9. Look for your tool under <u>Tools>Embedded</u>. If you do not see it, you may need to close and re-open MPLAB X IDE.

Upgrade Plugins

To determine if there is an update for your plugin:

- 1. In MPLAB X IDE, select *Tools>Plugins* and click on the Updates tab.
- 2. Click Check for Updates.
- 3. If any updates appear, ensure that the check box next to the plugin name is checked and then click Update.
- 4. Follow the on-screen instructions to update your plugin.

Installing a new version of MPLAB X IDE will NOT update your installed plugins. Plugins are tested against a versioned interface of a release. Not all plugins can be migrated between versions so they are not carried over. This is true for NetBeans, also. So, you may need to reinstall your plugins when you install a new version of MPLAB X IDE.

Configure Update Centers

To see available plugins in the Plugins window, you must have one or more update centers configured. MPLAB X IDE comes with two Microchip Update Centers already configured:

- Ihttp://ww1.microchip.com/downloads/mplab/X/plugins/updates.xml
- http://ww1.microchip.com/downloads/mplab/X/thirdpartyplugins/updates.xml

To configure another Update Center in the Plugin Manager:

- 1. Select Tools>Plugins and click the Settings tab.
- 2. Click the Add button to open the Update Center Customizer dialog.
- 3. Enter a name for the update center.
- 4. Enter a URL for the update center.
- 5. Click OK.

Figure 5-44. Configure Microchip Update Center

Active	Name	
	👬 Microchip Plugins	Microchip Plugins
V	Microchip Third Party Plugins	Last Check: 1/22/16 9:25 AM
V	କିଳ୍ପି Microchip v3.25 Plugins	URL: http://ww1.microchip.com/downloads/mplab/X/v3/plugins/updates.xml
Automatically	y Check for Updates	Add
Check Inte	erval: Every Day	✓ Proxy Settings
	h	

Configure Installed Plugin

Once a plugin is installed in MPLAB X IDE, you may need to configure it. Plugin configuration options are available under *<u>Tools>Options</u>*, Plugins. See "Tools Options Plugins Window."

Plugin Code Location

Plugin code is stored with MPLAB X IDE user configuration data. See 8.7 Viewing User Configuration Data.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

6. Advanced Tasks & Concepts

The following topics discuss how to perform more advanced tasks and detail some useful concepts.

Table 6-1. Understanding Advanced Tasks and Concepts

① Speed Things Up	 Speed Up MPLAB X IDE if the IDE is operating too slowly. Speed Up Build Times in MPLAB X IDE by using parallel make.
Work with Projects	 Work with Multiple Projects when developing a complex application. Work with Multiple Configurations to allow selection of different project properties for use with the same project code. Create Dual Core Projects to work with dsPIC33CH dual core devices. Create User Makefile Projects to use external makefiles in MPLAB X IDE. Used Linked Resources for Source File Folders to change project source bases or library versions (MPLAB Harmony). Work with Third Party Tools in an MPLAB X IDE project. Use Code Coverage to test the percentage of code executed. Log Data to capture execution and debug problems. Package an MPLAB X IDE Project to zip up the files in a project. Hardware tool connections to the target can sometimes determine debug capabilities. See Hardware Tool Connections and Debugging.
3 Concepts	 What are Checksums. Different kinds of Configurations.

6.1 Speed Up MPLAB X IDE

If MPLAB X IDE is operating too slowly, consider the suggestions in the follow sections.

Increase the Computer Heap

You can modify the amount of memory allocated to MPLAB X IDE in the file <code>mplab_ide.conf</code>. We recommend you back up this file before you start editing it. If you change the contents of this file, the changes will be operative the next time you run MPLAB X IDE.

- Windows OS 64 Bit C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\mplab_platform\etc
- Windows OS 32 Bit C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\vx.xx\mplab platform\etc
- Linux OS /opt/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/mplab_platform/etc
- macOS /Applications/microchip/mplabx/vx.xx/Contents/Resources/mplab_platform/etc

where vx.xx is the MPLAB X IDE version.

The following line contains the default values:

```
default_options="-J-Dnb.FileChooser.useShellFolders=false -J-Dcrownking.stream.verbosity=very-
quiet -J-Xms256m -J-Xmx512m -J-XX:PermSize=128m -J-XX:MaxPermSize=384m -J-XX:
+UseConcMarkSweepGC -J-XX:+CMSClassUnloadingEnabled"
```

The bolded areas are:

-Xms256m tells the JVM to start with at least 256 MB for the heap.

-Xmx512m tells the JVM to allocate as much as 512 MB for the heap, but no more.
-XX:PermSize=128m tells the JVM to allocates 128 MB for space needed to keep track of additional data that does not go on the heap.

-XX:MaxPermSize=384m tells the JVM to allocate no more than 384 MB for the additional data that does not go on the heap.

You should not need to modify the PermSize or the MaxPermSize unless you get the error java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: PermGen space.

In general, the most important area is -Xmx512m; this limits the maximum amount of heap that MPLAB X IDE will use. It might seem that having a large amount of heap could be helpful. However, memory used for MPLAB X IDE means less memory for other applications and system functions.

You can monitor how much memory the IDE is using by enabling the Memory monitor. Either right click on an empty space in the toolbar area and select memory, or select <u>View>Toolbars>Memory</u>.

100.9/239.4MB

The upper number will not go above 512 MB unless you change the value in mplab_ide.conf. It is recommended
that you change the -Xmx512m setting in 128 MB increments. If you have a lot of memory, you can increase it by
more than 128 MB, but make sure you leave enough memory for the rest of the system.

Change Debug Window Usage

If using debug tools slows down MPLAB X IDE, try the following:

- Only display windows you need to view. The MPLAB X IDE debugger will examine each open window when a debug tool is used.
- Reduce updates in the Stack window during debug stepping. In the <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> in macOS) window, **Embedded** button, **Generic Settings** tab, check "Disable auto refresh for call stack view during debug sessions" and "On mouse over structure and array expressions, evaluate integral members only."

6.2 Speed Up Build Times

Depending on the configuration of your computer, you may be able to use parallel make (see 12.16.2 Project Options Tab) to speed up your project build times. Not all language tools support parallel make.

Another option is to consider your operating system (OS). Some OS's have faster file accessing. MPLAB X IDE supports Windows, Linux and Mac OS's. Research which one might be right for you.

6.3 Work with Multiple Projects

MPLAB X IDE allows you to work with more than one project.

Multiple projects can be opened in MPLAB X IDE and viewed in the Projects window. For more about this window, see 12.15 Projects Window.

Figure 6-1. Multiple Projects in the Projects Window



Open Multiple Projects

You can create (*File>New Project*) or open (*File>Open Project*) more than one project in MPLAB X IDE directly.

Alternatively, you can use the --open directive in a short cut, as in:

```
"C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\MPLABX\v3.15\mplab_platform\bin\
mplab_ide.exe" --open "C:\MPLAB_X_Projects\MyProject]"
```

Then you can create multiple short cuts to open multiple projects from many different locations.

Define Project Type

Each project can be made active, or the focus of development, as described below. However there should only be one main project at any time.

Main Project

A single project can be selected as the main project by right clicking the project name and selecting "Set as Main Project." The main project name will then appear in bold. In this case all the toolbar functions will be executed on the one main project.

Active Projects

You can also work without setting a main project. Active projects are the projects in focus when there is no main project.

Projects may be made active by clicking on them in the Projects window. In that case, the IDE will know which project you are working on by context, i.e., if you set the editor focus on a file, then the project that owns that file will become the active project. The active project receives all actions, e.g., when you click the Debug Project icon.

Develop Project Code

To develop and debug your code for each project:

- 1. Start debugging a project by clicking on the project in the Projects window and then selecting <u>Debug>Debug</u> <u>Project</u>.
- 2. If you are running multiple simultaneous debug sessions, open the Sessions window (*Window>Debugging>Sessions*) and you can switch between any currently running debug session.

When one debug session is switched to another, the Watches window and variables plus the memory will switch to show the currently selected project being debugged. The Status bits should also follow the debug project. The Dashboard will follow the last selected whether it is a debug project or a project in the project window. This is by design.

If you have the option "Maintain active connection to hardware tool" selected under <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X</u> <u>IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Embedded** button, **Generic Settings** tab, a reconnect **will be** performed when you switch sessions/projects. This is by design.

Group Multiple Projects

Another way to work with multiple projects is in groups. Select <u>*File>Project Group*</u> and pick or create a project group using the Create New Group dialog box.

6.4 Work with Multiple Configurations

MPLAB X IDE allows multiple build configurations for the same project. This may be useful for code that can be compiled on multiple platforms (such as the Microchip Application Libraries Demo Projects.)

When you create a new project, a "default" configuration is created. To create additional configurations, follow the steps in these sections:

6.4.1 Manage Configurations Dialog

To create your own configuration, start by doing one of the following:

• Use the drop down menu on the toolbar and select "Customize". The Project Properties window will open.

	default 💌	l
-	default	}
C	Customize]

· Open the Project Properties window by right clicking on the project name and selecting "Properties".

In the Project Properties window, click **Manage Configurations** to open the Configurations dialog. Existing configurations can be renamed or a new configuration can be added or duplicated from an existing one. Any spaces in the name will be replaced with underscores.

When more than one configuration is created for a project, the active one can be selected from **Manage Configurations** or from the drop-down menu.

Figure 6-2. Project Properties – Configurations Dialog

K Project Properties - MyProject		22
Categories: General File Indusion/Exclusion Conf: [default] General ICE General ICE Conf: [default] Conf: [default] C	Configuration Family: All Families Supported Debug Market Configurations Configurations: default (active) Configurations:	Device: PIC32MX360F512L PIC32MX360F512L PIC32MX560F512L PIC32MX560F512
Manage Configurations	*Tip: double click on serial number (SN) to use a friendly name (FI	∜) instead.
	ОК	Cancel Apply Unlock Help

6.4.2 Add a New Configuration

To add a new configuration to your project:

- 1. Click Manage Configurations in the Project Properties window.
- 2. In the Configurations dialog, select a project configuration and click New.
- 3. Enter a name in the New Configuration Name dialog, such as "My Test" (see figure below). Click **OK** to close the dialog. Under "Configurations," the name will be changed to "My_Test" since spaces are not allowed.
- 4. Click **OK** to return to the Project Properties window. The debug configuration (Conf: My_Test) should now be visible.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

tegories:	Configuration	
O General	Family:	Device:
Conf: [default] O Real ICE	All Families	▼ PIC32MX360F512L ▼
 Loading Libraries Building XC32 (Global Options) xc32-as xc32-gcc xc32-g++ 	Supported Debug Maddes None ardw ardw b Ha 	New Duplicate m Files (x86) (Microchip)
		Rename i) Remove am Files (x86) [Viicrochip] Up am Files (x86) [Viicrochip] Down am Files (x86) [Viicrochip] Set Active set Active
	*Tin: duible dick on serial number (SN) to use a	OK
Manage Configurations		

Figure 6-3. Create New Configuration

Once a new configuration is added, some items must be assigned in the Project Properties window (see figure below).

- 1. Device You must select this first to see the hardware tool and compiler support.
- 2. Hardware Tool
- 3. Compiler Toolchain

Advanced Tasks & Concepts



Figure 6-4. New Configuration

6.4.3 Add a Duplicate Configuration

You can add a configuration that is the duplicate of an existing one and then make edits to it.

One reason to make a duplicate configuration is to create your own debug configuration. Although MPLAB X IDE provides debug macros for use with Microchip tools (see "Debug Macros Generated" in 4.13 Debug Code), you may want to use your own debug macros or you may want to set up the same debug capabilities with third-party tools.

To set up a debug configuration:

- 1. Click Manage Configurations in the Project Properties window.
- 2. In the Configurations dialog, select a project configuration and click **Duplicate**.
- 3. Click **Rename** and enter a name in the New Configuration Name dialog, such as "My Debug" (see figure below). Click **OK** to close the dialog. Under "Configurations," the name will be changed to "My_Debug" since spaces are not allowed.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

Figure 6-5. Create Debug Configuration

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	23
Configurations:	
default (active)	lew
Copy_of_default	licata
🕅 New Configuration Name	hicate
en	name
New Name: My Debug	move
	Up
	OWIT
OK Cancel t /	Active
	OK

4. Click **OK** to return to the Project Properties window. The debug configuration (Conf: My_Debug) should now be visible (see figure below).

Figure 6-6. Debug Configuration

Project Properties - PIC24F_Example
Categories:
: O General
···· File Inclusion/Exclusion
Em 🖉 Conf: [default]
···· • Simulator
O Loading
···· • Libraries
···· Building
XC16 (Global Options)
◎ xc16-as
◎ xc16-gcc
© xc16-ld
····· ○ xc16-ar
🗄 🔍 Onf: My_Debug
···· Simulator
···· Loading
···· Libraries
···· O Building
⊡… ● XC16 (Global Options)
····· @ xc16-as
·····
····· © xc16-ld
i ⊙ xc16-ar
Manage Configurations

To use macros in code to switch to other configurations, like debug, see 6.4.6 Configuration Macros.

6.4.4 Manage Files in Configurations

You can manage your project files by assigning them to individually or as a group to the configurations you have created.

Projects Window

Select the configuration you want in the "Set Project Configuration" drop-down box on the toolbar. Then select the file or files (Shift-Click or Ctrl-Click) and right click on one of them to pop up a context menu. Select "Exclude file(s) from current configuration." To include a file or files again, repeat to see on the context menu "Include file(s) from current configuration."

Project Properties Window

To set the configuration you want to apply to many files, right click on the project name in the Projects window to open the Project Properties window. Select the "File Inclusion/Exclusion" category. Select a configuration from the Configurations drop down box and then specify which files to include or exclude from this configuration.

Figure 6-7. Project Properties Configuration

Project Properties - PIC24FJ_Example_Complex		×
Categories: Categories: Categories: Categories: Canf: [default] Conf: [default] Conf: [default] Conf: [default] Conf: [default] Conf: Global Options) Conf: My_Debug Conf: My_Debug	File Indusion/Exclusion Configurations: default (active) default (active) idefault (active) idefault (active) Files: adc.h kd.h rtc.h spimpol.h timer.h buttons.h eeprom.h p24F3128GA010.h system.h banner.c buttons.c tbanner.c vbanner.c eeprom.c icd.c adc.c rtc.c spimpol.c timer.ic	
Manage Configurations	OK Cancel Apply Unlock	Help

6.4.5 Configuration Names

Some special characters cannot be used in configuration names. This is due to being able to use the configuration name within the source code as a define macro ("Configuration Macros").

Special characters like a hyphen (-), ampersand (&), etc., will be automatically replaced with an underscore (_).

6.4.6 Configuration Macros

When you add a new or duplicate configuration, you can create your own configuration-related macros or use autogenerated macros for #ifdef or other statements in code. These are MPLAB XC C compiler preprocessor macros.

User-Defined Macros

To define your own preprocessor macro:

- 1. In the Project Properties window, click on a project configuration to make it active. Under that configuration, click on the compiler in the toolchain.
- 2. Under the "Preprocessing and messages" options category, locate the option that allows you to define a macro and click on the associated text box.
- In the pop-up dialog, enter a macro name and click OK. This macro is now associated with the active configuration.
 You can page the macro the same as a configuration (such as "My Debug" from 6.4.2. Add a Duplied

You can name the macro the same as a configuration (such as "My_Debug" from 6.4.3 Add a Duplicate Configuration) or you can give it any other name (such as "DebugConfig").

Macro names (and strings, discussed below) are case-sensitive.

You can now use the preprocessor macro in conditional text:

```
// If My_Debug configuration is active
#ifdef DebugConfig
fprintf(stderr,"This is a debugging message\n");
#endif
```

In addition, you can assign a string value that matches the configuration name to your macro(s) for use in regular code:

```
#ifdef DebugConfig
#define CFG_NAME "My_Debug";
// other defines
#endif
#ifdef DefaultConfig
#define CFG_NAME "My_Default";
// other defines
#endif
:
int main(int argc, char** argv)
{
printf(CFG_NAME);
return{EXIT_SUCCESS};
}
```

The CFG NAME macro will always hold the active configuration's name.

Autogenerated Macros

When a new or duplicate configuration is created, for example My_Test , a related macro is also created, for example XPRJ_My_Test. The macro will have a string value which matches the name of the configuration ("My_Test").

You can use the macro for #ifdef statements as in the previous section, or you can use the value of the macros at compile time as follows:

```
int main(int argc, char** argv)
{
printf(CFG_NAME);
return{EXIT_SUCCESS};
}
```

The CFG_NAME macro will automatically hold the active configuration's name.

6.5 Create Dual Core Projects

A dual core device (e.g., dsPIC33CH DSCs) has a Master core and Slave core that can operate independently and can be programmed and debugged separately, during application development. Both processor (Master and Slave) subsystems have their own interrupt controllers, clock generators, ICD, port logic, I/O MUXes and PPS. The device is equivalent to having two complete dsPIC[®] DSCs on a single die.

Dual core devices have several modes of operation which correspond to different ways of creating and using projects:

Master Only Programming and Debugging

A dual core device is by default in Master Only mode; the Master Slave Interface (MSI) has the MSI1 Master Control Register (MSI1CON) Slave Enable bit (SLVEN) set to '0'.

A project for this device mode is no different from a project for any Microchip device. For details, see "Create a New Project."

Slave Only Programming

For the slave project to work independently, the ports for the slave need to be assigned. Therefore a master project (e.g., MasterStub) is necessary that programs the master with the configuration bit settings (like which PORTS are assigned to slave). For details, see "Set Configuration Bits in the Configuration Bits Window."

Figure 6-8. Master Configuration Bits

Con	figu	ration Bits	86					
Q		Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category	Setting
-	A	15F58	FCFGPRA0	FFFFFE	CPRAO	SLV1	Pin RAO Ownership Bits	Slave 1 core owns pin.
	4	5			CPRA1	MSTR	Pin RA1 Ownership Bits	Master core owns pin.
-	F	Pending Cha	nge must be	programn	ned RA2	MSTR	Pin RA2 Ownership Bits	Master core owns pin.
Ê					CPRA3	MSTR	Pin RA3 Ownership Bits	Master core owns pin.
-					CPRA4	MSTR	Pin RA4 Ownership Bits	Master core owns pin.
		15F60	FCFGPRB0	FFFFFF	CPRB0	MSTR	Pin RBO Ownership Bits	Master core owns pin.

Two project are required for Slave Only Programming mode:

- 1. Create a MasterStub project per "Create a New Project" and be sure to enable the slave (SLVEN = '1'). Set the configuration bits as described previously.
- 2. Create a SlaveOnly project per "Create a New Project" but use the "S1" version of the device, e.g., dsPIC33CH128MP508S1.

MasterStub must be programmed first and then SlaveOnly.

Slave Only Debugging

To debug the SlaveOnly project in the previous section, enable background debug (S1DEBUG) in the configuration settings:

Master and Slave Programming and Debugging

In this mode, the Master project will be linked to the Slave project. That is, the Slave code resides in Master and Master must transfer the code to slave.

- 1. Create Master and Slave projects as in "Slave Only Programming."
- 2. In the Projects window, the Master project will have a folder named "Slaves." Right click on the folder and click "Add Slave Project." Then select the Slave project in the dialog and click **Add**.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

Add Slave Pro	ject			22
Recent Items	Look in: Jaken Master	xample3	Project Name: Slav Configurations:]
Desktop			detault (dist/detault/production/Siz	
My Documents				Store path as: Auto Relative
Computer				Absolute
	File name:		III	Add
Network	Files of type:	Project Folder		Cancel

3. Right click on the Master project and select "Properties" to open the Project Properties window. Click on the "Slaves" category and make sure to check the "Build" checkbox. Click **Apply**.

Figure 6-10. Master with Slave Project

gories:	Slave Project	5					
 General File Inclusion/Exclusion 	Item	Configuration	Image Name	Address	Build	Add Sla	ve Project
<u>Conf: [default]</u> Real ICE	Slav.X (d	ist/ default	Slav			D	uplicate
						R	lemove
····· O Libraries							Up
Building XC16 (Global Options)							Down
• xc16-as							
○ xc16-ar	Slave Cores						
	Core				Debug		New
	DSPIC33CH1	28MP 508S 1				^	Duplicate
						1	Rename
						1	Remove
						1	Up
							Down
							Set Active
Manage Configurations						~	
				OK Ca	ancel Apply	Unloc	k Hel

Figure 6-9. Add Slave Project

4. In the Master code add:

```
#include "Slav.h"
//The function to transfer the code from slave to master and start the slave is below.
_program_slave(1,0,Slav);
_start_slave();
```

5. By building and programming Master, both Master and Slave projects will be built and both Master and Slave cores will be programmed.

6.6 Create User Makefile Projects

Create a project that makes use of an external makefile. This is useful if you have a project that was built outside of MPLAB X IDE, but now you want to use MPLAB X IDE to do debugging.

To create the makefile project, use the New Project wizard.

6.6.1 New Project - User Makefile

For ways to open the New Project wizard, see 4.1.2 Launch New Project Wizard.

The wizard will launch to guide you through new project setup.

Step 1. Choose Project: Select the "Microchip Embedded" category and choose from the project type "User Makefile Project."

Step 2. Select Device: Select the device used in your project from the "Device" drop-down list. To narrow your selection list, choose a Family first.

Step 3. Select Header: This step will appear if a header is available for your selected device. To determine if a header is required for debug, or if your device has on-board debug circuitry, consult one of the documents below. Then choose whether or not to use a header.

- Processor Extension Pak and Debug Header Specification
- Emulation Extension Pak and Emulation Header User's Guide

Step 4. Select Tool: Select the development tool you will be using to debug your application from the list. The level of tool support for the selected device will be displayed next to the tool name. That is, green for full support, yellow for beta support and red for no support, yet.

Step 5. Select Plugin Board: This step will appear if a plugin board is available for your selected device. Drop down the list under "Supported Plugin Board" to see what it available.

Step 6. Select Project Name and Folder: Select a name and location for your new project. See Table 1.

Step 7. Create User Makefile Project: Enter data to set up your makefile project (See Table 2). Instructions for General Data Entry in this window are:

- Forward (/) slashes are recommended in your path. However, you may use backward (\) slashes instead, though you may need to escape them (\\).
- A path and file name without spaces is recommended. However, if you do have spaces, use escape spaces (backward slash before the space) when you enter a path and file name in this window. GNU Make is known to cause weird issues with spaces as spaces are their separators.

Step 8. Finish: The new project will open in the Projects window.

Change Makefile project settings in the Project Properties window, "Makefile" category, after the project is created.

For information on exporting a project as hex, see "Project Menu" in 12.15 Projects Window.

Table 6-2. Table 1: Select Project Name and Folder Options

ltem	Description
Project Name	Specify a name for your project.
Project Location	Enter or browse to a location for your project.

continued						
Item	Description					
Project Folder	View the folder location based on the Project Name and Project Location. For information on the relation of the project folder to the working folder, see 6.6.2 User Makefile Project Folder and Working Folder.					
Set as main project	Set project created as the main project. Checked by default.					
Overwrite existing project	If project name has been used already, this checkbox will be active.					
Also delete sources	If project exists already and contains source code, this check box will be active.					
Use project location as project folder	Create the project in the same folder as the project location. This is useful if you are importing an MPLAB IDE v8 project and want to maintain the same folder for your MPLAB X IDE project (as when you want the build to be the same).					
	MPLAB X IDE uses a folder to store a project information whereas MPLAB IDE v8 uses an .mcp file. Therefore you can only have one MPLAB X IDE project share a folder with an MPLAB IDE v8 project (.mcp file).					
Encoding	By default set as ISO-8859-1. There is usually no need to change this.					

Table 6-3. Table 2: Create User Makefile Project Options

ltem	Description
Working Directory	Specify the location of the external project. This is the default location from where the build, debug build, and clean commands will be executed. For information on the relation of the project folder to the working folder, see 6.6.2 User Makefile Project Folder and Working Folder. Browsing to the directory is recommended as this will take care of formatting issues for you*.
Build command	When the command to Run is requested in MPLAB X IDE (icon or menu), perform the build according to this command instead. Build path*: For Windows, use quotes. For Linux or Mac OS, any spaces must be escaped.
Debug build command	When the command Debug is requested in MPLAB X IDE (icon or menu), perform the debug build according to this command, instead. Debug build path*: For Windows, use quotes. For Linux or Mac OS, any spaces must be escaped. Also see: http://microchipdeveloper.com/mplabx:work-outside-compile-for-debug
Clean command	When the command to Clean is requested in MPLAB X IDE (icon or menu), perform the clean according to this command, instead. Clean path*: For Windows, use quotes. For Linux or Mac OS, any spaces must be escaped.
Image name	Enter the path and name of the production image file (hex). Image path*: Any spaces must be escaped.
Debug image name	Enter the path and name of the debug image file (ELF or COF). Debug image path*: Any spaces must be escaped.
User Include Paths	Enter or browse to user include file(s). Manage include paths in the dialog (Figure 1).

continued				
ltem	Description			
User Macros	Add or parse-and-add macros. Edit: Enter a macro or browse to a file containing one. Manage macros in the dialog (Figure 2). Parse: Automatically parse a macro (MPLAB XC compilers only). Follow the instructions on the dialog. Once complete, choose to Replace any current macro(s) listed or Append to any current list of macros. See 6.6.3. Example of a Makefile Project for an example of how to use this dialog			

Figure 6-11. Select Include Paths Dialog

Please Select Include Paths
Destroy Down Up Browse
C:\Users\UserName\MPLABXProjects\MyProject.X\MyIncludeFiles
C:\Program Files (x86)\Microchip\xc16\v1.22\include\lega-c
(Enter or 'Browse' string here)
OK Cancel

Figure 6-12. macrosName Dialog

🖆 macrosName
Destroy Down Up Browse
C:\Users\UserName\MPLABXProjects\MyMacros\rtcc.h
C:\Users\UserName\MPLABXProjects\MyMacros\uart_rx.h
_My_PI 0x00000314
(Enter or 'Browse' string here)
OK Cancel

6.6.2 User Makefile Project Folder and Working Folder

The project folder contains its own Makefile and nbproject/Makefiles. MPLAB X IDE will run the makefile in the project folder, then change to the working folder (directory) and run the "Build command" or "Debug build command." In effect, GNU Make is run and then whatever is specified as a build command is run.

The project folder may be located anywhere, with relation to the working folder, if absolute paths are used to define locations. However, this will make your project less portable. Make the working folder relative to the project folder (e.g., one level below the project folder) for your project to be more portable.

6.6.3 Example of a Makefile Project

This example shows how to create a user makefile project in MPLAB X IDE that will run either a batch file or make on user code that was created outside of the IDE. The user code consists of a single file t.c. The simple code contained in this file is listed below.

Example: t.c Code

```
#include <xc.h>
int main(void) {
while(1) {
```

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

return 0;

For production the code is linked into t_production.hex and for debug the code is linked into t_debug.elf.

For this example, t.c, the batch file makeme.bat and the user makefile Makefile are assumed to be in the (Windows OS) directory:

C:\Users\MCHP\MPLABXProjects\makestuff\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile

Substitute your UserName for MCHP to recreate the example on your PC.

- User Makefile Project Create Code from a Batch File
- User Makefile Project Create Code from User Makefile
- User Makefile Project Complete
- User Makefile Project Parse Macros

6.6.3.1 User Makefile Project – Create Code from a Batch File

To compile the code, the simple batch file makeme.bat takes as arguments production, debug or clean. If production is passed then t_production.hex is built. If debug is passed then t_debug.elf is built. If clean is passed, then the .elf and .hex files are erased.

Example: makeme.bat Code

```
::assumes xc32-gcc and xc32-bin2hex are on the path
rem @echo off
set COMPILER=xc32-gcc
set BIN2HEX=xc32-bin2hex
set PROCESSOR=32MX360F512L
if "%1" == "production" goto production
if "%1" == "clean" goto clean
:debug
%COMPILER% -mprocessor=%PROCESSOR% -g -D DEBUG -o t debug.elf t.c
goto end
:production
%COMPILER% -mprocessor=%PROCESSOR% -o t production.elf t.c
%BIN2HEX% t production.elf
goto end
:clean
del /F *.elf
del /F *.hex
goto end
:end
```

To create a new user makefile project in MPLAB X IDE, follow the steps in 6.6.1 New Project - User Makefile:

- 1. Choose Project: Select "Microchip Embedded," "User Makefile Project."
- 2. Select Device: Select PIC32MX360F512L as the device.
- 3. Select Header: None available for this device.
- 4. Select Tool: Select the hardware tool by SN or the Simulator. For this example, the Simulator was used.
- 5. **Select Plugin Board:** None used for this example.
- 6. Select Project Name and Folder: For this example, the Project Folder will be a sibling to myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile. Therefore the Project Location will be: C:\Users\MCHP \MPLABXProjects\makestuff. The Project Name is MPLABXProjectT.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

N	ew Project		×	
Ste	ps	Select Project Name	and Folder	
\mathbf{V}	Choose Project			
2.	Select Device	Project Name:		
3.	Select Header	riojectivanier		
•	Select Tool	Project Location:	Users\c08227.MCHP-MAIN\MPLABXProjects\makestuff Browse	
	Select Plugin Board	· ·		
	Folder	Project Folder:	P-MAIN\MPLABXProjects\makestuff\MPLABXProjectT.X	
	Create User Makefile Project			
	XXII - I	Overwrite existing	j project.	
		Also delete source	25,	
✓ Set as main project				
3		Use project location	on as the project folder	
	PLABX	Encoding: ISO	0-8859-1	
			< Back Next > Finish Cancel Help	

7. Create User Makefile Project: Enter information to set up your makefile project. The Working Directory is where the batch file build, debug build and clean commands will be run. This directory could be set as the absolute path:

C:\Users\MCHP\MPLABXProjects\makestuff\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile.

Doing this, however, makes the MPLAB X IDE project less portable. Therefore the Working Directory, Image name and the Debug image name will be entered as relative paths with respect to the MPLAB X IDE project directory.

Click Finish to create the project.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

New Project			
iteps	Create User Makefile Project		
. Choose Project Select Device			
Select Header			
Select Tool			
Select Plugin Board Select Project Name and	Working Directory:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile Browse	
Folder Create User Makefile	Build command:	makeme.bat production	
Project	Debug build command:	makeme.bat debug	
	Clean command:	makeme.bat dean	
	Image name:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_production.hex	
	Debug image name:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_debug.elf	
	Include Paths:	Browse	
	Macros:	Edit Parse	
	this project pon-portable	this for the Working directory, Image and Debug image name fields. However, this will make	_
	c:/Users/me/projects/pro	pject1.X and the working directory for the user makefile is at	
	c:/Users/me/projects/my	Project, then you can make the working directory/myProject. If the Debug image, for	Ξ
/////	example, is at c:/Users/n /myProject/dist/debug/ If your files/directories.cd	ne/projects/myProject/dist/debug/image.elf, then you can enter in the Debug Image field image.elf. ontain spaces in their names escape them like this:/My\Project\With\Spaces.	
			-
PLABX			
		CRark Nevts Finish Cancal H	leln

Figure 6-14. User Makefile Project – Create from Batch

6.6.3.2 User Makefile Project – Create Code from User Makefile

To compile the code, the simple user makefile Makefile takes as arguments production, debug or clean. If production is passed then t_production.hex is built. If debug is passed then t_debug.elf is built. If clean is passed then the .elf and .hex files are erased.

Example: User Makefile Code

```
# Assumes xc32gcc and xc32bin2hex are on the path
COMPILER=xc32gcc
BIN2HEX=xc32bin2hex
PROCESSOR=32MX795F512L
production: t_production.hex
debug: t_debug.elf
t_debug.elf: t.c
$(COMPILER) mprocessor=$(PROCESSOR) -g -D_DEBUG -o t_debug.elf
t.c
t_production.hex: t_production.elf
$(BIN2HEX) t_production.elf
t_production.elf: t.c
$(COMPILER) mprocessor=$(PROCESSOR) o t_production.elf t.c
clean:
del /F *.hex
del /F *.elf
```

To create a new user makefile project in MPLAB X IDE, follow steps 1-6 from "User Makefile Project – Create Code From a Batch File". For Step 7, set up as per figure below.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

The Working Directory is where the user Makefile build, debug build and clean commands will be run. The Working Directory, Image name and the Debug image name are entered as relative paths with respect to the MPLAB X IDE project directory.

MPLAB X IDE uses GNU Make to build, debug build and clean. As per "User Makefile Project Folder and Working Folder", MPLAB X IDE will run the Makefile in the project folder, which will change directories to the working folder. There, make will look for a makefile and find the user-defined Makefile, which will define how to build, debug build, and clean.

Note: Another way to define commands, for example the Build command, would be to use the -f option to specify the user makefile, as in:

make -f Makefile production.

Click **Finish** to create the project.

Figure 6-15. User Makefile Project – Create from Makefile

Etone	Croato Usor Makofilo Project	
 Select Tool Select Plugin Board Select Project Name and 	Working Directory:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile Browse
Folder 7. Create User Makefile Project	Build command:	make production
	Debug build command:	make debug
	Clean command:	make dean
	Image name:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_production.hex
	Debug image name:	\myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_debug.elf
	Include Paths:	Browse
	Macros:	Edit Parse
	You can use absolute part this project non-portable c:/Users/me/projects/pro c:/Users/me/projects/my example, is at c:/Users/m /myProject/dist/debug/ If your files/directories co	ths for the Working directory, Image and Debug image name fields. However, this will make e. You can use relative paths to the project directory. So if the project directory is at oject1.X and the working directory for the user makefile is at Project, then you can make the working directory/myProject. If the Debug image, for me/projects/myProject/dist/debug/image.elf, then you can enter in the Debug Image field image.elf. ontain spaces in their names escape them like this:/My\Project\With\Spaces.
		<back next=""> Finish Cancel Help</back>

6.6.3.3 User Makefile Project – Complete

Once the project has been created, you should see the following in the Projects window. You can right click on the project name to build the project.

Figure 6-16. User Makefile Project – Project Tree



If you wish to change settings, right click on the project name and select "Properties."

Figure 6-17. User Makefile Project – Project Properties

Project Properties - MPLABXProjectT				
Categories:	Set User Makefile properties:	:		
··· ○ Simulator ··· ○ Makefile	Working Directory:	/myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile Browse		
	Debug build command:	makeme.bat production makeme.bat debug		
	Clean command:	makeme.bat clean		
	Image name:	1CodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_production.hex		
	Debug image name:	ıyOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile\t_debug.elf		
	User Macros:	Edit Parse		
	You can use absolute paths for the Working directory, Image and Debug image name fields. However, this will make this project non-portable. You can use relative paths to the project directory. So if the project directory is at c:/Users/me/projects/project.X and the working directory for the user makefile is at c:/Users/me/projects/myProject, then you can make the working directory/myProject. If the Debug image, for example, is at c:/Users/me/projects/dist/debug/image.elf, then you can enter in the Debug Image field/myProject/dist/debug/image.elf. If your files/directories contain spaces in their names escape them like this:/My\Project\With\Spaces.			
Manage Configurations	For entry in these text fields	s, please use "/" instead of "\" as directory separator even in Windows.		
		OK Cancel Apply Unlock Help		

For this example, the results of build (t_production.hex) and debug build (t_debug.elf) are found in the myOwnCodeWithItsOwnMakefile working directory. As only the MPLABXProjectT project directory is visible in MPLAB X IDE, you will not see any changes in the IDE Projects window after a build.

6.6.3.4 User Makefile Project – Parse Macros

You can parse and add macros for MPLAB XC C compilers to your makefile project. To do this you need to call the compiler on the command line with the relevant arguments and copy the whole output to the first panel of the "Parse macros" dialog.

To run the compiler on the command line, you will need a C file. For this example, use the code below and paste into a file named xcmain.c:

```
#include <xc.h>
void main(void) {
return;
}
```

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

Ensure that your computer knows the Path to your MPLAB XC compiler. Then execute the following on the command line:

xc32-gcc -dM -E xcmain.c > macros32.txt

The MPLAB XC32 C compiler is used, not the MPLAB XC32++, so xc32-gcc is the executable. The option -dM tells the preprocessor to output only a list of the macro definitions that are in effect at the end of preprocessing. The option -E stops execution after the preprocessing stage. The redirect (>) character sends the output into the file macros.txt.

For other MPLAB XC C compilers, you can use:

```
xcl6-gcc -dM -E xcmain.c > macrosl6.txt
xc8 --pre -v --chip=8BitMCU xcmain.c > macros8.txt
```

where <code>8BitMCU</code> should be replaced with your 8-bit device. The <code>macros8.txt</code> file will also require additional editing to isolate the macros from other text in the file.

To open the "Parse macros" dialog:

- 1. Right click on the project name and select "Properties."
- 2. Under "Categories," select "Makefile."
- 3. Under "Set User Makefile properties," go to "User Macros" and click on the Parse button.

To parse the macros:

- 1. Copy and paste the contents of macros.txt into the dialog left panel.
- 2. Check the checkbox for your MPLAB XC C compiler, in this case "xc32."
- 3. Click the **Parse** button.

Click a button to **Replace** the current contents of the User Macros text box, **Append** to existing text in the text box, or **Cancel** to leave the existing text unchanged.

i igule 0-10. I alse macios bialo	Figure	6-18.	Parse	Macros	Dialog
-----------------------------------	--------	-------	-------	--------	--------

Automatic parsing of macros is only supported for xc8/16, Invoke compiler outside of the IDE to get its standard out Then select the correct compiler for which you want to pa Press Parse button. #define _CP0_COUNT_SELECT 0 #define _IFS1_U2TXIF_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _PORTF_RF2_POSITION 0x00000002 #define _OCCD_ODCD14_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _ODCD_ODCD14_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _CP0_INTCTL_SELECT 1 #define _CP0_TB_RB9_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _IRISA_TRISA9_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _IPC10_DMA4IS_MASK 0x00000003 #define _IPC10_DMA4IS_MASK 0x00000003 #define _LATB_LATB8_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _LCO_SP11TXIE_MASK 0x00000001 #define _LCTGIE_VBUSVDIE_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _LCTGIE_VBUSVDIE_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _DCTA_BASE_ADDRESS 0x8F886000 #define _CO_DEBUG_DIB_LENGTH 0x00000001 #define _LATB_LATB7_MASK 0x00000001	/32. put for support rse the standar E	ted macros and paste it here. rd output. xc8 xc16 xc32 Parse (CP0_COUNT_SELECT 0 _IFS1_UZTXIF_LENGTH 0x0000001 PORTF_RF2_POSITION 0x0000002 _IC3CON_ICTMR_MASK 0x00000080 PORTF_RF3_MASK 0x0000008 ODCD_ODCD14_LENGTH 0x0000001 _CP0_INTCT_SELECT 1 PORTB_RB9_LENGTH 0x0000001 _TRISA_TRISA9_LENGTH 0x0000001 _IC10_DMA4IS_MASK 0x00000001 _IC10_DMA4IS_MASK 0x00000001 _IC10_DMA4IS_MASK 0x00000001 _U10TGIE_VBUSVDIE_LENGTH 0x00000 _COSCON_OCTSE_LENGTH 0x00000
---	---	--

6.7 Use Linked Resources for Source File Folders

A macro can be used to point to a source base (or library version) and changed to move to another source base. This is particularly useful in MPLAB Harmony applications.

Open a project in MPLAB X IDE and select <u>File>Project Properties</u>. Click on the "General" category and click "Browse" next to "Macro." Find and Open the folder containing the source base. Click **OK**. In the project, open file(s) from this source base as "Relative to Macro."

To change to another source base, browse to the folder that contains the new source base under "Macro" and select it. Any files from the old source base that match the new source base will now refer to the new source base.

6.8 Work with Third-Party Hardware Tools

When working with third-party hardware tools, these basic installation requirements apply:

- Acquire and install any related USB drivers for the hardware. USB drivers are usually available from the thirdparty site, along with installation instructions.
- Install the MPLAB X IDE plugin for this tool. For details, see 5.26 Add Plugin Tools.

When installation is complete, you should be able to see and select the hardware tool in the Project Properties window (see 4.4 View or Make Changes to Project Properties).

6.9 Use Code Coverage

Code coverage provides visibility as to what portions of the code are being executed. To view code coverage output, an MPLAB XC C compiler that supports code coverage must be used with MPLAB X IDE. Support for code coverage begins with these versions:

- MPLAB X IDE v5.25
- MPLAB XC8 v2.10
- MPLAB XC16 v1.40
- MPLAB XC32 v2.30

In MPLAB X IDE, you can enable code coverage in the Project Properties window under a compiler category. Once enabled, debug your test code to execute it completely and then halt/pause. Select <u>Window>Debugging>Code</u> <u>Coverage</u> to see the percentage of covered code executed/total code covered in the **Code Coverage** tab window.

For more detailed coverage information, you can purchase an MPLAB Code Coverage add-on license (SW006026-COV). This will activate the full code coverage features of your compiler to include:

- Editor text highlighted by colors representing the coverage
- a detailed report written to the Code Coverage tab window

For more information, see:

http://www.microchip.com/mplab/codecoverage

6.10 Log Data

Log files are useful for capturing your program execution and debugging problems.

When you have an MPLAB X IDE error or issue and need to contact technical support, you may be asked to capture data in two log files: MPLAB X IDE log file and the NetBeans platform log file. Other supporting information will be requested as well.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

© Options 🛛
Image: Constraint of the Solution Kerner Image: Constraint of the Soluti
General Editor Fonts & Colors Keymap Embedded Team Appearance Miscellaneous
Generic Settings Project Options Build Tools Static Tools Suppressible Messages Diagnostics Other
Logging Level: OFF
Log File: C:\Users\c08227\AppData\Roaming\mplab_ide\dev\v3.25.rc4\var\og\MPLAB.xml
CAUTION: Enabling logging may severely degrade the performance of MPLAB X. It is recommended that you do not use this feature without specific direction from Microchip.
USB CIRCULAR LOG (this feature applies to REAL ICE, ICD 3 and PICkit 3 only)
Start New Logging Session
Pause Logging
Circular USB log file location: C:/Users/c08227/RIUSBLog
Circular USB log file max size in KBs: 1048576
Export Import OK Apply Cancel Help

Figure 6-19. Data Logging

6.10.1 MPLAB[®] X IDE Log File

The MPLAB X IDE log file generates data based on the Java Logger class.

To set up a log file:

- 1. Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Embedded** button, **Diagnostics** tab.
- Select a logging level from the drop-down box.
 Note: The higher the logging level, the more data is collected, but the slower your application will run.
- 3. Select a location (path) for the log file.

To log data:

- 1. Set up the log file using logging level "Finest."
- 2. Take note of the log file name and location.
- 3. Repeat the steps to cause the error or issue.
- 4. Find the log file(s) and send to technical support along with other requested information.

6.10.2 NetBeans Platform Log File

The NetBeans log file generates information on the executing NetBeans Platform.

To log data:

- 1. Open the log file the Output window by selecting View>IDE log.
- 2. Right click in the window and select "Clear."
- 3. Repeat the steps to cause the error or issue.
- 4. Right click in the window and select "Save As" to save the text to a file.
- 5. Send the file to technical support with other requested information.

6.10.3 Additional Supporting Information

Although logs are useful, other information will be required and requested by technical support to help them resolve your issue. This information includes:

- The steps performed that correspond to the log file.
- Details about the project tools, such as which debug and language tools were used and which versions of these tools were selected.
- Other MPLAB X IDE project data as necessary.

6.10.4 Logging Considerations

When logging:

- Keep the log files as short and focused as possible. That is, instead of running code and logging for a long time till an error occurs, attempt to capture a more focused run just before the error.
- For hardware tools, a circular log is useful in determining USB communication issues.

6.11 Package an MPLAB X IDE Project

Right click on your project and select "Package" to package your project into a zip file (.zip) file. While MPLAB X IDE has the ability to zip files up, it cannot unzip them. So a separate program will be required to unzip the project.

To package the project, this feature examines the project file to determine the location of the project files to include. Only files contained in the project folder and those using relative, not absolute, paths will be included.

Items included in the package are the source files, makefile and nbproject directory.

Header files are not included unless they have been added to the project. Therefore, the unzipped project may not build if any user-generated header files are required.

6.12 Hardware Tool Connections and Debugging

The connection between your hardware debug tool and target can determine what debug features are available, in addition to the device-related debug features.

Hardware Tool to Target Connections - PIC MCUs

Table 6-4. Hardware Tool to Target Connections - PIC MCUs

Connection	Hardware Support ⁽¹⁾	Debug Support (2,3,4)	Trace Support ⁽¹⁾	Support Speed
Standard (ICSP) Communications	RI, ICD4, ICD3: Modular cable (6-pin RJ-11); Snap, PK4, PK3: Ribbon cable (6-pin SIL)	Basic and Advanced	RI: Native Trace	15 MIPS or less PIC32: Device Dependent

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

continued						
Connection	Hardware Support ⁽¹⁾	Debug Support (2,3,4)	Trace Support ⁽¹⁾	Support Speed		
High-Speed (LVDS) Communications	RI : Performance Pak (AC244002)	Basic and Advanced	RI : Native Trace, RI : SPI Trace	Greater than 15 MIPS PIC32: Device Dependent		
	RI : Performance Pak + Isolator Unit (AC244005)	Basic and Advanced	None	Greater than 15 MIPS PIC32: Device Dependent		
JTAG	RI: JTAG Adapter (AC244007), SJL	Basic	None	PIC32: Device Dependent		
Logic Port	RI : Logic Port Probes (4 pins)	N/A	RI: I/O Port Trace	Device Dependent		
	RI :Trace Interface Kit (AC244006)	N/A	RI : Instruction Trace (PIC32 MCUs, some Emulation Headers)	Device Dependent		
Standard (ICSP) Communications + Logic Port	RI : Power Monitor (AC244008)	Basic	None	15 MIPS or less PIC32: Device Dependent		

1. For tool abbreviations, see last table.

2. Support is device dependent, i.e., some debug features are not available on all devices.

3. Basic Debug Support: Run, Halt, Reset, Step Into, Step Over, Software/Hardware Breakpoints.

4. Advanced Debug Support: Data Capture, Runtime Watch, etc.

Table 6-5. Hardware Tool to Target Connections - AVR MCUs

Connection	Hardware Support ^(1,2)	Device Support ⁽³⁾	Debug Support ^(4,5,6)	Trace Support	Support Speed
JTAG	AI, PK4	All AVR MCUs	Basic	No	32kHz to 7.5MHz
aWire	AI	AVR 32-bit MCUs	Basic	No	7.5kbit/s to 7Mbit/s
PDI 2-wire	AI, PK4	AVR XMEGA [®] MCUs	Basic	No	32kHz to 7.5MHz
debugWIRE	AI, PK4	AVR 8-bit MCUs	Basic	No	4kbit/s to 0.5Mbit/s
UPDI	AI, PK4	AVR 8-bit MCUs	Basics	No	Up to 750kbit/s
SPI	AI, PK4	AVR 8-bit MCUs	Programming only	N/A	8kHz to 5MHz
TPI	AI, PK4	tinyAVR 8-bit MCUs	Programming only	N/A	Device dependend

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

	.contin	ued				
Conn	ection	Hardware Support ^(1,2)	Device Support ⁽³⁾	Debug Support ^(4,5,6)	Trace Support	Support Speed
1.	1. For tool abbreviations, see last table.					
2.	2. ICD4 and PK4 require the AC102015 Debugger Adapter Board.					
3.	Device support is on-going and may not be currently available.					
4.	Support is device dependent, i.e., some debug features are not available on all devices.					

- 5. Basic Debug Support: Run, Halt, Software/Hardware Breakpoints.
- 6. Programming Only: No debugging with this connection.

Table 6-6. Hardware Tool to Target Connections - SAM MCUs

Connection	Hardware Support ^(1,2)	Device Support ⁽³⁾	Debug Support ^(4,5,6)	Trace Support	Support Speed
JTAG	ICD4	SAM MCUs	Basic	No	32kHz to 7.5MHz
SWD	ICD4	SAM MCUs	Basic and Advanced	ITM - 3MB/s	32kHz to 10MHz

- 1. For tool abbreviations, see last table.
- 2. ICD4 and PK4 require the AC102015 Debugger Adapter Board.
- 3. Device support is on-going and may not be currently available.
- 4. Support is device dependent, i.e., some debug features are not available on all devices.
- 5. Basic Debug Support: Run, Halt, Software/Hardware Breakpoints.
- 6. Advanced Debug Support: Additional features over Basic; device dependent.

Table 6-7. Tool Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Tool Name
Snap	MPLAB Snap in-circuit debugger/production programmer
PK4	MPLAB PICkit 4 in-circuit debugger/production programmer
PK3	PICkit 3 in-circuit debugger/development programmer
ICD4	MPLAB ICD 4 in-circuit debugger/production programmer
ICD3	MPLAB ICD 3 in-circuit debugger/production programmer
RI	MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator/production programmer
AI	Atmel-ICE in-circuit debugger/programmer
SJL	SEGGER J-Link debug probes (Third Party)

For more on device-dependent debug features, see:

<MPLAB X IDE install>docs/FeatureSupport/HWToolDebugFeatures.html

6.13 Use IDE Scripting

MPLAB X IDE provides scripting capabilities to control the IDE behavior programmatically. Allow developed for use with Microchip MPU projects, scripts may be used with MCU projects as well.

About the Scripts

The scripts are written in Jython. The scripts have access to an API that allows you to:

• Control the debugging session state (run, halt, etc.).

- · Access memory in the device while debugging.
- Set breakpoints with callbacks to functions that determine if a halt should happen or not. This allows implementation of conditional breakpoints.
- Place actions in the Projects window which, when clicked, will run methods in a script.
- Provide hooks for debug events: a function will be called when a given event happens.

Using the Scripts

To gain access to the scripting features, follow the steps below.

- 1. Close the project that will use the scripts.
- 2. Create a file named autoload.py. A self-documenting autoload.py that explains the APIs is available under <MPLAB X IDE Install folder>\docs\example_code.
- 3. Copy the file into your project directory. Edit the file here as necessary.
- 4. Re-open the project and you will see a "Script Files" folder in the project tree. The file autoload.py will be under this folder.
- 5. Run the scripts under "Tests" as needed.

Figure 6-20. Unedited autoload.py in Project



6.14 Checksums

A checksum is a hexadecimal number derived from the application code and other settings of an MCU or DSC. Refer to your device programming specification for details on how the checksum is generated.

A checksum is created when a project is built. You can view the generated checksum in the Dashboard window: 5.19 View the Dashboard Display

Checksum: 0x339C

Checksums are used to detect errors between builds. For example, consider a project built on one computer with one checksum. If that project is copied to another computer and built there, an identical checksum means the project was successfully copied while a different checksum means the copying failed.

Advanced Tasks & Concepts

Care should be taken when developing project code if the checksum is used for error detection. Do not use the compiler macros $__{IIME}$ or $__{DATE}$. Also, do no use the macros $__{FILE}$ or <code>assert()</code> if file paths will change.

For some device, the checksum may be used as the user ID: 4.10.3 Insert unprotected checksum in user ID memory.

6.15 Configurations

The term "configuration" is used in many different contexts. The following table presents the terms, and definitions of them.

Table 6-8. Configurations Context

Term	Definition
Configuration Bits Configuration Fuses	All of these terms refer to the physical section of device memory used to configure the device. See your device data sheet for available configuration settings.
Configuration Words	
Configuration Bytes	
Configuration Registers	
Configuration Bits Window	The MPLAB X IDE window which displays the configuration settings available for the project device. For more on this window, see 4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.
Project Configuration	Build settings for the project. When a project is created, the configuration is "[default]." This name may be changed and multiple configurations may be created for the project. For more information, see 6.4 Work with Multiple Configurations. This data is stored in the file configurations.xml.
Project Configuration Type	Settings for a specific type of project. This applies only to Standalone projects configured as "application" and Library projects configured as "library." For details, see 4.10.1 Change Project Configuration Type.
User Configuration Data	MPLAB X IDE configuration settings created by the user. See 8.7 Viewing User Configuration Data.

7. Editor

MPLAB X IDE is built upon the Netbeans platform, which provides a built-in editor to create new code or change existing code.

For information on the NetBeans Source Editor, see:

https://docs.oracle.com/cd/E50453_01/doc.80/e50452/working_nbeans.htm#A1151635

C compiler information regarding the editor is available under the NetBeans help topic:

https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/cnd/navigating-editing.html

7.1 Editor Usage

To begin using the Editor, create or open an existing file using <u>*File>New File*</u> or <u>*File>Open File*</u>, respectively. Additional controls and features are described in the following sections.

Desktop Controls

The following desktop items are associated with the Editor:

- File menu opens a file in an Editor window (see 10.1.1 File Menu).
- Edit menu accesses edit commands (see 10.1.2 Edit Menu).
- Editor toolbar also accesses edit commands located at the top of each file's Editor window (see 10.2.10 Editor Toolbar).
- Window right-click (context) menu for additional commands.

Display Controls

Basic display controls are shown in the table below. Additional formatting control may be found under 7.2 Editor Options.

Action	Description
Maximize the Source Editor.	 Do one of the following: Double click a file's tab in the Source Editor. Make sure that the Source Editor window has focus and then press Shift-Escape. Choose <u>Window>Configure Window>Maximize</u>.
Revert a maximized Source Editor to its previous size.	 Do one of the following: Double click a file's tab in the Source Editor. Press <shift> + <escape>.</escape></shift> Choose <u>Window>Configure Window>Restore</u>.
Display line numbers.	Choose <u>View>Show Line Numbers</u> .
View two files simultaneously.	 Open two or more files. Click the tab of one of the files and drag it to the side of the window where you want the file to be placed. When a red preview box appears to show you where the window will be placed, release the mouse button to drop the window. The window can be split horizontally or vertically, depending on where you drag the tab.
Split the view of a single file.	 Right click the document's tab in the Source Editor and choose "Clone Document." Click the tab of the cloned document and drag it to the part of the window where you want the copy to be placed.

continued	
Action	Description
Move between open files	 Press and hold <ctrl>.</ctrl> Press <tab>. A selection box will appear.</tab> Select the file you want to move to.
Format code automatically.	Right click in the Source Editor and choose "Format." If any text is selected, only that text will be formatted. If no text is selected, then the whole file is formatted.

Basic Editor Features

The following table summarizes some of the more frequently-used features of the editor.

Editor Feature	Reference
Unicode is supported.	By default, newly-created projects in the IDE use ISO-8859-1 character encoding. To change this: Right click the project name in the Projects window and choose Properties.
	In the left column under "Categories," select "General."
	On the bottom of the page, find "Encoding" and change.
Code is colored based on syntax.	<u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), Fonts and Colors button, Syntax tab. Based on Encoding set during Project creation.
Errors are flagged as code is typed.	See the table of contents for the Netbeans Help topic: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html#coloring
Colored markers provide quick access to multiple symbols, errors, etc.	<u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), Fonts and Colors button, Annotations tab
Smart code completion makes suggestions and provides hints.	<u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), Editor button, Code Completion tab
Mouseover symbols in debug mode to see values.	On halt when debugging, mouse over symbols to see values. Note: You cannot view the value of macros in this way. Use the Macro Expansion Window by right clicking (or Cmd+Alt+Click for macOS) on the macro in the editor during debug.
Assembly and C code may be collapsed and expanded	See 7.5 Code Folding.
Right clicking on a function $(delay(x))$ finds usages. This can limit find within a function (e.g., a local i variable).	See the Netbeans Help topic: http://wiki.netbeans.org/Find_Usages_in_Compiled_Dependencies
Right clicking on a function $(delay(x))$ shows a call graph The call graph has buttons on the side to switch order, etc.	See "View The Call Graph."
Create comments with keywords (example: //TODO) in the source code and action items will be scanned and added automatically to the Action Items window.	See the Netbeans Help topic: https://netbeans.org/features/ide/index.html regarding the Options Window, Team: Action Items.

Editor

continued		
Editor Feature	Reference	
File history is available to view recent changes and revert, even without a version control system.	5.22 Control Source Code using Local History	
Navigation is simplified with items such as "Go to file," "Go to type," "Go to symbol," "Go to header," and "Go to declaration."	See "Navigate Menu."	
Refactor options (rename functions and variables, find all functions, etc.) for improving code structure.	See 7.6 C Code Refactoring.	

Editor Troubleshooting

For errors in code highlighted in the editor, see your compiler documentation. For information on error highlighting, see the NetBeans help topic:

https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html#coloring

Specific errors may be found under 9.5 Errors.

7.2 Editor Options

To set editor options:

- 1. Select Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences for macOS) to open the Options dialog.
- 2. Click on the **Editor** button. Then click on a tab to set up editor features.

Each tab and its options are listed below.

Table 7-1. General Tab

Item	Description
Code Folding	Check to enable Code Folding and select which types of code to fold. For more on Code Folding, see 7.5 Code Folding. See also the NetBeans help topic: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html
Camel Case Behavior	Check to enable camel case navigation.

Table 7-2. Formatting Tab

ltem	Description
Language	Select the programming language to which the formatting will apply.
Category	Select a category, currently only "Tabs and Indents."
Expand Tabs to Spaces	Check to make tabs into spaces.
Number of Spaces per Indent	Enter the equivalent number of spaces per indent.
Tab Size	Enter the size of a tab.
Right Margin	Enter the size of the right margin.

Table 7-3. Code Completion Tab

ltem	Description
Language	Select the programming language to which code completion will apply.
Completion options	Check to enable code completion options. For more on code completion, see the NetBeans help topic: https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html

Table 7-4. Code Templates Tab

ltem	Description
Language	Select the programming language to which the template will apply.
Templates	Enter template information for the language specified above. <i>Abbreviation</i> : Enter an abbreviation to type into the editor.
	<i>Expanded Text</i> : After typing the abbreviation and the "Expand template on" character(s), expand the abbreviation to this text in the editor.
	Description: Add an optional description of the template item.
	For more on code templates, see the NetBeans help topic:
	https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html
Expand template on	Select character(s) that will be typed into the editor to expand the abbreviated text to the expanded text.

Table 7-5. Hints Tab

ltem	Description
Language	Select the programming language to which the hints will apply.
Hint Window	In the Hint window, select an occurrence and specify the "hint" you wish to receive in the event of the occurrence: Error, Warning or Warning on current line. For more on using hints, see the NetBeans help topic:
	https://netbeans.org/kb/docs/java/editor-codereference.html

Table 7-6. Macros Tab

ltem	Description
Macros	Add, delete and define editor macros. <i>To create a new macro</i> , click the New button, enter the name for the new macro, then select the new macro in the list and enter the code, in quotes, in the Macro Code editor.
	<i>To set a keyboard shortcut for a macro</i> , select a macro from the list, click the Set Shortcut button and enter the shortcut in the dialog box. Use this shortcut to run your macro.
	To remove a macro, select a macro from the list and click the Remove button.
	To modify the macro code, select a macro from the list and edit the code in the Macro Code editor.
Macro Code	Click on the macro name above and then type in your macro code in quotes. For a list of macro keywords, see:
	http://wiki.netbeans.org/FaqEditorMacros
	Note: Generally, it is easier to add a new macro by recording it than by adding one manually in the Macro Code editor. Use <u><i>Edit</i>>Start/Stop Macro Recording</u> .

7.3 Hyperlinks in Code

Hyperlinks in code help you to navigate to information relevant to the link content.

Hyperlinks in C Code

Hyperlink navigation lets you jump from the invocation of a function, variable, or constant to its declaration.

To use a hyperlink, do one of the following:

- Mouse over a function, variable, or constant while pressing <Ctrl> (Windows and Linux) or <Command> (Mac). A hyperlink appears, along with a tooltip with information about the element. Click the hyperlink and the editor jumps to the declaration. Press <Alt> + <Left Arrow> to jump back to the invocation.
- Mouse over an identifier and press <Ctrl> + or <Command> + . The editor jumps to the declaration. Press <Alt> + <Left Arrow> to jump back to the invocation.

Press <Alt> + <Left Arrow> and <Alt> + <Right Arrow> to move backward and forward through the history of the cursor position.

Hyperlinks in ASM Code

To navigate to header files included in assembly source files, press <Ctrl> (Windows and Linux) or <Command> (Mac) while placing the mouse cursor over the file name referenced by a #include statement. Then click the mouse select button to open the include file in its own file tab in the editor.

7.4 Editor Red Bangs

The Source Editor highlights syntax and semantic errors, such as missing semicolons and unresolved identifiers, in

your source code. Errors are shown in red underline and a red bang "glyph" 🥌 is displayed in the left margin of the editor window next to each line that contains an error. An error message is displayed when you mouse over the glyph.

Note: Not all errors in the editor are actual errors, but may be unrecognized symbols. Try building your code to determine if it will build anyway. For more details, see the section "Errors Caused by Unrecognized Symbols."

Error Conditions and Additional Marking

Errors may occur when you do one of the following:

- Type in new code
- Edit existing code
- Add an existing file to your project
- · Move a file to a different location in your project
- · Change the properties of the project or one of its source files

If there are any errors in a file, red marks are displayed in the error stripe on the right side of the editor window. The error stripe represents the whole file, not just the lines currently displayed. Double click a mark in the error stripe to jump to the line the mark represents.

Errors Caused by Unrecognized Symbols

A symbol that is unrecognized by a compiler preparser or parser could be marked as an error but may not actually be an error (the code will build). Therefore, if you suspect this type of error, try to build the project anyway.

For examples, see the following issued under 9.5 Errors:

- For 8-bit code, #asm and #endasm cause red bangs in the Editor window.
- For 16-bit code, MPLAB XC16 packed attribute statement causes red bangs in the Editor window.

7.5 Code Folding

Code folding allows you to hide some sections of code so you can focus on others. Sections of C or assembly code may be collapsed (hidden) or expanded (displayed), depending on your selected options.

Code folding is enabled by default. For most C or assembly code, sections of code that may be folded are signified by "-" and "+" icons to the left of the code.

Enable and Set Up Code Folding

Use the following steps to enable and set up code folding:

- 1. Select Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences for macOS) to open the Options dialog.
- 2. Click on the **Editor** button.
- 3. Click on the General tab and check "Use code folding."
- 4. Check other options to specify sections to fold. If you do not see the type of code you want to fold listed there, you can do a custom fold.

Expand/Collapse Code Folding

Within the editor, click the "-" icon next to a method and it folds. Click the "+" icon next to a folded method and it expands. Folded code is denoted by an ellipsis box. Hold the cursor over the ellipsis box and the IDE displays the collapsed method.

Figure 7-1. Expanded Code

```
54
     int main (void)
55 - {
56 -
         // <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="initialization">
57
         display state = DISP HELLO; // Start from displaying of PIC24 banners
58
         AD1PCFG = 0xffff; // Setup PortA IOs as digital
59
         SPIMPolInit(); // Setup SPI to communicate to EEPROM
         EEPROMInit(); // Setup EEPROM IOs
60
61
         UART2Init(); // Setup the UART
         TimerInit(); // Setup the timer
62
63
         mLCDInit(); // Setup the LCD
         BtnInit(); // Setup debounce processing
64
65
         ADCInit(); // Setup the ADC
         BannerStart(); // Setup the banner processing
66
67
         RTCCInit(); // Setup the RTCC
         // </editor-fold>
68
69
             while (1) {
70
                      LCDProcessEvents();
71
                     ADCProcessEvents();
```

Figure 7-2. Collapsed Code

```
54
     int main(void)
55 -
     {
56 🗀
         // <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="initialization">
57
         display state = DISP HELLO; // Start from displaying of PIC24 banners
58
         AD1PCFG = 0xffff; // Setup PortA IOs as digital
59
         SPIMPolInit(); // Setup SPI to communicate to EEPROM
60
         EEPROMInit(); // Setup EEPROM IOs
         UART2Init(); // Setup the UART
61
62
         TimerInit(); // Setup the timer
         mLCDInit(); // Setup the LCD
63
64
         BtnInit(); // Setup debounce processing
         ADCInit(); // Setup the ADC
65
         BannerStart(); // Setup the banner processing
66
         RTCCInit(); // Setup the RTCC
67
         // </editor-fold>
68
             while (1) {
69
70
                      LCDProcessEvents();
71
                     ADCProcessEvents();
```

```
Code Folding – Inline Assembly and MPLAB C18 C
```

Code folding does not work for inline assembly code in MPLAB C18 when the <u>_asm</u> and <u>_endasm</u> directives are used. The work-around is to put the code block near the end of the code/file.

Custom Code Folding – C

To custom fold C code, do one of the following:

• Type the following comments around your code:

```
// <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="user-description">
C code block to fold
// </editor-fold>
```

OR

• Type fcom and press the <Tab> key to automatically enter the comment text above.

After the comment has been entered, customize it for your code:

defaultstate	Enter either collapsed or expanded,
desc	Enter a description of the code. Once collapsed, this description can still be seen for reference.

An example of custom code folding is shown in "Expand/Collapse Code Folding" above.

For additional information see the NetBeans help topic:

https://ui.netbeans.org/docs/ui/code_folding/cf_uispec.html

Custom Code Folding – ASM

To custom fold assembly code, do the following:

• For MPASM assembler or MPLAB XC16 assembler code, type the following comments around your code:

```
; <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="user-description">
ASM code block to fold
; </editor-fold>
```

Editor

· For MPLAB XC32 assembler code, type the following comments around your code:

```
// <editor-fold defaultstate="collapsed" desc="user-description">
ASM code block to fold
// </editor-fold>
```

OR

- For MPASM assembler or MPLAB XC16 assembler code, type fcom; and press the <Tab> key to automatically enter the relevant comment text above.
- For MPLAB XC32 assembler code, type fcom// and press the <Tab> key to automatically enter the relevant comment text above.

Assembly code will fold in the same way that C code folds. For an example of code folding, see the C code example above.

Expand/Collapse Custom Code Folding

To expand/collapse code blocks, go to the View menu, or right-click in the Editor window, and select one of the following:

- 1. <u>Code Folds>Collapse Fold</u> to hide the block of code.
- 2. <u>Code Folds>Expand Fold</u> to display the block of code.
- 3. <u>Code Folds>Collapse All</u> to hide all folding blocks of code.
- 4. Code Folds>Expand All to display all folding blocks of code.

An example of custom code folding is shown in "Expand/Collapse Code Folding" above.

7.6 C Code Refactoring

Refactoring is the use of small transformations to restructure code without changing any program behavior. Just as you factor an expression to make it easier to understand or modify, you refactor code to make it easier to read, simpler to understand, and faster to update. And just as a refactored expression must produce the same result, the refactored program must be functionally equivalent with the original source.

Some common motivations for refactoring code include:

- Making the code easier to change or easier to add a new feature
- · Reducing complexity for better understanding
- Removing unnecessary repetition
- Enabling use of the code for other needs or more general needs
- · Improving the performance of your code

The IDE's refactoring features simplify code restructuring by evaluating the changes that you want to make, showing you the parts of your application that are affected, and making all necessary changes to your code. For example, if you use the Rename operation to change a class name, the IDE finds every usage of that name in your code and offers to change each occurrence of that name for you.

Refactor Menu

When you use the IDE's refactoring operations, you can change the structure of your code and have the rest of your code updated to reflect the changes you have made.

Refactoring operations are available on the Refactor menu (see 10.1.6 Refactor Menu).

Undoing/Redoing Refactoring Changes

You can undo (or redo) any changes that you made using the commands in the Refactor menu by using the buttons on the Undo/Redo toolbar menu.



Undo - The IDE rolls back all the changes in all the files that were affected by the refactoring.

Editor



Redo - The IDE repeats the refactoring changes in all the files that were affected.

If any of the affected files have been modified since the refactoring took place, the refactoring Undo/Redo is not available.

Finding Function Usages

You can use the Find Usages command to determine each place a function is used in your project's source code.

To find where a function is used in your project:

- 1. In the Navigator window or the Source Editor window, right click the function name and choose Find Usages <Alt>+<F7> (or <Ctrl>+<F7> for macOS).
- 2. The Find Usages command displays the code lines that call the function. In the Find Usages dialog box, click Find.

The Usages window displays the file name and the line of code for each usage found in that file.

To jump to a specific occurrence of the function, do one of the following actions:

- In the Usages window, use the up and down arrow buttons in the left pane to navigate from one occurrence of the function to the next.
- Double click a line of code to open the file and position the cursor on that particular line of code.

Additional IDE Find Mechanisms

The other IDE tools that enable you to search for all the places where specific text is used in a project include:

- Finding and Replacing Text. Searches for all the places where specific text is used in a source file that is open in the Editor. Choose <u>Edit>Find</u> to open the Find dialog box, or choose <u>Edit>Replace</u> to open the Replace dialog box. These commands finds all matching strings, regardless of whether the string is a C code element.
- Find in Projects. As with the Find command, the Find in Projects command searches for matching strings, regardless of whether the string is a function name. Choose <u>Edit>Find in Projects</u> to open the "Find in Projects" dialog box and then type the string of text that you are looking for.

To find where a function is declared in a source file, you can double click the function in the Navigator window. If the function is declared in a different source file, right click the function and choose <u>Navigate>Go To Declaration</u> from the contextual menu.

Renaming a Function or Parameter

To rename a function or parameter and update references to it throughout your project:

- 1. In the Source Editor, right click the function or parameter and choose <u>*Refactor>Rename*</u> from the context menu.
- 2. In the Rename dialog box, type the New Name.
- 3. Optionally, click **Preview**. In the Refactoring window, at the bottom of the Source Editor, review the lines of code that will be changed and clear the check box of any code that you do not want changed.
- 4. Click **Do Refactoring** to apply the selected changes.

For quick in-place renaming, place the cursor in the item that you want to rename and press Ctrl-R. Then type the new name. To finish renaming, press **Escape**.

Moving, Copying and Safely Deleting C Code

These functions are specific to C++ code. See 10.1.6 Refactor Menu.

7.7 C/C++ Code Error Directive

When using a #error directive in code, it is best to enclose the statement in parentheses, as in:

```
(#error This line shown only when there is an error.)
```

Editor

Otherwise, the syntax parser honors the #error directive in the same manner as a C compiler and stops in its tracks. Therefore the text immediately following the directive will be grayed in the Editor to signify this.
8. **Project Files and Folders**

MPLAB X IDE has several windows, usually in the File Pane, for working with project files and folders, namely the Projects, Files, Favorites and Classes windows.

It is recommended to look at the other project file and folder related topics in this chapter:

- Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions
- Path, File and Folder Project Recommendations
- Viewing User Configuration Data
- Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project Relative Paths
- Moving, Copying or Renaming a Project
- Deleting a Project

8.1 **Projects Window View**

The Projects window is the main entry point to your projects. It shows a logical view of important project contents. For more on this window, see 12.15 Projects Window.

You will, at very least, need to add source files to your project. MPLAB X IDE will find many default files for you (header files, linker scripts). You may add library and precompiled object files, as well as edited header and linker script files. Files that will not be included in the build may be placed under "Important Files."

Figure 8-1. Projects Window – Simple C Code Project



Table 8-1. Projects Window Definitions

Virtual Folder	Files Contained
Header Files	Header files (.h or .inc)
Important Files	Important files, such as makefiles . Other documents can be placed here, such as data sheet PDFs.
Linker Files	Linker files (.ld, .gld or .lkr)
Source Files	Source files (.c, .cpp or .asm)
Libraries	Library files (.a or .lib)
Loadables	Precompiled object files ()

See also the NetBeans help topic. Select <u>Help>Help Contents</u> and in the Search tab enter "Projects Window C or C+ +." Find the first occurrence of "Projects Window" in the list.

8.2 Files Window View

The Files window allows you to view all of your project contents in a directory-based view, even files and folders not shown in the Projects window.







Folder	Description
MyProject	The project folder, which contains the Makefile file and C code or assembly application files. Makefile is the master makefile for the project. This file is generated at project creation time and it is not touched after that (it will not be regenerated). You can make changes to this file if you are familiar with GNU Make. But MPLAB X IDE provides ways to add a pre-step and post-step (Project Properties) which can be used instead of modifying the Makefile itself.
build ⁽¹⁾	 The intermediate files folder. Files are contained in subfolders depending on project configuration, usage and location. The build files are: Run files (.o)
	 Dependency files (.o.d) HI-TECH[®] intermediate files (.p1)

Project Files and Folders

continued	
Folder	Description
dist ⁽¹⁾	 The output files folder. Files are contained in subfolders depending on project configuration, usage and location. The distribution files are: Executable files (.hex) ELF or COF object files (.elf or .cof) library files (.a or .lib)
nbproject	 The makefile and metadata folder. Contains these files: The private folder contains the user and computer specific settings of the project Project makefile Configuration-specific makefiles project.xml IDE-generated metadata file configurations.xml metadata file
default, MyConfig ⁽²⁾	The project configurations folders. If no configurations are created by the developer, all code is in default.
production, debug ⁽²⁾	The production and debug versions folders.
_ext ⁽²⁾	The external project files folder. If a file is referenced outside the project folder, it is listed here.
 You do not ne Source Code These items a 	ed to check these folders into source control. A build will create them. See also 5.23 Control using a Revision Control System. re not shown in the figure above.

See also the NetBeans help topic. Select <u>Help>Help Contents</u> and in the Search tab enter "Files Window C and C++". Find the first occurrence of "Files Window" in the list.

8.3 Classes Window View

For C or C++ code, you can see all of the classes (functions), and the members and fields for each class, in the Classes window (*Window>Classes*).

See also the NetBeans help topic. Select <u>Help>Help Contents</u> and in the Search tab enter "Using the Classes Window."

Project Files and Folders



Figure 8-3. Classes Window – Simple C Code Project

8.4 Favorites Window View

The Favorites window (*Window>Favorites*) enables you to access any file or folder on your computer or network, whether or not it is in a project.

When you first open the Favorites window, it only contains your computer's home directory.

- To add a file or folder, you can right click in the Favorites window and choose "Add to Favorites."
- To add a file, you can right click on the file name in the Projects window and select <u>Tools>Add to Favorites</u>.

Figure 8-4. Favorites Window with Examples



See also the NetBeans help topic. Select Help>Help Contents and in the Search tab enter "Favorites Window."

8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions

You should only use the following ASCII characters for path, file and folder names:

- A through Z
- a through z
- 0 through 9
- dash: -
- period: .

Windows Operation System

Windows operating systems have a maximum path length of 260 characters. An explanation from Microsoft is found here:

https://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/windows/desktop/aa365247(v=vs.85).aspx

Project Files and Folders

Although Windows will attempt to stop you from creating path lengths that are too long, it is possible to do this (from certain applications, cutting-and-pasting, etc.) If a project source file uses such a path, the project will not build correctly.

Additionally, there is a command-line limitation for Windows OS of 8191 characters. For details, see:

Section "Command line too long (Windows OS)"

Cross-Platform Operating Systems

If you plan on using MPLAB X IDE on different platforms (Windows, Mac, or Linux operating systems), be aware of these issues:

- Use the forward slash "/" in relative paths. The backslash "\" works only on Windows OS platforms. Example: #include headers/myheader.h.
- Linux OS is case-sensitive, so generictypedefs.h is not the same as GenericTypeDefs.h.

8.6 Path, File and Folder Project Recommendations

When adding existing files or folders to a project, consider the name restrictions discussed in 8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions. Specifically, take care with long paths. Although there is a known limit for Windows OS (path length of 260 characters, command line of 8191 characters), a very long path on other systems may cause issues. If you have problems building, consider shortening long paths or moving files or folders into the project folder.

To ensure the most portable project, use relative paths when importing files or folders.

Related Links

4.9.3 Add Existing Files to a Project6.11 Package an MPLAB X IDE Project8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions

8.7 Viewing User Configuration Data

The MPLAB X IDE user directory (userdir) stores user configuration data such as window layouts, editor settings, menu and toolbar customizations, and various module settings such as the list of known compilers.

When you install plugins (<u>Tools>Plugins</u>), the plugin information (code) is stored in the userdir, not in the MPLAB X installation directory. However, you may change this location under <u>Tools>Plugins>Settings>Advanced</u> by selecting "Force install into shared directories" from the "Plugin Install Location" drop down menu.

To find out where your user directory is located, select <u>*Help>About*</u> and find the path next to **Userdir**. This information is created and managed by MPLAB X IDE.

8.8 Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project – Relative Paths

For an MPLAB IDE v8 project located at:

C:\MyProjects\mplab8project

On importing to MPLAB X IDE you will get:

C:\MyProjects\mplab8project\mplab8project.X

The MPLAB X IDE imported project is placed by default under the MPLAB IDE v8 project to preserve maintainability of both projects. However, you can place the MPLAB X IDE project folder anywhere. Also, the name of the project will be set as mplab8project.X but you can rename it if you wish. There is a convention to finish the name of an MPLAB X IDE project with .x but this is just a convention.

The new project will not copy the source files into its folder, but instead will reference the location of the files in the v8 folder. To create an independent MPLAB X IDE project, create a new project and copy the MPLAB IDE v8 source files to it.

© 2019 Microchip Technology Inc.

For details, see 5.3 Import an Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project.

8.9 Moving, Copying or Renaming a Project

After you have created a project, you may realize you need to make changes. Using the commands on the context (right click) project menu, you can move, copy or rename your project from within MPLAB X IDE. There is also an option to delete the project. For details, see "Project Menu" under 12.15 Projects Window.

You can also use an external tool; the project file structure does not require you to use MPLAB X IDE.

8.10 Deleting a Project

To delete a project in MPLAB X IDE:

- 1. In the Projects window, right click on the project name and select "Delete."
- 2. In the "Delete Project" dialog, you can delete:
 - 2.1. The project file from the computer some source files will remain.
 - 2.2. The project file with all of the source files (via check box).

The project is deleted so that MPLAB X IDE will no longer see it.

Note: MPLAB X IDE does not release all resources assigned to a project when it closes. MPLAB X IDE runs on Java so releasing resources does not occur immediately. Under Java it is best to let the JRE decide when to call the garbage collection (GC) within the software code. However, you can force GC by enabling the memory toolbar and clicking on it.

9. Troubleshooting

This section is designed to help you troubleshoot any problems, errors or issues you encounter while using MPLAB X IDE. If none of this information helps you, see "Support" for ways to contact Microchip Technology.

9.1 USB Driver Installation Issues

To install the correct USB drivers, see 2.3 Install the USB Device Drivers (for Hardware Tools).

To troubleshoot errors, see 2.3.3.5 Tool Communication Issues.

9.2 Operating System Issues

Different operating systems have different issues concerning path, file and folder naming. For more information, see 8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions.

9.3 NetBeans Platform Issues

The NetBeans platform may have issues concerning the platform release used for MPLAB X IDE. For more help, visit these NetBeans web sites:

http://www.netbeans.org

http://netbeans.org/community/releases/index.html

The following issues have a known impact in MPLAB X IDE.

- · Choosing "Inherited" as foreground color results in text for category being invisible in editor
- No visual indicators for debug
- Unable to resolve identifier
- SFR in Watch Window deselected when quickly stepping through code
- 9.3.5 Sometimes menus disappear when navigating submenus

9.3.1 Choosing "Inherited" as foreground color results in text for category being invisible in editor

When the Foreground color for Field is "Inherited" the text in popup completion window (tooltip) is invisible. The popup completion window shows unselected entries as white text on a white background. Scrolling down the list shows one entry at a time with white text on a blue background. Otherwise the feature seems to work normally.

This issue is recorded as a Netbeans Bugzilla issue for Fonts & Colors:

https://netbeans.org/bugzilla/show_bug.cgi?id=249766

Options->Fonts & Colors. Choosing "Inherited" option as foreground color for any [Syntax] category causes the text to be invisible in the editor. Looking at the preferences xml file "org-netbeans-modules-editor-settings-CustomFontsColors-tokenColorings.xml" it is clear that there is no linkage to a valid color for the foreground attribute of the affected category like "Field" or "Identifier."

Work-around:

- 1. Select <u>Tools>Options</u>, Fonts & Colors button, Syntax tab.
- 2. For "Language," choose "C."
- 3. Under "Category," click "Field."
- 4. To the left, see that "Foreground" is selected as "Inherited." Select a color from the list.
- 5. Click OK.

9.3.2 No visual indicators for debug

Although debugging appears to occur, there is no Pause arrow or line highlight, and breakpoints appear to be broken (broken icon in gutter). This can be caused by incorrect naming of file paths. See 8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions.

9.3.3 Unable to resolve identifier

Live parser shows unresolved identifier for structure nested in structure without name. This results from NetBeans native CND not supporting anonymous field declarations. The workaround is to specify an identifier for the field. The down side is that you will have to specify that field name everywhere you use it in code.

Example:

```
struct dados {
     unsigned char signaturel;
     unsigned char signature2;
 };
 typedef union {
     unsigned char data [2];
                             // unresolved ident.
     struct dados;
 } EEPROM DATA;
 void main(void) {
     EEPROM DATA edata;
     edata.data [0] = 0xAA;
                                 // this is ok
     edata.signature2 = 0xDD;
                                // unresolved ident.
 }
See also:
https://netbeans.org/bugzilla/show bug.cgi?id=256329
```

9.3.4 SFR in Watch Window deselected when quickly stepping through code

When you step, the cursor updates in the source so the focus is removed from the Watches window. Netbeans then re-draws the whole Watches window, which removes any highlighting.

9.3.5 Sometimes menus disappear when navigating submenus

For Windows OS, sometimes when an MPLAB X IDE menu is selected and then a submenu of a menu item is selected, the menu will disappear. You may need to restart MPLAB X IDE to fix the problem.

9.4 MPLAB X IDE Issues

The following list are issues with MPLAB X IDE. If you do not see your issue here, look at documentation related to your project's debug and compiler tool.

- Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project Settings
- Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project Modified Linker Scripts
- MPLAB C18 C Compiler and Structures
- Project is Empty/Project Files Grayed Out
- Code in Editor is gray after #error statement
- · Internet Connection is not stable enough to download latest toolchain

9.4.1 Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project – Settings

Settings that were saved in a workspace in MPLAB IDE v8 (such as tool settings) will not be transferred to the new MPLAB X IDE project. Refer to the MPLAB IDE v8 help for what is stored in a workspace (<u>MPLAB IDE</u> <u>Reference>Operational Reference>Saved Information</u>).

9.4.2 Importing an MPLAB IDE v8 Project – Modified Linker Scripts

If you have modified your MPLAB IDE v8 project linker script so that it includes an object file, the linker will be unable to find the file when it is imported into MPLAB X IDE, because the build paths for MPLAB IDE v8 and MPLAB X IDE are different.

So you may see an error like:

<install path>ld.exe: cannot find file.o

Troubleshooting

since in MPLAB IDE v8 all build-related files are in one directory, whereas in MPLAB X IDE build files are in different subdirectories.

You can edit your linker script to work with MPLAB X IDE by using wild cards. For example, change:

```
/* Global-namespace object initialization - MPLAB v8*/
.init :
{
KEEP (crti.o(.init))
:
} >kseg0_program_mem
```

to:

```
/* Global-namespace object initialization - MPLAB X*/
.init :
{
KEEP (*crti.o(.init))
:
} >kseg0_program_mem
```

Alternatively, you can use an address attribute that allows you to place functions in C code.

int attribute ((address(0x9D001000))) myfunction (void) {}

This allows you to place a function at an address without modifying the default linker script.

9.4.3 MPLAB C18 C Compiler and Structures

The pointer value of a structure in RAM memory will not be displayed correctly in the Watches window. This is because the compiler does not store complete debug information. The work-around is to use the MPLAB XC8 C compiler instead.

9.4.4 Project is Empty/Project Files Grayed Out

If you have loaded a corrupted project and answered a dialog question incorrectly, the Projects window could be grayed out and MPLAB X IDE will say the project cannot be built due to having no source files.

Figure 9-1. Project Empty Error



The problem occurs when the corrupted project is being loaded into MPLAB X IDE. A dialog will appear asking if C source files should be associated with header files. You can correct the issue at this point by clicking "No" (the default).

Figure 9-2. New Header Extension Error



However, if you say "Yes," the source files are now seen as header files and the project looks empty. To fix the project, you can use either of the following methods:

• Exit from MPLAB X IDE.

Troubleshooting

- Go to the MPLAB X IDE User Directory (specified in the <u>Help>About</u> dialog) and delete the directory for your version of MPLAB X IDE. For example, delete the folder v3.05 from:
 C:\Users\UserName\AppData\Roaming\mplab ide\dev\v3.05
- Launch MPLAB X IDE again.

OR

- Go to *Tools>Options*, Embedded button, **Other** tab.
- Remove 'c' from the header files association.
- Add 'c' to the source files association.
- Click OK.
- 9.4.5 Code in Editor is gray after #error statement See 7.7 C/C++ Code Error Directive.

9.4.6 Internet Connection is not stable enough to download latest toolchain

The feature covered in the link below is not available because your internet connection is determined to not be stable.

4.1.8.2 Download Latest MPLAB XC Compilers

9.5 Errors

Errors can take many forms in the IDE, most commonly shown by icons in windows or messages in the Output window. Hovering over icons will pop up text that may explain the issue. For text messages, please refer to online help to search for the error.

Some common errors and resolutions for the IDE or Editor are listed in the sections below:

- Command line too long (Windows OS)
- Couldn't reserve space for Cygwin[™] heap (Windows 7 or 8)
- Destination Path Too Long/The filename or extension is too long (Windows OS)
- The project ProjectName is empty
- For 8-bit code, #asm and #endasm cause red bangs in the Editor window
- For 16-bit code, MPLAB XC16 packed attribute statement causes red bangs in the Editor window
- Hexmate Conflict Report Address Error
- Programming Errors
- Programmer to Go Not Supported
- · Mouseover shows "Not Recognized" in Editor
- Error Code in -10000 Range

9.5.1 Command line too long (Windows OS)

When a project's makefile is run, each command that is executed is passed to the local native shell. For Windows operating systems, there is a limit of 8191 characters. Therefore, for a project with hundreds of C files that link, the limit could be surpassed and this error will be displayed.

Linux OS and macOS can usually take very long command lines. If you want to find out the length limit for your system, you can type on the command line getconf ARG MAX.

Response File Workaround

If you are using the MPLAB XC8 or MPLAB XC32 C compiler v1.01 and above, or MPLAB XC16 C compiler v1.22 and above, you may be able to use a response file when calling the linker to work around this issue.

- For MPLAB XC8, in the Project Properties* window, click in "Categories" on "XC8 linker." Under "Option categories" select "Additional Options." Select the check box next to "Use response file to link."
- For MPLAB XC16, in the Project Properties* window, click in "Categories" on "xc16-ld." Under "Option categories" select "General." Check the check box next to "Use response file to link."
- For MPLAB XC32, in the Project Properties* window, click in "Categories" on "xc32-ld." Under "Option categories" select "General." Check the check box next to "Use response file to link."

* To open the Project Properties window, see 4.3 Open Project Properties.

Library Workaround

For all other compilers, you can create an MPLAB X IDE library project and move some source files from your main project to the library project. Then add the library project to your main project.

To create a library project select *<u>File>New Project</u>*, click the "Microchip Embedded" category, and then select "Library Project" as the project.

To add the library to your main project, open the Project Properties window i.e., *File>Project Properties*), click in "Categories" under "Libraries," and then click the **Add Library Project** button.

Archive Checkbox Workaround

For MPLAB XC16 and MPLAB XC32, there is now a check box you can use when archiving long sets of files into libraries that might push the link line over the character limit. The "Break into multiple lines" option can be used to tell the compiler to break up the archive line into smaller lines to avoid this limitation.

Find this option in:

Project Properties window, "xc16-ar" or "xc32-ar" category, "General" option category, "Break into multiple lines" check box.

9.5.2 Couldn't reserve space for MinGW heap

MPLAB X IDE uses the MinGW in its make process. In Windows OS, you may have virtual memory allocation issues.

Windows 7 or 8

To change the Virtual Memory settings, click <u>Start>Control Panel</u>. Then click System and then <u>Security>System>Advanced Systems Setting or System Protection</u>. On the **Advanced** tab, click on the **Performance Settings** button. In this dialog click the **Advanced** tab and then click on the **Change** button. Enter a custom size value as follows:

- Initial Size (MB) = Currently Allocated (shown at the bottom)
- Maximum Size (MB) = Recommended (shown at the bottom)

Click Set, click OK, and reboot your personal computer.

Windows 10

See:

https://www.geeksinphoenix.com/blog/post/2016/05/10/how-to-manage-windows-10-virtual-memory.aspx

9.5.3 Destination Path Too Long/The filename or extension is too long (Windows OS)

Windows OS has a maximum path length of 260 characters. For details, see 8.5 Path, File and Folder Name Restrictions.

9.5.4 The project ProjectName is empty

See 9.4.4 Project is Empty/Project Files Grayed Out.

9.5.5 For 8-bit code, #asm and #endasm cause red bangs in the Editor window

The #asm and #endasm statements are valid constructs for declaring in-line assembly code within an MPLAB XC8 C program. But in the IDE Editor, the C preparser does not see these as valid directives and will display a red bang next to these statements. However, this code will still work.

If you want to eliminate the red bangs in the Editor, you can use the asm() statement. This is the preferred method of using in-line assembly for all MPLAB XC C compilers.

Example:

```
// Inline Code that causes error
    #asm
    movlw 0x20;
    nop;
```

Troubleshooting

```
nop;
#endasm
// Workaround for inline assembly - that will not cause error
// (Multi line asm code)
    asm("\
    movlw 0x20;\
    nop;\
    nop;);
// Workaround for inline assembly - that will not cause Error
// (Single line asm code)
    asm("movlw 0x20; nop; nop");
```

9.5.6 For 16-bit code, MPLAB XC16 packed attribute statement causes red bangs in the Editor window The following statement is marked as an error by the compiler parser but will build:

unsigned long long Bits8 : 8 __attribute__ ((packed));

The parser rules for qualifiers allow for any order, but the expectation is that the qualifiers are all specified before the identifier. Therefore, use one of the statements below to not produce an error:

unsigned long long attribute ((packed)) Bits8 : 8;

OR

attribute ((packed)) unsigned long long Bits8 : 8;

9.5.7 Hexmate Conflict Report Address Error

When Hexmate generates a conflict report, the address of the conflict in the hex file is sometimes not the same as the address shown in a memory window (where the data resides in memory.) For example:

Table 9-1. Hex Address vs. Memory Address

Device Family	Address in Hex File	Address in Memory
Baseline	0x100	0x80*
Midrange	0x100	0x80*
PIC18 MCUs	0x100	0x100
16-bit Devices	0x100	0x80*
32-bit Devices	0x100	0x100

* For some devices, the address shown in the conflict report is twice as large as the address of the data in memory.

9.5.8 Programming Errors

If you code protect a device and then attempt to program it, you will receive a programming failure error for an address region.

The "Erase Device Memory Main Project" function can help to determine if this is the programming issue. This function is available as an optional icon that you can add to a toolbar (*View>Toolbars>Customize*). Alternately, use MPLAB IPE.

- 1. Ensure code protection is off in your code.
- 2. Erase the device the device memory, which will erase the configuration bit settings.
- 3. Reprogramming the device

If programming succeeds, then code protect was the issue.

9.5.9 **Programmer to Go Not Supported**

A device that has too many configuration (config) words currently cannot support Programmer to Go (PTG). PTG is expecting config words to be sent all at once, but MPLAB X IDE sends each config word one at a time for devices with a large amount of config words.

9.5.10 Mouseover shows "Not Recognized" in Editor

When using mouseovers to reveal values in the Editor, ensure:

- 1. You are in debug mode (*Debug>Debug Project*). You cannot see symbols values unless you are debugging.
- 2. You are not mousing over a macro. You cannot see the value of a macro this way. Use the Macro Expansion Window by right clicking on the macro and selecting *Navigate>View Macro Expansion*.

9.5.11 Error Codes in -10000 Range

Error codes in the -10000 range represents Microsoft error codes. To determine the Microsoft error code, make the number positive (-10121 becomes 10121) and subtract 10000 (10121 - 10000 = 121). Microsoft error codes can be found at:

https://msdn.microsoft.com/en-us/library/windows/desktop/ms681382(v=vs.85).aspx

9.6 Forums

If you do not see your issue here, check out our forums at:

http://www.microchip.com/forums/f238.aspx

Here you will find discussions and recently posted solutions to problems.

10. Desktop Reference

The MPLAB® X IDE desktop is a resizable window that operates independent of the rest of the desktop items. The desktop consists of menus, toolbars, a status bar and tabbed windows. Menus, toolbars and the status bar are discussed here. Windows and dialogs are discussed in their own section.

Note: When the NetBeans help topic refers to a workspace, it is talking about a desktop. It is not referring to the MPLAB IDE v8 (and earlier) workspace.



WINDOWS grayed out	items MENUS	TOOLBARS
MPLAB X IDE v 15 - Example1 : default		
e Edit View Navigate Source Refactor Production D	bug Team Tools Window Help 🦊	Q • Search (Ctrl+I)
😬 🞦 🖉 🦏 🌔 🕐 default	🖃 🕆 · 🅦 · 🕨 · 🔽 · 🛣 · 🍓 📷 🗓	PC: 0x0 W How do I? (Keyword(s)
rojects Files Classes	🛛 Start Page 🗉 🛒 MPLAB X Store 💷 🏝 example1.c 🔹	
Example 1	Source History 📹 🔯 🖷 - 🔤 - 🖏 -	
🕀 🛅 Header Files	34	
Important Files	35 🖸 // PIC32MX470F512L Configuratio	on Bit Settings
10- Control Linker Files	36 // 'C' source line config state	ements
E- Cource Files	37 // DEVCFGS	
example1.c	38 // USERID = No Setting	
Libraries	<pre>39 #pragma config FSRSSEL = PRIORI</pre>	ITY_7 // Shadow Register Set Priority Select
E- Coadables	40 #pragma config PMDL1WAY = ON	// Peripheral Module Disable Configurat
	41 #pragma config IOL1WAY = ON	<pre>// Peripheral Pin Select Configuration</pre>
Imple1 - Dashboard 🕷 Navigator	42 #pragma config FUSBIDIO = ON	// USB USID Selection (Controlled by Po
Tg Example 1	43 #pragma config FVBUSONIO = ON	// USB VBUS ON Selection (Controlled by
	44	
PIC 32MX 470E512	45 // DEVCFG2	
Checksum: 0xF7DD8A19	46 #pragma config FPLLIDIV = DIV_1	12 // PLL Input Divider (12x Divider)
🖨 💣 Packs	*	P
PIC32MX_DFP (1.0.28)	2	
Compiler Toolchain	Output - Example1 (Clean, Build,) Configuration	Bits #
XC32 (V2.15) [C: Program Files (X86) Pilotochp (W Production Image: Optimization:	Address Name Value Field	Option Category
E- C Memory	1FC0 2FF0 DEVCFG3	User range: 0x0 - 0xFFFF Enter Hexadecimal value
🕞 📟 Data 131,072 (0x20000) bytes	FSRSSEL	PRIORITY 7 Shadow Register Set Prio
	PMDL1WA:	Y ON Peripheral Module Disabl
Data Used: 0 (0x0) Free: 131,072 (0x20000)	TOL1WAY	ON Peripheral Pin Select Co
Program 536,560 (0x82FF0) bytes	FUSBIDI	0 ON USB USID Selection
- 1,656 (0x678) Free: 534 904	EVBUSON:	IO ON USB VBUS ON Selection
E-St Debug Tool	1FC0_2FF4 DEVCFG2 FFFFFFFF FPLLIDIV	V DIV_12 PLL Input Divider
Real ICE: DEFAULT	FPLLMUL	MUL_24 PLL Multiplier
😑 🐺 Debug Resources	UPLLIDI	V DIV_12 USB PLL Input Divider
Program BP Used: 0 Free: 6	PDLION	USB FLL Enable
Data BP Used: 0 Free: 2	1ECO 2EES DEVCEGI EE74EE7E ENOSC	FRCDIV Oscillator Selection Bit "
Linkwited BP (SAU): Dicabled	*	
III	Memory Configuration Bits - Format Read/Write	e
		1 11 1

10.1 Menus

Many MPLAB[®] X IDE functions are accessible as menu items through the menu bar located across the top of the desktop. Menu items followed by ellipses (...) will open a dialog. For more on dialogs, see 12. MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs.

Shortcut keys for menu items are listed next to the menu item.

Example: The shortcut keys for "New File" are Control-N (CTRL+N). More shortcut key information is available from *Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card*.

Menu items may be grayed out for various reasons. See 10.4 Grayed Out or Missing Items and Buttons.

Desktop Reference

Additional context menus are available by right clicking in a window. For more on these menus, see 12.15 Projects Window.

Available menus are listed below.

Note: See the Start Page, My MPLAB IDE>Extend MPLAB>Selecting Simple or Full-Featured Menus to see all available menus and menu items. Not all of these items will be applicable to embedded development.

10.1.1 File Menu

This section lists the menu items in the File menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-1. File Menu Options

Command	Action
New Project	Creates a new project with the New Project wizard.
New File	Creates a new file with the New File wizard.
Open Project	Opens an existing project.
Open Recent Project	Displays a list of all recently-opened projects for selection.
Import	 Imports one of the following: Hex/ELF (Prebuilt) File – built with another tool. MPLAB IDE v8 Project – launch Import Legacy Project wizard. Other Embedded – import from another embedded platform. From ZIP – import from a zipped project, i.e., unzip and import.
Close Project	Closes the current project.
Close Other Projects	Closes all projects except for the main project.
Close All Projects	Closes all open projects.
Open File	Opens an existing file.
Open Recent File	Displays a list of all recently-opened files for selection.
Project Group	Associates the current project with a group.
Project Properties	Opens the Project Properties window.
Save	Saves the current file.
Save As	Saves the current file under a new path and/or name.
Save All	Saves all open files. If the "Compile on Save" feature is selected, this will also compile/build project files.
Page Setup	Sets up the page for printing.
Print	Shows print preview of current file and allows printing.
Print to HTML	Prints the current file to a new file in HTML format.
Exit	Quits MPLAB [®] X IDE.

10.1.2 Edit Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Edit menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card.

Desktop Reference

Table 10-2. Edit Menu Options

Command	Action
Undo	Reverses (one at a time) a series of editor actions, except Save.
Redo	Reverses (one at a time) a series of Undo commands.
Cut	Deletes the current selection and places it on the clipboard.
Сору	Copies the current selection to the clipboard.
Paste	Pastes the contents of the clipboard into the insertion point.
Paste Formatted	Pastes the formatted contents of the clipboard into the insertion point.
Paste from History	Pastes from Copy history.
Delete	Deletes the current selection.
Select All	Selects everything in the current document or window.
Select Identifier	Selects the word nearest the cursor.
Find Selection	Finds instances of the current selection.
Find Next	Finds next instance of found text.
Find Previous	Finds previous instance of found text.
Find	Finds a text string.
Replace	Finds a string of text and replaces it with the string specified.
Find Usages	Finds usages and subtypes of selected code.
Find in Projects	Finds specified text, object names, object types within projects.
Replace in Projects	Replaces text, object names, object types within projects.
Start Macro Recording	Starts recording keystrokes.
Stop Macro Recording	Stops recording keystrokes
	To manage macros, select <u><i>Tools>Options</i></u> , Editor button, Macros tab.

10.1.3 View Menu

This section lists the menu items in the View menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-3. View Menu Options

Command	Action
Editors	 Selects an available editor to view your files. History – Show the history of edits to this file. Source – Show the source code in this file.
Split	Splits the current editor window and its contents into two windows, either vertically or horizontally oriented.
Code Folds>Collapse Fold	If the insertion point is in a foldable section of text, collapses those lines into one line.
Code Folds>Expand Fold	If the currently selected line in the Source Editor represents several folded lines, expands the fold to show all of the lines.

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
Code Folds>Collapse All	Collapses all foldable sections of text in the Source Editor.	
Code Folds>Expand All	Expands all foldable sections of text in the Source Editor.	
Code Folds>Collapse Fold Tree	Collapses all folds in a nested group of folds.	
Code Folds>Expand Fold Tree	Expand all folds in a nested group of folds.	
Web Browser	Opens the default web browser to the NetBeans home page.	
IDE Log	Opens the log file in a tab of the Output window.	
Toolbars>File, etc.	Shows the associated toolbar.	
Toolbars>Small Toolbar Icons	Uses small icons on the toolbars.	
Toolbars>Reset Toolbars	Resets to the default toolbar setup.	
Toolbars>Customize	Customizes the items on an existing toolbar and allows creation of a new one.	
Show Editor Toolbar	Shows the editor toolbar on the File tab.	
Show Line Numbers	Shows line numbers in left margin.	
Show Non-printable Characters	Shows characters even if they are not printable (non-ASCI).	
Show Breadcrumbs	Shows breadcrumbs, or the path to the file from the project file, on the bottom of the editor window.	
Show Indent Guide Lines	Shows faint lines to represent indents.	
Show Diff Sidebar	Shows the DIFF sidebar.	
Show Versioning Labels	Shows version labels.	
Synchronize Editor with Views	Synchronizes the editor with open views.	
Show Only Editor	Shows editor window in full IDE window.	
Full Screen	Expands window to full length and breadth of screen.	

10.1.4 Navigate Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Navigate menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-4. Navigate Menu Options

Command	Action
Go to File	Finds and opens a specific file.
Go to Type	Finds and opens a specific class or interface.
Go to Symbol	Finds the symbol name as specified.
Go to Previous Window	Gives focus to the previously selected window.
Go to Source	Displays the source file containing the definition of the selected class.
Go to Declaration	Jumps to the declaration of the item under the cursor.
Go to Super Implementation	Jumps to the super implementation of the item under the cursor.
Last Edit Location	Scrolls the editor to the last place where editing occurred.
Back	Navigates back.

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
Forward	Navigates forward.	
Go to Line	Jumps to the specified line.	
Toggle Bookmark	Sets a bookmark on a line of code.	
Bookmark History Popup Next	Goes to the next bookmark in the Bookmark window (<i>Window>IDE Tools>Bookmarks</i>).	
Bookmark History Popup Previous	Goes to the previous bookmark in the Bookmark window (<i>Window>IDE Tools>Bookmarks</i>).	
Next Error	Scrolls the Source Editor to the line that contains the next build error.	
Previous Error	Scrolls the Source Editor to the line that contains the previous build error.	
Select in Projects	Opens the Projects window and selects current document within.	
Select in Files	Opens the Files window and selects current document within.	
Select in Classes	Opens the Classes window and selects current document within.	
Select in Favorites	Opens the Favorites window and selects current document within.	

10.1.5 Source Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Source menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-5. Source Menu Options

Command	Action
Format	Formats the selected code, or the entire file if nothing is selected.
Remove Trailing Spaces	Removes spaces at the end of the line.
Shift Left	Moves the selected line, or lines one tab to the left.
Shift Right	Moves the selected line, or lines one tab to the right.
Move Up	Moves the selected line, or lines one line up.
Move Down	Moves the selected line, or lines one line down.
Move Code Element Up	Moves the selected code element up one line.
Move Code Element Down	Moves the selected code element down one line.
Duplicate Up	Copies the selected line or lines one line up.
Duplicate Down	Copies the selected line or lines one line down.
Toggle Comment	Toggles the commenting out of the current line or selected lines.
Complete Code	Shows the code completion box.
Insert Code	Pops up a context aware menu that you can use to generate common structures such as constructors, getters, and setters.
Fix Code	Displays editor hints. The IDE informs you when a hint is available when the light bulb is displayed.
Show Method Parameters	Selects the next parameter. You must have a parameter selected (highlighted) for this shortcut to work.

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
Show Documentation	Shows documentation for item under the cursor.	
Insert Next Matching Word	Generates the next word used elsewhere in your code, as you type its beginning characters.	
Insert Previous Matching Word	Generates the previous word used elsewhere in your code, as you type its beginning characters.	
Inspect	Runs the specified inspection on the selected file, package, or project.	
Scan for External Changes	Scans file for changes made outside of MPLAB [®] X IDE.	

10.1.6 Refactor Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Refactor menu. The items you see are dependent on the type of object (variable, function, etc.) you are refactoring. For more information, see 7.6 C Code Refactoring.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-6. Refactor Menu Options

Command	Action
Rename	Enables you to change the name of a variable or function to something more meaningful. In addition, it updates all source code in your project to reference the element by its new name.
Move	Moves a class to another package or into another class In addition, all source code in your project is updated to reference the class in its new location.
Сору	Copies a class to the same or a different package.
Safely Delete	Checks for references to a code element and then automatically deletes that element if no other code references it.
Change Function Parameter	Changes the amount and name of parameters for the selected function.
Encapsulate Fields	C++ Only: Click in a C++ source file to see this option. Automatically generates a getter method and a setter method for a field and optionally updates all referencing code to access the field using the getter and setter methods. See also:
	http://wiki.netbeans.org/Refactoring

10.1.7 Production Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Production menu (previously Run menu).

0		
E.	1	

Note: The Run action has been removed from this menu, but it still available as an icon on the toolbar:

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-7. Production Menu Options

Command	Action
Build Project	Builds all the files in a project.
Clean and Build Project	Removes (cleans) previously generated project files and then rebuilds the files in a project.

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
Batch Build Project	Builds multiple configurations of a project (only embedded available).	
Set Project Configuration	Selects project configuration – Default.	
Set Main Project	Sets the main project by selecting from a list of open projects.	
Configuration Bits	Opens the Configuration Bits window.	
Check File	Checks a file against a standard (XML related).	
Validate File	Validates a file against a standard (XML related).	
Repeat Build/Run	Runs again after halt.	
Stop Build/Run	Ends run.	

10.1.8 Debug Menu

Below are the menu items in the Debug menu.

Table 10-8. Debug Menu Options

Command	Action
Debug Project	Debugs the main or selected project.
Discrete Debugger Operation	 Performs the following debug operations one step at a time (discretely): Build for Debugging (build with debug executive). Program Device for Debugging (program with debug build). Launch Debugger. Live Connect Debug. This is useful for changing the Memory window setting during debug and using starter kits.
Finish Debugger Session	Ends the debugging session.
Pause	Pauses debugging – use "Continue" to resume.
Continue	Resumes debugging after "Pause" until the next breakpoint or the end of the program is reached.
Step Over	Executes one source line of a program . If the line is a function call, executes the entire function and then stops.
Step Into	Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, it executes the program up to the function's first statement and then stops.
Step Out	Executes one source line of a program. Finishes execution of the current function and stops on the source line immediately following the call to that function.
Step Instruction	Executes one machine instruction If the instruction is a function call, it executes the function and returns control to the caller.
Run to Cursor	Runs the current project to the cursor's location in the file and stop program execution.
Reset	Resets the device.
Set PC at cursor	Sets the program counter (PC) value to the line address of the cursor.

Desktop Reference

continued	
Command	Action
Focus Cursor at PC	Moves the cursor to the current PC address and centers this address in the window.
Stack>Make Callee Current	Makes the method being called the current call . Only available when a call is selected in the Call Stack window.
Stack>Make Caller Current	Makes the calling method the current call. Only available when a call is selected in the Call Stack window.
Stack>Pop Topmost Call	Pops the call on top of the stack.
Stack>Pop To Current Stack Frame	Pops the current stack from to the top of the stack.
Stack>Pop Last Debugger Call	Pops the last call from the debug tool to the top of stack.
Toggle Line Breakpoint	Adds a line breakpoint or removes the breakpoint at the cursor location in the program.
New Breakpoint	Sets a new breakpoint at the specified line, exception, or method.
New Watch	Adds the specified symbol to watch.
New Run Time Watch	Adds the specified symbol to watch that will change value as the program runs/ executes.
Disconnect from Debug Tool	Disconnects communications between MPLAB [®] X IDE and the debug tool To reconnect, either Run or Debug.
Run Debugger/ Programmer Self Test	Performs a debug tool self-test For tools that support a self test, follow the tool documentation to set up the hardware and then run this test to confirm proper operation.
Hardware Tool Emergency Boot Firmware Recovery	Run utility to restore hardware tool boot firmware to its factory state. See MPLAB ICD 4 or PICkit 4 Help for details.

10.1.9 Team Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Team menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-9. Team Menu Options

Command	Action
Shelve Changes	Temporarily sets aside some not yet committed changes in a working directory as a patch file.
Git, Mercurial, Subversion	Displays submenus that are specific to each version management system . Please see product documentation for more on the submenu options.
History	Shows the history of a file or reverts file to history version.
Find Task	Finds an issue in a version control system.
Report Task	Reports an issue to a version control system.
Create Build Job	Creates a build using a version control system.

10.1.10 Tools Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Tools menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Desktop Reference

Command	Action
Embedded	Visible if a plugin has been added – select the plugin from the submenu.
Licenses	 Manage compiler licenses. For details, see the Documentation tab of: https://www.microchip.com/mplab/compilers Roam Network Licenses. Activate Workstation License. License Status. Change Licensing Type.
Packs	Open MPLAB Pack Manager to select a versioned device pack for your project device.
Templates	Opens the Template Manager.
DTDs and XML Schemas	Opens the DTDs and XML Schemas Manager.
Plugins	Opens the Plugins Manager . For details, see the NetBeans help topic: http://wiki.netbeans.org/InstallingAPlugin
Plugins Download	Opens a selection dialog, where you can:
	 Visit "Embedded Code Source" Website - Download a plugin to install later using the "Downloaded" tab of the Plugin Manager. Go to MPLAB X Plugin Manager - Install a plugin immediately from the "Available Plugins" list in the Plugin Manager.
Options	Opens the Options dialog. For macOS: Use MPLAB X IDE>Preferences. See 12.16 Tools Options Window, Embedded.

10.1.11 Window Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Window menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-11.	Window	Menu	Options
--------------	--------	------	---------

Command	Action
Projects	Opens the Projects window. See 8.1 Projects Window View.
Files	Opens the Files window. See 8.2 Files Window View.
Classes	Opens the Classes window. See 8.3 Classes Window View.
Favorites	Opens the Favorites window. See 8.4 Favorites Window View.
Services	Opens the Services window. See NetBeans help for more on this window.
Dashboard	Opens the Dashboard window. See 5.19 View the Dashboard Display.

Desktop Reference

continued Command	Action
Navigator	Opens the Navigator window. See NetBeans help for more on this window.
Acton Items	Opens the Action Items window. See 12.1 Action Items Window.
Tasks	Opens the Task List window.
Output	Opens or moves to front the Output window. See 12.13 Output Window.
Editor	Opens an empty editor window. See 7.1 Editor Usage.
Debugging>Output	Opens debugging output windows.
Debugging>Variables	Opens the Local Variables debugger window. See 4.17 Watch Local Variable Values Change.
Debugging>Watches	Opens the Watches debugger window. See 4.16 Watch Symbol Values Change.
Debugging>Call Stack	Opens the Call Stack debugger window. See 5.17 View the Call Stack.
Debugging>Breakpoints	Opens the Breakpoints window. See 4.14 Control Program Execution with Breakpoints.
Debugging>Sessions	Opens the Sessions window.
Debugging>Sources	Opens the Sources window.
Debugging>Disassembly	Opens the Disassembly window. See 12.7 Disassembly Window.
Debugging>PIC AppIO	Opens the Application In/Out window
	Applies to the MPLAB [®] REAL ICE [™] in-circuit emulator.
Debugging>Trace	Opens the Trace window
	Applies to the Simulator or MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator.
Debugging>Stopwatch	Opens the Stopwatch window. See 5.15 Use the Stopwatch.
Debugging>PC Profiling	Open the PC Profiling window. Applies to the MPLAB [®] REAL ICE [™] in-circuit emulator.
Debugging>Triggers	Opens the Trigger In window. Applies to the MPLAB [®] REAL ICE [™] in-circuit emulator.
Debugging>Debugger Console	Opens a console window for entering commands on the command line.
Web>Web Browser	Opens your default web browser.
Web>CSS	Opens the CSS Styles window. Enables you to edit the declarations of rules for HTML elements and selectors in a CSS file.
IDE Tools>Bookmarks	Opens the Bookmarks window. Displays a list of the bookmarks in your files in your open projects.

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
IDE Tools>Notifications	Opens the Notifications window. Displays a list of the IDE errors and warnings that occurred in the current IDE session.	
IDE Tools>Terminal	Opens a Terminal window for a local or remote host.	
IDE Tools>Processes	Opens the Processes window. You can attach a debug tool to a running process.	
PIC Memory Views>Memory	Opens specified Memory window. Memories shown depend on the project device. See either: 12.9 Memory Windows - 8- and 16-Bit Devices 12.10 Memory Windows - 32-Bit Devices	
Simulator>Stimulus	Opens the Simulator Stimulus window. See MPLAB X Simulator documentation for details.	
Simulator>Analyzer	Opens the Simulator Analyzer window. See MPLAB X Simulator documentation for details.	
Simulator>IOPin	Opens the Simulator IO Pin window. See MPLAB X Simulator documentation for details.	
Simulator>Register Trace	Opens the Simulator Register Trace window. See MPLAB X Simulator documentation for details.	
Configure Window> Maximize	Maximizes the active window to the full IDE window size.	
Configure Window>Float	Opens a floating IDE window with a tab.	
Configure Window> Float Group	Opens a floating IDE window group with tabs.	
Configure Window>Minimize	Minimizes the active window to standard size.	
Configure Window> Minimize Group	Minimizes the window group to standard size.	
Configure Window>Dock	Restores a floating tab to the main window.	
Configure Window> Dock Group	Restores a floating tab group to the main window.	
Configure Window> Clone Document	Opens a new tab for the same document.	
Configure Window> Split Window	Splits the active document either vertically or horizontally.	
Configure Window< New Document Tab Group	Splits the editor window into two groups of tabs and separates the selected tab into the new group.	
Configure Window>Collapse Document Tab Group	Combines separate group of tabs into one group.	
Reset Window	Resets windows to their default settings.	
Close Window	Closes the current tab in the current window. If the window has no tabs, the whole window is closed.	
Close All Documents	Closes all open documents in the Source Editor.	
Close Other Documents	Closes all open documents except the active one.	

Desktop Reference

continued		
Command	Action	
Document Groups	Create named document group(s).	
Documents	Opens the Documents dialog box, in which you can save and close groups of open documents.	

10.1.12 Help Menu

This section lists the menu items in the Help menu.

For keyboard shortcuts of some of these menu items, see <u>Help>Keyboard Shortcuts Card</u>.

Table 10-12.	Help Menu	Options
--------------	-----------	---------

Command	Action
Help Contents	Displays a JavaHelp viewer with all installed help files.
Tool Help Contents	Displays a single JavaHelp viewer with a single tool help file.
Release Notes	Open a list of links to available Release Notes for MPLAB supported tools. Other MPLAB X IDE support documentation links are also listed.
Online Docs and Support	Opens the NetBeans support web page.
Keyboard Shortcuts Card	Displays the keyboard shortcuts documen.t
MPLAB X Store	Opens the MPLAB X Store tab.
Start Page	Opens or moves the Start Page tab in front of any other open tabs.
About	Displays a window about MPLAB® X IDE.

10.2 Toolbars

MPLAB X IDE displays different toolbars depending on which features or tools you are using. The icons in these toolbars provide shortcuts to routine tasks.

The following is useful when working with toolbars:

- Toolbar Features
- Customize Toolbars
- Grayed Out or Missing Items and Buttons

Desktop Reference



10.2.1 File Toolbar

The File Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the File menu.

lcon	Icon Text	Function
P	New File	Creates a new file with the New File wizard.
1	New Project	Creates a new project with the New Project wizard.
	Open Project	Opens an existing project.
9	Save All Files	Saves all open files.

Related Links

10.2.11 Toolbar Features 10.2.12 Customize Toolbars

10.2.2 Clipboard Toolbar

The Clipboard Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the Edit menu.

Desktop Reference

lcon	Icon Text	Function
8	Cut	Deletes the current selection and places it on the clipboard.
P	Сору	Copies the current selection to the clipboard.
Ê	Paste	Pastes the contents of the clipboard into the insertion point.

Related Links

10.2.11 Toolbar Features

10.2.12 Customize Toolbars

10.2.3 Status Flags Toolbar

The Status Flags Toolbar contains the following functions:

Image	Image Text	Description
PC: 0x0	Program Counter	Program Counter (PC) current value.
z dc c :W:0x0:bank 0	Status Flags	Device status flags. See your device data sheet for information on status bits and/or registers.

10.2.4 Undo/Redo Toolbar

The Undo/Redo Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the Edit menu.

lcon	Icon Name	Function
5	Undo	Reverses (one at a time) a series of editor actions, except Save.
C	Redo	Reverses (one at a time) a series of Undo commands.

10.2.5 Run Toolbar

The Run Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the Run, Debug and project context menus.

lcon	Icon Text	Function
default default Customize	Set Project Configuration	Selects project configuration. Choose "default" or "Customize." See Project Properties window for details.
SP ↓	Build Project	Builds all the project files.
	>Build for Debugging	Builds all the project files for debug, which includes the debug executive. Step one of Discrete Debugger Operation.
1	Clean and Build Project	Deletes files from previous builds and then builds the all project files.
	>Clean and Build for Debugging	Deletes files from previous builds and then Builds all the project files for debug, which includes the debug executive. Step one of Discrete Debugger Operation.

Desktop Reference

continued			
lcon	lcon Text	Function	
	Run Project	Builds, programs the target and Runs the selected project.	
-	Make and Program Device Project	Builds, programs the target and holds in Reset the selected project.	
	>Program Device for Debugging	Programs the target with the debug build. Step two of Discrete Debugger Operation.	
	>Program Device for Production	Programs the target with the production build.	
	>Erase Device Memory	Erase device program memory.	
	>Programmer To Go PICkit3	For the PICkit 3 as the project debug tool, program the target using Programmer To Go (PTG).	
	Read Device Memory	Reads target device memory and loads into MPLAB X IDE.	
	>Discrete Multi-Partition Read Operation	For multi-partition (dual partition) devices, read specified flash memory partition.	
	>Read Device Memory to a File	Reads target device memory and saves to a file.	
	>Read EE/Flash Data Memory to a File	Reads target device data memory and saves to a file.	
	Hold in Reset/ Release from Reset	Alternately holds in or releases from Reset the selected project.	
	Debug Project	Builds, programs the target and begins debugging the selected project.	
	>Launch Debugger	Launch debugger and run target code. Step three of Discrete Debugger Operation.	
	>Live Connect Debug	For MEC devices, connect to a running target and inspect the memory contents. Allows some debugging on a production device.	
> = Available from icon down arrow			

Related Links

10.2.11 Toolbar Features

10.2.12 Customize Toolbars

10.2.6 Debug Toolbar

The Debug Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the Debug menu.

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Finish Debugger Session	Ends the debugging session.
	Pause	Pauses debugging. Use "Continue" to resume.
	Reset	Runs the current project to the cursor's location in the file and stop program execution.

Desktop Reference

	continued						
lcon	Icon Text	Function					
	Continue	Resumes debugging until the next breakpoint or the end of the program is reached.					
ß	Step Over	Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, executes the entire function then stops.					
	Step Into	Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, executes the program up to the function's first statement and stops.					
r	Step Out	Executes one source line of a program. If the line is a function call, executes the functions and returns control to the caller.					
S	Run to Cursor	Runs the current project to the cursor's location in the file and stop program execution.					
->1	Set PC at cursor	Sets the program counter (PC) value to the line address of the cursor.					
	Focus Cursor at PC	Moves the cursor to the current PC address and centers this address in the window.					

Related Links

10.2.11 Toolbar Features

10.2.2 Clipboard Toolbar

10.2.7 Performance Toolbar

The Performance Toolbar contains:

Item	Item Name	Function
172.0/359.9MB	Memory Usage Display	Click to force garbage collection. This may free up memory.
	Profile the Application	Click to begin profiling the application. Click again to stop profiling and save to a file (.npss). See MPLAB® REAL ICE [™] in-circuit emulator documentation for more on PC sampling and profiling.

10.2.8 MPLAB X Store Toolbar

The MPLAB X Store Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. The MPLAB X Store function is also on the Help menu.

lcon	Icon Text	Function
¥	MPLAB X Store	Click to open the MPLAB X Store tab in the IDE. Find out about products, services, and order devices.
	Programming Center	Click to order information on the Microchip Programming Center in a browser tab. Let Microchip do your device programming in a fast, cost-effective, secure and proven method.

10.2.9 How Do I Toolbar

How do I? Keyword(s)

This feature requires an Internet connection.

Desktop Reference

Search for information on the Developer Help. Enter your question in the text box. See also:

https://microchipdeveloper.com/

10.1.12 Help Menu

10.2.10 Editor Toolbar

The Editor Toolbar currently contains button icons for the following functions. These functions are also on the Edit and Source menus. This toolbar appears at the top of the tab containing the current file source code.

Figure 10-3. Editor Toolbar

Start Page 🛛 🕺 🦉	f MPLAB X Store 🛛 🕸	Kit Window 🛛 🕅	🖭 main.c 🛛 🕷	
Source History	📷 📴 🌄 - 🐺	- 🔍 😓 🖧	🖶 🗔 🥐	郒 잎 잎 ● ■ ₩ ⊒ №

lcon	Icon Text	Function
Source	Source	Views source code.
History	History	Views the history of source code edits.
	Online Data Sheet	Opens the project device data sheet to actively lookup Peripherals and SFR's selected (highlighted) in source code. Currently this functionality is for AVR devices only.
	Last Edited	Moves to the line that contains the last edit made.
-	Back	Navigates back.
	Forward	Navigates forward.
	Find Selection	Finds the first occurrence of the selected text.
<	Find Previous Occurrence	Finds the previous occurrence of the selected text.
4	Find Next Occurrence	Finds the next occurrence of the selected text.
	Toggle Highlight Search	Turns on/off text selected for search.
	Toggle Rectangular Selection	Turns on/off text selected lines for search.
8	Previous Bookmark	Cycles backwards through the bookmarks.
-	Next Bookmark	Cycles forward through the bookmarks.
₽	Toggle Bookmark	Sets a bookmark on a line of code.
	Shift Left	Moves the selected line or lines one tab to the left.
	Shift Right	Moves the selected line or lines one tab to the right.
\bigcirc	Start Macro Recording	Start recording keystrokes.

Desktop Reference

continued				
lcon	Icon Text	Function		
	Stop Macro Recording	Stop recording keystrokes.		
	Comment	Makes selected line into a comment by adding "//".		
	Uncomment	Makes selected comment into a line by removing "//".		
	Go to Header/Source	Moves between the header and related source code.		

Related Links

10.2.11 Toolbar Features

10.2.12 Customize Toolbars

10.2.11 Toolbar Features

Toolbars have the following features:

- Hover the cursor over an icon to pop up the icon function.
- Click and drag the toolbar to another location in the toolbar area.
- **Right click** in the toolbar area to show/hide a toolbar or change the contents of some toolbars.
- Select View>Toolbars to show/hide a toolbar, change the contents of some toolbars or create a custom toolbar.

10.2.12 Customize Toolbars

You can customize MPLAB X IDE toolbars using the Customize Toolbars window. Select <u>View>Toolbars>Customize</u> to open the window.

Available icons include Clean Only, Run, Set PC to Cursor, etc.

Add a function to a toolbar

• Drag an icon from the Customize Toolbars window to a toolbar.

Remove a function from a toolbar

• Drag an icon from a toolbar to the Customize Toolbars window.

Add your own toolbar

• Click "New Toolbar" and name the new toolbar.

Change toolbar icon size

- Click the check box "Small Toolbar Icons" to make the icons smaller.
- Uncheck to make the icons larger.

Revert to default toolbar

• Click "Reset Toolbars."



🗴 Customize Toolbars					
Drag items to or from the toolbars to add or remove them					
CustomLogicAnalyzerAction	=				
···· 🕜 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-CMakeAction.instance					
org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-CompileAction.instance					
Make					
Make Clean					
org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-QMakeAction.instance					
···· 🕜 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-ShellRunAction.instance					
🔤 🛛 🛛 Reconfigure Project					
🖶 🗇 🕖 Debug					
🐨 🐨 New Data Breakpoint					
New Watch					
PIC AppIO					
🚯 Debug Main Project					
Program Device for Debugging Main Project					
Disassembly					
Disconnect from Debug Tool	-				
New Toolbar Small Toolbar Icons	ars				
Close	٤lp				

10.3 Status Bar

The status bar will provide up-to-date information on the status of your MPLAB IDE session. Editor information is also provided.

Figure 10-5. Status Bar During Debug

PIC24FJ_Example_Complex (Build, Load,)		88
--	--	----

10.4 Grayed Out or Missing Items and Buttons

There are several reasons why a menu item, toolbar button or status bar item may be grayed out (unavailable) or missing:

- The item/button is related to a device feature that the selected device does not have, e.g., the PIC16F877A does not support external memory.
- The item/button is related to a tool feature that the selected tool does not have, e.g., "Step Out" is not available on MPLAB ICD 3.
- The item/button is project-related and no project has been selected, e.g., project build will not be available (No Active Project).
- The item/button is not supported for the selected device or tool.

- The item/button is performing its function and so cannot be selected again, e.g., "Run Project" is grayed out when the program is running.
- The item/button is mutually exclusive to another item, e.g., "Pause" is available when the program is running while "Continue" is grayed out and "Continue" is available when the program is halted while "Pause" is grayed out.

Wind	dow Help				
	Kit Window		z	dc c :W:0x0:bank 0	
-	Projects	Ctrl+1			
	Files	Ctrl+2	ore	🕺 🖭 main.c 🕺 🖣	adcc.c 🕺
۵	Classes	Ctrl+9			
	Favorites	Ctrl+3			
륦	Services	Ctrl+5	5		
28	Dashboard		Ë		
8	Navigator	Ctrl+7	E		
"Q	Action Items	Ctrl+6	刃	2	
8	Tasks	Ctrl+Shift+6			
ъ	Output	Ctrl+4		/	
	Editor	Ctrl+0			
	Debugging	1		Output	•
	Web		\diamond	Variables	Alt+Shift+1
	IDE Tools		\odot	Watches	Alt+Shift+2
	Target Memory Views			Call Stack	Alt+Shift+3
	Simulator			Breakpoints	Alt+Shift+5
	Configure Window	,		Sessions	Alt+Shift+6
	Reset Windows			Sources	Alt+Shift+8
		-	1011	Disassembly	
	Close Window	Ctrl+W		IO View	
	Close All Documents	Ctrl+Shift+W		PIC AppIO	
	Close Other Documents		4	Trace	
	Document Groups		-Ö	Stopwatch	
	Documents	Shift+F4		PC Profiling	
		-		lriggers	
			<u>}-</u>	Debugger Console	

Figure 10-6. Grayed Out Menu Items

MPLAB X IDE Windows Behavior

11. MPLAB X IDE Windows Behavior

MPLAB X IDE windows each have a specific function to help developers create and debug application code. However, all or some of the windows have features developers need to understand to fully make use each window.

11.1 MPLAB X IDE Windows Management

Information on managing IDE windows may be found in the NetBeans help topic:

Managing IDE Windows

Additional window information is provided below.

11.1.1 Window Data Updates

Open windows are updated on a program halt (except for Flash memory windows, which must be read). A program halt includes a halt after a run and stepping. Halt updates can have the following effects:

- Speed Updating takes time. To decrease update time, close any unused windows.
- Data overwrites The value of a file register displayed in an open window is read on halt. See your device data sheet for the register operation on read.

11.1.2 Window Data Changes

MPLAB X IDE window data may be edited as described below. If you cannot edit the data, then that information is not available for you to change.

- Data may be edited "in place." Either double click to select an item and then type in a new value, or click on the ellipsis (...) next to an item and type the new value in the window that pops up.
- Data may be chosen from a drop-down list when only certain choices are possible.

11.1.3 Window Column Display

For some windows, you can change the column display. Click on the icon in the window top right corner.

Ę	Change column display.
8	Change visible columns.

MPLAB X IDE Windows Behavior

Output	Program Memory	Variables	Watches 🕷		
🔊 N	lame	Туре		Address	Value
→ ±	ADCON0	SFR	(0x93	0x94
. ±	ADCON3	SFR	(0x96	0x00
	Enter new watch>		[
3	C	hange Visible	Columns		
		Ch	oose the Columns	to Display in the List	4
		V			
			Binary: Binary for		
			Char: Character		
			Decimal: Decimal		
			Hexadecimal: He	ue	
			Type: Type of wa	atch variable	
			Value: Value of w	atch expression	
			ок	Cancel	
			(1:1

Figure 11-1. Change Visible Columns Example

11.1.4 Window Focus

To ensure that you have a window in focus, click not only on the window frame, but also on a button, a table cell, or a drop-down combo box.

11.2 Banked Data Memory and Values Displayed in Windows

This feature applies only to 8-bit PIC MCU devices that use banked Data memory (RAM).

In MPLAB X IDE v5.20 and earlier, a register address always includes the bank offset in the value displayed. However, this is not always correct as the actual value can only be accurately calculated when the instruction is at the program counter (PC).

In MPLAB X IDE v5.25 and later, a register address only includes the bank offset when the PC is on the line with the register address. When the PC is not on that line, the value defaults to the one shown in code (no bank offset or bank 0).

Example 11-1. Behavior Change from v5.20 to v5.25 Consider the example code snipet in the figure below. Display behavior for disassembly code in the Program Memory window (DisAssy colomn) or Disassembly window is shown in the table.						
Figure 11-2. Example Code Sn	Figure 11-2. Example Code Snipet					
14asm("MOVLB 0x3A"); // change to bank 5815asm("CLRF 0x74"); // clear common RAM registerTable 11-1. Behavior Change from v5.20 to v5.25						
MPLAB X IDE Disassembly of Line 15 - Not Disassembly of Line 15 - At at PC PC						
v5.20 and earlier CLRF 0x1D74 CLRF 0x1D74						
v5.25 and later CLRF 0x74 CLRF 0x1D74						

12. MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

The MPLAB X IDE desktop has four sections, or panes, which contain tabbed windows. Windows may not be visible until a feature has been selected. Windows may have associated dialogs for entering specific information.

As an example, when you first open MPLAB X IDE, only the **Start Page** and **MPLAB X Store** tabbed windows are open. After you open a project, the basic windows open – namely Projects and Files in the top left pane, Dashboard and Navigator in the bottom left pane, and Output in the bottom right pane. The **Start Page** and **MPLAB X Store** tabbed windows move into the top right pane.

MPLAB X IDE windows are a combination of basic NetBeans Platform windows and MPLAB X IDE specific windows. Dialogs open when selected from menu items. As with windows, MPLAB X IDE dialogs are a combination of basic NetBeans Platform dialogs and MPLAB X IDE specific dialogs. For information on NetBeans windows and dialogs, see 13.1 NetBeans Specific Windows and Window Menus.

12.1 Action Items Window

Open the Action Item window from Window>Action Items.

The Action Items window displays a unified list of things that you need to resolve in your various files and projects, including compiler warnings and errors. Place comments in your code to specify action items. For example, in the figure below the following lines of code were used:

//TODO Add function content : //TODO Complete project startup logic : //FIXME Update code for CCI compiler compliance

Figure 12-1. Action Items Window Example

Output		Action Items 🕷		
		Description	File	Location
	10	TODO Add function content	main.c	C:/Users/c08227/MPLABXProjects/BasicProject.X/main.c:11
	10	TODO Complete project startup logic	main.c	C:/Users/c08227/MPLABXProjects/BasicProject.X/main.c:16
	⁄∞	FIXME Update code for CCI compiler compliance	main.c	C:/Users/c08227/MPLABXProjects/BasicProject.X/main.c:20

멑믑

You can use filters to determine the entries that are displayed in the list and you can sort the list by clicking a column heading. The Action Items window icons enables you to modify and work with the displayed entries.

For more information, see: http://microchipdeveloper.com/mplabx:tasks-list

12.1.1 Action Items Window Display

This display format shows data in the following columns:

- Description A description of the action required.
- File The name of the file action.
- Location The file location.

The Action Items window icons are displayed on the left side of the window.
Table 12-1. Action Items Window Icons

lcon Text	Icon Text	Description
	Show action items for currently edited file only	When selected, the IDE scans the file that is currently selected in the editor and displays a list of the action items found in that file. When you open a new file in the editor, the file is scanned and only the action items in that file are displayed.
	Show action items for the selected project	When selected, the IDE scans all the files in the currently selected project and displays all the action items in the project window.
	Show action items for all opened projects	When selected, the IDE scans all the files in all open projects and displays a list of all the action items in the window.
7.	Click here to select a filter	Click the Filter button to modify the filters for the action items or to create a new filter. You can click the drop-down list on this button to select a filter to apply to the list of action items.
8	Group action items by category	When selected, the list of action items is grouped by category.

12.1.2 Action Items Window Menu

Select and right click on a row in the window to pop up this menu.

Table 12-2. Action Items Window Context Menu

ltem	Description*
Show	Show the location in code of the error/warning.
Scope	Show the scope of the item - current file, current project, all projects.
Filter	Show how the item is filtered. Also change filtering.
Refresh	Refresh the window contents.
Sort By	Specify how the window contents should be arranged.

12.2 Breakpoints Window

Open the window by selecting Window>Debugging>Breakpoints.

The Breakpoints window is used for managing breakpoints in code. For more on using the Breakpoints window, see 4.14 Control Program Execution with Breakpoints.

New Breakpoint Dialog

Click the **Create New Breakpoint** button on the Breakpoint window to open the 4.14.2 Set Breakpoints with the Breakpoint Dialog and create a new breakpoint. Types of breakpoints allowable for the project device are listed.

Figure 12-2. New Breakpoint Icon



Breakpoint Window Menus

Right click in a blank area of the window to pop the menu below.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Table 12-3. Breakpoints Window Menu - No Breakpoint Line Selected

Item	Description
New Breakpoint	Open the New Breakpoint dialog.
Enable All Disable All	Enable or disable all breakpoints.
Delete All	Delete all breakpoints.

Right click on an existing breakpoint row in the window to pop the menu below.

Table 12-4. Breakpoints Window Menu - Breakpoint Line Selected

ltem	Description
Go to Source	Show the location in code of the breakpoint.
Complex Breakpoint	For a complex breakpoint, add this breakpoint to a new sequence or tuple. Also specify location in sequence or tuple.
Disable Enable	Disable or re-enable the operation of this breakpoint.
New Breakpoint	Open the New Breakpoint dialog.
Enable All Disable All	Enable or disable all breakpoints.
Delete Delete All	Delete this or all breakpoints.
Customize	Customize the breakpoint behavior.

12.3 New Breakpoint Dialog

Open this dialog from the Breakpoints Window (<u>Window>Debugging>Breakpoints</u>). Either click the "New Breakpoint"

icon bor select "New Breakpoint" from a context menu.

The options available for the breakpoint are determined by the type of breakpoint selected and the selected device (not all options are available for all devices).

Types of breakpointss are:

- 12.3.1 Line Breakpoints
- 12.3.2 Data Breakpoints
- 12.3.3 Address Breakpoints
- 12.3.4 Event Breakpoint
- 12.3.5 Function Breakpoints
- 12.3.6 Pass Count Operation

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

🔀 New Brea	ikpoint 💌
Breakpoint T	ype: Address -
Settings	
Project:	MyProject 👻
Address:	Hex (0x1d000000 - 0x1d07ffff)
Breaks on:	Program Memory Execution 🗸
Pass count	
Condition	n: Always Break 👻
	OK Cancel

12.3.1 Line Breakpoints

The following options are available for breakpoints specified on a line of code.

Table 12-5. Breakpoint Type: Line – Settings

ltem	Description
Settings	Create a new Line break point with a left mouse click on the Editor gutter next to the file line. Or, select "Toggle Line Breakpoint" from the Editor context menu.

12.3.2 Data Breakpoints

The following options are available for data memory breakpoints.

Table 12-6. Breakpoint Type: Data – Settings

Item	Description
Project	Select an open project from the drop-down list This is the project in which code will contain the breakpoint.
Symbols	Enter the name of a global symbol, or SFR, or browse to one by clicking Symbols . Accessing this symbol according to "Breaks on" triggers a pause in code execution.
Enable Range Address	Check to set a range breakpoint. Uncheck to set a single breakpoint.
Address Address (Start)	Depending on the selection of "Enable Range Address", this item can be "Address" or "Address (Start)". Enter a hexadecimal address in data memory Accessing this address according to "Breaks on" triggers a pause in code execution.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued	
Item	Description
Address (End)	If "Enable Range Address" is checked, this box is enabled. Enter a hexadecimal address in data memory.
Breaks on	 Read, Write, Read or Write: Break code execution when the symbol or address stated above is read, written, or either read or written. Read Specific Value, Write Specific Value, Read or Write Specific Value: Break code execution when the symbol or address stated above is read and has the value specified below, written with the value specified below, or either read or written according to the value specified below. Note: For dsPIC DSCs, there are read and write options for the X and Y buses.
Value	For the "Breaks on" selection of Read Specific Value, Write Specific Value, or Read or Write Specific Value, enter a hexadecimal value here.
Value Comparison	For PIC16F1xxx devices only- Compare to "Value" as specified: = Value: Equal to value != Value: Not equal to value > Value: Greater than value < Value: Less than value
Data Value Mask	For PIC16F1xxx devices only- Use mask when comparing to "Value" Enter a value in the range 0x00 to 0xhh, where: 0x00: No bits compared 0xhh: All bits compared

Table 12-7. Breakpoint Type: Data – Pass Count

Item	Description	
Condition	Determine when the break specified under "Breaks on" occurs. Always Break : Always break when the "Breaks on" condition is met.	
	Break occurs Count Instructions after Event : After an event ("Breaks on" condition) occurs, execute Count Instructions before actually breaking.	
	Event must occur Count times : An event ("Breaks on" condition) must occur Count times before actually breaking.	
Count	According to the Condition specified, enter either a count for the number of instructions after an event or the number of events. See 12.3.4 Event Breakpoint.	
Trigger Options	For PIC16F1xxx devices only- Select when to trigger, either:	
	 Do not trigger out when breakpoint is reached trigger out when breakpoint is reached 	
Interrupt Context	 For PIC16F1xxx devices only- Interrupt Context qualifier for address/data breakpoints. Select from: Always break (break in both ISR and main code) Break in main line (non-interrupt) context only – break in main code only Break in interrupt context only – break in ISR code only 	

12.3.3 Address Breakpoints

The following options are available for program/execution memory breakpoints.

Table 12-8. Breakpoint Type: Address – Settings

Item	Description
Project	Select an open project from the drop-down list This is the project in which code will contain the breakpoint.
Enable Range Address	Check to set a range breakpoint. Uncheck to set a single breakpoint.
Address Address (Start)	Depending on the selection of "Enable Range Address", this item can be "Address" or "Address (Start)". Enter a hexadecimal address in data memory Accessing this address according to "Breaks on" triggers a pause in code execution.
Address (End)	If "Enable Range Address" is checked, this box is enabled. Enter a hexadecimal address in data memory.
Breaks on	 Program Memory Execution: Break code execution when the address specified above is reached. TBLRD Program Memory: Break code execution when a table read to the address specified above occurs. TBLWT Program Memory: Break code execution when a table write to the address specified above occurs.

Table 12-9. Breakpoint Type: Data – Pass Count

Item	Description
Condition	Determine when the break specified under "Breaks on" occurs. Always Break : Always break when the "Breaks on" condition is met.
	Break occurs Count Instructions after Event : After an event ("Breaks on" condition) occurs, execute Count Instructions before actually breaking.
	Event must occur Count times : An event ("Breaks on" condition) must occur Count times before actually breaking.
Count	According to the Condition specified, enter either a count for the number of instructions after an event or the number of events. See 12.3.4 Event Breakpoint.
Trigger Options	For PIC16F1xxx devices only- Select when to trigger, either:
	Do not trigger out when breakpoint is reached
	trigger out when breakpoint is reached
Interrupt Context	For PIC16F1xxx devices only-
	Alwaya brack (brack in both ISB and main adda)
	 Always break (break in both ISR and main code) Break in main line (non-interrupt) context only – break in main code only
	 Break in interrupt context only – break in ISR code only
* See also Section "For some devices (PIC16F1xxx MCUs), enhanced event breakpoints actions are available."	

12.3.4 Event Breakpoint

The following options are available for event breakpoints.

Table 12-10. Breakpoint Type: Event

ltem*	Description
Project	Select an open project from the drop down list. This is the project whose code will contain the breakpoint.
Break on clock mode switch	Break when the clock mode switches.
Break on Reset instruction	Break when a device Reset instruction occurs.
Break on Sleep	Break when Sleep is entered.
Break on stack over/underflow	Break when the stack either overflows or underflows.
Break on wake up	Break when the device wakes up from sleep.
Break when watchdog timer has expired	Break when the watchdog timer period has ended.
Break on execution out of bounds	Break when the program attempts to move out of normal program memory/space.
Break on MCLR Reset	Break on a Master Clear (MCLR) Reset.
Break on trigger in signal	Break when a Trigger In pulse is detected.

* Select event(s) from the list that will cause executing code to pause (break). Some events may not be available for your device.

For some devices (PIC16F1xxx MCUs), enhanced event breakpoints actions are available.

Action	Description
Break	Break (halt) execution per option specified.
Trigger out	Emit a trigger out pulse per option specified.
Break and trigger out	Break (halt) execution and emit a trigger out pulse per option specified.

12.3.5 Function Breakpoints

The following options are available for function breakpoints.

Table 12-11. Breakpoint Type: Function – Settings

Item	Description
Symbol/Hex Address	Enter or select either a symbol representation or address for a function.

Table 12-12. Breakpoint Type: Function – Conditions

Item	Description
Condition	Check to enable. Then enter a break condition.
Break when hit count exceeds	Check to enable. Then enter an integer number to represent the number of times the function is to be entered, after which a break occurs.

Table 12-13. Breakpoint Type: Function – Actions

Item	Description
Suspend	On break, suspend: No thread (continue): No program suspension. Breakpoint thread: Only suspend the function thread All threads: Suspend all threads (not main program)

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued		
ltem	Description	
Thread ID	Set ID of breakpoint thread.	
Print Text	Enter text to be displayed in the Output window when a break occurs.	

12.3.6 Pass Count Operation

Using a pass count allows you to delay breaking until after a specified count.

Break occurs Count Instructions after Event

Count is the number of instructions that execution passes after the breakpoint but before stopping.

For example,

- · 0 specifies that execution stops immediately
- 1 specifies that execution stops after one additional instruction
- 10 specifies that execution stops after ten additional instructions

Event must occur Count times

Count is the number of times that execution passes the event until stopping.

For example,

- 0 specifies that execution stops immediately
- 1 specifies that execution passes the event one time, then stops the next time (the second time the event occurs)
- 10 specifies that execution passes the event ten times, then stops the next time (the eleventh time the event occurs)

12.4 Call Stack Window

Select Window>Debugging>Call Stack to open the Call Stack window. You must be in debug mode to view content.

The Call Stack window displays C functions and their arguments listed in the order in which they were called in the executing program. C code that is not optimized works best.

The Call Stack is available for 16- and 32-bit devices. The window is updated on Debug Pause or Halt.

Figure 12-4. Call Stack Window

Call S	Stack 🕺	Breakpoints	Variables	Output		-
63	Name					
6.	🔲 Bt	nProcessEvents	s() at C:/Use	ers/c08227.	MCHP-MAIN/MPLABXProjects/PIC24F_Example.X/buttons.c : 88	-
	📃 ma	in () at C:/Users	c08227.MCHP-	MAIN/MPLAB	<pre>KProjects/PIC24F_Example.X/PIC24ExplDemo.c : 131</pre>	
						_

The following icons are available on the window on Pause or Halt.

Table 12-14. Call Stack Icons

lcon	Description
<u>8</u> 2	Auto or Manual Refresh of Window Contents. Depends on the value of "Disable auto refresh for call stack view during debug sessions" under <u>Tools>Options>Embedded>Generic Settings</u> – Unchecked = false (default), checked = true. See 12.16.1 Generic Settings Tab. False = Auto Refresh (Green Icon): The window contents are automatically updated on Pause or Halt. If the window is closed or not focused, selecting the window and clicking this button will display the updates without having to run and pause/halt again. True = Manual Refresh (Orange Icon): The window contents are not automatically updated on Pause or Halt. This button must be clicked to update window contents on a pause/halt.
(\cdot)	Select to disable/enable evaluation of function parameter variables.
	Change visible columns. For this window, show or hide location of call stack frame.

12.5 Customize Toolbars Window

You can customize MPLAB X IDE toolbars using the Customize Toolbars window. Select <u>View>Toolbars>Customize</u> to open the window.

For customization instructions, see 10.2.12 Customize Toolbars.

Customize Toolbars	×
Drag items to or from the toolbars to add or remove them	
	*
🖽 CustomLogicAnalyzerAction	=
···· 🕜 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-CMakeAction.instance	
···· 🕅 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-CompileAction.instance	
Make	
Make Clean	
🗁 🗹 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-QMakeAction.instance	
🗠 🗹 org-netbeans-modules-cnd-actions-ShellRunAction.instance	
🔤 🗕 Reconfigure Project	
🛱 🖓 Debug	
🖙 🐨 New Data Breakpoint	
New Watch	
PIC AppIO	
Program Device for Debugging Main Project	
Disassembly	
Disconnect from Debug Tool	-
New Toolbar Small Toolbar Icons	olbars
Close	Help

12.6 Dashboard Window

The Dashboard window contains general project information, such as checksums, compiler versions, memory usage, and breakpoint resources. For more information, see: 5.19 View the Dashboard Display.



12.7 Disassembly Window

View disassembled C code in the Disassembly window. Select <u>Window>Debugging>Disassembly</u> to open this window. You must be in debug mode.

When debugging, the "Step Over" function works in the source code context. Disassembly debugging is done using the "Step In" function. If during Disassembly debugging "Step In" is not needed - for example in cases where a CALL instruction needs to be stepped over and not stepped in - this can be achieved by using the "Run to Cursor" feature. Place the cursor at the line where PC needs to be run to and hit the "Run to Cursor"/F4 button.

Right click in the window to see the context menu.

A quick way to view the entire disassembly file is to select "Disassembly Listing File."

If your project device uses RAM banking, see also:

11.2 Banked Data Memory and Values Displayed in Windows

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Figure	12-5. Disassembly Window			
Start Pag	je 🕺 🛒 MPLAB X Store 🕺 🐏 main.c 🕺 📷 Disassembly(main) 🕺			
Asm Sour	rce History 📴 💀 - 🔊 - 🔍 🔧 🖓 📇 斗 🔗 😓 🤤) 🖆	1 🖆 🥚 🔲	
1	!void main(void)			
2	! {			
3	<pre>! // initialize the device</pre>			
4	<pre>! SYSTEM_Initialize();</pre>			
5	0x769: MOVLP 0x7			
6	0x76A: CALL 0x710			
7	0x76B: MOVLP 0x7			
8	<pre>! // <no -="" generated="" interrupts="" ma<="" pre="" see="" used=""></no></pre>	in.c	: file for code.>	
9	! // Declare loop variables, RAM array			
10	<pre>volatile uint8_t RAMArray[NUM_EE_VALUES];</pre>			
11	! uint8_t i;			
12	1			
13	! // Write initial values to EEPROM Data			
14	<pre>! PIR2bits.EEIF = 0x0; // clear write flag</pre>		Chan Instantion	
15	0x76C: MOVLB 0x0	~	Step Instruction	
16	0x76D: BCF PIR2, 0x4		Step Over	F8
17	<pre>! for(i=0; i<num_ee_values; i++){<="" pre=""></num_ee_values;></pre>		Run to Cursor	F4
18	0x76E: CLRF i			
19	0x76F: MOVLW 0x40		Cut	Ctrl+X
20	0x770: SUBWF i, W		Сору	Ctrl+C
21	0x771: BTFSS STATUS, 0x0		Paste	Ctrl+V
22	0x772: GOTO 0x774		Select in Projects	
23	0x773: GOTO 0x775		Select III Projects	
24	0x774: GOTO 0x777		Disassembly Listing File	
25	0x775: GOTO 0x792			
26	0x776: GOTO 0x792			
27	<pre>! DATAEE_WriteByte(_EEADRL_EEADRL_POSN</pre>	+ i,	i);	
28	0x777: MOVF i, W			
29	0x778: MOVWF 0x73			
30	0x779: MOVF 0x73, W			
31	0x77A: MOVWFpcstackCOMMON			
32	0x77B: MOVF i, W			
33	0x77C: MOVLP 0x7			

12.8 I/O View Window

Use the I/O View window (<u>Window>Debugging>IO View</u>) to see an overview of registers of the target device for the current project. For an overview of operation, see:

5.20 View Registers for the Project (I/O View)

I/O View Window Sections

The default view of the window is vertically split with peripheral groups in the top section and registers in the bottom section. Each peripheral typically has defined settings and value enumerations which can be displayed by expanding a register in the peripheral view (top section). The register view (bottom section) will display all registers which belong to a selected peripheral group. If no peripheral is selected, the view is empty. Each register can also be expanded to display the predefined value groupings that belong to the register.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Figure 12-6. I/O View Window with Content





lcon	Function
7	Filter Groups. Filter by groups of peripherals available in view.
	Click icon to open the Select dialog. Select peripherals using Shift-click (range) or Ctrl-click (individually). Alternately you can specify a Register Text Filter file.
Ø	Filter Select All Groups.
	Toggle Peripheral Pane.
	Click to show/hide peripheral (top) pane.
	Toggle Register Pane.
	Click to show/hide register (bottom) pane.
	Showing Standard Bits. Toggle for Highlight Modified Bits.
	Standard bits (no highlighting) are displayed for modified bits.
	Click on blue line icon to change to red line icon.
	Highlighting Modified Bits. Toggle for Standard Bits.
	Modified bits are highlighted in display.
	Click on red line icon to change to blue line icon.

	.continued
lcon	Function
X	Toggle Highlighting of Modified Bits.
	If previous icon selected as "Highlighting Modified Bits" then click this icon to toggle the type of highlighting for modified bits.

Click to open the IO View Settings dialog.

Table 12-16. I/O View Context Menus

Item	Function
Expand All	Expand all collapsed content in pane/section.
Expand Row	Expand collapsed content in selected row.
Collapse All	Collapse all expanded content in pane/section.
Adjust Table Columns	Register Pane Only. Adjust width of table columns.

12.9 Memory Windows - 8- and 16-Bit Devices

Memory windows (<u>Window>Target Memory Views</u>) display the many types of device memory, such as SFRs and Configuration bits. Use the "Memory" and "Format" drop-down boxes to customize your window.

For more on these controls, see 4.18 View or Change Device Memory.

For details on associated dialogs, see 12.11 Memory Windows Associated Dialogs.

Figure 12-7. Window>Target Memory Views - PIC16F1939

Target Memory Views		Program Memory
Simulator	1	File Registers
Configure Window	,	SFRs
Reset Windows		Configuration Bits
Neset Windows		EE Data Memory
Close Window	Ctrl+W	Hardware Stack
Close All Documents	Ctrl+Shift+W	Linear Data
Close Other Documents		User ID Memory

Figure 12-8. Window>Target Memory Views - ATtiny817

Target Memory Views		Program Memory
Simulator	•	SRAM Data Memory
Configure Window Reset Windows		I/O Memory (SFRs) Configuration Bits EEPROM Memory

12.9.1 Program Memory Window

The Program Memory window displays locations in the range of program memory for the currently selected processor. If external program memory is supported by the selected device and enabled, it will also appear in the Program Memory window.

For the MPLAB X Simulator, when a program memory value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Program Memory window is updated.

For any Microchip hardware debug tool (e.g., MPLAB ICD 4 in-circuit debugger), when a program memory value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Program Memory window is **not** updated; you must do a Read of device memory.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

If your project device uses RAM banking, see also:

11.2 Banked Data Memory and Values Displayed in Windows

Figure 12-9. Program Memory Window with Content

	Line	Address	Opcode	Label	DisAssy		
	919	0072C	BFC82D		MOV.B _b2_cnt, WREG	-	1
	920	0072E	E84000		INC.B WO, WO		Run To Cursor
	921	00730	B7E82D		MOV.B WREG, _b2_cnt		Step Instruction
	922	00732	2082D1		MOV #0x82D, W1		Set DC at Curror
	923	00734	784091		MOV.B [W1], W1		Set PC at Cuisor
	924	00736	B3C940		MOV.B #0x94, W0		Focus Cursor at PC
	925	00738	50CF80		SUB.B W1, W0, [W15]		Toggle Breakpoint.
	926	0073A	36000F		BRA LEU, .L6	1	Couche die Marste
	927	0073C	B3C940		MOV.B #0x94, W0	Ľ	Symbolic Wode
	928	0073E	B7E82D		MOV.B WREG, _b2_cnt		Verbose Labels
	929	00740	A82830		BSET _button_press, #1		Fill Memory .N
	930	00742	37000B		BRA .L6		Ge Te
	931	00744	BFC82D		MOV.B _b2_cnt, WREG		0010
	932	00746	E94000		DEC.B WO, WO		Go To Source Line
	933	00748	B7E82D		MOV.B WREG, _b2_cnt		Find
	934	0074A	2082D1		MOV #0x82D, W1		Output To File
	935	0074C	784091		MOV.B [W1], W1		Output to File
							Print
memor	y Progra	mmemory		rmat Co	Je 🔻		Adjust Table Column

12.9.1.1 Program Memory Window Displays

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Code Format

Code format displays disassembled hex code with symbols. The window will have the following columns:

- Debug Info Information useful for debugging
 - . A pointer shows the current location of the program counter.
- · Line Reference line number.
- Address Opcode hexadecimal address.
- Opcode Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 2- or 3-byte blocks For most PIC MCUs, these blocks represent words.
 For PIC18CXXX devices, the blocks represent 2 bytes.
 For dsPIC DSC devices, the blocks represent 3 bytes.
- Label (Symbolic Only) Opcode label in symbolic format.
- Disassembly A disassembled version of the opcode mnemonic.

Hex Format

This format displays program memory information as hex code. The window will have the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the opcode in the next column.
- Opcode Blocks Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 2- or 3-byte blocks
 For most PIC MCUs these blocks represent words. For PIC18CXXX devices, the blocks represent 2 bytes. For dsPIC DSC devices, the blocks represent 3 bytes.
 The opcode block that is highlighted represents the current location of the program counter.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of opcode.

PSV Mixed (dsPIC DSC/PIC24 devices only)

This format displays program memory as opcode and the PSV area (CORCON register, PSV bit set). The window will have the following columns:

- Debug Info Information useful for debugging. A pointer shows the current location of the program counter.
- Line Reference line number.
- Address Opcode hexadecimal address.
- PSV Address Data space hexadecimal address of the opcode.
- Data Opcode formatted as data.
- Opcode Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 3-byte blocks.
- · Label Opcode label in symbolic format.
- Disassembly A disassembled version of the opcode mnemonic.

For more information, see the dsPIC30F Family Reference Manual (DS70046).

PSV Data (dsPIC DSC/PIC24 devices only)

This format displays program memory as file registers, for when program space is visible in data space (CORCON register, PSV bit set). The window will have the following columns:

- Address Program space hexadecimal address of the data.
- PSV Address Data space hexadecimal address of the data.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 3-byte blocks . The highlighted data block represents the current location of the program counter.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

For more information, see the dsPIC30F Family Reference Manual (DS70046).

12.9.1.2 Program Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-17. Program Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
-	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.9.1.3 Program Memory Window Menus

Right click in the memory window data area set to CODE OR PSV MIXED FORMAT to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all devices.

Table 12-18. Program Memory Window Menu - Code/PSV Mixed

Item	Description
Run to Cursor	Run the program to the current cursor location.
Step Instruction	Perform a step instruction.
Set PC at Cursor	Set the Program Counter (PC) to the cursor location.
Focus Cursor at PC	Move the cursor to the current PC address and centers this address in the window.

continued	
Item	Description
Toggle Breakpoint	Toggle (on/off) existing breakpoint.
Symbolic Mode	Display disassembled hex code with symbols.
Verbose Labels	PSV Mixed Format Only Show internal compiler labels.
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Go To Source Line	Go to the corresponding line in source code in the editor.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

Right click in the memory window data area set to HEX OR PSV DATA FORMAT to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all devices.

Table	12-19	Program	Memory	Window	Menu	- Hex/PSV	Data
Tuble	12-10.	riogram	mennory		monu		Dutu

Item	Description*
Hex Display Width	Hex Format Only Set the hexadecimal display width (Options depend on the device selected).
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.2 File Registers Window

The File Registers window displays all the file registers of the selected device. When a file register value changes, or the processor is interrogated, the data in the File Registers window is updated (values updated shown in red).

Some data has colored cells:

- · Blue cells represent SFRs.
- Green cells represent project variables.
- · Gray cells represent reserved memory.

Note: To speed up debugging with certain hardware tools, close this window. Use the SFR or Watch window instead.

Figure 12-10. File Register Window with Content

094 0 0AA 1 7F0 - 000 0)895 .9D6	0047	0000 0000	0000	0000	0000	0055	C		_			
0AA 1 7F0 - 000 0	.9D6	0000	0000	0000			0000		····	•			
7F0 - 000 0				0000	0000	08DA	08DA		•••••	_		1	
000 0							07B0	.'		1	Hex Display Width.		One Byt
	0000	0000	0000								Fill Memory	\checkmark	Two Byt
0	0101	0004									Go To	T	
0	0000												
000 0	0000			0000	0000						Find	_	
-											Output To File		
000 0	0000	2008	8000	0000	0000	0000					Import Table		
-		0000	0000	0000	0000	0000					import rable		
-		5444	4440	4444	0044	4444	0004	DT@D	DDD.DD.		Export Table		
440 4	444	0044	4440	0040	0040	0440	0440	@DDDD.@D	0.0.0.0		Print		
0	400	4440						@D			Adjust Table Columns		
-											- again the conditions		
000 -										-			
										-			
288 0	2FF	8010	0000	0000	0000	FFFF	FFFF						
		0000 00 0000 00 0000 40 4444 0400 000 000 88 02FF	0000 000 0000 0000 000 0000 2008 0000 5444 440 4444 0044 100 100 100 100 100 100 20FF 8010	0000 00 0000 00 0000 2008 8000 5444 4440 5444 4440 5444 4440 4400 0000	0000 00 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 5444 4440 4444 400 4444 0044 4440 0040 0400 4440 000 000 000 000 000 100	0000 000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 5444 4440 0444 0040 400 4444 0044 4440 0040 0040 0400 4440 000 000 000 000 000 000	0000 000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 5444 4440 4444 0444 4444 400 4444 0044 4440 0040 0440 0440 000 5444 4440 0440 0040 0440 0440 000 -	0000 000 0000 0000 0000 000 0000 2008 8000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 5444 4440 0444 0044 4444 0044 440 4444 0044 4444 0044 0440 0440 5444 4440 0440 0440 0440 0440 000 <	0000	0000	0000	0000 Find 000 0000 Find 000 0000 2008 8000 0000 0000 000 0000 2008 8000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000	0000 Find 000 0000 Find 000 0000 2008 8000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 Find 000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 Import Table 5444 4440 0444 4444 0044 @DDD.@D @D 440 4444 0040 0440 @DDD.@D @D Print Adjust Table Columns 100 000

12.9.2.1 File Registers Window Displays

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Hex

This format displays file register information as hex data. The window has the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 1- or 2-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

Symbol

This format displays each file register symbolically with corresponding data in hex, decimal, binary and character formats. The window has the following columns:

- Address Data hexadecimal address.
- Symbol Name Symbolic name for the data.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1- or 2-byte blocks.

Dual Port (dsPIC33FJ DSC/PIC24HJ MCU devices only)

This format displays file register information as hex data. The window has the following columns:

- Address Data hexadecimal address.
- DMA Address Offset from the silicon DMA address.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 1- or 2-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

For information on dsPIC33F DSC and PIC24H MCU devices, see the Microchip web site for device data sheets and dsPIC33F and PIC24H Reference Manual sections.

XY Data (dsPIC DSC devices only)

This format displays file register information as hex data. The window has the following columns:

- Address X hexadecimal address of the data.
- Y Bus Y hexadecimal address of data, if supported.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 2-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

For more information on dsPIC DSC devices, see "dsPIC30F Family Reference Manual" (DS70046).

12.9.2.2 File Registers Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-20. File Registers Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.9.2.3 File Registers Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all devices.

Table 12-21. File Registers Window Context Menu

Item	Description
Hex Display Width	Hex Format Only Set the hexadecimal display width (options depend on the device selected).
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Hex, Dual Port or XY Data Formats Only Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Hex, Dual Port or XY Data Formats Only Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.3 SRAM Data Memory Window

The SRAM Data Memory window displays all the SRAM of the selected AT device. When a register value changes, or the processor is interrogated, the data in this window is updated (values updated shown in red).

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Note: To speed up debugging with certain hardware tools, close this window. Use the I/O Memory (SFRs) Window or Watches Window instead.

ь	Output 🛛	SRAM	Data I	Memor	y 🕺	3													
	Address	00	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	0A	0B	0C	0D	0E	OF	ASCII	
-																		SRAM Dat	a
-	3E00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		
-	3E10	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Hex Display Width. V 🗸 One Byte
1	3E20	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Fill Memory Two Byte
-	3E30	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Co To
	3E40	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		60 10
	3E50	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Find
	3E60	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Output To File
	3E70	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Incore the Table
	3E80	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Import Table
	3E90	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Export Table
	3EA0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Print
	3EB0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Adjust Table Columns
	3EC0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Adjust Table Columns
	3ED0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		
	3EE0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		
	3EF0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		
M	emory SRAM	l Data I	Memor	y	•	Forma	t Hex				•								

12.9.3.1 SRAM Data Memory Window Displays

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

Hex

This format displays file register information as hex data. The window has the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 1- or 2-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

Symbol

This format displays each file register symbolically with corresponding data in hex, decimal, binary and character formats. The window has the following columns:

- Address Data hexadecimal address.
- Symbol Name Symbolic name for the data.
- · Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char.

Radix information is displayed in four columns. Hex is shown in 1- or 2-byte blocks.

12.9.3.2 SRAM Data Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-22. SRAM Data Memory Window Icons

Icons	Icon Text	Function
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

co	continued								
lcons	Icon Text	Function							
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.							
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.							
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.							

12.9.3.3 SRAM Data Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all devices.

Table 12-23. SRAM Data Memory Window Context Menu

ltem	Description
Hex Display Width	Hex Format Only Set the hexadecimal display width (options depend on the device selected).
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Hex Format Only Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Hex Format Only Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.4 SFRs Window

The Special Function Registers (SFRs) window displays the contents of the SFRs for the selected processor. The format provided by this window is more useful for viewing the SFRs than the normal file register window, since each SFR name is included and several number formats are presented. To view only a few SFRs, you might want to use a Watches window, which may help with speed issues when using hardware debug tools (i.e., faster window update rate).

Whenever a break occurs, the contents of the Special Function Registers are updated.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Visible Registers

If a data memory register is not physically implemented on a device, it may not appear in the SFR list. Some tools, such as simulators, may allow you to see registers that do not exist on the actual device, such as prescalers.

Single Stepping

© 2019 Microchip Technology Inc.

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

If "Freeze Peripherals On Halt" is selected, the I/O port bits in the SFR or the Watches windows will not update when single stepping. The pin will be modified, but the read request to retrieve the new value is blocked by the freeze and cannot be updated until the next step or run command.

Address 🛆	Name	Hex	Decimal	Binary			Char		
001E	WREG15	0x08DA	2266	00001000	11011010		'.U'		1
0020	SPLIM	0x27F0	10224	00100111	11110000		''ð'	5	Go To
002E	PC	0x0007B0	1968	00000000	00000111	10110000	'°'		Find
002E	PCL	0x07B0	1968	00000111	10110000		'.°'		
0030	PCH	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	✓	Show Register Tooltip
0032	TBLPAG	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''		Output To File
0034	PSVPAG	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''		Print
0036	RCOUNT	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''		
0042	SR	0x0101	257	00000001	00000001		''		Adjust Table Columns
0044	CORCON	0x0004	4	00000000	00000100		·•	-	
0052	DISICNT	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	_	
0060	CNEN1	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''		
0062	CNEN2	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	_	
0068	CNPU1	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	-	
006A	CNPU2	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	_	
0080	INTCON1	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''		
0082	INTCON2	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000		''	_	

Figure 12-12. SFRs Window with Content

12.9.4.1 SFRs Window Displays

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window. Choices are:

- Individual View all SFR registers together.
- Peripherals View SFR registers in functional groups.

Individual

In this display, SFRs are listed by address.

Data is displayed in the following columns.

- Address SFR hexadecimal address.
- · Name Symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1-byte blocks.

Peripheral

In this display, SFRs are grouped according to their related device peripherals.

Data is displayed in the following columns:

- Address SFR hexadecimal address.
- Name Name of peripheral or symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char
- Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1-byte blocks.

Click the Filter Peripheral button to view the SFRs for only the peripherals selected.

12.9.4.2 SFRs Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

lcon		Function
2	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.
\$	Filter Peripherals	Peripheral Format Only Filter by peripherals available in view. Click icon to open the Select dialog. Select peripherals using Shift-click (range) or Ctrl-click (individually).
Ø	Filter Select All Peripherals.	Peripheral Format Only Filter Select All Peripherals.

12.9.4.3 SFRs Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu.

Table 12-25. SFRs Window Context Menu

Item	Description*
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.5 I/O Memory (SFRs) Window

The I/O Memory window displays the contents of the Special Function Registers (SFRs) for the selected AT processor. The format provided by this window is more useful for viewing the SFRs than the normal SRAM Data Memory Window, since each SFR name is included and several number formats are presented. To view only a few SFRs, you might want to use a Watches Window, which may help with speed issues when using hardware debug tools (i.e., faster window update rate).

Whenever a break occurs, the contents of the Special Function Registers are updated.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Visible Registers

If a data memory register is not physically implemented on a device, it may not appear in the SFR list. Some tools, such as simulators, may allow you to see registers that do not exist on the actual device.

Single Stepping

MPLAB X IDE User's Guide MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

If "Freeze Peripherals On Halt" is selected, the I/O port bits in the SFR or the Watches windows will not update when single stepping. The pin will be modified, but the read request to retrieve the new value is blocked by the freeze and cannot be updated until the next step or run command.

ъ	Dutput 🕺 I/	O Memory	(SFRs)	86				
Q	Address /	Name	Hex	Decimal	Binary		Char	
-	016	R22	0x00	0	00000000		1.1	
	017	R23	0x00	0	00000000		C . T	
-	018	R24	0x00	0	00000000	45	GO 10	
₩.	019	R25	0x01	1	00000001		Find	
_	01A	R26	0x00	0	00000000		Show Re	egister Tooltips
	01B	R27	0x00	0	00000000			
	01C	R28	0x57	87	01010111		Output	l o File
	01D	R29	0x00	0	00000000		Print	
	01E	R30	0 x 00	0	00000000		Adjust T	able Columns
	01F	R31	0 x 00	0	00000000		•	
	020	TCCR1E	0 x 00	0	00000000		5. S	
	021	DIDRO	0 x 00	0	00000000		5. S	
	022	DIDR1	0x00	0	00000000		5. S. C.	
	023	ADCSRB	0x00	0	00000000		5. S. C.	
	024	ADC	0x0000	0	00000000	00000000	·	
	026	ADCSRA	0x00	0	00000000		5.5 C	
	027	ADMUX	0 x 00	0	00000000		1.1	
Me	emory I/O Men	nory (SFRs)	•	Format In	dividual	•		

Figure 12-13. I/O Memory Window with Content

12.9.5.1 I/O Memory Window Displays

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

Individual

In this display, SFRs are listed by address.

Data is displayed in the following columns.

- Address SFR hexadecimal address.
- · Name Symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char. Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1-byte blocks.

Peripheral

In this display, SFRs are grouped according to their related device peripherals.

Data is displayed in the following columns:

- Address SFR hexadecimal address.
- Name Name of peripheral or symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char. Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1-byte blocks.

Click the Filter Peripheral icon to view the SFRs for only the peripherals selected.

CPU Registers

In this display, CPU registers (PC and working registers Rn) are listed by address.

© 2019 Microchip Technology Inc.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Data is displayed in the following columns:

- Address SFR hexadecimal address.
- Name Name of peripheral or symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char.
- Radix information is displayed in these four columns. Hex is shown in 1-byte blocks.

12.9.5.2 I/O Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-26. I/O Memory Window Icons

lcon		Function
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.
\$	Filter Peripherals	Peripheral Format Only Filter by peripherals available in view. Click icon to open the Select dialog. Select peripherals using Shift-click (range) or Ctrl-click (individually).
¥	Filter Select All Peripherals.	Peripheral Format Only Filter Select All Peripherals.

12.9.5.3 I/O Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu.

Table 12-27. I/O Memory Window Context Menu

Item	Description
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Show Register Tooltips	Show or hide tooltips for a register. Hover over the register name for pop-up information.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.6 Configuration Bits Window

Details about using the Configuration Bits window is discussed in 4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.

Figure 12-14. Configuration Bits Window with Content

ut	Breakpoi	nts Co	onfiguratio	n Bits 🕷										
	Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category	Setting							
	8007	CONFIG	1 FFFF	FEXTOSC	ECH	External Oscillator mode selection bit	ts EC above SMHz; PFM s	et to high power						
				RSTOSC	EXT1X	Power-up default value for COSC bits	wer-up default value for COSC bits EXTOSC operating per H							
-				CLKOUTEN	OFF	Clock Out Enable bit	ock Out Enable bit CLKOUT function is dis-							
				CSWEN	ON	Clock Switch Enable bit	ck Switch Enable bit Writing to NOSC and ND							
				FCMEN	ON	Fail-Safe Clock Monitor Enable bit								
8008 CONFIG2 FFFF MCLRE ON Master Clear Enable bit MC						MCLR pin is Master C	lear function							
				PWRTE	OFF	Power-up Timer Enable bit	DWDT disabled	7						
				LPBOREN	OFF	Low-Power BOR enable bit	Generate Source Code to Output							
-				BOREN	ON	Brown-out reset enable bits	Insert Source Code in Editor	d, SBOREN bit is ignored						
				BORV	LO	Brown-out Reset Voltage Selection	Beerta Defe the	re (VBOR) set to 1.9V on 1						
				ZCD	OFF	Sero-cross detect disable Reset to Defaults		buit is disabled at POR.						
				PPS1WAY	ON	Peripheral Pin Select one-way con	Enable MultiLine Rows	e cleared and set only on						
				STVREN	ON	Stack Overflow/Underflow Reset En	Output To File	erflow will cause a reset						
	8009	CONFIGS	3 FFFF	WDTCPS	WDTCPS_31	WDI Period Select bits	Dia	software control of WDTH						
-				WDTE	ON	WDT operating mode	Print	s of sleep; SWDTEN ignored						
				WDTCWS	WDICWS_7	WDT Window Select bits	Adjust Table Columns	00%); software control; ke						
				WDTCCS	SC	WDT input clock selector	Software Control							
	800A	CONFIG	4 FFFF	WRT	OFF	UserNVM self-write protection bits	Write protection off	9						
+						m								

12.9.6.1 Configuration Bits Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window. Available formats depend on your device.

When you are happy with the configuration bits settings in the window, you can click the **Generate Source Code to Output** button to write device-specific configuration code to the Output window. You may then cut-and-paste this code into your application in the editor window.

Column Head	Definition
Address	Address of the configuration word/byte.
Name	Name of the Configuration Register.
Value	Current value of the configuration word/byte.
Field*	For configuration bits set in code, the field portion of the macro. As an example, WDTE is the field portion of the macro _WDTE_OFF.
Option*	For configuration bits set in code, the option portion of the macro. As an example, OFF is the option portion of the macro _WDTE_OFF.
Category	Name of the Configuration bit in the corresponding configuration word/byte.
Setting	Current setting of the Configuration bit. Use the drop-down list to change the setting. The Value of the configuration word/byte will change accordingly.
* Not all device	s supported.

Table 12-28. Configuration Bits Window Display

12.9.6.2 Configuration Bits Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-29. Configuration Bits Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.

	continued	
lcon	Icon Text	Function
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Paste	Paste Generated Source code into Editor at cursor. If Editor not in focus, Output window shows a warning and Generated Source code placed into this window.

12.9.6.3 Configuration Bits Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all MCUs.

Table 12-30. Configuration Bits Window Menu

ltem	Description
Generate Source Code to Output	Set the configuration bits in the window, as desired. Then select this option to generate code in the Output window, which you can cut-and-paste into your program to set configuration bits. Same function as the button on the window.
Insert Source Code to Editor	Set the configuration bits as desired in the window. Then select this option to generate code into an Editor window that you can cut-and-paste into your program to set configuration bits.
Reset to Defaults	Reset the values of all configuration bits back to their MPLAB X IDE defaults.
Enable Multiline Rows	Allow wrapping of contents if column is shorter than length of contents (e.g., Category). Otherwise contents will be truncated, signified by ellipsis ().
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.7 EE Data Memory Window

The EEPROM window displays EEPROM data for any microcontroller device that has EEPROM data memory (e.g., PIC16F1829). Data/opcode hex information of the selected device is shown.

For the MPLAB X Simulator, when an EEPROM register value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the EEPROM window is updated.

For any Microchip hardware debug tool (e.g., MPLAB PICkit 4 in-circuit debugger), when an EEPROM register value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the EEPROM window is **not** updated; you must either do a Debug Read of device memory, if the device/header supports this, or you must exit from the debug session and then read the device data.

The start of EEPROM data memory needs to be specified for use with programmers. The table below shows some generic values, but please check the programming specification for your selected device to determine the correct address.

Table 12-31. Programmer – Data EEPROM Start Address

Device	Generic Start Address
Midrange MCUs	0x2100

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued					
Device	Generic Start Address				
Enhanced Midrange MCUs	0x1E000				
PIC18F MCUs	0xF00000				
PIC24 MCUs, dsPIC DSCs	0x7FFE00				

Figure 12-15. EE Data Memory Window with Content

Output 28	EE Da	ta Mer	nory	88														
Address	00	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	0A	0B	0C	0D	0E	0F	ASCII	
00	3F	3E	3D	3C	3B	3A	39	38	37	36	35	34	33	32	31	30	2>=<;:98	6543210
10	2F	2E	2D	2C	2B	2A	29	28	27	26	25	24	23	22	21	20	/,+*)(&\$\$#"!
20	1F	1E	1D	1C	1B	1A	19	18	17	16	15	14	13	12	11	10		
30	OF	0E	0D	0C	0B	0A	09	80	07	06	05	04	03	02	01	00		
40	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Hex Display Width.
50	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Fill Memory
60	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Go To
70	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		0010
80	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	•••••	Find
90	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Output To File
A0	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Import Table
в0	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		import rable
CO	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Export Table
DO	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Print
EO	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		Adjust Table Columns
FO	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF	FF		

12.9.7.1 EE Data Memory Window Display

This display format shows data in the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 1-, 2- or 4-byte blocks, selectable from the menu.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

12.9.7.2 EE Data Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-32. EE Data Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.9.7.3 EE Data Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu as in shown below.

Item	Description*
Hex Display Width	Hex Format Only Set the hexadecimal display width. (Options depend on the device selected).
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

Table 12-33. EE Data Memory Window Context Menu

12.9.8 Device Information Window

The Device Information window displays the contents of the Device Information Area of memory for devices that support this memory area (currently PIC18F24K42 and many PIC16Fxxxxx devices). The DIA contains the calibration data for the internal temperature indicator module, stores the Microchip Unique Identifier words and the Fixed Voltage Reference voltage readings measured in mV. See your device data sheet for details.

Figure 12-16. Device Information Window

Address	Hex	Name			
		DIA -	Device	e Information Area	
3F0000	FFFF	MUIO			
3F0002	FFFF	MUI1	5	Fill Memory	
3F0004	FFFF	MUI2		Go To	
3F0006	FFFF	MUI3		5010	
3F0008	FFFF	MUI4		Find	
3F000A	FFFF	MUI5		Output To File	
3F000C	FFFF	MUI6		Print	
3F000E	FFFF	MUI7			
3F0010	FFFF	EUIO		Adjust Table Columns	
3F0012	FFFF	EUI1			
3F0014	FFFF	EUI2			
3F0016	:	E:13			
		DCI -	Device	Configuration Informat	ion
3FFF00	FFFF	ERSIZ			
3FFF02	FFFF	WLSIZ			
3FFF04	FFFF	URSIZ			
3FFF06	FFFF	EESIZ			
3FFF08	FFFF	PCNT			

12.9.8.1 Device Information Window Display

This display format shows data in the following columns:

• Address – Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.

- Hex Hexadecimal data, shown in 1-, 2- or 4-byte blocks, selectable from the menu.
- Name Description of the corresponding line of data.

12.9.8.2 Device Information Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-34. Device Information Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.9.8.3 Device Information Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all devices.

Table 12-35. Device Information Window Context Menu

ltem	Description
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.9 Hardware Stack Window

View the contents of the hardware stack on halt.

To open the hardware stack window, select <u>Window>PIC Memory Views>Hardware Stack</u>. The first stack level is denoted by "0".

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Dutpu	ıt	Hardware Stack	88			
62	TOS	Stack Level	Retur	n Addre	ess	Location
	⇔		0x1F			STKPTR
		0	07FB			main + 0xf
		1	0000			
₹.		2	0000			
-		3	0000			
		4	0000	2	Go T	o Source Line
		5	0000		Outr	out To File
		6	0000			ac rornen.
		7	0000		Print	
		8	0000		Adju	st Table Columns
		9	0000			
		10	0000			
		11	0000			
		12	0000			
		13	0000			
		14	0000			
		15	0000			
Mem	orv F	Hardware Stack	-	Format		

Figure 12-17. Hardware Stack Window with Content

12.9.9.1 Hardware Stack Window Display

The number of levels of stack depend on the device. This display format shows data in the following columns:

- TOS Top of Stack current location.
- Stack Level Location of items on the stack.
- Return Address Hexadecimal address for return from stack.
- Location Disassembly of return address code.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

12.9.9.2 Hardware Stack Window Icons

The following icons are available on the window on Pause or Halt.

Table 12-36. Hardware Stack Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Description
65 65	Auto Refresh Manual Refresh	Auto or Manual Refresh of Window Contents. Depends on the value of "Disable auto refresh for call stack view during debug sessions" under <u>Tools>Options>Embedded>Generic Settings</u> – Unchecked = false (default), checked = true. See 12.16.1 Generic Settings Tab.
		False = Auto Refresh (Green Icon): The window contents are automatically updated on Pause or Halt. If the window is closed or not focused, selecting the window and clicking this button will display the updates without having to run and pause/halt again.
		True = Manual Refresh (Orange Icon): The window contents are not automatically updated on Pause or Halt. This button must be clicked to update window contents on a pause/halt.

	continued	
lcon	Icon Text	Description
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
-	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.

12.9.9.3 Hardware Stack Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu..

Table 12-37. Hardware Stack Window Context Menu

ltem	Description*
Go To Source Line	Go to the corresponding line in source code in the editor.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.10 Linear Data Window

The Linear Data Window displays Flash data for any microcontroller device that has this type of memory. Data/ opcode hex information of the selected device is shown.

For the MPLAB X Simulator, when a Linear Data register value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Linear Data window is updated.

For any Microchip hardware debug tool (e.g., MPLAB ICD 4 in-circuit debugger), when a Linear Data register value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Linear Data window is **not** updated; you must either do a Debug Read of device memory, if the device/header supports this, or you must exit from the debug session and then read the device data.

Figure 12-18. Linear Data Window with Content

Linear Address	Address	00	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	0A	0B	0C	OD	0E	OF	ASCII	
2000	020	3F	3E	3D	3C	3B	3A	39	38	37	36	35	34	33	32	31	30	2>=<;:98 76543210	
2010	030	2F	2E	2D	2C	2B	2A	29	28	27	26	25	1B	1C	1D	1E	1F	1,+*) ('68)	
2020	040	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	2A	2B	2C	2D	2E	2F	!"#\$8&' () *+, - W	Fill Memory
2030	050	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	3A	3B	3C	3D	3E	3F	01234567 89:;<=	Go To
2040	060	1A	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Find
2050	0A0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		
2060	0B0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Output To File
2070	000	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Import Table
2080	0D0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Export Table
2090	0E0	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		export robie in
20A0	120	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Print
20B0	130	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		Adjust Table Column
2000	140	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	00		

12.9.10.1 Linear Data Window Display

This display format shows data in the following columns:

• Address – Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.

- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 1-, 2- or 4-byte blocks, selectable from the menu.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

12.9.10.2 Linear Data Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-38. Linear Data Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.9.10.3 Linear Data Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu as in the table below.

Table 12-39. Linear Data Window Context Menu

ltem	Description*
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.9.11 User ID Memory Window

Some devices have memory locations where you can store checksum or other code identification (ID) numbers. These locations are readable and writable during program/verify. Depending on the device, they also may be accessible during normal execution through the TBLRD and TBLWT instructions.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Figure 12-19. User ID Memory Window with Content

Output	🛿 User ID Memo	ry 🕺
Addre	ess User ID	
8000	0x3FFF	
8001	0x3FFF	Output To File
8002	0x3FFF	
8003	0x3FFF	
Memory l	Jser ID Memory	 Format Standard

12.9.11.1 User ID Memory Window Display

Consult your device programming specification to determine what values may be entered here. For most devices, this sets the low nibble of the device ID word; the high nibble is set to '0'. The high nibble can be only be written to programmatically, such as by using Table Writes.

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

Figure 12-20. Standard Display

User	User ID Memory 🕺										
0	Address	User ID									
	8000	0x3FFF									
-	8001	0x3FFF									
	8002	0x3FFF									
—	8003	0x3FFF									

In the Standard display, data is shown in the following columns.

- Address User ID hexadecimal address(es).
- User ID Contents (in hex) of User ID memory.

Figure 12-21. Legacy Display



In the Legacy display, data is shown in the following columns.

- · Address User ID hexadecimal starting address.
- User ID Contents (in hex) of User ID memory.

12.9.11.2 User ID Memory Window Icon

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-40. User ID Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.

	continued	
lcon	Icon Text	Function
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.

12.9.11.3 User ID Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu, as in the table below.

Table 12-41. User ID Memory Window Context Menu

ltem	Description*
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.

12.10 Memory Windows - 32-Bit Devices

Memory windows (*Window>Target Memory Views*) display the many types of device memory, such as SFRs and Configuration bits. Use the "Memory" and "Format" drop-down boxes to customize your window.

For more on these controls, see 4.18 View or Change Device Memory.

For details on associated dialogs, see 12.11 Memory Windows Associated Dialogs.

Note: The Configuration Bits window and the User ID window are similar for 8-, 16- and 32-bit devices. The only difference is that the values in the windows reflect the program memory available for the device.

Figure 12-22. Window>Target Memory Views - PIC32MX795F512L

Target Memory Views	I	Execution Memory
Simulator	I	Data Memory
Configure Window	Peripherals Configuration Bits	
Reset Windows		CPU Registers
Close Window	Ctrl+W	User ID Memory

Figure 12-23. Window>Target Memory Views - ATSAME70Q21B

Target Memory Views		•		Execution Memory
Simulator		•	3	Data Memory
Configure Window Reset Windows				Peripherals Configuration Bits
Close Window Close All Documents Close Other Documents	Ctrl+W Ctrl+Shift+W			External EBI Memory External SQI Memory External DDR Memory

12.10.1 Execution Memory Window

The Execution Memory window displays locations in the range of program and/or data memory for the currently selected 32-bit device.

For the MPLAB X Simulator, when an execution memory value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Execution Memory window is updated.

For any Microchip hardware debug tool (e.g., MPLAB ICD 4 in-circuit emulator), when an execution memory value changes or the processor is halted, the data in the Execution Memory window is **not** updated; you must do a Read of device memory.

atc	hes	Out	put	Execu	ution Memo	ory 🕺		_	
		Line	Addre	288	Opcode	Lab	el DisAssy		
		8,300	1D00_	01A4	AFC20004		SW V0, 4(FP)		
		8,301	1D00_	01A8	8FC20004		LW V0, 4(FP)	2	Virtual Address
. 1		8,302	1D00_	01AC	40826800		MTCO VO, Cause	v	Physical Address
6		8,303	1D00_	01B0	000000000		EHB		Run To Cursor
F		8,304	1D00_	01B4	3C02BF88		LUI VO, -16504		
- [8,305	1D00_	01B8	24031000		ADDIU V1, ZERO, 409		Step Instruction
		8,306	1D00_	01BC	AC431008		SW V1, 4104(V0)		Set PC at Cursor
		8,307	1D00_	01C0	41626020		EI VO		Focus Cursor at PC
	⇔	8,308	1D00_	01C4	0B400071		J 0x9D0001C4		Toggle Breakpoint
		8,309	1D00_	01C8	00000000		NOP	_	тодује втеакроппа
		8,310	1D00_	01CC	27BDFFA8		ADDIU SP, SP, -88	✓	Symbolic Mode
		8,311	1D00_	01D0	AFA10004		SW AT, 4(SP)		Auto Decode 16 bit
		8,312	1D00_	01D4	AFA20008		SW V0, 8(SP)	-	CIL Manager
		8,313	1D00_	01D8	AFA3000C		SW V1, 12(SP)		Fill Memory
		8,314	1D00_	01DC	AFA40010		SW A0, 16(SP)		Go To
		8,315	1D00_	01E0	AFA50014		SW A1, 20(SP)		Go To Source Line
		8,316	1D00_	01E4	AFA60018		SW A2, 24(SP)		Find
		8,317	1D00_	01E8	AFA7001C		SW A3, 28(SP)		
Memory Execution Memory Format Code						Output To File			
"ICI	nory	Execut	on Men	Uly	▼ For		Jue 🔻		Print
									Adjust Table Colum

Figure 12-24	Execution Me	morv Window	with Content
Inguic IZ-Z-	Execution me	nory window	

12.10.1.1 Execution Memory Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Code Format

This format displays execution memory information as hex code. The window will have the following columns:

- · Line Reference line number corresponding to memory address.
- Address Physical hexadecimal address of the opcode.
- Opcode Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 4-byte blocks. The opcode that is highlighted represents the current location of the program counter.
- Label Opcode label in symbolic format.
- Disassembly A disassembled version of the opcode mnemonic.

Data Format

This window will have the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- · Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 4-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

12.10.1.2 Execution Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-42. Execution Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
₽	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.10.1.3 Execution Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to CODE FORMAT to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all 32-bit MCUs.

Table 12-43. Exe	ecution Memory	Window Conten	t Menu - Cod	e Format
------------------	----------------	---------------	--------------	----------

Item	Description
Virtual Address (KSEG[0:1])	Select virtual addresses for display. See your device data sheet for details.
Physical Address	Select physical addresses for display.
Run to Cursor	Run the program to the current cursor location.
Step Instruction	Perform a step instruction.
Set PC at Cursor	Set the Program Counter (PC) to the cursor location.
Focus Cursor at PC	Move the cursor to the current PC address and centers this address in the window.
Toggle Breakpoint	Toggle (on/off) existing breakpoint.
Symbolic Mode	Display disassembled hex code with symbols.
Auto Decode 16 bit	Use MIP16 / microMIPS instruction decoding. See your device data sheet for details.
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Go To Source Line	Go to the corresponding line in source code in the editor.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

Right click in the memory window data area set to DATA FORMAT to pop up the menu. Not all items may be visible for all 32-bit MCUs.

Item	Description
Virtual Address (KSEG[0:1])	Select virtual addresses for display. See your device data sheet for details.
Physical Address	Select physical addresses for display.
Hex Width Display	Set the hexadecimal display width. (Options depend on the device selected).
	Example:
	One byte, e.g., 00 01 02 0E 0F
	Two bytes, e.g., 00 02 04 0C 0E
	Four bytes, e.g., 00 04 08 0C
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

Table 12-44. Execution Memor	y Window Content	Menu - Data Format
------------------------------	------------------	--------------------

12.10.2 Data Memory Window

The Data Memory window displays locations in the range of data and/or program memory for the currently selected 32-bit device.
Figure 12-25. Data Memory Window with Content

s 00 460 EF743D7F 470 FCF7C553 480 4A27A2EC 490 3BB904FF 4A0 FC8C9EB6 4B0 FE55DB7E 4C0 DDBEBE47 4D0 FD7795DB 4E0 BC0C9363	04 0014090A F86ACB52 12446049 0E1DDDE5 30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	08 E0A16C24 92BC3224 D61504E9 2CBF10D4 4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	0C 5EFCF698 D7E34A7B FEDD7FB9 7EFB5FFA 53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	ASCII D=t SR.j. 'JI`D. 0 ~.U.bV!. G 	\$1 \$2. \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	Virtual Address Physical Address Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
A60 EF743D7F A70 FCF7C553 A80 4A27A2EC A90 3BB904FF AA0 FC8C9EB6 AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	0014090A F86ACB52 12446049 0E1DDDE5 30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	E0A16C24 92BC3224 D61504E9 2CBF10D4 4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	5EFCF698 D7E34A7B FEDD7FB9 7EFB5FFA 53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	D=t SR.j. jI`D. ; ~.U.bV!. G	\$1 \$2. x	Virtual Address Physical Address Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
AT0 FCF7C553 A80 4A27A2EC A90 3BB904FF AA0 FC8C9EB6 AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	F86ACB52 12446049 0E1DDDE5 30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	92BC3224 D61504E9 2CBF10D4 4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	D7E34A7B FEDD7FB9 7EFB5FFA 53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	SR.j. 'JI`D. ; ~.U.bV!. G	\$2. x	Virtual Address Physical Address Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
A80 4A27A2EC A90 3BB904FF AA0 FC8C9EB6 AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	12446049 0E1DDDE5 30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	D61504E9 2CBF10D4 4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	FEDD7FB9 7EFB5FFA 53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	'JI`D. ;0 ~.U.bV!. G	···√ ··· √ ··· √	Virtual Address Physical Address Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
A90 3BB904FF AA0 FC8C9EB6 AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	0E1DDDE5 30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	2CBF10D4 4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	7EFB5FFA 53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	;0 ~.U.bV!. G	···· ✓ 0 x	Physical Address Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
IA0 FC8C9EB6 AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	30941E04 2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	4210072D 0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	53F8F3FE 2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	0 ~.U.bV!. G	 0 x	Hex Display Width. Fill Memory
AB0 FE55DB7E AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	2E215662 DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	0C301405 CCE59478 2E224880	2EB87ADB 3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	~.U.bV!. G	0 x	Fill Memory
AC0 DDBEBE47 AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	DA92BD82 4C41312A 1C0407A4	CCE59478 2E224880	3BF77DCE 9AB7674A	G	х	Fill Memory
AD0 FD7795DB AE0 BC0C9363	4C41312A 1C0407A4	2E224880	9AB7674A			
E0 BC0C9363	1C0407A4	03400000			.H"	Go To
		SAIDSF9E	7D39657E	c		Find
F0 F6D9FDFE	2E64114C	2CEE95D3	0DF7FC6D	L.d.		rinu
300 C83A3F76	0C59552D	D6B65C2A	3AFF5FFD	v?:UY.	*\.	Output To File
310 DA3F0C35	8E7A2D2C	A0B00C5D	E7FAFD5B	5.?.,-z.	1	Import Table
320 9E20F7FA	09B44601	788217B0	7E6C7FFD	F		Evport Table
330 FF7FBE5C	AD740A32	5C874399	AF953FD9	\.0.2.t.	.C.	Export Table
340 3B98E96C	9BF2DDA8	F3B68ECF	1BE6B7F5	1;		Print
350 AF27DFAF	1C00283F	4C392ED0	AB7DEDB1	'.?(9	Adjust Table Column
360 FD79EF25	752B2A3C	83740371	0DF46371	%.y.<*+u	q.t.qc.	•
370 EBDE4FE3	3386B884	26046082	53FF2CD7	.03	·`.e.,.!	5
32 33 34 35 36 37 ta	0 9E20F7FA 0 FF7FBE5C 0 3B98E96C 0 AF27DFAF 0 FD79EF25 0 EBDE4FE3 Memory	0 9E20F7FA 09B44601 0 FF7FBE5C AD740A32 0 3B9E96C 9F2DDA8 0 AF27DFAF 1C00283F 0 FD79EF25 752B2A3C 0 BEDE4FE3 3386B884	0 9E20F7FA 09B44601 788217B0 0 FF7FBE5C AD740A32 5C874399 0 3B98E96C 9BF2DDA8 F3B68ECF 0 AF27DFAF 1C00283F 4C392ED0 0 F079EF25 752B2A3C 83740371 0 EBDE4FE3 3386B884 26046082 Memory ▼ Format Data	0 9E20F7FA 09B44601 788217B0 7E6C7FFD 0 FF7FBE5C AD740A32 5C874399 AF953FD9 0 3B98E96C 9BF2DDA8 F3B68ECF 1BE6B7F5 0 AF27DFAF 1C00283F 4C392ED0 AB7DEDB1 0 FD79EF25 752B2A3C 83740371 0DF46371 0 EBDE4FE3 3386B884 26046082 53FF2CD7 Memory → Format Data	0 9E20F7FA 09B44601 788217B0 7E6C7FFDF. 0 FF7FBE5C AD740A32 5C874399 AF953FD9 \.D.2.t. 0 3B98E96C 9FF2DDA8 F3B68ECF 1BE6B7F5 1; 0 AF27DFAF 1C00283F 4C392ED0 AB7DEDB1'.?(0 F709EF25 752B2A3C 83740371 0DF46371 %.y.<*+u 0 EBDE4FE3 3386B884 26046082 53FF2CD7 .03 Memory Format Data	0 9E20F7FA 09B44601 788217B0 7E6C7FFDF 0 FF7FBE5C AD740A32 5C874399 AF953FD9 \.D.2.tC. 0 3B98E96C 9FF2DDA8 F3B68ECF 1BE6B7F5 1; 0 AF27DFAF 1C00283F 4C392ED0 AB7DEDB1'.?(9 0 FD79EF25 752B2A3C 83740371 0DF46371 %.y.<+u q.t.qc. 0 EBDE4FE3 3386B884 26046082 53FF2CD7 .03e.,. Memory Format Data

12.10.2.1 Data Memory Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

Data Format

This window will have the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 4-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

Code Format

This window will have the following columns:

- · Line Reference line number corresponding to memory address.
- Address Physical hexadecimal address of the opcode.
- Opcode Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 4-byte blocks The opcode that is highlighted represents the current location of the program counter.
- Label Opcode label in symbolic format.
- Disassembly A disassembled version of the opcode mnemonic.

12.10.2.2 Data Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-45. Data Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.

	continued							
lcon	Icon Text	Function						
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.						
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.						

12.10.2.3 Data Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all 32-bit MCUs.

Table 12-46.	Data	Memory	Window	Content Menu
	Dutu	wichield y		

Item	Description
Virtual Address	Select virtual addresses for display. See your device data sheet for details.
Physical Address	Select physical addresses for display.
Symbolic Mode	Code Format Only Display disassembled hex code with symbols.
Hex Width Display	Data Format Only Set the hexadecimal display width.
	(Options depend on the device selected).
	Example:
	One byte, e.g., 00 01 02 0E 0F
	Two bytes, e.g., 00 02 04 0C 0E
	Four bytes, e.g., 00 04 08 0C
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Go To Source Line	Code Format Only Go to the corresponding line in source code in the editor.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.10.3 Peripherals Window

The Peripherals window displays the contents of the SFRs that relate to the device peripherals. To view only a few SFRs, you may prefer to use a Watch window, which may help with speed issues when using hardware debug tools (i.e., faster window update rate).

Whenever a break occurs, the contents of the SFRs are updated.

Visible Registers

If a data memory register is not physically implemented on a device, it may not appear in the SFR list. Some tools, such as simulators, may allow you to see registers that do not exist on the actual device, such as prescalers.

Single Stepping

If "Freeze Peripherals On Halt" is selected, the I/O port bits in the SFR or the Watch windows will not update when single stepping. The pin will be modified, but the read request to retrieve the new value is blocked by the freeze and cannot be updated until the next step or run command.

Out	put Per	riphe	rals %									
Q	Address	Δ	Name	Hex	Decimal	Binary				Char		
-	1F80_000)0 <mark>W</mark>	NDTCON	0x00000650	1616	00000000	00000000	00000110	01010000	'P'		
	1F80_020	00 F	RTCCON	0x00004000	16384	00000000	00000000	01000000	00000000	'0.'		
-	1F80_021	LO F	RTCALRM	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	''	N	Go To
₩.	1F80_022	20 F	RTCTIME	0x3F7D7F00	106518	00111111	01111101	01111111	00000000	'?}D.'		Find
-	1F80_023	30 F	RTCDATE	0xFD1D3507	424654	11111101	00011101	00110101	00000111	'ý.5.'		Chan David Table
	1F80_024	10 A	ALRMTIME	0x3E0B6B00	104093	00111110	00001011	01101011	00000000	'>.k.'	•	Show Register Tooltips
	1F80_025	50 A	ALRMDATE	0x000F3B07	998151	00000000	00001111	00111011	00000111	1		Output To File
	1F80_060	00 I	1CON	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	''		Print
	1F80_061	LO I	MR1	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	''		
	1F80_062	20 E	?R1	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	''		Adjust Table Columns
	1F80_080	00 I	C2CON	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·	-	
	1F80_081	LO I	IMR2	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	-	
	1F80_082	20 E	?R2	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·	-	
	1F80_0A0)O I	C3CON	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	-	
	1F80_0A1	LO I	IMR3	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	_	
	1F80_0A2	20 E	?R3	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	-	
	1F80_0C0)O I	C4CON	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····		
	1F80_0C1	LO I	MR4	0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	_	
Me	emory Perip	oherals	s 👻	Format	vidual	•						

Figure 12-26. Peripherals Window with Content

12.10.3.1 Peripherals Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

When using a hardware tool for debug, some registers may show an "R" for each nibble of data to represent a reserved resource.

- Individual View all peripheral registers together.
- **Groups** View peripheral registers in functional groups.

Data is displayed for both formats in the following columns.

- · Address SFR physical hexadecimal address.
- Virtual SFR virtual hexadecimal address as defined by the Bus Matrix.
- Name Symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char.

You may add radix information to the display by right clicking on the column header bar. Hex is shown in 4-byte blocks.

12.10.3.2 Peripherals Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-47. Data Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.

	continued								
lcon	Icon Text	Function							
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.							
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.							
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.							

12.10.3.3 Peripherals Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu as in the table below.

Table 12-48. Peripherals Window Context Menu

ltem	Description
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.10.4 Configuration Bits Window

Details about using the Configuration Bits window is discussed in 4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.

Figure 12-27. Configuration Bits Window with Content

	Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category	Setting	
	8007	CONFIG1	FFFF	FEXTOSC	ECH	External Oscillator mode selection bi	ts EC above SMHz; PFM s	et to high power
-				RSTOSC	EXT1X	Power-up default value for COSC bits	EXTOSC operating per	FEXTOSC bits
				CLKOUTEN	OFF	Clock Out Enable bit	CLKOUT function is d:	isabled; i/o or oscillator fo
				CSWEN	ON	Clock Switch Enable bit	NDIV is allowed	
				FCMEN	ON	Fail-Safe Clock Monitor Enable bit	FSCM timer enabled	
	8008	CONFIG2	FFFF	MCLRE	ON	Master Clear Enable bit	MCLR pin is Master C	lear function
				PWRTE	OFF	Power-up Timer Enable bit	DWDT diashlad	1
				LPBOREN	OFF	Low-Power BOR enable bit	Generate Source Code to Output	
				BOREN	ON	Brown-out reset enable bits	Insert Source Code in Editor	d, SBOREN bit is ignored
				BORV	LO	Brown-out Reset Voltage Selection		re (VBOR) set to 1.9V on LF
				ZCD	OFF	Zero-cross detect disable	Reset to Defaults	buit is disabled at POR.
				PPS1WAY	ON	Peripheral Pin Select one-way con	Enable MultiLine Rows	cleared and set only once
				STVREN	ON	Stack Overflow/Underflow Reset En	Output To File	erflow will cause a reset
	8009	CONFIG3	FFFF	WDTCPS	WDTCPS_31	WDT Period Select bits	output to the	software control of WDTPS
				NDTE	ON	WDT operating mode	Print	of sleep; SWDTEN ignored
				WDTCWS	WDICWS_7	WDT Window Select bits	Adjust Table Columns	00%); software control; keys
				WDTCCS	SC	WDT input clock selector	Software Control	
	800A	CONFIG4	FFFF	WRT	OFF	UserNVM self-write protection bits	Write protection off	
+						m		,

12.10.4.1 Configuration Bits Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window. Available formats depend on your device.

When you are happy with the configuration bits settings in the window, you can click the **Generate Source Code to Output** button to write device-specific configuration code to the Output window. You may then cut-and-paste this code into your application in the editor window.

Table 12-49. Configuration Bits Window Display

Column Head	Definition
Address	Address of the configuration word/byte.
Name	Name of the Configuration Register.
Value	Current value of the configuration word/byte.
Field*	For configuration bits set in code, the field portion of the macro. As an example, WDTE is the field portion of the macro _WDTE_OFF.
Option*	For configuration bits set in code, the option portion of the macro. As an example, OFF is the option portion of the macro _WDTE_OFF.
Category	Name of the Configuration bit in the corresponding configuration word/byte.
Setting	Current setting of the Configuration bit. Use the drop-down list to change the setting. The Value of the configuration word/byte will change accordingly.
* Not all device	s supported.

12.10.4.2 Configuration Bits Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-50. Configuration Bits Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Paste	Paste Generated Source code into Editor at cursor. If Editor not in focus, Output window shows a warning and Generated Source code placed into this window.

12.10.4.3 Configuration Bits Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all MCUs.

Table 12-51. Configuration Bits Window Menu

Item	Description
Generate Source Code to Output	Set the configuration bits in the window, as desired. Then select this option to generate code in the Output window, which you can cut-and-paste into your program to set configuration bits. Same function as the button on the window.
Insert Source Code to Editor	Set the configuration bits as desired in the window. Then select this option to generate code into an Editor window that you can cut-and-paste into your program to set configuration bits.
Reset to Defaults	Reset the values of all configuration bits back to their MPLAB X IDE defaults.
Enable Multiline Rows	Allow wrapping of contents if column is shorter than length of contents (e.g., Category). Otherwise contents will be truncated, signified by ellipsis ().

continued	continued			
Item	Description			
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.			
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.			
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.			

12.10.5 CPU Registers Window

The CPU Registers window displays the contents of the SFRs that relate to the device CPU. To view only a few CPU SFRs, you may prefer to use a Watches window, which may help with speed issues when using hardware debug tools (i.e., faster window update rate).

Whenever a break occurs, the contents of the CPU Registers are updated.

Visible Registers

If a data memory register is not physically implemented on a device, it may not appear in the SFR list. Some tools, such as simulators, may allow you to see registers that do not exist on the actual device, such as prescalers.

Single Stepping

If "Freeze Peripherals On Halt" is selected, the I/O port bits in the SFR or the Watches windows will not update when single stepping. The pin will be modified, but the read request to retrieve the new value is blocked by the freeze and cannot be updated until the next step or run command.

Figure 12-28. CPU Registers Window with Content

Dutput	CPU Re	egisters 🕺									
Add	dress	Name	×.	Hex	Decimal	Binary				Char	
r 04		a0		0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	····	
r05	i	a1		0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·	Go To
r06	5	a2		0x00000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	· · · ·	Find
r07	1	a3		0x1FC00480	532677760	00011111	11000000	00000100	10000000	'.À.	a
r01		at		OxFFBFFFFF	4290772991	11111111	10111111	11111111	11111111	¥33Ÿ'	Show Register Tooltip
		BadVAddr		0x40D7466F	1087850095	01000000	11010111	01000110	01101111	'@×E	Output To File
		Cause		0x90800800	2424309760	10010000	10000000	00001000	00000000	'00.	Print
		Compare		0x0155D48B	22402187	00000001	01010101	11010100	10001011	'.UĈ	A.F. 1711.01
		Config		0xA4210582	2753627522	10100100	00100001	00000101	10000010	'#!.	Adjust Table Columns
		Config1		0x80000006	2147483654	10000000	00000000	00000000	00000110	'0'	
		Config2		0x80000000	2147483648	10000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	'0'	
		Config3		0x00000160	352	00000000	00000000	00000001	01100000	1	
		Count		0x014EF220	21951008	00000001	01001110	11110010	00100000	'.Nò.'	
		Debug		0xC0118020	3222372384	11000000	00010001	10000000	00100000	'À.O.'	-
		Debug2		0x0000000	0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	·····	-
		DEPC		0x9D0001C4	2634023364	10011101	00000000	00000001	11000100	'DÄ'	
		DESAVE		0x00100003	1048579	00000000	00010000	00000000	00000011	·····	
		EBASE		0x9FC01000	2680164352	10011111	11000000	00010000	00000000	'¤à'	
		EPC		0x9D0001C4	2634023364	10011101	00000000	00000001	11000100	'DÄ'	
Memory	y CPU Reg	isters	•	Format		-					

12.10.5.1 CPU Registers Window Display

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window. Choices are:

- Blank Only one view.
- Devices with FPU For PIC32 devices with a Floating-Point Unit (FPU), the Format options are:
 - All Registers
 - Only CPU Registers

- Only FPU Registers.

Blank, All Registers or Only CPU Registers Format

Data is displayed in the following columns.

- Address SFR physical hexadecimal address.
- Name Symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex, Decimal, Binary, Char.
- Virtual SFR virtual hexadecimal address as defined by the Bus Matrix.

Only FPU Registers Format

Data is displayed in the following columns.

- Address SFR physical hexadecimal address.
- Name Symbolic name for the SFR.
- Radix Information Hex
- Floating Point Float, Double

12.10.5.2 CPU Registers Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-52. Data Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

12.10.5.3 CPU Registers Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu as in the table below.

Table 12-53. CPU Registers Window Context Menu

ltem	Description
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Show Register Tooltip	Show or hide tooltips for a register. Hover over the register name for pop-up information.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

12.10.6 External EBI, SQI, or DDR Memory Window

The External Memory window displays the contents of external memory by bus type:

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

- External Bus Interface (EBI)
- Serial Quad Interface (SQI)
- Double Data Rate (DDR)

Figure 12-29. External SSR Memory Window

Outp	ut	Extern	al DDR Mem	ory 🛛			
Ō	Add:	ress	00	04	08	0C	ASCII
							External DDR
-	0800	_0000	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
Ψ.	0800	_0010	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
1	0800	_0020	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0030	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0040	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0050	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0060	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0070	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	0800	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0090	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00A0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00B0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00C0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00D0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00E0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_00F0	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0100	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0110	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0120	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0130	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
	0800	_0140	00000000	00000000	00000000	00000000	
Mer	Memory External DDR Memory V Format Data						

12.10.6.1 External EBI, SQI, or DDR Memory Window Display

To see external memory contents in this window:

- Allocate functions/variables to external memory in your code see the "MPLAB XC32/XC32++ C Compiler User's Guide" (DS50001686) for details.
- Load symbols <u>File>Properties</u>, "Loading" category, check "Load symbols when programming or building for production (slows process)."
- · Compile your code Build the project.

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window:

Code Format

This window will have the following columns:

- Line Reference line number corresponding to memory address.
- · Address Physical hexadecimal address of the opcode.
- Opcode Hexadecimal opcode, shown in 4-byte blocks The opcode that is highlighted represents the current location of the program counter.
- · Label Opcode label in symbolic format.
- Disassembly A disassembled version of the opcode mnemonic.

Data Format

This window will have the following columns:

- Address Hexadecimal address of the data in the next column.
- Data Blocks Hexadecimal data, shown in 4-byte blocks.
- ASCII ASCII representation of the corresponding line of data.

12.10.6.2 External EBI, SQI, or DDR Memory Window Icons

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

lcon	Icon Text	Function
	Refresh by Read Device Memory	Same function as the Debug toolbar "Read Device Memory" icon - uploads device memory to the MPLAB X IDE.
	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
Þ	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
₽	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.
	Go To	Go to specified line number or address.

Table 12-54. External Memory Window Icons

12.10.6.3 External EBI, SQI, or DDR Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to CODE FORMAT to pop up this menu. Not all items may be visible for all 32-bit MCUs.

Table 12-55	. Execution Memory	y Window Content	Menu - Code Format
-------------	--------------------	------------------	--------------------

Item	Description		
External Address (KSEG[2:3])	Select addresses for display. See your device data sheet for details.		
Physical Address	Select physical addresses for display.		
Run to Cursor	Run the program to the current cursor location.		
Step Instruction	Perform a step instruction.		
Set PC at Cursor	Set the Program Counter (PC) to the cursor location.		
Focus Cursor at PC	Move the cursor to the current PC address and centers this address in the window.		
Toggle Breakpoint	Toggle (on/off) existing breakpoint.		
Symbolic Mode	Display disassembled hex code with symbols.		
Auto Decode 16 bit	Use MIP16 / microMIPS instruction decoding. See your device data sheet for details.		
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.		
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.		
Go To Source Line	Go to the corresponding line in source code in the editor.		
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.		
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.		
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.		
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.		

Right click in the memory window data area set to DATA FORMAT to pop up the menu. Not all items may be visible for all 32-bit MCUs.

Item	Description
External Address (KSEG[2:3])	Select addresses for display. See your device data sheet for details.
Physical Address	Select physical addresses for display.
Hex Width Display	Set the hexadecimal display width (Options depend on the device selected.)
	Example:
	One byte, e.g., 00 01 02 0E 0F
	Two bytes, e.g., 00 02 04 0C 0E
	Four bytes, e.g., 00 04 08 0C
Fill Memory	Fill memory from Start Address to End Address with the value in Data. Specify other options in the Fill Memory dialog.
Go To	Go to the address/function specified using the Go To dialog.
Find	Find text specified using the Find dialog.
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.
Import Table	Import tabular data from a file into a Memory window using the Import Table dialog.
Export Table	Export tabular data from a Memory window into a file using the Export Table dialog.
Print	Print the contents of this window using the Print dialog. Note: If you have a large memory device, the number of pages printed can become very large. A suggestion is to print the window contents to a file (Print dialog, General tab, "Print to File" check box) and then select which pages from the file you need to print.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjust the columns automatically.

Table 12-56. Execution Memory	Window Content Menu - Data	Format
-------------------------------	----------------------------	--------

12.10.7 User ID Memory Window

Some devices have memory locations where you can store checksum or other code identification (ID) numbers. These locations are readable and writable during program/verify. Depending on the device, they also may be accessible during normal execution through the TBLRD and TBLWT instructions.

Figure 12-30. User ID Memory Window with Content

ъ	Dutput 🕺	User ID Memory	8
	Address	User ID	
-	8000	0x3FFF	
-	8001	0x3FFF	Output To File
_	8002	0x3FFF	
	8003	0x3FFF	
		_	
Me	emory User I	D Memory	✓ Format Standard ✓

12.10.7.1 User ID Memory Window Display

Consult your device programming specification to determine what values may be entered here. For most devices, this sets the low nibble of the device ID word; the high nibble is set to '0'. The high nibble can be only be written to programmatically, such as by using Table Writes.

You may specify how memory is displayed in the window by selecting from the Format drop-down box on the bottom of the window.

Figure 12-31. Standard Display

User	User ID Memory 🕺							
0	Address	User ID						
	8000	0x3FFF						
-	8001	0x3FFF						
	8002	0x3FFF						
	8003	0x3FFF						

In the Standard display, data is shown in the following columns.

- Address User ID hexadecimal address(es).
- User ID Contents (in hex) of User ID memory.

Figure 12-32. Legacy Display



In the Legacy display, data is shown in the following columns.

- Address User ID hexadecimal starting address.
- User ID Contents (in hex) of User ID memory.

12.10.7.2 User ID Memory Window Icon

Icons are located on the left side of the window.

Table 12-57. User ID Memory Window Icons

lcon	Icon Text	Function
Q	Find	Specify a string to find in the window. Select to match whole word or case.
₽	Find Next	Find next instance of string from Find.
<	Find Previous	Find previous instance of string from Find.

12.10.7.3 User ID Memory Window Menu

Right click in the memory window data area set to pop up the menu, as in the table below.

Table 12-58. User ID Memory Window Context Menu

ltem	Description*
Output To File	Write the displayed window contents to a text file using the Output to File dialog.

12.11 Memory Windows Associated Dialogs

Memory windows have associated dialogs to support formatting, management and output of window data. These dialogs are accessed from content menus.

12.11.1 Memory Windows Go To Dialog

Go to a location in target memory. Access this dialog from some target memory window context menus.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

🗴 Go To		×
GoTo What:	Enter Hex Address	
Address Line	0x3C58	
Hex Address range is betwee	n 0x0000 and 0x3FFF	
	Go	To Close

Table 12-59. Go To Dialog

Item	Description						
Go To What	Enter what you want to go to. Click on the item to see a description below. Address : Enter a hexadecimal address.						
	Symbol: Enter a program symbol.						
	Line: Enter a line number.						
	Label: Select a program label.						
	Function: Select a program function.						
Go to description	Select a "Go To What" item to see a description.						

12.11.2 Memory Windows Find Dialog

Find a location in target memory. Access this dialog from some target memory window context menus.

Outpu	t Prog	ram Memory	8					
Q	Line	Address	Opcode	Label	DisAssy	🔀 Find		
	280	0022E	320002		BRA Z,			
	281	00230	020000		CALL 0x0	Find What:	RETURN	•
	282	00232	000000		NOP		-	
- ₽- [283	00234	020F1C		CALL 0xF1C	Match w	hole word only	M Up
	284	00236	000000		NOP		,	
	285	00238	DA4000		BREAK	Match ca	ise	O Down
	286	0023A	FE0000		RESET			
	287	0023C	200020		MOV #0x		Found at rov	v: 292
	288	0023E	E00000		CPO WO			
	289	00240	320002		BRA Z,			
	290	00242	200010		MOV #0x			Find
	291	00244	880190		MOV W0,			
	292	00246	060000		RETURN			



Item	Description
Find What	Enter the text you want to find.
Match	Select to "Match whole word only" and/or "Match case."
Direction	Select to search "Up" or "Down" the window.
Found At bar	When an item is found, the location is shown on this bar.

12.11.3 Memory Windows Output to File Dialog

Output specified memory range to a file. Access this dialog from some target memory window context menus.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

🔀 Output to File		
Range		
Address	Start	0x00246
Lines	End	0x2AFEA
Filepath Browse		
C:\xfer\DataFile	e.txt	
		Output to File Close

Table 12-61. Output to File Dialog

ltem	Description
Range	Enter a range of data to output to a file. Address: Enter an Address range - Start to End Address. Lines: Enter a range of Lines - Start line to End line.
Filepath	Browse to a location for the output file or enter in the text box.

12.11.4 Memory Windows Import/Export Table Dialog

Import from or export to a file target memory in tabular format. Access this dialog from some target memory window context menus.

Figure 12-33. Export Table Dialog

Output File Registers %											
6	Address	00	02	04	06	08	0A	0C	0E	ASCII	
2	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	2666	0000	0000	0000	(-	
-	0010	0000	0F34	0000	0000	0000	0000	100E	100E	🐹 Export Table	×
-	0020	8FF0							0F2C	Range	
	0030	0000	0001	0001	0000					• •	
	0040		8000	0024						 Address Sta 	art 0x0000
	0050		0000	0000		0000				-	
	0060									Enc	d 0x8FFE
	0070									-	
	0080									-	
	0090									 Single Column C 	Dutput
	00A0									-	
	00B0									Filepath	
	0000									-	
	00D0									Browse	
	00E0										
	OOFO									C:\xfer\ExportTable.	mch
	0100	0000	FFFF	0000	0000	0000	0000	FFFF	FFFF		
	0110	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	FFFF	FFFF	0000	1	
	0120	0000								4	
	0130									-	Export Table Close
	0140	0000	000D	0000	0000	0000	000D	0000	0000	•	

Figure 12-34. Export Table File

ExportTable	.mch ×						
0000	0000	0000	0000	2666	0000	0000	0000
0000	0F34	0000	0000	0000	0000	100E	100E
SFFO							0F2C
0000	0001	0001	0000				
	8000	0024					
	0000	0000		0000			

Table 12-62. Import/Export Table Dialog

Item	Description
Range	Enter a range of data to import or export in tabular format to a file. Address : Enter an Address range - Start to End Address.
Single Column Format	Export table as a single column.
Filepath	Browse to a location for the input or output file or enter in the text box.

12.11.5 Memory Windows Print Dialog

Print out the memory window contents. Access this dialog from some target memory window context menus.

Print options available may depend on printer selected.

Figure 12-35. Print Dialog

Outp	ut File	Registe	rs %							
	Address	s 00	02	04	06	08	0A	0C	0E	ASCII
	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	2666	0000	0000	0000	🕼 Print
	0010	0000	0F34	0000	0000	0000	0000	100E	100E	
	0020	8FF0							0F2C	General Page Setup Appearance
J.	0030	0000	0001	0001	0000					Drink Counting
_	0040		0008	0024						Print Service
	0050		0000	0000		0000				Name: Adobe PDF Properties
	0060									
	0070									Status: Accepting jobs
	0080									Type:
	0090									
	00A0									Info: Print To File
	00B0									
	00C0									Drink Danasa Casilan
	00D0									Copies Copies
	00E0									
	00F0									● All Number of copies: 1 ≑
	0100	0000	FFFF	0000	0000	0000	0000	FFFF	FFFF	
	0110	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	FFFF	FFFF	0000	Pages 1 To 1
	0120	0000								
	0130									
	0140	0000	000D	0000	0000	0000	000D	0000	0000	
	0150	0000	000D	0000	0000	0000	000D	0000	0000	Print Cancel
	00.00									

Figure 12-36. Print Dialog Output

Q 🗇 @) 1 / 70			Θ	\oplus	100%	- 1	- 5			
				1	Debi	ıa I)isp	lav			
L r											
	Address	00	02	04	06	08	0A	0C	0E	ASCII	
	0000	0000	0000	0000	0000	2666	0000	0000	0000		f&
	010	0000	0F34	0000	0000	0000	0000	100E	100E	4	
0	0020	8FF0							0F2C		, .
	030	0000	0001	0001	0000						
0	040		0008	0024						\$	
	0050		0000	0000		0000					



ltem	Description
General Tab	Set up general print options. Print Service : Select a printer/print service. Click Properties to set up the print service. Also, check to print to a file.
	Print Range: Range of pages to print.
	Copies: Number of copies to print.
Page Setup	Set up page options. Media : Specify page size and source.
	Orientation: Specify page orientation.
	Margin: Specify page margins.
Appearance	Set up appearance of print out. Color appearance : Specify color or monochrome.
	Quality: Specify draft, normal or high.
	Sides: Specify sides and multi-side orientation.
	Job Attributes: Print a banner, specify job name and user.

12.12 Message Center

Open the Message Center window from <u>Window>Debugging>Output>Message Center</u>.

The Message Center is a window that collects all the output window messages and then presents them chronologically into one view. Different filters can be selected to display different relevant messages.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

Figure 12-37. Message Center Window

	Output	Message Center 🕷			
00	Search Filters	License Status Microchip XC License N License Path: C:\Progu Product: Product: Product: Connecting to MPLAB Currently loaded firmw Firmware Suite Versior Firmware type	Ianager Version: 2.00 ramData\Microchip\xdm/license/\ xc16 Type: Workstation Version: 1.0 Mode rlm_roam Type: Workstation Version: 1.0 REAL ICE vare on REAL ICE n01.39.14 III	Select All Filters Dashboard REAL ICE OK Cancel	

Table 12-64. Message Center Buttons

Number	Button	Function
1	Search	Toggle the search text box. When the search box is visible, enter text to search for that text string in the Message Center window.
2	Filters	By default, all messages that appear in the Output window are displayed in the Message Center window. Click this button to open a window with a list of Output window tabbed items. Filter messages displayed by selecting one or more from the list.

12.13 Output Window

Open this window by selecting *Window>Output*.

The Task pane contains many windows, some inherited from the NetBeans platform and some that are specific to MPLAB X IDE. The Output window contains the MPLAB X IDE output information. It is shown on tabs within the window.

Table 12-65.	Output	Window	Tab Items
--------------	--------	--------	------------------

ltem	Description
Debugger Console	Shows main debug actions, such as "User program running."
Tool-specific	Shows tool firmware version, device ID, and action status.
Build, Load	Shows information and status on the build, and program loading.
Clean, Build, Load	Shows information and status on the clean, build, and program loading.
Peripheral Output	Shows technical output from peripherals such as the UART, with the Simulator as the debug tool.

12.13.1 Content Scrolling

Programming actions taking place will be shown and scrolled in an output window. The last action executed will be shown at the bottom of the window.

If you scroll up to view the content and then program again, the cursor will not move from your current location. This is to keep you from losing your place even though more content is filing the window below. To see the new content, you must manually scroll down.

12.13.2 Context Menu

Right clicking in the Output window will display various options as shown below.

Table 12-66. Output Window Context Menu

Item	Description
Сору	Copies selected text from the Output window to the clipboard.
Paste	Pastes selected text from the clipboard to the Output window.
Find	Finds the selected text, or enters other text to find, in the Output window You may use regular expressions and match case.
Find Next	Finds the next occurrence of the Find text.
Find Previous	Finds the previous occurrence of the Find text.
Filter	Filters the output by text or regular expression.
Wrap Text	Wraps the text in the Output window.
Larger Font	Makes the font larger.
Smaller Font	Makes the font smaller.
Choose Font	Selects the font type, style and size.
Save As	Saves the selected text to a file.
Clear	Clears all text in the Output window tab.
Close	Closes the Output window.

12.14 **Project Properties Window**

There are several ways to open this window. See 4.3 Open Project Properties.

This window is used to view or change the project device, tools and tool settings. For more information, see:

- 4.4 View or Make Changes to Project Properties
- 4.5 Set Up or Change Debugger/Programmer Tool Options
- 4.6 Set Up or Change Language Tool Options
- 5.5 Loadable Projects, Files and Symbols
- 4.9.5 Add and Set Up Library and Object Files
- 4.10 Set Build Properties

×



Figure 12-38. Project Properties Window

12.15 **Projects Window**

Open this window by selecting Window>Projects.

The Projects window is a NetBeans platform window. However, it has been customized to show the relevant logical (virtual) folders for an MPLAB X IDE project. Also, the context (right click) menus have been customized with items that are specific to MPLAB X IDE.

- Projects Window Logical Folders
- Projects Window - Project Menu
- Projects Window File Menu •
- Projects Window Window Menu



Figure 12-39. Projects Window Context Menus

Projects Window – Logical Folders

Additional logical folders have been added that apply to MPLAB X projects. Therefore, all folders displayed can be categorized as one of the following types of files:

- Header Files MPLAB X IDE does not use this category when building. Consider it as a means to document a
 project's dependency on a header file and a convenient method to access these files. You can double click on a
 file in the Projects window to open the file in an editor.
- **Important Files** Any file that does not fit into any of the other categories will end up in this folder. You can add project-specific data sheets (PDFs) to this location in the Projects window. Then, you can double click on the PDF to launch the data sheet (this requires that a PDF reader is installed).
- Linker Files You do not need to add a linker script to your project, because the project language tools will find the appropriate generic linker script for your device. So this folder will be empty, unless you have created your own linker script.

There should be only one file in this folder. If you have more than one linker script, only the first one has any effect – it is the linker script that the tool will use in the link step.

- Source Files These are the only files that the toolchain will accept as input to its file commands.
- Libraries The toolchain should take all of the files in this folder, as well as the object files, and include them in the final link step.
- Loadables Projects and files to combine with or replace your project hex files.

Projects Window – Project Menu

Right click on a project name in the Projects window to pop up the Project menu. Menu items are shown in the table below.

Table 12-67. Project Context Menu Items

Menu Item	Description
New	Adds a new item For MPLAB [®] X IDE; embedded file types are available.
Add Existing Item	Adds an existing file to the project. The path to the file may be auto (selected by MPLAB X IDE), absolute or relative. Additionally, you may choose to copy the file into the project folder.

continued					
Menu Item	Description				
Add Existing Items from Folders	Adds all files contained in the specified folder(s). You may also specify a pattern to ignore certain folders from inclusion. Click Default to see the default pattern. See also <u><i>Tools>Options</i></u> , Miscellaneous button, Files tab, "Files ignored by the IDE."				
New Logical Folder	Creates a new logical folder. To view actual folders, see the Files window.				
Locate Headers	Locates all the header files (.h) called out in the C code project files and presents them in a checklist window so they may be added to the project There are several reasons why you might want to add headers to your project:				
	 The files can be opened from the Projects window under "Header Files" instead of hunting for them on your computer. 				
	 The project created by "Save Project As" will not contain header files unless they are added to the project; therefore this project may not build if any user-generated header files are required. 				
	 The zipped project created by "Package" will not contain header files unless they are added to the project; therefore the unzipped project may not build if any user- generated header files are required. 				
	This feature is able to locate user-generated header files for all Microchip toolchains.				
Add Item to Important Files	Adds an existing item to the project. The path to the file may be auto (selected by MPLAB X IDE), absolute or relative. Additionally, you may choose to copy the file into the project folder.				
	This is useful for adding simulator files, data sheet PDFs, and other files to the project for your reference.				
Export Hex	Exports the project build as a Hex file. In MPLAB IDE v8, export is an extraction of memory objects. In MPLAB X IDE, export is the hex file result of a build; therefore, it needs to include all necessary auxiliary memory settings for configuration and EEPROM in code.				
Build	Builds the project according to the options selected in the Project Properties window. Note: When you Debug or Run, your project is built automatically.				
Clean and Build	Cleans and then builds the project according to the options selected in the Project Properties window. Note: When you Debug or Run, your project is built automatically.				
Clean	Cleans the project by deleting the outputs of previous builds.				
Package	Packages the current project into a .zip file.				
Set Configuration	Opens the Project Properties window so you can set the project configuration.				
Run	Executes the project code.				
Debug	Executes the project code in a debug environment.				
Step In	Steps through Paused code running in the debug environment.				
Make and Program Device	Programs the target device and holds in Reset (do not run).				
Set as Main Project	Sets this project as the main project. This is useful when you are working with multiple projects.				

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued					
Menu Item	Description				
Open Required Projects	Loads all other projects that are required for the selected project to run.				
Close	Closes the selected project.				
Rename	Renames the project.				
Move	Moves the project to another location. Along with the project, it moves the source files that are inside the project directory. Files outside the project directory are not moved. However, the project still maintains reference to the files outside the project directory – this is by design.				
Сору	Creates a copy of the project. If the source files are within the project directory, the source files are also copied to the new location. Files outside the project directory are not copied. However, the project still maintains reference to the files outside the project directory – this is by design.				
Delete	Deletes the project files. The project file is deleted but not the contents under the project directory. Only on selecting "Also delete sources" are all the source files deleted.				
Code Assistance	Selects assistance in creating code: code folding, code completion, etc.				
Find	Finds specific text in files in this project.				
Share on Team Server	Shares this project on a Team Server.				
Versioning	Controls the version of the project by using a version control system.				
Local History	To view, or revert to, the local history for the project.				
Properties	Sets project properties. For MPLAB X IDE, the Project Properties window is specific to embedded development.				

Projects Window – File Menu

Right click on a file name in the Projects window to pop up the File menu. The table below shows the specific menu items.

Table 12-68. File Context Menu Items

Menu Item	Description
Open	Opens this file in a tabbed Editor window.
Cut	Removes the file from the project, but places a copy of it on the clipboard.
Сору	Places a copy of the file on the clipboard.
Paste	To paste the clipboard copy of a file into the project.
Exclude file(s) from current configuration	Select a file or files to exclude from the current project configuration. Once a file has been excluded, right clicking on it again will show "Include file(s) from the current configuration." The same as opening the Project Properties window, selecting "File Inclusion/Exclusion" and including/excluding the file.
Compile File	Compiles only the current file.
Remove from Project	Removes the file from the project. This does not delete the file from the PC. To delete the file from the project and the computer, use the Delete key.

continued		
Menu Item	Description	
Rename	Renames the file.	
Save as Template	Saves the current file as a template file.	
Local History To view, or revert to, the local history for the file.		
Tools	 File tools include: Apply Diff Patch: applies an existing patch created by Diff. Diff to: shows the differences between this file and the one specified here. Add to Favorites: adds this file to the Favorites window. 	
Properties	Sets file properties differently from the project properties. Select to exclude the file from the build or override the project build options by selecting a different configuration.	

Projects Window – Window Menu

Right click in an empty area in the Projects window to pop up the Window menu. The table below shows the specific menu items.

Table 12-69. File Context Menu Items

Menu Item	Description
New Project	Launches the New Project wizard.
New File	Launches the New File wizard.
Open Project	Opens an existing project.
Open Recent Project	Opens an existing project for the list of recent projects.
Open Project Group	Opens an existing project group from the list of project groups.
Run Project	Runs the main project.
Set Main Project	Sets the main project from the list of open projects.

12.16 Tools Options Window, Embedded

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button to see the tabs and options listed below.

The Options window is a NetBeans platform window. However, it has been customized for MPLAB X IDE projects.

Figure 12-40. Tools Options Embedded Tabs

S Options	×		
Image: Second	Q Filter (Ctrl+F)		
Generic Settings Project Options Build Tools Managed Tools Suppressible Messages Diagnostics Other			

12.16.1 Generic Settings Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Generic Settings** tab, to see the options listed below.

Table 12-70. Generic Settings Tab Items

Item	Description			
Open source file and locate line in editor when debugger halts	Jump to a line of code on halt, such as caused by a breakpoint, to examine the code. Disable to simply halt execution.			
Clear tool output window on new session (debug, program, upload)	Clear out the contents of the Output window when you begin a Run, Debug or upload.			
Halt build on first failure	When building, halt the process on the first failure. The selected project language tool can be set up to determine which errors are produced. Go to the Project Properties window and select the language tool under "Categories." Then look for through the Option Categories to find one that allows you to set up errors, warnings, and/or messages.			
Maintain active connection to hardware tool	If selected, keep hardware tool connected always, not just at runtime (MPLAB [®] IDE v8 behavior). When switching projects with this option selected (e.g., when developing bootloading applications), ensure tool and device are the same to avoid error messages. Note: This option applies only to the current project and configuration. If you switch projects or change items in the Project Properties, a reconnect will occur.			
Read Device Memory to File: Export only memory used	For the "Read Device Memory to File" icon/function, save only device memory used to a file.			
Silent build	Build without generating messages in the Output window.			
Enable alternate watch list views during debug session	Display three watch view diamonds in the Watches window Associate a watch view with a watch variable. When you click on a watch view diamond, only the variables associated with that view will be displayed. So, this feature works like a filter.			
Disable auto refresh for call stack view during debug sessions	Enable to automatically update contents on Pause or Halt. If the window is closed or not focused, selecting the window and clicking this button will display the updates without having to run and pause/halt again.			
	Disable to manually update contents on Pause or Halt. This button must be clicked to update window contents on a pause/halt.			
On mouse over structure and array expressions, evaluate integral members only	Checked shows only integral members when mousing over structures or array expressions in code. Unchecked shows all members when mousing over structures or array expressions in code.			
Show unresolved variable names in watch window during debug session	Check to make unresolved variables visible in Watches window.			
Allow switch between pack versions	Check to be able to switch between packs displayed in Project Properties.			
Enable gathering of compiler symbols	Run the compiler behind-the-scenes, requesting information on compiler built- ins and private macros.			
	This option is disabled by default. Enabling it will increase the time it takes the IDE to gather symbol information.			
	Note: If you do not rely on compiler's internal information, you do not need to enable this feature.			

continued			
ltem	Description		
On mouseover source lines in editor, evaluate break point status	Select what triggers evaluation. Disable : No evaluation.		
	Mouse Only, Alt+Mouse, Shirt+Mouse, Shift+Alt+Mouse : Evaluate values at a breakpoint based on the one of these keystrokes.		
Hold-off period before memory view synchronization: Give priority to debug events (step over, step in, continue)	Specify a delay between when the device halts and when the device data is synced with a memory window. A longer delay can be set so that more single step executions can occur before an update. This is only applicable to general PIC Memory Views like file registers and data memory.		
Debug Reset @ (following reset action during paused debug session)	Select action for a debug reset, e.g., <u>Debug>Reset</u> : Main: Stop at main() on Reset. Reset Vector: Stop at the Reset vector on Reset. Note: This is not related to a hardware reset of the device.		
Debug start-up (following debug project action)	Specify code execution for <u>Debug>Debug Project</u> : Run : Start execution immediately. Main : Stop at main(). Reset Vector : Stop at the Reset vector.		
Default Charset	Select the default character set for the project.		

12.16.2 Project Options Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Project Options** tab, to see the options listed below.

Table 12-71. Project Options Tab Items

Item	Description	
Make Options	Enter make options to use when building projects. These options are toolchain dependent. See your language tool documentation.	
File Path Mode	Specifies how to store file path information in a project: Auto : paths to files inside project folder stored as relative; paths to files outside project folder stored as absolute. Always Relative : all paths stored as relative to project folder. Always Absolute : all paths stored as absolute (full path)	
Save All Modified Files Before Running Make	If selected, saves all unsaved files in the IDE before running make. It is recommended to leave this property selected because modifications to files in the IDE are not recognized by make unless they are first saved to disk.	
Reuse Output Tabs from Finished Process	When selected, output messages are displayed in the same tab in the Output window. When deselected, a new tab is opened for each new process.	

continued			
Item	Description		
Use parallel make (make -j 2n)	If selected, make will execute several processes at a time, where -j (orjobs) is the option to run in parallel and 2n is the number of processes, where n is the number of processors available on your computer. If your computer does not support parallel processing, parallel make will be disabled. If you wish, you can specify more processes by using "Make Options." Example: -j 10.		
	Note: For MPLAB XC16 or MPLAB C30, Procedural Abstraction needs to be turned off to use parallel make (<i>File>Project Properties</i> , compiler category, "Optimizations" option category: uncheck "Unlimited procedural abstraction").		
	Note: MPASMX cannot run under parallel make, either as a toolchain or part of an MPLAB C18 project. The parallel make option is therefore ignored in projects using MPASMX toolchain or in projects using the C18 toolchain that contain at least one .asm file.		
Force makefile regeneration when opening a project	Uncheck to allow MPLAB X IDE to determine whether or not a makefile should be regenerated when a project has opened (e.g., opening a project on a different computer). This is the default. Check to force regeneration of the makefile on project open. Use this if you suspect the makefile is not being regenerated when it needs to be. Note: Regeneration can take some time.		
Use "clean" target from Makefile	Uncheck to use the standard clean, i.e., delete all build artifacts. This is faster. Check to use make clean, i.e., use the make file when performing clean. This gives more control to what is cleaned.		

12.16.3 Build Options Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Build Options** tab, to see the options listed below.

Ensure that you have INSTALLED THE LANGUAGE TOOL or it will not show up on the "Toolchain" list. If you know you have installed it but it is not on the list, click Scan for compilers. If it is still not found click Add to add the tool to the list.

The following language tools are included with MPLAB X IDE:

• MPASM toolchain – includes MPASM assembler, MPLINK linker and utilities.

Other tools may be obtained from the Microchip web site (www.microchip.com) or third parties.

 Table 12-72.
 Build Tools Tab Items

ltem	Description		
Toolchain	Shows a list of language tools installed on your computer. Select the tool for your project and ensure that the paths (that apply) to the right are correct.		
	Base directory: Path to the tool's main folder.		
	C compiler : Path to the C compiler (if available).		
	Assembler: Path to the assembler (if available).		
	Make command : Name of the make command generated by MPLAB [®] X IDE.		
Add	Add a new language tool item to the list. Also consider using Scan for Build Tools .		
Add Custom Compiler	Add a customized compiler. In this case, you must specify Microchip devices supported.		

continued		
ltem	Description	
Remove	Remove a language tool item from the list. This does not remove the language tool from the computer.	
Default	Click on a tool and then click Default to make this tool the default compiler/assembler for the selected device.	
Scan for Build Tools	Scan the computer for installed compilers/assemblers in various default locations, not the whole system. If you install in a different location, add the compiler manually.	

12.16.4 Managed Tools Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Managed Tools** tab, to see the options listed below.

Select remote connections to use. Add a new connection for a:

- Remote USB Tool (Plugin required)
- Remote Ethernet Tool
- Generic Serial Port

Figure 12-41. New Managed Tool

Options			
💱 😼 🙉 🔠 🕶 🚴 🔚 😰	Filter (Ctrl +F)		
General Editor Fonts & Colors Keymap Embedded Team Appearance Miscellan	eous Harmony		
Generic Settings Project Options Build Tools Managed Tools Suppressible Mess	ages Diagnostics Other		
Remote Connections:			
	New Connection		
Remote Connections	New Name:		
Remote Connections:	Type: Remote USB Tool Remote USB Tool		
Edit	Remote Ethernet Tool IP Address: Generic Serial Port		
	Port:		
OK Cancel	Please input a non empty string for the connection name.		
	OK Cancel Help		
Manage Remote Connections			
Export Import	OK Apply Cancel Help		

12.16.5 Suppressible Messages Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click he **Embedded** button, **Suppressible Messages** tab, to see the options listed below.

Select error and warming messages to suppress. Double click on available folders to drill down to available items to suppress.

Figure 12-42. Suppressible Messages List

🔒 Globally Suppressible Messages
Suppressible Messages for Project 'C:/Users/MCHP/MPLABXProjects/PIC24F_Example.X'
EAL ICE
📝 TraceCheckClock
IDMismatch
🔲 HighVoltageWarning
CalWarning
🗄 📲 PICkit 3
🗄 📲 PKOBSKDE
🗄 📲 PKOBLicDbgr
🗄 🚹 ICD 3

12.16.6 Diagnostics Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Diagnostics** tab, to see the options listed below.

Set up the log file and other diagnostic features.

Table 12-73.	Diagnostics	Tab	Items
--------------	-------------	-----	-------

Item	Description
Logging Level	Set the message logging level: OFF: no logging.
	SEVERE: log severe (error) messages only.
	WARNING: log warning messages only.
	INFO: log informational messages only.
	CONFIG: log configuration information only.
	FINE: log some module to module communication.
	FINER: log more module to module communication.
	FINEST: log all module to module communication.
Log File	The path and name of log file.
USB Circular Log	Applies only to MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator, MPLAB ICD 3 and PICkit 3.
Start New Logging Session/ Pause Logging	Click buttons to begin a new logging session or pause the logging session in progress.
Circular USB log file location	Specify the path for the log file.
Circular USB log file max size in KBs	Specify the size of the log file.

12.16.7 Other Tab

Select <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Embedded** button, **Other** tab, to see the options listed below.

Edit the lists of accepted file extensions for C/C++ and assembler source files and header files. Also, set the default extension for each type (displayed as bold).

Table 12-74. Other Tab Items

File Extensions	Default Extensions
C/C++ Header	H, SUNWCCh, h , hpp, hxx, tcc
C++	C, c++, cc, cpp , cxx, mm
С	c , i, m
Fortran	Not applicable. MPLAB X IDE does not support Fortran programming.
Assembler	AS, ASM, S, as, asm, s
Assembler Include	INC, inc

12.17 Tools Options Window, Plugins

Open this window using <u>Tools>Options (MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS) and then click the **Plugins** button.

The Options window is a NetBeans platform window. However, it has been customized for MPLAB X IDE projects. If plugin(s) have been installed (using <u>Tools>Plugins</u>) and they have plugin options, go to this window to see the available plugin options.

Figure 12-43. Plugin Options Example

S Options	8
🎭 🦻 👞 🚴 🔚 🗰 🚐	Q Filter (Ctrl+F)
General Editor Fonts & Colors Keymap Embedded Team Appearance Plugins Miscellaneous Harmony	
MPLAB® Code Configurator 3.x	
File Handling	
Generated Line Endings DOS (CRLF)	
Editor Behavior 🕼 Always ask before removing a module	
Always ask before removing a pin	
Add Library Open Library Folder	
Export Import OK Apply	Cancel Help

12.18 Trace Window

Open the Trace window by selecting <u>Window>Debugging>Trace</u>. You must be in debug mode to see trace data.

Tracing allows you to record the step-by-step execution of your code and examine this recording in the Trace window. Trace is currently available for the following tools:

- Simulator
- MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator

Right clicking on a trace column in the window will pop up the context menu (first table). Depending on the tool you are using, you may or may not see all menu items.

Dialogs associated with trace are defined in the second table.

Table 12-75. Trace Window Context Menu

Menu Item	Description
Symbolic Mode	For the "Instruction" column, toggle between displaying literal register addresses (e.g., 0x5) or symbolic register macros (e.g., PORTA).
Go To	Opens a Go To dialog. Trigger : move to the trigger line (0).
	Top: move to the top trace line.
	Bottom: move to the bottom trace line.
	Trace Line: specifies and goes to a trace line location.
Go To Source Line	Selects a trace line and then selects this option to go to the corresponding line in source code.
Display Time	For the "Cycle" column (will display if not previously visible): As Hex Cycle Count : displays cycle count as hexadecimal.
	As Decimal Cycle Count: displays cycle count as decimal.
	In Seconds Elapsed: displays cycle count in seconds elapsed.
	In Engineering Format: displays cycle count in the appropriate engineering format (powers of 10^3).
Clear Trace File	Clears the data in the trace display.
Find	Finds items in trace display. Opens a Find dialog.
Output To File	Saves the trace data to a file. Opens Define Range dialog, which opens a Save dialog.
Print	Print the data. Opens a Print dialog.
Adjust Table Columns	Adjusts the columns in the trace display to fit the data automatically.
Reload View	Reloads the original data view for the trace display at pause.

Table 12-76. Trace Dialogs

Dialog	Description
Go To	Specifies a trace line to go to.
Find	Finds a line number or other data in the trace display.
Output to File Range	Specifies a range of lines to output to a file. Click OK to proceed to the Save dialog to save the data to a text file.
Save	Saves data to a text file.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued	
Dialog	Description
Print	Specifies the printer, page setup, and appearance before printing.

12.19 Watches Window

To open the Watches window, select <u>Window>Debugging>Watches</u>. You must be in debug mode to watch symbol values change.

Select global symbols and SFRs and watch values change on program halt or during runtime (if supported).

For information on using the Watches window, see 4.16 Watch Symbol Values Change.

- Watches Display
- Watches Menu
- Fractional Integer Properties Dialog

12.19.1 Watches Display

The following display features are discussed in the sections below: icons, columns and actions (buttons).

lcons

Icons are found to the left of the name object in the Name column:

Table 12-77. Name Column Icons

lcon	Description
\bigcirc	Watch object
P	Watch object in Program Memory
⇒	Static field of an object
۲	Non-static field of an object

Columns

You can change the columns displayed in the window by:

- Right clicking on a heading and checking/unchecking a heading to be displayed.
- Clicking on the "Change Visible Columns" icon in the top right of the window . In the Change Visible Columns dialog, check/uncheck a heading to be displayed.

Actions

Actions are on buttons on the left side of the window:

Table 12-78. Action Button Icons

Button	Action
	Toggle button:Show verbose (qualified) names of member fields.Show brief (relative) names of member fields.
P	Import watches from list file. Right click for options.
	Export all watches to list file.

MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs

continued	
Button	Action
۲	Set the default numeric format for the Value field.

12.19.2 Watches Menus

Right click in a blank area of a Watches window (not a row) to open a Watches window menu with basic functions.

Table 12-79. Watches Window Menu – Window

Menu Item	Description
New Watch*	Adds a new symbol to watch.
New Runtime Watch*	MPLAB REAL ICE In-Circuit Emulator, Simulator Only. Adds a new runtime watch for the selected symbol.
Export All Watches to List File	Exports information about the symbols to be watched to a file (.xwatch).
Delete All	Removes all the watched symbols from the Watches window.
* You can also right click in a symbol in code to add a New Watch or New Runtime Watch.	

Right click on a row to open a Watches menu with additional functions that depend on whether a symbol is in the row or what debug tool you are using.

Table 12-80. Watches Window Menu – Row

Menu Item	Description
New Watch	Adds a new symbol to watch.
New Runtime Watch	MPLAB REAL ICE In-Circuit Emulator Only. Adds a new runtime watch for the selected symbol.
Run Time Update Interval	MPLAB REAL ICE In-Circuit Emulator Only. Specifies the rate at which the symbol value will be updated.
	"No Delay" will update as quickly as your personal computer is able. If you are seeing errors in the runtime data, you can add a delay to decrease the update speed.
Export Selected Watches to List File	Exports information about the symbol(s) to be watched to a file (.xwatch). You can select more than one row using Shift click (select several rows in order) or Ctrl click (select several rows individually).
Export Data	Exports watch data to a CSV file or as a literal string.
Delete	Deletes selected symbol row(s) from the watch list. You can also select a row and hit the <delete> key.</delete>
Delete All	Removes all the watched symbols from the Watches window.
Display Value Column as	Displays the symbol value in the selected row in one of the formats listed. See also 12.19.3 Fractional Integer Properties Dialog.
User Defined Size	Specifies the size of the program memory symbol from the list.

12.19.3 Fractional Integer Properties Dialog

This dialog is intended to improve support for evaluating all fixed-point operation modes supported by dsPIC and PIC32 devices. View this dialog from the pop-up menu item <u>Display Value Column as>Fractional Integer</u> to select this feature and <u>Display Value Column as>Fractional Properties</u> optionally afterwards.

Table 12-81. Fractional Properties Dialog Items

Dialog Item	Description
Variable	The name of the variable, for reference.
N*	The total number of bits available to represent the integer number.
Qm	The whole part of the fixed data format. 'm' represents the number bits used to specify the whole part.
Qn	The fractional part of the fixed data format. 'n' represents the number of bits used to specify the fractional part.
Signed*	Check to use a bit to represent a signed value.
Slider	Click and drag the slider to select the fixed point position (Qm vs. Qn) to be applied to the calculation of the fixed point fractional value.
* If the variable type is unknown, these items are made editable.	

Figure 12-44. Fractional Properties Dialog

K Fractional P	roperties
Variable:	int32_var
N:	32 bits 👻
Qm:	2
Qn:	30
\exists	√ Signed
	Help Cancel OK

12.20 Wizards

A wizard is a sequential progression of dialog windows that guide you through a process. Two common wizards in MPLAB X IDE are:

- The New Project wizard (see Create a New Project).
- The New File wizard (see Create a New File).

Figure 12-45. New Project Types

🔀 New Project		x			
Steps	Choose Project				
1. Choose Project	Q Filter:				
	Categories: Vicrochip Embedded Other Embedded Samples Projects: 32-bit MPLAB Harmony 3 Project Standalone Project Existing MPLAB IDE v8 Project User Makefile Project Library Project Import START MPLAB Project Import Atmel Studio Project				
	Description:				
	MPLAB® Harmony Project Wizard				
	< Back Next > Finish Cancel He	lp			

13. NetBeans Windows and Dialogs

MPLAB X IDE windows and dialogs are a combination of basic NetBeans windows and dialogs and MPLAB X IDE specific windows and dialogs. Help topics are displayed with a white background for NetBeans items and a yellow background for MPLAB X IDE items.

NetBeans windows and dialogs are discussed here. For information on MPLAB X IDE specific windows and dialogs see 12. MPLAB X IDE Windows and Dialogs.

13.1 NetBeans Specific Windows and Window Menus

NetBeans windows are discussed in NetBeans help or web documentation (see either "About This Help File" or "Preface"). To open help about a window, click on the window tab to select it and then hit the <F1> key. If no help can be found, select <u>Help>Help Contents</u> and click the help file's **Search** tab to search for information on that window, or see the table of contents for the NetBeans help topic "Managing IDE Windows."

To open most windows, see the 10.1.11 Window Menu.

Windows may be docked and undocked (right click on the window tab) and have window-specific pop-up, or context, menus with items such as:

- Fill
- Goto
- Edit Cells

Right clicking in a window or on an item in the window will pop up a context menu. Most content menu items are also located on menus on the desktop menu bar (see 10.1 Menus).

Set up window properties by selecting <u>Tools>Options</u> (<u>MPLAB X IDE>Preferences</u> for macOS), **Miscellaneous** button, **Appearance** tab.

13.2 NetBeans Specific Dialogs

NetBeans dialogs are discussed in NetBeans help. To open help about a dialog, click the **Help** button on the dialog or, if there is no Help button, press the <F1> key. If no help can be found, select <u>Help>Help Contents</u> and click the help file's **Search** tab to search for information on that dialog.

To open most dialogs, see 10.1 Menus.

Configuration Settings Summary

14. Configuration Settings Summary

Examples of how to set configuration bits in code for different language tools and related devices are shown below. For more information on how to set configuration bits, see your language tool documentation. For some language tools, a configurations settings document is available listing all configuration settings for a device. Otherwise, consult your device header file for macros.

Another option is to use the Configuration Memory window to set bits and then click "Generate Source Code to Output." See 4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.

The MPLAB Code Configurator (MCC) for 8- and 16-bit devices and MPLAB Harmony for 32-bit devices are tools that can be used to generate configuration bits, as well as project code. See the Microchip website for more information on these tools.

Current Toolchains: AVR and Arm GCC compilers, MPLAB XC C compilers and MPASM assembler.

Legacy Toolchains: HI-TECH PICC and PICC18 compilers, MPLAB C18 compiler, ASM30 assembler, as well as MPLAB C30 and MPLAB C32 compilers.

14.1 AVR GCC Toolchain

Most configuration bits are contained in device Fuse bytes. To program the fuse bits, the Fuse API is used. To use this API, include the <avr/io.h> header file, which provides everything necessary to set the AVR fuses.

To program code protection configuration bits, or lock bits, the Lockbit API is used. To use this API, include the <avr/io.h> header file.

An example using the FUSES and LOCKBITS macros is provided below. For more information on the Fuse and Lockbit APIs, see:

https://www.microchip.com/webdoc/AVRLibcReferenceManual/group_avr_fuse.html

```
https://www.microchip.com/webdoc/AVRLibcReferenceManual/group_avr_lock.html
```

Example: ATtiny861 MCU

```
// ATtiny817 Configuration Bit Settings
// 'C' source line config statements
#include <avr/io.h>
FUSES = {
    0x00, // WDTCFG{PERIOD=OFF, WINDOW=OFF}
    0x02, // BODCFG{SLEEP=SAMPLED, ACTIVE=DIS, SAMPFREQ=1KHz, LVL=BODLEVEL0}
    0x00, // OSCCFG{OSCLOCK=CLEAR}
    0x00, // Reserved
0xC4, // TCD0CFG{CMPA=CLEAR, CMPB=CLEAR, CMPC=SET, CMPD=CLEAR, CMPAEN=CLEAR,
CMPBEN=CLEAR, CMPCEN=SET, CMPDEN=SET }
    0xF6, // SYSCFG0{EESAVE=CLEAR, RSTPINCFG=UPDI, CRCSRC=NOCRC}
    0x00, // SYSCFG1{SUT=0MS}
    0x00, // APPEND
0x00, // BOOTEND
};
LOCKBTTS = {
    0xC5, // LOCKBIT{LB=NOLOCK}
};
```

The example above was generated from the Configuration Bits window (<u>Window>Target Memory</u> <u>Views>Configuration Bits</u>).

Configuration Settings Summary

When you first open the Configuration Bits window, the data will be red, meaning you need to read from device

memory. Use the "Read Configuration Bits" icon 🖳 Make any changes to the data in the window and then write

changes back to the device by using the "Program Configuration Bits" icon

To preserve your settings in code, click either the "Generate Source Code to Output" button, to put the code in the

Output window for copy-and-paste into your code, or the "Insert Source Code into Editor" icon ^[1], to place the code at the cursor in an editor window.

Figure 14-1. Exa	nple: ATtinv817 MCU
------------------	---------------------

Configura	ation Bits 🕺						
%	Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category	Setting
	1280	WDTCFG	00	PERIOD	OFF 🗸	Watchdog Timeout Period	Watch-Dog timer Off 🖕
<u> </u>				WINDOW	OFF	Watchdog Window Timeout Period	Window mode off
2	1281	BODCFG	02	SLEEP	SAMPLED	BOD Operation in Sleep Mode	Sampled
				ACTIVE	DIS	BOD Operation in Active Mode	Disabled
				SAMPFREQ	1KHz	BOD Sample Frequency	1kHz sampling frequency
-				LVL	BODLEVELO	BOD Level	1.8 V
r	1282	OSCCFG	00	FREQSEL	20MHZ	Frequency Select	20 MHz
				OSCLOCK	CLEAR	Oscillator Lock	CLEAR
	1284	TCD0CFG	C4	CMPA	CLEAR	Compare A Default Output Value	CLEAR
				CMPB	CLEAR	Compare B Default Output Value	CLEAR
				CMPC	SET	Compare C Default Output Value	SET
				CMPD	CLEAR	Compare D Default Output Value	CLEAR
				CMPAEN	CLEAR	Compare A Output Enable	CLEAR
				CMPBEN	CLEAR	Compare B Output Enable	CLEAR
				CMPCEN	SET	Compare C Output Enable	SET
				CMPDEN	SET	Compare D Output Enable	SET
	1285	SYSCFG0	F6	EESAVE	CLEAR	EEPROM Save	CLEAR
				RSTPINCFG	UPDI	Reset Pin Configuration	UPDI mode
				CRCSRC	NOCRC	CRC Source	Disable CRC.
	1286	SYSCFG1	00	SUT	OMS	Startup Time	0 ms
	128A	LOCKBIT	C5	LB	NOLOCK	Lock Bits	No locks
Memory	Configuratio	n Bits	▼ For	mat Read/Writ	te 🔻	Generate Source Code to Output	

14.2 Arm GCC Toolchain

Most configuration bits are contained in device GPNVM bits. Specifically, the GPNVM0 represents the Security bit.

To program code protection configuration bits, Lock bits are used.

To program configuration bits, use the Configuration Bits window (*Window>Target Memory Views>Configuration* <u>Bits</u>). When you first open the Configuration Bits window, the data will be red, meaning you need to read from device

memory. Use the "Read Configuration Bits" icon 🔚. Make any changes to the data in the window and then write

changes back to the device by using the "Program Configuration Bits" icon 🖾.

Example: ATSAME70Q21 MCU
Configuration Settings Summary

Conf	Configuration Bits 🕺							
5	Address	Name	Value	Field	Option	Category	Setting	
	D000_0000	GPNVMBITS	00000042	SECURITY_BIT	CLEAR	Security Bit	CLEAR	
<u> </u>				BOOT_MODE	SET	Boot Mode Selection	SET	-
Q			00000000	TCM_CONFIGURATION	User range: 0x0 - 0x3	TCM Configuration	Enter Hexadecimal value	
	D000_0004	LOCKBIT_WORD0	00000000	LOCK_REGION_0	CLEAR	Lock Region 0	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_1	CLEAR	Lock Region 1	CLEAR	
-				LOCK_REGION_2	CLEAR	Lock Region 2	CLEAR	
rên (LOCK_REGION_3	CLEAR	Lock Region 3	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_4	CLEAR	Lock Region 4	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_5	CLEAR	Lock Region 5	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_6	CLEAR	Lock Region 6	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_7	CLEAR	Lock Region 7	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_8	CLEAR	Lock Region 8	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_9	CLEAR	Lock Region 9	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_10	CLEAR	Lock Region 10	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_11	CLEAR	Lock Region 11	CLEAR	
				LOCK_REGION_12	CLEAR	Lock Region 12	CLEAR	-
Mer	mory Configuration	Bits 👻 For	mat Read/M	/rite 🔹 Ge	enerate Source Code to Output			

14.3 XC Toolchains

To create code that is as portable as possible, refer to the "Common Compiler Interface (CCI)" chapter, config macro, in each of the following documents:

- MPLAB XC8 C Compiler User's Guide (DS50002053) or related help file
- MPLAB XC16 C Compiler User's Guide (DS50002071) or related help file
- MPLAB XC32 C Compiler User's Guide (DS50001686) or related help file

To read, change, and program configuration bits, see 4.19 Set Configuration Values in the Configuration Bits Window.

14.4 MPASM Toolchain

Two types of assembler directives are used to set device configuration bits: ______ config and config. DO NOT mix ______ config and config in the same code.

14.4.1 __config

The directive ______ config is used for PIC10/12/16 MCUs. It may be used for PIC18 MCUs (excluding PIC18FXXJ devices) but the config directive is recommended. The syntax is as follows:

_____config expr ;For a single configuration word

or

config addr, expr ;For multiple configuration word

where:

addr	Address of the Configuration Word. May be literal but usually represented by a macro. Note: Macros must be listed in ascending register order.
expr	Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device include file (*.inc) that is located in the Windows operating system (OS) default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\mpasmx

Configuration Settings Summary

Directive case does not matter; ____CONFIG or ____config is acceptable. Macro case should match what is in the header.

In the "MPASM Assembler, MPLINK Object Linker, MPLIB Object Librarian User's Guide" (DS30003014), see " config - Set Processor Configuration Bits."

Example – PIC10/12/16 MCUs

```
#include p16f877a.inc
;Set oscillator to HS, watchdog time off, low-voltage prog. off
__CONFIG _HS_OSC & _WDT_OFF & _LVP_OFF
```

Example - PIC18 MCUs

```
#include p18f452.inc
;Oscillator switch enabled, RC oscillator with OSC2 as I/O pin.
_____CONFIG ____CONFIG1, __OSCS_OFF_1 & _RCIO_OSC_1
;Watch Dog Timer enable, Watch Dog Timer PostScaler count - 1:128
____CONFIG ___CONFIG3, __WDT_ON_3 & _WDTPS_128_3
```

14.4.2 config

The directive config is used for PIC18 MCUs (including PIC18FXXJ devices). The syntax is as follows:

config setting=value [, setting=value]

where:

setting	Macro representing a Configuration bit or bits.
value	Macro representing the value to which the specified Configuration bit(s) will be set. Multiple settings may be defined on a single line, separated by commas. Settings for a single configuration byte may also be defined on separate lines.

Macros are specified in the device include file (*.inc) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLABX\mpasmx

Directive case does not matter; __CONFIG or __config is acceptable. Macro case should match what is in the header.

In the "MPASM Assembler, MPLINK Object Linker, MPLIB Object Librarian User's Guide" (DS30003014), see "config - Set Processor Configuration Bits (PIC18 MCUs)."

Example - PIC18 MCUs

```
#include p18f452.inc
;Oscillator switch enabled, RC oscillator with OSC2 as I/O pin.
CONFIG OSCS=ON, OSC=LP
;Watch Dog Timer enable, Watch Dog Timer PostScaler count - 1:128
CONFIG WDT=ON, WDTPS=128
```

14.5 HI-TECH[®] PICC[™] Toolchain

A macro specified in the htc.h header file is used to set device Configuration Words for PIC10/12/16 MCUs: CONFIG(x);

where

Configuration Settings Summary

Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device header file (* . h) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\HI-TECH Software\PICC\vx.xx\include

where vx.xx is the version number of the compiler.

For devices that have more than one Configuration Word location, each subsequent invocation of _____CONFIG() will modify the next Configuration Word in sequence.

Macro case should match what is in the relevant header. For htc.c, CONFIG() is correct but config() is not.

In "HI-TECH C for PIC10/12/16 User's Guide" (DS51865), see "Configuration Fuses."

PICC Example

х

```
#include <htc.h>
___CONFIG(WDTDIS & XT & UNPROTECT); // Program config. word 1
___CONFIG(FCMEN); // Program config. word 2
```

14.6 HI-TECH[®] PICC-18[™] Toolchain

A macro specified in the htc.h header file is used to set device Configuration Words for PIC18 MCUs:

CONFIG(n,x);

where

n Configuration register number.

× Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device header file (* . h) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

```
C:\Program Files\HI-TECH Software\PICC\vx.xx\include
```

where vx.xx is the version number of the compiler.

Macro case should match what is in the relevant header. For htc.c, CONFIG() is correct but config() is not.

In "HI-TECH C Tools for the PIC18 MCU Family," see "Configuration Fuses."

PICC-18 Example

```
#include <htc.h>
//Oscillator switch enabled, RC oscillator with OSC2 as I/O pin.
CONFIG(1, LP);
//Watch Dog Timer enable, Watch Dog Timer PostScaler count - 1:128
CONFIG(2, WDTEN & WDTPS128);
```

14.7 C18 Toolchain

The #pragma config directive specifies the device-specific configuration settings (i.e., Configuration bits) to be used by the application:

```
#pragma config setting-list
```

where

Configuration Settings Summary

setting-list A list of one or more setting-name = value-name macro pairs, separated by commas.

Macros are specified in the device header file (*.h) that is located in the Windows default directory:

```
C:\program files\microchip\mplabc18\vx.xx\.h
```

Pragma case does not matter; either #PRAGMA CONFIG or #pragma config is acceptable. Macro case should match what is in the header.

In the "MPLAB C18 C Compiler User's Guide" (DS50001288), see "Pragms," "#pragma config."

Example

```
#include <pl8cxxx.h>
/*Oscillator switch enabled, RC oscillator with OSC2 as I/O pin.*/
#pragma config OSCS = ON, OSC = LP
/*Watch Dog Timer enable, Watch Dog Timer PostScaler count - 1:128*/
#pragma config WDT = ON, WDTPS = 128
```

14.8 ASM30 Toolchain

A macro specified in the device include file is used to set Configuration bits:

config __reg, value

where

reg	Configuration register name macro.
value	Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device include file (*.inc) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLAB ASM30 Suite\Support\device\inc

where device is the abbreviation of the selected 16-bit device, such as PIC24H or dsPIC33F.

Macro case should match what is in the relevant header. For example, config is correct but CONFIG is not.

In the "*MPLAB*[®] Assembler, Linker and Utilities for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC[®] DSCs User's Guide" (DS50001317), see "Output Sections in Configuration Memory."

Example

```
.include "p30fxxxx.inc"
;Clock switching off, Fail-safe clock monitoring off,
; Use External Clock
config __FOSC, CSW_FSCM_OFF & XT_PLL16
;Turn off Watchdog Timer
config __FWDT, WDT_OFF
```

14.9 C30 Toolchain

Two types of compiler macros are used to set device Configuration bits: one type for PIC24F MCUs and one type for dsPIC30F and dsPIC33F/PIC24H devices.

Configuration Settings Summary

14.9.1 PIC24F Configuration Settings

Macros are provided in device header files to set Configuration bits:

_confign(value);

where

n	Configuration register number.
value	Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device header file (* . h) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLAB C30\support\PIC24F\h

Macro case should match what is in the relevant header. For example, _CONFIG1 is correct but _config1 is not.

Example - PIC24F MCUs

```
#include ``p24Fxxxx.h"
//JTAG off, Code Protect off, Write Protect off, COE mode off, WDT off
CONFIG1( JTAGEN_OFF & GCP_OFF & GWRP_OFF & COE_OFF & FWDTEN_OFF )
//Clock switching/monitor off, Oscillator (RC15) on,
// Oscillator in HS mode, Use primary oscillator (no PLL)
_CONFIG2( FCKSM_CSDCMD & OSCIOFNC_ON & POSCMOD_HS & FNOSC_PRI )
```

14.9.2 dsPIC30F/33F/PIC24H Configuration Settings

Macros are provided in device header files to set Configuration bits:

_reg(value);

where

_reg	Configuration register name macro.
value	Expression representing the value to which the specified Configuration bits will be set. May be literal but usually represented by a macro or macros ANDed together.

Macros are specified in the device header file (* . h) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLAB C30\support\device\h

where device is the abbreviation of the selected 16-bit device, i.e., PIC24H, dsPIC30F, or dsPIC33F.

Macro case should match what is in the relevant header. For example, FOSC is correct but, fosc is not.

In the "MPLAB® C Compiler for PIC24 MCUs and dsPIC® DSCs User's Guide" (DS50001284), see "Configuration Bits Setup Macros."

Example - dsPIC30F DSCs

```
#include "p30fxxxx.h"
//Clock switching and failsafe clock monitoring off,
// Oscillator in HS mode
_FOSC(CSW_FSCM_OFF & HS);
//Watchdog timer off
FWDT(WDT_OFF);
//Brown-out off, Master clear on
_FBORPOR(PBOR_OFF & MCLR_EN);
```

Configuration Settings Summary

Example - dsPIC33F/PIC24H Devices

```
#include "p33fxxxx.h"
// Use primary oscillator (no PLL)
FOSCSEL(FNOSC_PRI);
7/Oscillator in HS mode
FOSC(POSCMD_HS);
7/Watchdog timer off
FWDTEN_OFF);
7/JTAG off
_FICD(JTAGEN_OFF);
```

14.10 C32 Toolchain

The #pragma config directive specifies the device-specific configuration settings (i.e., Configuration bits) to be used by the application:

pragma config setting-list

where

setting-list: A list of one or more setting-name = value-name macro pairs, separated by commas.

Macros are specified in the device header file (*.h) that is located in the Windows OS default directory:

C:\Program Files\Microchip\MPLAB C32\pic32mx\include\proc

Pragma case does not matter; either #PRAGMA CONFIG or #pragma config is acceptable. Macro case should match what is in the header.

In the "MPLAB® C Compiler for PIC32 MCUs User's Guide" (DS50001686), see "Configuration Bit Access."

Example

```
#include "p32xxx.h"
//Enables the Watchdog Timer,
// Sets the Watchdog Postscaler to 1:128
#pragma config FWDTEN = ON, WDTPS = PS128
//Selects the HS Oscillator for the Primary Oscillator
#pragma config POSCMOD = HS
```

15. Glossary

Absolute Section

A GCC compiler section with a fixed (absolute) address that cannot be changed by the linker.

Absolute Variable/Function

A variable or function placed at an absolute address using the OCG compiler's @ address syntax.

Access Memory

PIC18 Only – Special registers on PIC18 devices that allow access regardless of the setting of the Bank Select Register (BSR).

Access Entry Points

Access entry points provide a way to transfer control across segments to a function which may not be defined at link time. They support the separate linking of boot and secure application segments.

Address

A value that identifies a location in memory.

Alphabetic Character

Alphabetic characters are those characters that are letters of the Roman alphabet (a, b, ..., z, A, B, ..., Z).

Alphanumeric

Alphanumeric characters are comprised of alphabetic characters and decimal digits (0,1, ..., 9).

ANDed Breakpoints

Set up an ANDed condition for breaking, i.e., breakpoint 1 AND breakpoint 2 must occur at the same time before a program halt. This can only be accomplished if a data breakpoint and a program memory breakpoint occur at the same time.

Anonymous Structure

16-bit C Compiler – An unnamed structure.

PIC18 C Compiler – An unnamed structure that is a member of a C union. The members of an anonymous structure may be accessed as if they were members of the enclosing union. For example, in the following code, hi and lo are members of an anonymous structure inside the union caster.

```
union castaway
int intval;
struct {
  char lo; //accessible as caster.lo
  char hi; //accessible as caster.hi
};
} caster;
```

ANSI

The American National Standards Institute is an organization responsible for formulating and approving standards in the United States.

Application

A set of software and hardware that may be controlled by a PIC[®] microcontroller.

Archive/Archiver

An archive/library is a collection of relocatable object modules. It is created by assembling multiple source files to object files, and then using the archiver/librarian to combine the object files into one archive/library file. An archive/ library can be linked with object modules and other archives/libraries to create executable code.

ASCII

The American Standard Code for Information Interchange is a character set encoding that uses 7 binary digits to represent each character. It includes upper and lower case letters, digits, symbols and control characters.

Assembly/Assembler

Assembly is a programming language that describes binary machine code in a symbolic form. An assembler is a language tool that translates assembly language source code into machine code.

Assigned Section

A GCC compiler section which has been assigned to a target memory block in the linker command file.

Asynchronously

Multiple events that do not occur at the same time. This is generally used to refer to interrupts that may occur at any time during processor execution.

Asynchronous Stimulus

Data generated to simulate external inputs to a simulator device.

Attribute

GCC Characteristics of variables or functions in a C language program, which are used to describe machine-specific properties.

Attribute, Section

GCC Characteristics of sections, such as "executable", "read-only", or "data" that can be specified as flags in the assembler .section directive.

Binary

The base two numbering system that uses the digits 0-1. The rightmost digit counts ones, the next counts multiples of 2, then $2^2 = 4$, etc.

Bookmarks

Use bookmarks to easily locate specific lines in a file.

Select Toggle Bookmarks on the Editor toolbar to add/remove bookmarks. Click other icons on this toolbar to move to the next or previous bookmark.

C/C++

C is a general-purpose programming language which features economy of expression, modern control flow and data structures, as well as a rich set of operators. C++ is the object-oriented version of C.

Calibration Memory

A special function register or registers used to hold values for calibration of a PIC microcontroller on-board RC oscillator or other device peripherals.

Central Processing Unit

The part of a device that is responsible for fetching the correct instruction for execution, decoding that instruction, and then executing that instruction. When necessary, it works in conjunction with the arithmetic logic unit (ALU) to complete the execution of the instruction. It controls the program memory address bus, the data memory address bus, and accesses to the stack.

Clean

Clean removes all intermediary project files, such as object, hex and debug files, for the active project. These files are recreated from other files when a project is built.

COFF

Common Object File Format. An object file of this format contains machine code, debugging and other information.

Command Line Interface

A means of communication between a program and its user based solely on textual input and output.

Compiled Stack

A region of memory managed by the compiler in which variables are statically allocated space. It replaces a software or hardware stack when such mechanisms cannot be efficiently implemented on the target device.

Compiler

A program that translates a source file written in a high-level language into machine code.

Conditional Assembly

Assembly language code that is included or omitted based on the assembly-time value of a specified expression.

Conditional Compilation

The act of compiling a program fragment only if a certain constant expression, specified by a preprocessor directive, is true.

Configuration Bits

Special-purpose bits programmed to set PIC MCU and dsPIC DSC modes of operation. A Configuration bit may or may not be preprogrammed.

Control Directives

Directives in assembly language code that cause code to be included or omitted based on the assembly-time value of a specified expression.

CPU

See Central Processing Unit.

Cross Reference File

A file that references a table of symbols and a list of files that references the symbol. If the symbol is defined, the first file listed is the location of the definition. The remaining files contain references to the symbol.

Data Directives

Data directives are those that control the assembler's allocation of program or data memory and provide a way to refer to data items symbolically; that is, by meaningful names.

Data Memory

On Microchip MCU and DSC devices, data memory (RAM) is comprised of General Purpose Registers (GPRs) and Special Function Registers (SFRs). Some devices also have EEPROM data memory.

Data Monitor and Control Interface (DMCI)

The Data Monitor and Control Interface, or DMCI, is a tool in MPLAB X IDE. The interface provides dynamic input control of application variables in projects. Application-generated data can be viewed graphically using any of 4 dynamically-assignable graph windows.

Debug/Debugger

See ICE/ICD.

Debugging Information

Compiler and assembler options that, when selected, provide varying degrees of information used to debug application code. See compiler or assembler documentation for details on selecting debug options.

Deprecated Features

Features that are still supported for legacy reasons, but will eventually be phased out and no longer used.

Device Programmer

A tool used to program electrically programmable semiconductor devices such as microcontrollers.

Digital Signal Controller

A digital signal controller (DSC) is a microcontroller device with digital signal processing capability, i.e., Microchip dsPIC DSC devices.

Digital Signal Processing\Digital Signal Processor

Digital signal processing (DSP) is the computer manipulation of digital signals, commonly analog signals (sound or image) which have been converted to digital form (sampled). A digital signal processor is a microprocessor that is designed for use in digital signal processing.

Directives

Statements in source code that provide control of the language tool's operation.

Download

Download is the process of sending data from a host to another device, such as an emulator, programmer or target board.

DWARF

Debug With Arbitrary Record Format. DWARF is a debug information format for ELF files.

EEPROM

Electrically Erasable Programmable Read Only Memory. A special type of PROM that can be erased electrically. Data is written or erased one byte at a time. EEPROM retains its contents even when power is turned off.

ELF

Executable and Linking Format. An object file of this format contains machine code. Debugging and other information is specified in with DWARF. ELF/DWARF provide better debugging of optimized code than COFF.

Emulation/Emulator

See ICE/ICD.

Endianness

The ordering of bytes in a multi-byte object.

Environment

MPLAB PM3 – A folder containing files on how to program a device. This folder can be transferred to a SD/MMC card.

Epilogue

A portion of compiler-generated code that is responsible for deallocating stack space, restoring registers and performing any other machine-specific requirement specified in the runtime model. This code executes after any user code for a given function, immediately prior to the function return.

EPROM

Erasable Programmable Read Only Memory. A programmable read-only memory that can be erased usually by exposure to ultraviolet radiation.

Error/Error File

An error reports a problem that makes it impossible to continue processing your program. When possible, an error identifies the source file name and line number where the problem is apparent. An error file contains error messages and diagnostics generated by a language tool.

Event

A description of a bus cycle which may include address, data, pass count, external input, cycle type (fetch, R/W) and time stamp. Events are used to describe triggers, breakpoints and interrupts.

Executable Code

Software that is ready to be loaded for execution.

Export

Send data out of the MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE in a standardized format.

Expressions

Combinations of constants and/or symbols separated by arithmetic or logical operators.

Extended Microcontroller Mode

In extended microcontroller mode, on-chip program memory as well as external memory is available. Execution automatically switches to external if the program memory address is greater than the internal memory space of the PIC18 device.

Extended Mode (PIC18 MCUs)

In Extended mode, the compiler will utilize the extended instructions (i.e., ADDFSR, ADDULNK, CALLW, MOVSF, MOVSS, PUSHL, SUBFSR, and SUBULNK) and the indexed with literal offset addressing.

External Label

A label that has external linkage.

External Linkage

A function or variable has external linkage if it can be referenced from outside the module in which it is defined.

External Symbol

A symbol for an identifier which has external linkage. This may be a reference or a definition.

External Symbol Resolution

A process performed by the linker in which external symbol definitions from all input modules are collected in an attempt to resolve all external symbol references. Any external symbol references which do not have a corresponding definition cause a linker error to be reported.

External Input Line

An external input signal logic probe line (TRIGIN) for setting an event based upon external signals.

External RAM

Off-chip Read/Write memory.

Fatal Error

An error that halts compilation immediately. No further messages will be produced.

File Registers

On-chip data memory, including General Purpose Registers (GPRs) and Special Function Registers (SFRs).

Filter

Determine by selection what data is included/excluded in a trace display or data file.

Fixup

The process of replacing object file symbolic references with absolute addresses after relocation by the linker.

Flash

A type of EEPROM where data is written or erased in blocks instead of bytes.

FNOP

Forced No Operation. A forced NOP cycle is the second cycle of a two-cycle instruction. Since the PIC microcontroller architecture is pipelined, it prefetches the next instruction in the physical address space while it is executing the current instruction. However, if the current instruction changes the program counter, this prefetched instruction is explicitly ignored, causing a forced NOP cycle.

Frame Pointer

A pointer that references the location on the stack that separates the stack-based arguments from the stack-based local variables. Provides a convenient base from which to access local variables and other values for the current function.

Free-Standing

An implementation that accepts any strictly conforming program that does not use complex types and in which the use of the features specified in the library clause (ANSI '89 standard clause 7) is confined to the contents of the standard headers <float.h>, <iso646.h>, <limits.h>, <stdarg.h>, <stdbool.h>, <stddef.h>, and <stdint.h>.

GPR

General Purpose Register. The portion of device data memory (RAM) available for general use.

Halt

A stop of program execution. Executing Halt is the same as stopping at a breakpoint.

Неар

An area of memory used for dynamic memory allocation where blocks of memory are allocated and freed in an arbitrary order determined at run-time.

Hex Code/Hex File

Hex code is executable instructions stored in a hexadecimal format code. Hex code is contained in a hex file.

Hexadecimal

The base 16 numbering system that uses the digits 0-9 plus the letters A-F (or a-f). The digits A-F represent hexadecimal digits with values of (decimal) 10 to 15. The rightmost digit counts ones, the next counts multiples of 16, then $16^2 = 256$, etc.

High Level Language

A language for writing programs that is further removed from the processor than assembly.

ICE/ICD

In-Circuit Emulator/In-Circuit Debugger: A hardware tool that debugs and programs a target device. An emulator has more features than an debugger, such as trace.

In-Circuit Emulation/In-Circuit Debug: The act of emulating or debugging with an in-circuit emulator or debugger.

-*ICE/-ICD:* A device (MCU or DSC) with on-board in-circuit emulation or debug circuitry. This device is always mounted on a header board and used to debug with an in-circuit emulator or debugger.

ICSP

In-Circuit Serial Programming. A method of programming Microchip embedded devices using serial communication and a minimum number of device pins.

IDE

Integrated Development Environment, as in MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE.

Identifier

A function or variable name.

IEEE

Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers.

Import

Bring data into the MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE from an outside source, such as from a hex file.

Initialized Data

Data which is defined with an initial value. In C,

int myVar=5;

defines a variable, which will reside in an initialized data section.

Instruction Set

The collection of machine language instructions that a particular processor understands.

Instructions

A sequence of bits that tells a central processing unit to perform a particular operation and can contain data to be used in the operation.

Internal Linkage

A function or variable has internal linkage if it can not be accessed from outside the module in which it is defined.

International Organization for Standardization

An organization that sets standards in many businesses and technologies, including computing and communications. Also known as ISO.

Interrupt

A signal to the CPU that suspends the execution of a running application and transfers control to an Interrupt Service Routine (ISR) so that the event may be processed. Upon completion of the ISR, normal execution of the application resumes.

Interrupt Handler

A routine that processes special code when an interrupt occurs.

Interrupt Service Request (IRQ)

An event which causes the processor to temporarily suspend normal instruction execution and to start executing an interrupt handler routine. Some processors have several interrupt request events allowing different priority interrupts.

Interrupt Service Routine (ISR)

Language tools: A function that handles an interrupt.

MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE: User-generated code that is entered when an interrupt occurs. The location of the code in program memory will usually depend on the type of interrupt that has occurred.

Interrupt Vector

Address of an interrupt service routine or interrupt handler.

L-value

An expression that refers to an object that can be examined and/or modified. An I-value expression is used on the left-hand side of an assignment.

Latency

The time between an event and its response.

Library/Librarian

See Archive/Archiver.

Linker

A language tool that combines object files and libraries to create executable code, resolving references from one module to another.

Linker Script Files

Linker script files are the command files of a linker. They define linker options and describe available memory on the target platform.

Listing Directives

Listing directives are those directives that control the assembler listing file format. They allow the specification of titles, pagination and other listing control.

Listing File

A listing file is an ASCII text file that shows the machine code generated for each C source statement, assembly instruction, assembler directive, or macro encountered in a source file.

Little Endian

A data ordering scheme for multi-byte data, whereby the least significant byte is stored at the lower addresses.

Local Label

A local label is one that is defined inside a macro with the LOCAL directive. These labels are particular to a given instance of a macro's instantiation. In other words, the symbols and labels that are declared as local are no longer accessible after the ENDM macro is encountered.

Logic Probes

Up to 14 logic probes can be connected to some Microchip emulators. The logic probes provide external trace inputs, trigger output signal, +5V, and a common ground.

Loop-Back Test Board

Used to test the functionality of the MPLAB REAL ICE in-circuit emulator.

LVDS

Low Voltage Differential Signaling. A low noise, low-power, low amplitude method for high-speed (gigabits per second) data transmission over copper wire.

With standard I/O signaling, data storage is contingent upon the actual voltage level. Voltage level can be affected by wire length (longer wires increase resistance, which lowers voltage). But with LVDS, data storage is distinguished only by positive and negative voltage values, not the voltage level. Therefore, data can travel over greater lengths of wire while maintaining a clear and consistent data stream.

Source: http://www.webopedia.com/TERM/L/LVDS.html

Machine Code

The representation of a computer program that is actually read and interpreted by the processor. A program in binary machine code consists of a sequence of machine instructions (possibly interspersed with data). The collection of all possible instructions for a particular processor is known as its "instruction set".

Machine Language

A set of instructions for a specific central processing unit, designed to be usable by a processor without being translated.

Macro

Macro instruction. An instruction that represents a sequence of instructions in abbreviated form.

Macro Directives

Directives that control the execution and data allocation within macro body definitions.

Makefile

Export to a file the instructions to Make the project. Use this file to Make your project outside of MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE, i.e., with a make.

Make Project

A command that rebuilds an application, recompiling only those source files that have changed since the last complete compilation.

MCU

Microcontroller Unit. An abbreviation for microcontroller. Also uC.

Memory Model

For C compilers, a representation of the memory available to the application. For the PIC18 C compiler, a description that specifies the size of pointers that point to program memory.

Message

Text displayed to alert you to potential problems in language tool operation. A message will not stop operation.

Microcontroller

A highly integrated chip that contains a CPU, RAM, program memory, I/O ports and timers.

Microcontroller Mode

One of the possible program memory configurations of PIC18 microcontrollers. In microcontroller mode, only internal execution is allowed. Thus, only the on-chip program memory is available in microcontroller mode.

Microprocessor Mode

One of the possible program memory configurations of PIC18 microcontrollers. In microprocessor mode, the on-chip program memory is not used. The entire program memory is mapped externally.

Glossary

Mnemonics

Text instructions that can be translated directly into machine code. Also referred to as opcodes.

Module

The preprocessed output of a source file after preprocessor directives have been executed. Also known as a translation unit.

MPASM[™] Assembler

Microchip Technology's relocatable macro assembler for PIC microcontroller devices, KeeLoq[®] devices and Microchip memory devices.

MPLAB Language Tool for Device

Microchip's C compilers, assemblers and linkers for specified devices. Select the type of language tool based on the device you will be using for your application, e.g., if you will be creating C code on a PIC18 MCU, select the MPLAB C Compiler for PIC18 MCUs.

MPLAB ICD

Microchip in-circuit debugger that works with MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE. See ICE/ICD.

MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE

Microchip's Integrated Development Environment. MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE comes with an editor, project manager and simulator.

MPLAB PM3

A device programmer from Microchip. Programs PIC18 microcontrollers and dsPIC digital signal controllers. Can be used with MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE or stand-alone. Replaces PRO MATE II.

MPLAB REAL ICE[™] In-Circuit Emulator

Microchip's next-generation in-circuit emulator that works with MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE. See ICE/ICD.

MPLAB SIM

Microchip's simulator that works with MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE in support of PIC MCU and dsPIC DSC devices.

MPLAB Starter Kit for Device

Microchip's starter kits contains everything needed to begin exploring the specified device. View a working application and then debug and program you own changes.

MPLIB[™] Object Librarian

Microchip's librarian that can work with MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE. MPLIB librarian is an object librarian for use with COFF object modules created using either MPASM assembler (mpasm or mpasmwin v2.0) or MPLAB C18 C Compiler.

MPLINK[™] Object Linker

MPLINK linker is an object linker for the Microchip MPASM assembler and the Microchip C18 C compiler. MPLINK linker also may be used with the Microchip MPLIB librarian. MPLINK linker is designed to be used with MPLAB IDE/ MPLAB X IDE, although it is not required.

MRU

Most Recently Used. Refers to files and windows available to be selected from MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE main pull down menus.

Native Data Size

For Native trace, the size of the variable used in a Watches window must be of the same size as the selected device's data memory: bytes for PIC18 devices and words for 16-bit devices.

Nesting Depth

The maximum level to which macros can include other macros.

Node

MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE project component.

Non-Extended Mode (PIC18 MCUs)

In Non-Extended mode, the compiler will not utilize the extended instructions nor the indexed with literal offset addressing.

Non Real Time

Refers to the processor at a breakpoint or executing single-step instructions or MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE being run in simulator mode.

Non-Volatile Storage

A storage device whose contents are preserved when its power is off.

NOP

No Operation. An instruction that has no effect when executed except to advance the program counter.

Object Code/Object File

Object code is the machine code generated by an assembler or compiler. An object file is a file containing machine code and possibly debug information. It may be immediately executable or it may be relocatable, requiring linking with other object files, e.g., libraries, to produce a complete executable program.

Object File Directives

Directives that are used only when creating an object file.

Octal

The base 8 number system that only uses the digits 0-7. The rightmost digit counts ones, the next digit counts multiples of 8, then $8^2 = 64$, etc.

Off-Chip Memory

Off-chip memory refers to the memory selection option for the PIC18 device where memory may reside on the target board, or where all program memory may be supplied by the emulator. The Memory tab accessed from Options>Development Mode provides the Off-Chip Memory selection dialog box.

Opcodes

Operational Codes. See *Mnemonics*.

Operators

Symbols, like the plus sign '+' and the minus sign '-', that are used when forming well-defined expressions. Each operator has an assigned precedence that is used to determine order of evaluation.

OTP

One Time Programmable. EPROM devices that are not in windowed packages. Since EPROM needs ultraviolet light to erase its memory, only windowed devices are erasable.

Pass Counter

A counter that decrements each time an event (such as the execution of an instruction at a particular address) occurs. When the pass count value reaches zero, the event is satisfied. You can assign the Pass Counter to break and trace logic, and to any sequential event in the complex trigger dialog.

PC

Personal Computer or Program Counter.

PC Host

Any PC running a supported Windows operating system.

Persistent Data

Data that is never cleared or initialized. Its intended use is so that an application can preserve data across a device Reset.

Phantom Byte

An unimplemented byte in the dsPIC architecture that is used when treating the 24-bit instruction word as if it were a 32-bit instruction word. Phantom bytes appear in dsPIC hex files.

PIC MCUs

PIC microcontrollers (MCUs) refers to all Microchip microcontroller families.

PICkit 2 and 3

Microchip's developmental device programmers with debug capability through Debug Express. See the Readme files for each tool to see which devices are supported.

Plug-ins

The MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE has both built-in components and plug-in modules to configure the system for a variety of software and hardware tools. Several plug-in tools may be found under the Tools menu.

Pod

The enclosure for an in-circuit emulator or debugger. Other names are *Puck*, if the enclosure is round, and *Probe*, not be confused with logic probes.

Power-on-Reset Emulation

A software randomization process that writes random values in data RAM areas to simulate uninitialized values in RAM upon initial power application.

Pragma

A directive that has meaning to a specific compiler. Often a pragma is used to convey implementation-defined information to the compiler.

Precedence

Rules that define the order of evaluation in expressions.

Production Programmer

A production programmer is a programming tool that has resources designed in to program devices rapidly. It has the capability to program at various voltage levels and completely adheres to the programming specification. Programming a device as fast as possible is of prime importance in a production environment where time is of the essence as the application circuit moves through the assembly line.

Profile

For MPLAB SIM simulator, a summary listing of executed stimulus by register.

Program Counter

The location that contains the address of the instruction that is currently executing.

Program Counter Unit

16-bit assembler – A conceptual representation of the layout of program memory. The program counter increments by 2 for each instruction word. In an executable section, 2 program counter units are equivalent to 3 bytes. In a read-only section, 2 program counter units are equivalent to 2 bytes.

Program Memory

MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE: The memory area in a device where instructions are stored. Also, the memory in the emulator or simulator containing the downloaded target application firmware.

16-bit assembler/compiler: The memory area in a device where instructions are stored.

Project

A project contains the files needed to build an application (source code, linker script files, etc.) along with their associations to various build tools and build options.

Prologue

A portion of compiler-generated code that is responsible for allocating stack space, preserving registers and performing any other machine-specific requirement specified in the run-time model. This code executes before any user code for a given function.

Prototype System

A term referring to a user's target application, or target board.

Psect

The OCG equivalent of a GCC section, short for program section. A block of code or data which is treated as a whole by the linker.

PWM Signals

Pulse Width Modulation Signals. Certain PIC MCU devices have a PWM peripheral.

Qualifier

An address or an address range used by the Pass Counter or as an event before another operation in a complex trigger.

Radix

The number base, hex, or decimal, used in specifying an address.

RAM

Random Access Memory (Data Memory). Memory in which information can be accessed in any order.

Raw Data

The binary representation of code or data associated with a section.

Read Only Memory

Memory hardware that allows fast access to permanently stored data but prevents addition to or modification of the data.

Real Time

When an in-circuit emulator or debugger is released from the halt state, the processor runs in Real Time mode and behaves exactly as the normal chip would behave. In Real Time mode, the real time trace buffer of an emulator is enabled and constantly captures all selected cycles, and all break logic is enabled. In an in-circuit emulator or debugger, the processor executes in real time until a valid breakpoint causes a halt, or until the user halts the execution.

In the simulator, real time simply means execution of the microcontroller instructions as fast as they can be simulated by the host CPU.

Recursive Calls

A function that calls itself, either directly or indirectly.

Recursion

The concept that a function or macro, having been defined, can call itself. Great care should be taken when writing recursive macros; it is easy to get caught in an infinite loop where there will be no exit from the recursion.

Re-entrant

A function that may have multiple, simultaneously active instances. This may happen due to either direct or indirect recursion or through execution during interrupt processing.

Relaxation

The process of converting an instruction to an identical, but smaller instruction. This is useful for saving on code size. MPLAB XC16 currently knows how to relax a CALL instruction into an RCALL instruction. This is done when the symbol that is being called is within +/- 32k instruction words from the current instruction.

Relocatable

An object whose address has not been assigned to a fixed location in memory.

Relocatable Section

16-bit assembler – A section whose address is not fixed (absolute). The linker assigns addresses to relocatable sections through a process called relocation.

Relocation

A process performed by the linker in which absolute addresses are assigned to relocatable sections and all symbols in the relocatable sections are updated to their new addresses.

ROM

Read Only Memory (Program Memory). Memory that cannot be modified.

Run

The command that releases the emulator from halt, allowing it to run the application code and change or respond to I/O in real time.

Run-time Model

Describes the use of target architecture resources.

Run-time Watch

A Watches window where the variables change in as the application is run. See individual tool documentation to determine how to set up a run-time watch. Not all tools support run-time watches.

Scenario

For MPLAB SIM simulator, a particular setup for stimulus control.

Section

The GCC equivalent of an OCG psect. A block of code or data which is treated as a whole by the linker.

Section Attribute

A GCC characteristic ascribed to a section (e.g., an access section).

Sequenced Breakpoints

Breakpoints that occur in a sequence. Sequence execution of breakpoints is bottom-up; the last breakpoint in the sequence occurs first.

Serialized Quick Turn Programming

Serialization allows you to program a serial number into each microcontroller device that the Device Programmer programs. This number can be used as an entry code, password or ID number.

Shell

The MPASM assembler shell is a prompted input interface to the macro assembler. There are two MPASM assembler shells: one for the DOS version and one for the Windows operating system version.

Simulator

A software program that models the operation of devices.

Single Step

This command steps though code, one instruction at a time. After each instruction, MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE updates register windows, watch variables, and status displays so you can analyze and debug instruction execution. You can also single step C compiler source code, but instead of executing single instructions, MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE will execute all assembly level instructions generated by the line of the high level C statement.

Skew

The information associated with the execution of an instruction appears on the processor bus at different times. For example, the executed opcodes appears on the bus as a fetch during the execution of the previous instruction, the source data address and value and the destination data address appear when the opcodes is actually executed, and the destination data value appears when the next instruction is executed. The trace buffer captures the information that is on the bus at one instance. Therefore, one trace buffer entry will contain execution information for three instructions. The number of captured cycles from one piece of information to another for a single instruction execution is referred to as the skew.

Skid

When a hardware breakpoint is used to halt the processor, one or more additional instructions may be executed before the processor halts. The number of extra instructions executed after the intended breakpoint is referred to as the skid.

Source Code

The form in which a computer program is written by the programmer. Source code is written in a formal programming language which can be translated into machine code or executed by an interpreter.

Source File

An ASCII text file containing source code.

Special Function Registers (SFRs)

The portion of data memory (RAM) dedicated to registers that control I/O processor functions, I/O status, timers or other modes or peripherals.

SQTP

See Serialized Quick Turn Programming.

Stack, Hardware

Locations in PIC microcontroller where the return address is stored when a function call is made.

Stack, Software

Memory used by an application for storing return addresses, function parameters, and local variables. This memory is dynamically allocated at run-time by instructions in the program. It allows for re-entrant function calls.

Stack, Compiled

A region of memory managed and allocated by the compiler in which variables are statically assigned space. It replaces a software stack when such mechanisms cannot be efficiently implemented on the target device. It precludes re-entrancy.

Static RAM or SRAM

Static Random Access Memory. Program memory you can read/write on the target board that does not need refreshing frequently.

Status Bar

The Status Bar is located on the bottom of the MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE window and indicates such current information as cursor position, development mode and device, and active tool bar.

Step Into

This command is the same as Single Step. Step Into (as opposed to Step Over) follows a CALL instruction into a subroutine.

Step Over

Step Over allows you to debug code without stepping into subroutines. When stepping over a CALL instruction, the next breakpoint will be set at the instruction after the CALL. If for some reason the subroutine gets into an endless loop or does not return properly, the next breakpoint will never be reached. The Step Over command is the same as Single Step except for its handling of CALL instructions.

Step Out

Step Out allows you to step out of a subroutine which you are currently stepping through. This command executes the rest of the code in the subroutine and then stops execution at the return address to the subroutine.

Stimulus

Input to the simulator, i.e., data generated to exercise the response of simulation to external signals. Often the data is put into the form of a list of actions in a text file. Stimulus may be asynchronous, synchronous (pin), clocked and register.

Stopwatch

A counter for measuring execution cycles.

Storage Class

Determines the lifetime of the memory associated with the identified object.

Storage Qualifier

Indicates special properties of the objects being declared (e.g., const).

Symbol

A symbol is a general purpose mechanism for describing the various pieces which comprise a program. These pieces include function names, variable names, section names, file names, struct/enum/union tag names, etc. Symbols in MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE refer mainly to variable names, function names and assembly labels. The value of a symbol after linking is its value in memory.

Symbol, Absolute

Description

System Window Control

The system window control is located in the upper left corner of windows and some dialogs. Clicking on this control usually pops up a menu that has the items "Minimize," "Maximize," and "Close."

Target

Refers to user hardware.

Target Application

Software residing on the target board.

Target Board

The circuitry and programmable device that makes up the target application.

Target Processor

The microcontroller device on the target application board.

Template

Lines of text that you build for inserting into your files at a later time. The MPLAB Editor stores templates in template files.

Term

Represents an immediate value such as a definition through the assembly .equ directive.

Toolbar

A row or column of icons that you can click on to execute MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE functions.

Trace

An emulator or simulator function that logs program execution. The emulator logs program execution into its trace buffer which is uploaded to the MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE trace window.

Trace Memory

Trace memory contained within the emulator. Trace memory is sometimes called the trace buffer.

Trace Macro

A macro that will provide trace information from emulator data. Since this is a software trace, the macro must be added to code, the code must be recompiled or reassembled, and the target device must be programmed with this code before trace will work.

Trigger Output

Trigger output refers to an emulator output signal that can be generated at any address or address range, and is independent of the trace and breakpoint settings. Any number of trigger output points can be set.

Trigraphs

Three-character sequences, all starting with ??, that are defined by ISO C as replacements for single characters.

Unassigned Section

A section which has not been assigned to a specific target memory block in the linker command file. The linker must find a target memory block in which to allocate an unassigned section.

Uninitialized Data

Data which is defined without an initial value. In C,

int myVar;

defines a variable which will reside in an uninitialized data section.

Upload

The Upload function transfers data from a tool, such as an emulator or programmer, to the host computer or from the target board to the emulator.

USB

Universal Serial Bus. An external peripheral interface standard for communication between a computer and external peripherals over a cable using bi-serial transmission. USB 1.0/1.1 supports data transfer rates of 12 Mbps. Also referred to as high-speed USB, USB 2.0 supports data rates up to 480 Mbps.

Vector

The memory locations that an application will jump to when either a Reset or interrupt occurs.

Volatile

A variable qualifier which prevents the compiler applying optimizations that affect how the variable is accessed in memory.

Warning

Warning

MPLAB IDE/MPLAB X IDE: An alert that is provided to warn you of a situation that would cause physical damage to a device, software file, or equipment.

16-bit assembler/compiler: Warnings report conditions that may indicate a problem, but do not halt processing.

Watch Variable

A variable that you may monitor during a debugging session in a Watches window.

Watches Window

Watches windows contain a list of watch variables that are updated at each breakpoint.

Watchdog Timer (WDT)

A timer on a PIC microcontroller that resets the processor after a selectable length of time. The WDT is enabled or disabled and set up using Configuration bits.

Workbook

For MPLAB SIM stimulator, a setup for generation of SCL stimulus.

The Microchip Website

Microchip provides online support via our website at http://www.microchip.com/. This website is used to make files and information easily available to customers. Some of the content available includes:

- Product Support Data sheets and errata, application notes and sample programs, design resources, user's
 guides and hardware support documents, latest software releases and archived software
- General Technical Support Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs), technical support requests, online discussion groups, Microchip design partner program member listing
- **Business of Microchip** Product selector and ordering guides, latest Microchip press releases, listing of seminars and events, listings of Microchip sales offices, distributors and factory representatives

Product Change Notification Service

Microchip's product change notification service helps keep customers current on Microchip products. Subscribers will receive email notification whenever there are changes, updates, revisions or errata related to a specified product family or development tool of interest.

To register, go to http://www.microchip.com/pcn and follow the registration instructions.

Customer Support

Users of Microchip products can receive assistance through several channels:

- Distributor or Representative
- Local Sales Office
- Embedded Solutions Engineer (ESE)
- Technical Support

Customers should contact their distributor, representative or ESE for support. Local sales offices are also available to help customers. A listing of sales offices and locations is included in this document.

Technical support is available through the website at: http://www.microchip.com/support

Microchip Devices Code Protection Feature

Note the following details of the code protection feature on Microchip devices:

- · Microchip products meet the specification contained in their particular Microchip Data Sheet.
- Microchip believes that its family of products is one of the most secure families of its kind on the market today, when used in the intended manner and under normal conditions.
- There are dishonest and possibly illegal methods used to breach the code protection feature. All of these methods, to our knowledge, require using the Microchip products in a manner outside the operating specifications contained in Microchip's Data Sheets. Most likely, the person doing so is engaged in theft of intellectual property.
- · Microchip is willing to work with the customer who is concerned about the integrity of their code.
- Neither Microchip nor any other semiconductor manufacturer can guarantee the security of their code. Code protection does not mean that we are guaranteeing the product as "unbreakable."

Code protection is constantly evolving. We at Microchip are committed to continuously improving the code protection features of our products. Attempts to break Microchip's code protection feature may be a violation of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act. If such acts allow unauthorized access to your software or other copyrighted work, you may have a right to sue for relief under that Act.

Legal Notice

Information contained in this publication regarding device applications and the like is provided only for your convenience and may be superseded by updates. It is your responsibility to ensure that your application meets with

your specifications. MICROCHIP MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, RELATED TO THE INFORMATION, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ITS CONDITION, QUALITY, PERFORMANCE, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR PURPOSE. Microchip disclaims all liability arising from this information and its use. Use of Microchip devices in life support and/or safety applications is entirely at the buyer's risk, and the buyer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Microchip from any and all damages, claims, suits, or expenses resulting from such use. No licenses are conveyed, implicitly or otherwise, under any Microchip intellectual property rights unless otherwise stated.

Trademarks

The Microchip name and logo, the Microchip logo, Adaptec, AnyRate, AVR, AVR logo, AVR Freaks, BesTime, BitCloud, chipKIT, chipKIT logo, CryptoMemory, CryptoRF, dsPIC, FlashFlex, flexPWR, HELDO, IGLOO, JukeBlox, KeeLoq, Kleer, LANCheck, LinkMD, maXStylus, maXTouch, MediaLB, megaAVR, Microsemi, Microsemi logo, MOST, MOST logo, MPLAB, OptoLyzer, PackeTime, PIC, picoPower, PICSTART, PIC32 logo, PolarFire, Prochip Designer, QTouch, SAM-BA, SenGenuity, SpyNIC, SST, SST Logo, SuperFlash, Symmetricom, SyncServer, Tachyon, TempTrackr, TimeSource, tinyAVR, UNI/O, Vectron, and XMEGA are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A. and other countries.

APT, ClockWorks, The Embedded Control Solutions Company, EtherSynch, FlashTec, Hyper Speed Control, HyperLight Load, IntelliMOS, Libero, motorBench, mTouch, Powermite 3, Precision Edge, ProASIC, ProASIC Plus, ProASIC Plus logo, Quiet-Wire, SmartFusion, SyncWorld, Temux, TimeCesium, TimeHub, TimePictra, TimeProvider, Vite, WinPath, and ZL are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A.

Adjacent Key Suppression, AKS, Analog-for-the-Digital Age, Any Capacitor, AnyIn, AnyOut, BlueSky, BodyCom, CodeGuard, CryptoAuthentication, CryptoAutomotive, CryptoCompanion, CryptoController, dsPICDEM, dsPICDEM.net, Dynamic Average Matching, DAM, ECAN, EtherGREEN, In-Circuit Serial Programming, ICSP, INICnet, Inter-Chip Connectivity, JitterBlocker, KleerNet, KleerNet logo, memBrain, Mindi, MiWi, MPASM, MPF, MPLAB Certified logo, MPLIB, MPLINK, MultiTRAK, NetDetach, Omniscient Code Generation, PICDEM, PICDEM.net, PICkit, PICtail, PowerSmart, PureSilicon, QMatrix, REAL ICE, Ripple Blocker, SAM-ICE, Serial Quad I/O, SMART-I.S., SQI, SuperSwitcher, SuperSwitcher II, Total Endurance, TSHARC, USBCheck, VariSense, ViewSpan, WiperLock, Wireless DNA, and ZENA are trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A. and other countries.

SQTP is a service mark of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A.

The Adaptec logo, Frequency on Demand, Silicon Storage Technology, and Symmcom are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Inc. in other countries.

GestIC is a registered trademark of Microchip Technology Germany II GmbH & Co. KG, a subsidiary of Microchip Technology Inc., in other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned herein are property of their respective companies.

© 2019, Microchip Technology Incorporated, Printed in the U.S.A., All Rights Reserved.

ISBN: 978-1-5224-5064-1

Quality Management System

For information regarding Microchip's Quality Management Systems, please visit http://www.microchip.com/quality.



Worldwide Sales and Service

AMERICAS	ASIA/PACIFIC	ASIA/PACIFIC	EUROPE
Corporate Office	Australia - Sydnev	India - Bangalore	Austria - Wels
2355 West Chandler Blvd.	Tel: 61-2-9868-6733	Tel: 91-80-3090-4444	Tel: 43-7242-2244-39
Chandler, AZ 85224-6199	China - Beiiing	India - New Delhi	Fax: 43-7242-2244-393
Tel: 480-792-7200	Tel: 86-10-8569-7000	Tel: 91-11-4160-8631	Denmark - Copenhagen
Fax: 480-792-7277	China - Chengdu	India - Pune	Tel: 45-4450-2828
Technical Support:	Tel: 86-28-8665-5511	Tel: 91-20-4121-0141	Fax: 45-4485-2829
http://www.microchip.com/support	China - Chongging	Japan - Osaka	Finland - Espoo
Web Address:	Tel: 86-23-8980-9588	Tel: 81-6-6152-7160	Tel: 358-9-4520-820
http://www.microchip.com	China - Dongguan	Japan - Tokyo	France - Paris
Atlanta	Tel: 86-769-8702-9880	Tel: 81-3-6880- 3770	Tel: 33-1-69-53-63-20
Duluth, GA	China - Guangzhou	Korea - Daegu	Fax: 33-1-69-30-90-79
Tel: 678-957-9614	Tel: 86-20-8755-8029	Tel: 82-53-744-4301	Germany - Garching
Fax: 678-957-1455	China - Hangzhou	Korea - Seoul	Tel: 49-8931-9700
Austin, TX	Tel: 86-571-8792-8115	Tel: 82-2-554-7200	Germany - Haan
Tel: 512-257-3370	China - Hong Kong SAR	Malaysia - Kuala Lumpur	Tel: 49-2129-3766400
Boston	Tel: 852-2943-5100	Tel: 60-3-7651-7906	Germany - Heilbronn
Westborough, MA	China - Nanjing	Malaysia - Penang	Tel: 49-7131-72400
Tel: 774-760-0087	Tel: 86-25-8473-2460	Tel: 60-4-227-8870	Germany - Karlsruhe
Fax: 774-760-0088	China - Qingdao	Philippines - Manila	Tel: 49-721-625370
Chicago	Tel: 86-532-8502-7355	Tel: 63-2-634-9065	Germany - Munich
Itasca, IL	China - Shanghai	Singapore	Tel: 49-89-627-144-0
Tel: 630-285-0071	Tel: 86-21-3326-8000	Tel: 65-6334-8870	Fax: 49-89-627-144-44
Fax: 630-285-0075	China - Shenyang	Taiwan - Hsin Chu	Germany - Rosenheim
Dallas	Tel: 86-24-2334-2829	Tel: 886-3-577-8366	Tel: 49-8031-354-560
Addison. TX	China - Shenzhen	Taiwan - Kaohsiung	Israel - Ra'anana
Tel: 972-818-7423	Tel: 86-755-8864-2200	Tel: 886-7-213-7830	Tel: 972-9-744-7705
Fax: 972-818-2924	China - Suzhou	Taiwan - Taipei	Italy - Milan
Detroit	Tel: 86-186-6233-1526	Tel: 886-2-2508-8600	Tel: 39-0331-742611
Novi, MI	China - Wuhan	Thailand - Bangkok	Fax: 39-0331-466781
Tel: 248-848-4000	Tel: 86-27-5980-5300	Tel: 66-2-694-1351	Italy - Padova
Houston, TX	China - Xian	Vietnam - Ho Chi Minh	Tel: 39-049-7625286
Tel: 281-894-5983	Tel: 86-29-8833-7252	Tel: 84-28-5448-2100	Netherlands - Drunen
Indianapolis	China - Xiamen		Tel: 31-416-690399
Noblesville, IN	Tel: 86-592-2388138		Fax: 31-416-690340
Tel: 317-773-8323	China - Zhuhai		Norway - Trondheim
Fax: 317-773-5453	Tel: 86-756-3210040		Tel: 47-72884388
Tel: 317-536-2380			Poland - Warsaw
Los Angeles			Tel: 48-22-3325737
Mission Viejo, CA			Romania - Bucharest
Tel: 949-462-9523			Tel: 40-21-407-87-50
Fax: 949-462-9608			Spain - Madrid
Tel: 951-273-7800			Tel: 34-91-708-08-90
Raleigh, NC			Fax: 34-91-708-08-91
Tel: 919-844-7510			Sweden - Gothenberg
New York, NY			Tel: 46-31-704-60-40
Tel: 631-435-6000			Sweden - Stockholm
San Jose, CA			Tel: 46-8-5090-4654
Tel: 408-735-9110			UK - Wokingham
Tel: 408-436-4270			Tel: 44-118-921-5800
Canada - Toronto			Fax: 44-118-921-5820
Tel: 905-695-1980			
Fax: 905-695-2078			
	1	1	1 contract of the second se